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INTRODUCTION

Who has not heard of Sri Krishna who delivered the mes-
sage of the Bhagavad Gita and whom the Bhagavata calls ‘God
Himself * ? .

From the earliest days that my memories can go back to,
Sri Krishna has been, in a sense, dominating my imagination.
In my childhood, I heard his adventures with breathless amaze.-
ment. Since then I have read of him, sung of him, admired him,
worshipped him in a hundred “temples and every year on his
birthday at home. And day after,day, for years and years; his
message has been the strength of my life.

Unfortunately, his fascinating personality, which could be
glimpsed in what may be called the original Mahabharata, has
been overlaid with legends, myths, miracles and adorations for
about three thousand years.

Wise and valorous, he was loving and loved, far-
and yet living for the moment, gifted with sage
and yet intensely human; the dlpl(_)mat, the sa
of action with a personality as luminous as thg

The urge, therefore, came upon me,
embark upon a reconstruction of his life and
a romance around him.

_ seeing
-like detachment
8¢ and the man
t of a divinity.

time and again, to
adventures by weaving

It was an impossible venture, but like hundreqs
in all parts of India for centuries, I could not help 0Of authors
whatever little of imagination and creative

Power
feeble though they were. I possessed,
I have called the whole work Krishngygiq, }
of the Lord. The First Part, which ep ara, The Descent

i ds wit
Kamsa, has been named The Magic Flute, i

boyhood associated with the flute, which
and birds alike, sung with such loving
able poets.

The Second Part, which ends with Rukmin; _ -
The Wrath of an Emperor, as the centra] thel;gi 1a r{?ﬁ’ 18 entitled
defiance by Sri Krishna of Jarasandha, the Empergr 0? ;zl;ce?ﬁ‘lél
The Third Part is entitled The Fiye B0l A
Draupadi’s Swayamvara. The Fourth papq ;. /S and ends with

of Bhima, the Fifth Part The Book of Sa{)}gbzzéi;}gd t:}:;ée g&otﬁ

1 the death of
] for it deals with his
1ypnotised men, animals

tendernesg by innumer-



1v INTRODUCTION

Part The Book of Vyaasa

, the Master, and the Seventh Part.-.!
The Book of Yudhishthira.

I hope to carry forward the series till the episode when, on
the battle-field

of Kurukshetra, Krishna reveals himself as the
Eternal Guardia

n of the Cosmic Law—Saashvata Dharma Gopld
—to Arjuna, if it is His will that I should do so.
I have followed the technique since 1922 to reconstruct the
episodes connected with. Chyavana and Sukanya in Purandard
Parajaya (a play), Agastya and Lopamudra, Vasishta and Vish-
‘wamitra, Parashurama and Sahasrarjuna in Vishvaratha (a ro-
mance), Deve Didhel; (a play), Vishwamitra Rishi (a play), Loma-
harshini (a Tomance) and Bhagavan Parashurama (a romangce),
and now Sri Krishna and the heroes and heroines of Aahabha-
rata 1 these volumes of Krishnavatara.

Time and

' L ogain, T ha i ar that none of these works
is an English reng have made it cle

ering of any old Purana.
In reconstrygt; : : T s, T had,
like many: of = p;gg Sri Krishna’s life and adventures,

: i ited
€cessors, to reconstruct the episodes inherite
f\iﬁI}? t?;ﬂpast, S0 as to ring out his character, attitude and oullo?K
I had also hpersona.hw—sustained technique of modern romance-
referred t ad to give ¢ lesh and blood to various obsgure characters
I 9 N the Mahabharata,

n { .
the 1‘3‘80}1}:{3 acfaurs;e of this adventure, T had often to depart from
must ﬂeceSSaI:-i] myth, for Such reconstruction by a modern _autl_lor
he has. T tp, Y 1nvolve {he exercise of whatever little imagination
but must writs £ © Will forgive me for the liberty I am taking,

O Him a5 T see Him in my imagination.
Bharatiya Vidl,ra
Chowpatty ROad, B
January 26{ 197, Onnbay-T.

Bhavap,

K. M. MUNSHI

|

|
1
!



FOREWORD

N Book of Vyaasa, the Master, should have been
the ggf'o;uog kt’oﬂiie (\)wholcf of the Krishnavatara series.

ith the reconstruction of Sri Krishna’s life
reco%idliitﬂi%g}ggicw;nd the Puranas, T felt that its background,
Tepresented by the life span of the sage Veda Vy

aasa, was a neces-
- . ’ o -
Sary prologue to Sri Krishna’s life and achievements.

-ata refers briefly to the birth of Dvaipaayana
v aarls:h‘e Iﬁa‘gi{}é?g‘]:s about sixty years later as a highly revered
Sayge EEIE: redactor of the Vedas, the embodimen

Lt of  dharma,
whose advice was sought by the Kuru elders and the Pandavas.

I therefore had to reconstruct this period from whatever
material 1 could gather, however scarce.

asa survived the Bharata war and is considered to be the
authgry E:)} the original Mahabharata, on which,

with interpolaticns
and additions, the present structure of the Epic rests.

The Puranic literature also attf;‘bUteS MOSt of the Puranas to
Vyaasa and contains fragmentaryd!'e crences to some events in his
life, sometimes of a very contra I]QFOT.}’ nature, However, op the
whole, he was accepted during his lifetime g

Sthe “Master’ (Swami),
the great architest of Dharma. _ .

These references are all silent ;s to how he came to attaip
the position he did when he emerged -in the

world of the Epic.
: flects a strugele bet.
Shrauta literature 1¢ ge etwee
of TEL? Vidya, — Rig, Yajur and Sama— op "y},
of the Atharvana-Angiras on the other.

The Trayi Vidya school looked upop ¢ iE
with contempt because lfs.].ore{ among gther things, inclydeq
sorcery (Yetu Vidya), m.emf}l;a f&?cuces (Bhishag Karmani) ang
state-craft (Raj Karmani). e Arvana righis Sapeae o
been denied the offize of Brahmaa, one of the :
at the sacrifices."

n the schoo]
ne hand and

he Athal‘va

have
OUT principal ritualists
Evidently this schism ended In favoyp op o Atharvanas. Their
sacred chants were accepted as an Integra] Dart of the AN A
the Atharvana-Angiras rishis WEIC aGeordeq the statis Oher s
at the sasrifices, though they were barreq from reoifing ATh ariat S
mantras at the sasrifice. - :



vi FOREWORD
The Puranas give the guru-

According to them, when Vyaasa _ : -

lore, the Atharvana lore had won a place in the Sk:auég ;‘iz.lals,

and Sumantu was Vyaasa’s first disciple of the Atharva ¢hool,
The second i

‘mportant thing which can be attributed to Veqa
Vyaasa is the st

andardisation of the WORD, the order and the
aceents of every mansrq— o standardisation which has come downp
to us intact from 3000 years

ago.

The Skanda Purana records a conversation between Vatikaa,
Vyaasa’s wife, the daughter of rishi Jaakaali and her son, Sukdey,
in which she tries to persuade the lattec of the need for grahas-
thashrama, the founding of a home as a stage in a dedicated life,

Sukdey is traditionally believed to have bee

hishya origin of Veda Vyaasz}-
Sorgaj;ized the schools of Vedig

n a Sannyasi. How-
, Hari Vamsa and Devi Bhagvyqt,
he Was married and hag children. According to Devi Bhagvat,
his wife was nameq Peevaree, by whom he had four sons a
daughter. &

nd one
_ The establishmen of the Order of Sannyasis, which is tradi-
tionally accepted to haye been founded by Sukdey under the inspi-
ration of hjs father, Veda Vyaasa hiwself, has been the firm
foundation of Sanatana dharma for well-nigh 30 centuries. Adj
Sankaracharya

£50 i the name of
Dashanami Sampra &‘ag;;l_zed the Order under
There

3 1O reason tq doubt that Vyaasa was the founder of
tb}iﬁ;ff rt]?f to1yasis, which bhas done and is doing so much to
]I?ualherita ¢ ‘ISpiration of sanatana dharma and present its spiri-
St £° t0 Indiy and nations abroad.
annyasis like - R 4
' ayanand and Vivekananda and even Rama
Iﬁéﬁ‘ﬁz l:géamahamSa and hundreds of ot]}ers,_ who hZ]:Ve ‘been
belong to thig ?)T;c?e;_)f Sanatana Dharma alive in modern times,
Throughgy

di i Mahabhargta, Vyaasa advises those in
d:.ljf"ii?'uutllf:r‘r:gelv and taje theifrgalh atythc sacred teerthas and
pnit yof ot €S. The feertha cult, so unique, has preserved the
uney Veda vygra“"y € consgiousness of the country’s being
I?ate' it was he wslm PPears to be the founder of this cult. ;At a}r;y
attributi ifi ' i teerthas

attributing purlfzcatol-yp asised the sanctity of the . y

POwer to them.
The social Structyr.

€, the four-fold order of society—Brah-

IR o



FOREWORD vii
manas, Kshatriyas, Vaisyas and Sudras—was in the process of
being institutionalised in Veda Vyaasa’s lifetime. It was not a rigid
social system. =

Vasishtha, the greatest of the Vedic rishis, was born of a
hetaira. Vishwamitra, the son of a king, became a rishi.

Veda Vyaasa himself was the son of a fisher girl. Sri Krishna’s
father, Vasudeva and Kunti were born of a Naga princess; some
of his ancestors inter-married with the Nagas. Bheema married
a Rakshasi named Hidimbaa. Arjuna had Naga wives.

with the advance of Aryan culture in the country, all the
people who came within the orbit of the Sanatana dharma, were

“provided with a social status.

Vyaasa was a mighty figure accepted on all hands as the
embodiment of dharma. In the Bhagavaa{ Gita, Sri Krishna even
identifies Vyaasa with himself. The Yogic school accepted him
as the ideal Vitraga, though he had a wife and son.

Hz was considered to be Vishnu with two arms and not four-
as Brahma with one face and not four, and as Shiva without thé
third eye. In fact, several Puranas accept him as one of the avataars
of Vishnu.

K. M. MUNSHI
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CHARACTERS IN THIS STORY

KRISHNA DVAIPAAYANA—Ilater called Veda Vyaasa, generally
referred to as the Master.

MATSYAGANDHAA (shortly Matsyaa)—his mother; a fisher-

girl; later the Empress Satyavati, consort of the Emperor
Shantanu.

PARAASHARA —his father; a very learned Arya rishi at the
close of Vedic period; son of Shakti; grandson of Vasishtha, the

great Vedic sage; founder of a school of Jyotish (Astrology),
Dharmashastra and Ayurveda.*

ASVAL AND PAILA—Disciples of Sage Paraashara.

JARUTH—father of Matsyagandhaa;

. a fisherman living in an
islet near Kalpi on the Yamunaa. !

CHANDODARI—mother of Matsyagandhaa.

SAHASRARJUNA (Arjuna of the Thousand Arms)—the kin
of Mahishmati, the powerful leader of the Haihaya )tribes, LW}'IE

invaded Aryavarta; himself killed and his invadi )
troyed by Parashu Raama, the Bhargavzli. R B HordeEl e

RICHIKA—the High Priest of Mahishmat
Sahasrarjuna) and Chief of the Bhrigus, a tribe of (grandfather of

warrior priest.**
JAMADAGNI—son of Richika, on . :
rishis (seers). ¢ of the seven leading Vedic

PARASHU RAAMA—son of Jam i
(Later in life accepted as God—incarigilf)m'

* Among the works attributed
Hora Shastra (Astrology); Paraashara

to Paraashara are: Brihat-Paraashara;
shara-Samhita ( Ayurveda),

-Dharmasamhita (Law Text) and Paraa-

** The carlier episodes are described i

published by the Bharatiya Vidya Bhavann my book Bhagawan Parashurama,






PROLOGUE

Tee tempestuous and headstrong King Mahi

terror from his capital Mahishmati in Anupdesh on ﬂilr\l;ra‘etstsgg??

Even the denizens of Patala, who lived across the dark seas trersn.
C ) -

bled at his very name.
In the arrogance of unlimited power, Mahish !
: : I s ma
heed to the advice of the Sage Richika, his High Prielsttqﬁgl? no
ditary leader of the Bhrigus, a tribe of warrior priests : e
Under Mahishmat’s leadership, the Haihava tribes
. : . 2 ibes
the Cosmic Law of Rita, which the Great Goc)if Varira a\fl?odrej}e((ll
the Universe, had laid down for the Aryas to observe. ule
~ The Sage Richika, master of the Atharvan lore 'was :
with the Haihayas and their king Mahishmat Hza 5 wroth
laid a curse on them and, as a sign of his diSpleasui'e left A erefore,
With his tribesmen, his cows and his horses’ e nupdesh.
mettle, the Sage migrated to Aryavarta (the unpartiti uzilmatched
where the cultured Aryas lived. itioned Punjab)
In Aryavarta, a large number of gshrgme ;
sprung up on the banks of the rivers lé‘;?;‘;\g;?lmitages) had
Yamunaa, where the presiding sages (rishis) li\’edl’ifgn-gi?- and
i aintliness,

in prayers that were God-like.
When he reached Aryavarta, Richika o )
daughter, Satyavati by name, and by per hlarued King Gadhi’s
Jamadagni, who, by his saintlinesg and :Ieae begot a son named
amongst the seven eminent rishis, ming, found a plage
_ Mahishmat was succeeded by his grandes
Arjuna of the Thousand Arms.  He came to A & Sahasrarjuna or
Jamadagni, his High Priest’s son, a rishj ip hisr) avarta and wanteq
to Anupdesh, and to revoke the curse prop Own right, to return
and his people by Richika. Ounced on Mahishmat
When the Sage J.'amadagm_ refuseq to 4
to revoke the curse laid on by his fathe return to Any
the youngest son of Jamadagni (refel‘r,ed TJuna kidnappe
and took him to Anupdesh. t
Sahasrarjuna felt humiliated v,
the ¢anons of fit behaviour .prescl'ib
vowed vengeance O :h]g\ tishig,
Parashu Raama OF Kaamg op
teens, proved @ 1.“01t'm1dable youn stl::e Battle Axe, though in his
authority and Jed 1nto Aryavatta an exl;;duEIe f_~c:11_-I1allcngc:cl Arjuna’s
3 0 aihayas who were

dpcé%:sh or
aama
0 as Parashy Raama)’

U he wag |
ed made to submit to
by the Arya code and he



Xiv PROLOGUE
sick of the atrocities committed by their ruler.

: ; tribe
Arjuna of the Thousand Arms, with his ruthless
advanced like a hurr

ashrams of the tishis,

When Arjuna was approaching Aryavarta, Sag_se I\’ggﬁ?ﬂf];lor;{
the grandson of Vasishtha, the greatest of Rishis,
ashram to ashram

and king to king, warning them of the threatened

. . s T ’g
destruction and pleaded with them to combine in resisting Arjunga
hordes.

OWever, his plea fell on deaf ears. The kings of the
Arya tribeg

Were complacent; they had confidence in Aryavarta’s
nvulnerability.

On his way to the banks of Saras
had thej i

Smen,
icane to destroy Aryavarta and to uproot the

o aomates massacred, the women raped and cattle butchered
Of taken away tq feed the hordes,
When p

araashara returned to his ashram, he found it a huge
charnel-hoyge,

young man, fierce

steength, at his grandfather’s ashram.
W Atjuna coming i 2 chariot d
Enveloped

rawn by powerful horses,
2 oloud of dust, © Aboys a hundred chariot warriors
Were following him

e was fearsome; his eyes were drunk with power.
s draashar, went forwg

rd, leaving ‘his fate in the hands of the
: Old of the rejng of Ar
Artjun areq j

juna’s horses and faced himd.
; ; o 10 SUIprise at the nan Who, single-handed, dare :
2 E;.ra“t, his ¢ ariot’s progress. His ¢oOmpanions drew their swords;
a8 E&ng T3y of arms surrounded the Sage, Davon ki
are yoy da: 3 i .‘Doy
who T am 9~ YO doing, yoy foo] 2 asked Arjuna
Sage Paraashara st : ‘I know that
00d firm and unhesitant,
you are the Jorq op the Haihayas, 5 mighty warrior. But I want
YOU 10 g0.back. v, ian f . Sem to realize what you are doing
now. Out of every drop of
vindicator,’

Atya blood that you shed will arise a
Then, in g beseeching tone

: ‘King of Haihayas,
you are the lord of the world, 3 o agli)(? igﬂidpérsli{s;nign this destruc-
tion ? Hatred has never helpeq anyone, nor will it help you. It is
a dread fire, which Invariably C0nsumes jts author. Pause, ponder,
listen to what | Say : Go back to youy country,’




PROLOGUE XV
i i d to the Sage’s words with contempt. He was

ﬁjﬁﬂ%;liﬁzﬁwho had the temerity to talk to him in this way
mlrettb'c1 mad. With a cruel laugh, he lashed at the sage. One of his
Followers hit his leg. The sage fell unconscious to the ground. Blood
fc)ll0Wdert‘?mrn his mouth. Arjuna’s men laughed in exultation.
flowﬁiW ithout casting even a look at the fallen man, the destroyers
rode away. All that night they were busy plundering the villages,
destroying ashrams and raping women. ;

On the outskirts of what was onge his as iram, where he had
led his numerous disciples along the path of godliness, Paraashara
lay unconscious.

IT

A little after sunrise, the boat of a fisherman named Jaruth
reached the bank where Paraashara lay unconscious.

Jaruth lived on an islet in the Yamunaa. Whenever he went
on a long fishing expedition, he used to pay a visjt to the ashram
and offer salutations to the sage. .

When he saw the ashram burning, he did not dare to approach
it. But the next day the vandals had _dlsappf_:ared.

Mooring the boat, Jaruth and his family stepped out on to
the bank, despite the fear in their hearts.

Among them was Jaruth’s
Matsyaa. Her loins and breasts were w
cloth. She wore ornaments of shell a er neck, hauds
g fs'?]‘:é- was very graceful. Her young breasts were |
buds. She was dark in colour and in the sunshine, s
she was made of shining Gopper. Her lovely cheek

appiness and joy.
h ppwhilst her father and her uncles were busy lighting a fire to
prepare a repast for themselves, Matsyaq saw s, Ly o
distance away on the sandy shore._ She ran towards him.

Paraashara was still unconscious, Blooq was trickling from
the corners of his mgsths.he o

The girl was scared. ent down to hay
the man %ying thete and recognised the rishi, ° 2 closeiceit

On every visit, she bad accompanjeq ber father Jaruth, and
offered salutations to the Sage apg Presented him with feshly:
caught fish. The Sage used to bless the : :
His face was gentle and his eyes pey

fOllrteen-year-

rapped round,
nd silver on h

old daughter
with a piece of

ke twin flower
S glowed with

med with kindliness.



Xvi PROLOGUE
Matsyaa’s heart wept at the sight of the kind sage lying in a

pool of blood. She called out to him, but there was no reply, Had

been killed, she thought, However, in order to find out whether he
was dead or alive

» she placed her ear on his chest._ )
Then she began tc}) cry loudly. Hearing her or c{’bz}:&l{ @‘%ﬁ{
~ Chandodari, who was preparing the repast, shoute S
1s the matter 9

‘Mother, the venerable rishi is dead,’” sobbed Matsyaa.
The moth

ther came running, raised her daughter and plaged
her hand on the rishi’s eyes

- He opened them for a mti:l,llegt an?i
closed them again. ‘He is alive | He is alive, for sure !’ shoute
Chandodarj.

Hearing her shouts, the fishermen, frightened to death,
gathered aroung the Sage.

‘Go back to the boat,” said Jaruth to Matsyaa and Chandodari.

men have burnt down the ashram. This plage 15
only fit for demons noy. Come, let us

at him. ‘The demon who burnt the
ashram must haye killed hj Rebaid!
Chandog

arj Said : ‘No, he
€ can nurse

» e is alive. Let us take him with us.
. Im back to life
They lifteq Paraashara into the boat, The mother and daughter
the pim water to drip and washed his body with water, removing
e b_‘}gﬁéinsgum. The boat hyrrjeq back to the islet near Kalpi.b :
ey Ieturnedq : = age on a be
of soft green’ Jegyes. to the islet, they placed the s g
T tWo dayg they nurseq the sa uld
; ge as best they could.
wate:(‘gno?l? tehllr-d day, when the moon was shining brightly and the
covered hig - LVer were

el : g e i
Owing in soothing music, Paraashara r .
O a while. OUSNEss. He vag still in a daze.

watchinr tw'l]“hz’ M}f;lésyaa ki at the rishi’s pale face,

ept staring P teai
Yrs €0t up to him. Taking the rishi’s hea
feglap she Grooneg a fisher. gt na sot%. low voice.

TCI-girl’s song i

of m’myls“éiagya 1:marl;lmled andg mentallg sick because of the Il}&t{ﬁg
Sl ,» Par, : .
young girl was Singing_ashara found comfort in the song which

—

.



CHAPTER 1
‘COME, FATHER, COME’

T WAs evening and the fast-flowing waters of the river Yamuna
looked like a torrent of molten gold.

On the edge of a small islet, separated from the mainland by a
narrow creek, a six-year-old boy was standing, steadfastly gazing
at the western horizon where the waters of the river appeared to
touch the sky, waving his hands as if in invitation.* :

The boy was dark in colour and of a squat build. His forehead
was broad, his eyes dark and luminous, his features homely.

The boy lived on the island with his mother, her father Jaruth
and her uncles, together with other members of their families.
They formed part of the fishing community in the village beyond
the creek. Their main occupation was to ferry travellers across the
river in small boats and to catch fish and bring it to the market in
Kalpi, a settlement on the bank of the river on the other side of the
creek. To this fishing community, the river Yamuna was a
mother, a living goddess, who provided them with food and an
occupation which gained them a livelihood.

The boy spent his days catching and cleaning fish and helping
his grandfather to stitch nets. He was an obedient child, who
never shirked work. Whenever his mother or one of his grand-
patents went to the settlement to sell fish, he accompanied them
with a small basket of fish which he had caught himself. He never
mixed with the boys of his own age in the village and was never
interested in their games. Whenever he was in their company,
he would retreat into silence.

He lived in a world of his own and the other boys of his age
in the village thought that he was a little mad. '

Whenever he was free, he came to stand on the edge of the
islet, facing west, as if waiting for his father; sometimes he hailed
him as if his voice could reach his father wherever he might be,
That was what he was doing now.

Soon the small boat, plied by his mother, which had gone tg
the other bank to ferry passengers, returned to the islet. He took
no notice of her; he continued to wave his hand and call : “Father
come soon. When are you coming ?’ :

His mother, Matsyagandhaa, jumped out of the boat, tied it

#] had the privilege of visiting the spot, traditionally believed to have been
the birth place of Veda Vyaasa, and of laying the foundation for a monument.
I don't know whether the monument has been constructed.

K.p-vi—1



2 KRISHNAVATARA—VI

to a wooden pillar, and with i

mpatient steps, went to the hut in
which she live

d with her parents and son.

] Ins, held in position b
covering the upp

€I part of her body, made of silver and shells.

She Tan with sprightly steps towards the hut, calling out to her
200 : “Krishna, Krishna’. Chandodari,

her mother, who was cookmgl
- Shouted back : ‘That mad boy of yours is doing the usual
a8 - calling to his father.’ Then she added by way of commentary :
Who will never come.’

alsyagandhaa ran to the boy, picked him up in her arms,
8ave him 5 loving hug, and nestling her head on his choulders,
asked him ; ‘Krishna, why do you waste your time ? Your father,
Wherever he 1S, cannot hear you.’

Theboy lookeq ; :
that he halclyhraa:rdet(1 i ahis
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father,” he said pathetically, pointing to the fishermen’s village
across the creek.

Matsyagandhaa appreciated the intense passion with which
Krishna awaited his father. She had seen that he felt most miserable
at having no father to depend upon when every boy of his age had
a father living with him. 4

‘Krishna, haven’t I told you again and again that you can never
go to your father’s? she said in irritation and her voice broke down.
She did not know what to do. How could she explain to the sensitive
boy, who was living on an impossible dream, that he could not live
with his father?

The boy fixed his wide eyes on his mother’s sad face. ‘T am sure,
Mother, he will be glad if we go to him.’

Matsyagandhaa wiped the tears that again welled up in her
eyes and said: ‘How can I explain it to you? He cannot take you
with him—either you or me. He is a very, very great man. People
worship him. But he lives far, far away, and we are humble folks’.

The boy affectionately ¢lung to his mother. “Don’t ¢ry, Mother.
As soon as he gomes, I will beg of him to take both of us with him,
and I am sure, he will never say ‘“no”’.’

Matsyaa hugged him again and turned her head away so that
he might not see the tears that were coursing down her cheeks. Then,
in a choking voice, she said: “You should not think of your father.
Some day, he will not be able to come here.’

The boy’s face was an open book; it reflected that he did not
share her views about his father.

“The last time he came,’ said the boy, ‘Grandfather told me that
he would return when the full-moon comes to Aashaadha.* That
was the day I was born, wasn’t it? Grandfather is sure that he will
take me with him one day.’

‘T wish Grandfather’s hopes could be fulfilled’, said Matsyaa
and broke down.

The boy clung to his mother. ‘Grandfather is not like you,
Mother. Every time I talk to you about Father, you shed tears. But
Grandfather says that Father knows everything—about the stars,
the moon, the fish, the trees, the alligators, and also far-away places
and kings who ride on elephants. He also told me that Father would
visit us when the full-moon comes to Aashaadha. Don’t ¢ry, Mother,’
the boy said, reaching out to wipe her tears.

‘Twill not cry, T promise you, Krishna. Let us wait till he comes,’

*Aashaadha— a constellation which givesits name to the month Aashaa-

dha in the Hindu calendar. Traditionally the full-moon day of the month
of Aashaadha is the birthday of Veda Vyaasa.
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beyond his years; whenever he accompanied one of the members
of his family in the ferry boat, the passengers were attracted to him.
They loved the way he talked of how great his father was, of how
he could talk to the gods and of how, when he himself was older
his father would take him away with him. His father knew everything:
he said to the passengers—about the stars and the sky, the each
drop of water in the Yamuna; about the fish and the alligators
in the river. That was why he was going with his father, who would
teach him everything. The passengers knew that he was the fruit of
a momentary lapse on the part of his mother; the stranger whoever
he was, they were sure, would never take the boy away with him.

However, the boy talked so sweetly and with such earnestness
that the passengers listened to his hopes with interest even with
affectionate solicitude. But when they parted from him, they shook
their heads sadly. Such a bright and winsome boy, but so wildly
unaware! i

When the full-moon moved near the constellation of Aashaadha,
Krishna became very impatient, bubbling with joy at the thought
of meeting his father. His mother and her parents shuddered at the
prospect, almost the certainty, that his father would not come. And
then what would happen to the boy?

However, Krishna was busy with thoughts of his father; he
caught the finest fish in the river, cleaned it and asked his grand-
mother to cook it properly, because his father was coming. His father
must be given the fish which he himself had fished and cleaned, and
no other, for was he not his son?—an argument which, according
to him, was unansweratle. ) .

e told his grandmother again and again that his father had
come to him in his dreams and promised to take him away; that he
would also take his mother with him. The grandmother only shook
her head. :

With tears in her eyes, Matsyaa prepared him for the tragic
end. ‘Krishna, suppose he does not gome?’

“Then, as I told you, Mother, we will go to him in our boat.’

‘But T have said to you again and again, Krishna, that we
don’t know where he lives,” she said impatiently. That had no effect
on the btoy.

‘T have been talking to Mother Yamuna. She is so very kind
and will show us the way. Mother, get ready and don’t cry. If you
cry before Father, he will think that I'am making you unhappy.’
He clung to his mother, who bent down and caressed him.

Her heart was heavy with the fear of the shock that the boy
would receive when his father did not come.



CHAPTER 2
THE PARTING
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placed on his shoulder, plunged into the river and began to swim
towards the boat. " ’

Muni Paraashara, in spite of beinglame, jumped out of the
boat, lifted Krishna from the water and hugged him as if he was a
baby. Krishna encircled his necx with both his arms, laughed and
cried at the same time, and nestled his head against the Muni’s
beard.

When the Muni stepped out cf the water, Matsyaa, ber parents
and other members of ber family, who bad come Sut of their huts,
prostiated themselves before the Muni and touched his feet in
reverence.

Krishna, slipping down from his Father’s arms, turned to his
mother and said proudly: ‘Didn’t I tell you that father would come
for sure? -

There was a humorcus twinkle in the Muni’s eyes. ‘Matsyaa,
my son knows me better than you do. You were afraid that I would
not come,” he said and laughed mischievously. Then he turned to the
boatmen who had brought him to the islet and said: ‘Now, you may
take the other passengers to wherever they want to go. Pick me up
on your return journey three days from now. Don’t forget.’

The other passengers who had also jumped out of the boat,
offered their salutations to the sage, for he was well known to many
of the people residing in the hamlets on the banks of the Yamuna,
by the fond name of Pangu (lame) Muni. They even called him Pangu
Muni to his face, to which he responded by the humorous twinkle
of his eyes. With his right arm extended, the Muni blessed them:

“‘May the Gods make your journey happy.”

Krishna’s heart was filled with pride. His father was a great
man.

It was with some difficulty that Krishna allowed himself to be
placed on the ground, but he would not part from his father; he
held on to one of his father’s fingers lest by some magic he might
disappear.

Krishna knew both his father’s disciples; they also had come
last year. One, Asval, was middle-aged; the other, Paila, was in
his teens. He offered salutations to them and received their blessings.

Paraashara then received salutations from the fisher-folks
who had crossed the creek in order to welcome him. After they had
gone, the Muni and his disciples went for their bathe. Krishna
accompanied them.

After his bathe, standing in the waters, Paraashara offered
the usual ritualistic worship to the Sun God. Krishna also had a
second dip in the river and copied his every gesture and tried to
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capture the accent and cadence with which his father chanted the
mantras.

‘It is wrong of you, Krishna, to recite the divine mantras which
I utter,” said the Muni. i y
The boy looked disappointed, almost huit. ‘Why?" he asked.
Am | not your son? He was not going to allow his father to forget
his status. , -
"Cf course, you are 1ny son. But these are not ordinary ¢ ]1.§1nt§[-
they are the WORD, divine in themselves, You cannot resite it till
you are reborn,” said the Muni and patted Krishna on the back.
Krishna was puzzled; his brow was puckered. How could he be
re-born? “Were you also re-born?’ he asked. -
“Yes, of course, replied the Muni. :
‘When will 1 be re-born?’ >
-When you are able to chant the mansres with the proper tone
and keep the vows associated with them.’
‘But Ican chant them now,’ said the boy and chanted the sacred
Maniras exactly as hijg father bad done.
araashara smiled, He felt a touch of pride at having a son,
Who, in spite of the surroundings in which he had been brought up,
could chant the WORD in the same tone as he had done. ‘Store it in
YOUr memory, don’t utter it, or the Gods will be angry.’
al‘aasl_lara.sat to offer worship to the Fire God. Krishna also
. ollowed tte mantras which his father
City. Now that he could not shant the mantras
Is father’s adyige and stored the words, ¢ad-
dence and accent in hi ;

._+1en the Muni and the male members of t
Il meal—modest fare Jonsisting mainl

leaves, Krishna quietly sat near his fath
from the same Jeaf.

. His grandfather called him: ‘Krishna, come here and take your
00d with me, a5 you always do.’

‘No’ said’ Krishna emphati ¢ T il
cat with him, The Mphatically. ‘Now, Father js here, 1 w

fthoi fiea, with charming innocence, he turned to his
ather. ‘Father, Will you be angry if I share your meal with you?’ He
W?ﬁ E;ffald lest his father, in displeasure, might not take him away
with him.

. No, my son. T g, glad that you share your food with me,’
replied the Muni and patted his back.
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Before eating his meal, Paraashara sprinkled water around the
banana leaf and chanted some mantras. Krishna also, in imitation
sprinkled a little water around the leaf and stored the chants in his
memory by moving his lips silently. Everyone looked at him and
laughed.

That night Krishna slept with his father. Throughout the night,
he continued to keep a hand on his father. His one fear was that his
father might leave the islet without him.

Next morning when the family met, after Muni Paraashara had
finished his ritual and worship, Matsyaa’s father, Jaruth respect-
~ fully broached the subject. “Venerable Sir, Krishna is a problem,’

he said.

Paraashara Jlaughed heartily. ‘1 can see it. He has been a
problem even before his birth. Krishna, your grandfather says you
are giving trouble to him.’

“Not at all,’ said Krishna with a blank smile. ‘He is only teasing
me, Father, I obey him implicitly.” He added, laughing mischievously:
‘Look at him; he is smiling.” Everyone laughed heartily.

“Venerable Sir,” said Jaruth seriously. ‘All the time he talks
of going with you.” The old fisherman continued apologetically
folding his hands: ‘We have no claims on you, Venerable Sir. We
realise your difficulty in taking him with you. But if you leave him
here, it will break his heact.’ Jaruth was determined to get rid of
Krishna: that was the only way he could see Matsyaa married to
some suitable young fisherman.

‘Don’t worry, Jaruth,” said Paraasbara with a smile. If you
and Matsyaa have no objection, I will take him away with me. Only
I would have liked him to be with his mother till he was able to
look after himself.”

Krishna interrupted: ‘No Father. I am grown up now.” He
squared his shoulders and put his chest out. ‘Doyou know, yesterday
the fish slipped out of grandfather’s grasp and I caught them.’

Every one laughed. Paraashara said affectionately: ‘“Then I
will take you with me. But you will have to be a very good
boy.’

; Krishna's face beamed with joy. Then he asked plaintively :
‘Father, why not take Mother with us also? She will look after you.’
Then he had a puzzled look on his face as he asked: ‘Father, you
said that T would be re-born. But how can 1 be re-born without
Mother? / 4

The Muni laughed aloud. ‘We will manage it somehow, my son.
‘Dont’t worry. But if she comes with us, who will look after your
grandfather and grandmother? They have grown very old.’
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_‘That is true,” said Krishna slowly, as if pondering over the

problem. Then he continued: ‘But when they are not alive, who

will look after Mother?

Everybody felt nervous. Jaruth and his wife found their I??earts
were trembling: What would the Muni decide about Matsyaa? .

For a few moments the Muni closed his eyes in meditaition;
then he opened them and smiled. ‘Dont’t worry about your m::_the}'-h
He closed his eyes again. Everyone present looked at the Muni wit
awe. Then he opened his eyes and said: ‘She has a great future
before her. She js going to be very happy; the stars show it. Also
. When you grow up, Dvaipa, you will Jook after her, wherever
she is.’

Matsyaa prostrated herself before the Muni and he placed
his hand ‘on her head in blessing.

For two days Krishna went on telling whomsoever caied to
listen to him that he was going with his father. He swam across

for having no father; now he had
With irrepressible enthusiasm.

His father knew ceverything, Krishna said, and he had promised
to teagh him g3

that he knew. He would then know about the

stars, the moon, the fish; even how many drops of water there are

ciples of his own, as his father

L he w a beard and have matted locks. He would

also go with him to the kings who rode on elephants and they would

Pf;ssst_r:ge themselves before his father and him and ask for their
ing.

he boat in which the Muni was to return, arrived at the jslet.
blessi hermen gathered to bid 800d-bye to the Muni and seek his
essing.

When the moment of parting came, Matsyaa’s eyes weie full
of tears, Perhaps sh c e

00 Small for her wq

t nderful boy, for he had always wanted to count
the stars and the dr

Ops of water in the river. She was thankful to

E
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i1‘\/1tc1)-lthcr Yamuna for giving her a son who ¢ould grow up like his
ather.

_ She fully realised that her fate also depended upon Krishna
going with his father. There would be some possibility then of a
young and able fisherman accepting her in marriage. '

When the time for departure came, the people gathered to-
gether wete surprised to find that Krishna was not there. Some went
to look for him in their buts. Then, to their surprise, they found that
he had waded through the water, clambered up into the boat and
was quietly standing, waiting for his father, lest his mother and
grandfather should change their minds at the last minute and keep him
witnh them. Ty
i Paraashara laughed aloud. ‘Krishna wants 10" g0 away, leaving
me here with you, Matsyaa.” Then, raising his voice, he said :
“Krishna, come here. You must fall at the feet of your mother and
grandparents and ask theil permission to leave, and they will bless
you. That is the way of the Aryas.’

Reluctantly, Krishna jumped from the boat and as he began
to wade through the shallow waters, everyone burst into uproa-
rious laughter.

Krishna had enveloped himself in a spare deer-skin lying in
the boat, which, because of his size, covered his whole body from
neck to feet. O

He came out of the water, holding the deer-skin in its place
with both his hands. As he tried to prostrate himself before his
grandfather, he lost control of the deer-skin and both he and the
skin collapsed and tumbled to the ground to the merriment of
everyone there.

%araalslhara lifted his son, rcad‘justed the deer-skin and tied
it with a piece of rope so that it might not slip off his body, and
caressed him. !

The moment of parting had come. Tears coursed down
Matsyaa’s cheeks. ‘Krishna, when will you m;et me again ?° she
asked piteously. e ; _ \

The boy looked at his father, suspecting a trap to k‘eep him
from going with his father, but was re-assured by his smile. ‘Mother,
don’t worry. Whenever you want me, Mother, T will be by your
side.’

Matsyaa hugged him. /

‘K.rislyma, at%gAry'a never forgets his mother’, said the Muni.
‘She is your Mother Goddese.” =~ .

Mafsyaa looked at the Muni with gratitude. She covered her
face with her hands, and not being able to restrain her distress,
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turped it towards the wall of the hut.

The Muni said : ‘Matsyaa, don’t cry. Bless the child. 1 will
always call Krishna “Dviapaayana”—the child of this islet—so
that he may never forget you.”*

The Muni lifted the boy in his arms and waded out to the boat.

‘Mother, don’t cry,’ shouted Krishna joyfully. ‘I am going with
Father.’

*Dweepa in Sanskrit means an island. Its derivative Dvaipaayana means
one born in an island.




CHAPTER 3
THE FIELD OF ASHES

ATHER and son began their journey upstream in high spirits.
Dvaipaayana had never travelled up the river and everything
was, therefore, new and delightful to him. He was excited to see the
alligators lying on the banks like logs of wood, or slipping noise-
Jessly into the water, and the herds of elephants coming to the
opposite bank to drink water; he was transported with delight
when he saw baby elephants frolicking and spraying water from their
trunks on to their elders.
~ Dvaipa knew only the fisherman’s slang. The Muni also knew
it well, but at the earliest opportunity, he began to introduce his
son to the divine language of the Aryas. He was gratified to see that
his little son picked up the language quickly and began to make
efforts to speak it, though haltingly. -

When the sun was about to set, the boat was halted near the
village of Godhuli. The passengers who had reached their destin-
ation left the boat; others made preparations to spend the night
on the bank of the river.

No sooner did the villagers hear that Pangu (lame) Muni—
as they called him—had arrived, than they came to the bank of
the river with drums and fifes playing, to offer their salutations and
seek his blessing. They loved the lame Muni; the Muni returned
their love with parental affection. Soon the ailing and the sick began to
arrive to seek the Muni’s blessing; he was the master of the art of
healing.

Gautama, the Achaiya of a small hermitage on the outskirts
of the village of Godhuli—an erstwhile disciple of the Muni’s—
also hurried to the bank with his disciples, and fell at the feet of
his guru in deep reverence.

When the Muni introducec his son Dvaipa, the Acharya not
only blesssd him, but hugged him with affection.

Acharya Gautama invited the Muni and Dvaipa, together with
the two disciples, Asval and Paila, and the passengers who were
halting there for the night, to his hermitage.

When they arrived at the hermitage and after the evening
rituals were performed and everyone had had his food, guests and
host retired to sleep. :

Dvaipa lay beside his father on a deer-skin. It was a clear night
and as the starry heavens moved majestically above, the Muni
pointed out the principal stars by name and also identified the
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planets which had an influence on the life of man. Dvaipa, on the
authority of his mother’s father, had always claimed that his father
knew all about the Stars; now he was certain that he did.

The Muni pointed out the seven Primeval Sages.! ‘That one,’
said the Muni, pointing to one star, ‘is our ancestor, Vasishtha.’

‘And will you also become a star, Father ?° asked Dvaipa. .

‘I can, if T uphold the WORD,’? replied the Muni.

‘And if T uphold the WORD shall | too become a star 2’ asked
Dvaipa.

‘Of course, you can,” assured the Muni.

Dvaipa’s heart was full of joy. ‘But Father, who moves the
stars 7, he asked. ‘They seem to be travelling westwards.’

‘It is the Lord Varuna, the Great God of the skies and the
waters, who moves the sky. The stars are his eyes, which look into
the deeds of everyone.’

“Even yours and mine ?’ asked Dvaipa.

‘Certainly,’ replied the Munj,

Dvaipa was consideratly impressed. Now he was under the
care of the God Varuna.

Next day, early in the morning, after

Muni, with the other inmates of the ashram, offered worship to

appropriate chants. Dvaipa sat
his memory whatever his father
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will have to keep all the vows, Te]] me what they are T am sure I
will keep them. S i '

‘It is not so ea €D the vows at yoyr ? sai i
“You will have to lead the rigid life of 5 Brﬁhmagﬁg’[i Slall\i I\I:::tlxr%l::r
guru, walking in the strict path prescribed by the sz;ges take only

1. Ursa Major. X

2. Seethe Note appended to this Chapter,
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the food which you have secured by begging, and above all, surrender
your life to the WORD.’ , ’

‘T will do so, Father,” said Dvaipa in an appealing voice. ‘Paila
does it; why not I ? He is older than me by only eight years.’

The Muni patted his son on the back and continued : ‘The
mantras are not mere chants, son; they are divinities themselves.
When you live for them, the secret of the Rifa (Cosmic Order) of
the God Varuna will be unfolded to you’.

They broke their journey near a hamlet and performed the
noon-day rituals. The residents of the hamlet welcomed them with
reverence and gave them food.

After midday, they started on their journey. Dvaipa found
that his father was cheerful and reverted to the problem oppressing '
him. ‘Father, when did you start chanting the WORD 7
_ The Muni smiled; his son was not going to accept defeat. ‘It
is a secret, my son’, he said.

Promptly there came another question, made in all serious-
ness;"Why do you want to kept it a secret from me ? Am I not your
son 7’

“If T tell you, you may not believe it,” said the Muni.

Dvaipa felt hurt at his father’s lack of confidence in him. He
was also afraid that if he pressed his father to tell him the secret
he might get angry and take him back to his mother. ’

The Muni saw how_his son felt hurt and decided not to allow
anything to come between them. ‘T will tell you the secret if you
keep it to yourself’, he said.

‘I will, Father. Rely upon me.’ ;

‘My grandfather, Vasishtha, was the patriarch of all the sages
in Aryavarta. He conversed with the Gods and they chanted him
the WORD, with its words, cadence and accent in all their purity.’

Dvaipa opened his eyes wide. ‘Could grandfather really talk
to the Gods ?’ he asked.

“Yes’, replied the Muni.

‘Can you talk to the Gods yourself, Father 7.

‘Onge I could. Not now,’ replied the Muni sorrowfully and
added with a smile : “You are never tired of asking questions.’

‘1 want to know everything that you know, Father,” said
Dvaipa with his good—natun’_:d smile.

The Muni appreciated his son’s earnestness. The boy paused
for a while and then reverted to his favourite subject : “What was
your age when you were taught the Worp 7

[ Jearnt it when I heard grandfather chanting it.”

‘Did not your father teach you anything ?’
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‘My father could not; he was killed in battle. T was in my
mother’s womb at the time,” replied the Muni.

Dvaipa pondered over the problem, and with charming in-
nocence, asked : “Will you get angry with me if I ask you some
more questions 2’

gh.
far-away look. Then he spoke in a low vojce :
days.’

‘Had

ad ith over two hundred senjor
disciples,’ said the Muni,

“Why did he have to £0 to the war 2’ asked Dvaipa.
‘He was the gury of Kix
were arrayed. It

father, King Suq

at was your father called and
‘My father went by the n
shyanti.’

Are we going to your grandfather’s ashram 2

‘Ttisa painfy] subject, my boy. Let us not revive the memories
of those unfortunate days,’ said the Munij sadly.

‘Please te]] me one thing,’ said Dvaipa. ‘“When did he die ?°

‘He died many years ago. When the wicked King Sahasrarjuna
burnt dowp the ashrams in Dharmakshetra, grandfather surren-
df;red his life to 80 to the Land of the Forefathers of his own free
will before the demon could kill him.’t
Are we going to Dharmakshetra 2 asked Dvaipa.
NO’, said the Muni. ‘It is 10w a wilderness. I cannot bear to
olation where once the learned rishis chanted the Worb.’
; You an ashram of your own ?* asked Dvaipa.
W hen are we going to your ashram

ot now,’ said the Muni; a shadow of
mjclﬂ)i cheerful fy

This episoq
rama, summarised

anguish fell over his

¢e. Dvaipa saw it and remained silent,
¢ is described in detail in my romance Bhagwan Parashu-
in English and published by Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan,
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The next day, they started early on their journey. A little after
sunrise, as they negotiated a bend of the river, Dvaipa saw at a
distance a huge field with mounds of ashes, charred stumps of trees
and huge ant-hills; not a man or animal could be seen; it was fright-
ful—a vast funeral ground.

“‘What is that, Father ?” asked Dvaipa, his voice trembling.

‘It is called the Field of Ashes. Don’tlook atit. Close your
eyes for a while,” replied the Muni.

The boatman halted the boat near a hamlet. Its residents, who
were taking their bath or watering their cattle in the river, re-
cognised Pangu Muni, offered salutations and soon brought food
for him and his companions.

Several passengers, who had reached their destination, left
for the hamlet.

Father and son, with the disciples, Asval and Paila, sat under
the shade of a tree and partook of the food which the villagers had
brought for them.

The boatman approached them. ‘Veneiable Muni, are you
coming with us to the other bank or staying here ?’

“We will go across,” replied the Muni.

‘“Why does the boatman want to take us across the river
asked Dvaipa after the boatman had left. “Why not go along this
bank ? T want to see the Field of Ashes.’

‘This Field of Ashes is under a curse and to sail along it is
inauspicious,’ said the Muni.

Dvaipa’s curiosity was aroused. ‘Why do we not stay here,
Father and go on foot and see that dreadful place ?” he asked.

The Muni closed his eyes for a little while, and opened them
again as if making up his mind. “You would be unhappy to know
all about this unfortunate Field.”

Dvaipa saw the anguish on his father’s face. ‘I will be very
unhappy if you don’t tell me all about the Field,” he said in an
appealing voice. Then as an afterthought, he added : ‘If, however,
Father, you feel unhappy talking about it, please don’t.’

‘Well, I had better tell you all about it. Some day or other,
you are sure to hear it. This is my ashram, or rather the ashram
that was mine’, The Muni’s voice sank into a whisper.

“Your gshram! But it is full of ashes,’ said Dvaipa, his eyes wide
in surprise.

With a far-away look, the Muni, putting a hand on Dvaipa’s
shoulder said: ‘Once 1 lived there with my disciples dedicated to
the WorD. The ashram had about a hundred disciples and a large
number of inmates.” Then he paused for a while, collecting his
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strength to control the ageny he was passing through. Dvaipa felt
an understanding, rare for a boy of his age, of his father’s distress
and placed a sympathetic hand on his back.

The Muni continued : “Then the wicked king came here and
killed most of the inmates of my ashram. His men committed
atrocities on the women. They killed some of our cows and took
away the rest.’ : :

“Were you not here, Father, when the wicked king came 7’
asked Dvaipa.

‘No. I was going the round of the kings of Aryavarta, warning
them that if the wicked king was not opposed by all jointly, he
would not only destroy every one of them, but all the ashrams in
Aryayarta; the WORD would be forgotten, and the Gods would
turn away from us, and the Arya’s way of life would disappear.
‘When I returned here, I found that he had already destroyed my
ashram and killed most of its inmates.’

Dvaipa was shocked as the picture of the gruesome deed rose
before his mind.

The Muni continued: ‘T decided to face the wicked king single-
banded. T thought that in view of my tapascharya', the Gods would
give me the strength to overcome his brutality’. The Muni stopped
for a while ashis eyes were clouded bysorow. ‘I stopped his ghariot

there unconscious,’

‘Was no one with you 2’ asked Dvaipa.

‘No one’, replied the Muni. But the Gods sent your mother
and her parents. They had come here as usual to visit the ashram
and, finding me lying unconscious, took me to Kalpi islet and
nursed me back to health,

Have you no other ashram ?° asked Dvaipa softly. He was
affected by his Father’s sorrowful voijce. 3 i
{ After T got back my strength, 1 came to the Field of Ashes.
45\'3‘[ and Paila,’ said the Muni, pointing to the two disciples with
him, ‘who had hidden themselves for days in the hollows of trees,
joined me.’
. ‘No one was spared except Asval and Paila 2 asked Dvaipa,
his voice trembling. iy
‘Some of my other disciples, who escaped into the forest,
founded small ashrams on the banks of Yamuna, like Gautama’s

1. Tapascharya— pursuit of fapas—strict self-discipline of the body
and the mind.

)
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which we saw at Godhuli. I began going up and down the river
heartening them, instructing and inspiring them, teaching the
villagers to live in righteousness, healing the sick, and above all
preserving the WORD.’ : f

Dvaipa was puzzled. “‘Why did you not build another ashram
a very big one, Father 7 He stretched out both his arms to indi-
cate the bigness of the ashram he wanted to build. “Then T could
have been a Muni like you, with many, many disciples.’

‘For a long time, the grim war was fought by the Aryas led by
the mighty Bhargava, Parashu Raama, the son of the venerable
Jamadagni who had also been killed by the wicked king. For, my
disciples safety lay in obscurity. 1f I had put up another ashram,
the demons roaming about would have destroyed it too, as they
destroyed the ashrams in Dharmakshetra. They were deadly
enemies of the Worp and the Srotriyas’.

“What happened to the wicked king ?° asked Dvaipa.

‘He was killed by Parashu Raama. But his men went about

burning ashrams, destroying villages and killing the cows. The
whole of Aryavarta was devastated.’

‘Are they still destroying the villages, Father 2

“No, most of them are wiped out. A few still go about doing
it. However, what I thought was a calamity has become a blessing
in disguise. Instead of one big ashram, my senior disciples have
ashrams all along the banks of the Yamuna. They have created
centres of righteous living, preserving the purity of the WorD. And T
go up and down the river, visiting these small asirams and teaching
them how to live by the Arya code of life and preserve the purity
of the WoRD. But alas, the WORD, as taught by my disciples is now
fragmentary. Except myself, no one knows its three parts in their
entirety; but the Atharvana lore, its fourth part, even I have not
mastered, except in fragments. My grandfather looked upon the
Atharvana lore with disfavour.’

Dvaipa thought for a while, then looked up with a new bright-
ness in his eyes. ‘Father, we must re-build the Dharmakshetra—
we two,” he said.

The Muni shook his head dolefully. “That is an impossible task.
We do not know how the new kKing of Hastinapur, Shantanu, will
prove—whether he will help in re-building the Dharmakshetra
and protect and support the new ashrams. 1 do not know whether
all the rishis (seers) are alive or the WORD in its entirety has been
preserved.’

‘Father, we could re-build Dharmakshetra and restore the

1. Srotrivas—those who dedicate themselves to the WORD (Shruti).
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authority of the WorD’, said Dvaipa with enthusiasm.

The Muni, amazed to see the eager expectancy in his son’s eyes,
heard the mandate of the Gods in the voice of his son—child though
he was—and humbly thanked the Gods for giving him a son like
Dvaipa. He came to a sudden decision : ‘Dvaipa, we will not go
across the river, but back to Acharya Gautama at Godhuli and
I will invest you with the sacred thread.’

Dvaipa, overwhelmed by his Father’s love, clung to him.

NOTE ON THE ‘WORD’

Asthestory turns on the Arya way oflife during the lifetime of Veda Vyaasa,
a central figure in Mahabharata and its Teputed author, the position of the
Vedas must be realized.,

The word “WORD” is the nearest cquivalent to convey the full significance
of the word ““Vedas.”

Modern scholars have used the word “Vedas” to indicate four separate
WOrks—Rig Veda, Yujur Veda, Sama Veda and Atharvana Veda, cach one
of them voluminous; without them the pivot on which the Arya life revolved,
could not be understood or described.

The Vedas are “apaurusheya” they are not the creation of any agency,
human or divine,

hey are the means for attaining happiness and self-realization which are
d the sphere of perception or inference.

mwmﬁqaqm‘tagwal
mfwﬁt%%qmamaamu

... They are called ““Vedas” or ““Shruti”—divine chants,
with the appropriate cadence and accent and accompaine
rituals, manifest thejr divinity., The cadence and accent with Which the mantras
were and are being chanted, believed to be an essential part of their divinity
have continued unbroken during the last three thousand years at least.

And when so chanted, they are believed to purify the mind and the body,
heal ailments, give longevity, bring rain and perform many such miracles, and
casure victory to heroes, Even today there are thousands of Brahmans (Srotriyas)
dedicated to the Study and teaching of ““Shruti’’ (the Vedas) in the country who
can chant some parts of the WORD, and a few hundred of them can chant all
its four parts, Some parts are chanted at evey religious ceremony connected
with birth, death, marriage and other solemn occasions. We have also

specialists in the Vedic lore who practise the healing of ailments by reciting
the chants,

beyon

which, when chanted
d by the appropriate

Tae institution of the Brahmacharis was the main instrument for presérving
the Vedas, For a period not exceeding twelve years, the young initiate has to
lead an ascetic life and recite the Vedas. Even in modern times, when a boy is
1nvested with the sacred thread, he is inducted into the Order of Brahmacharya,
though the period of training is reduced to a token period of one or three days.

In age after age, for three millennia, the Vedas have given unity to Hinduism
and lent strength to its social, moral and spiritual evolution. ,

e Veda is our ‘Rock of Ages,’ as it was termed by Sri Auropindo; it has
been giving continual inspiration to religious schools, philosophical systems,
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social institutions, Dharma Shastras (law texts), schools of music and even to
technical works like Charaka and Kautilya; even to the Integral Yoga which
the Sage of Pondicherry himself propounded in the first quarter of the twentieth
century. X

The Vedas are characterized by the Bhagavad Gita as “‘Shabda Brahma®
—the Word that is God. (V1. 44).

In giving a translation of the appropriate Mantras, I have taken the liberty
of making a paraphrase which will emphasize their real significance.



CHAPTER 4
DVAIPAAYANA IS REBORN

FATHER. and son, hand in hand, went to the Field of Ashes. It
was a huge funeral ground in which hundreds of dead bodies
had been cremated—n ghastly sight.

Dvaipa could see how his father’s face reflected the deep
anguish he felt and clung to him to show that he sympathised with
him.

‘Come, Dvaipa. Let us return to Godhuli,” said the Muni and
added as if the boy was a friend : “Whenever I gome to this spot,
I asked the Gods why I was allowed to escape death at the hands of
the wicked King.” Then he continued in a low voice : ‘I can see
before me my disciples massacred and hear their dying moans.’

Father and son, weighed down by sorrow, walked back to the
hamlef. Two days later, they returned to Godhuli. .

Agharya Gautama was surprised to see the Muni returning

with his son to the Godhuli ashram, but was very glad to learn that
the Muni had decided to initiate Dvaipa into thé Order of Brahma-
charya as soon as the star

s became favourable.

Dvaipa was all enthusiasm. e joined the inmates of the
ashram in hanging up garlands of green leaves and in fixing stumps
of banana trees around the hallowed ground where the sacred fire
was kept alive day and night,

The women of the ashram, led by Sharmi,
woman of the village whom the

a buxom young
Acharya had married when he
founded the ashram, held Pangu Muni in reverence; now they fell
in love with the bright, litle boy with a friendly smile for all, moving
about with the solemn ajr ofa rishi (Vedic seer), asking interminable
questions, and cheerfully working at anything that was to be done.

Dvaipa also took CVEery opportunity to work with the women-
folk. He had an idea that if he was to be reborn, his mother would
somehow suddenly appear among them.

___ The Muni reckoned the stars and fixed an auspicious date and
time for the ceremony.

The villagf:rs entered into the spirit of the festival and every
house in the village was deg i

When the news reached
women from them flocked
ceremony of Pangu Munj’s s
the professional drummer
dispensable at every festival

on being initiated into Brahmacharya;
s, fife-players and congh-blowers, in-
> also came to celebrate the event.
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Before the ceremony began, the Muni invoked the planets,
the friendly ones for aid, the hostile ones for goodwill.

Dvaipa was disappm}':t'ed when the ceremonies connected
with his birth and name-giving were duly performed without his
mother being there. Anyway, he saw that his father was no longer
in distress as he had been at the Field of Ashes. Now that they
shared the secret that they were going to rebuild Dharmakshetra, his
father, as it seemed to Dvaipa, was happy.

The ceremony of initiation began by Acharya Gautama in-
voking the God Varuna of the skies and the waters. The seven
Primeval Rishis, who, his father had said, dwelt in the heavens as
stars, were duly summoned; they came symbolised by seven betel-
nuts. Dvaipa was proud; after being reborn, he would surely find a
place among them some day™. §

When Acharya Gautama invoked Agni, the Fire-God, and lit
the sacred fire, offering ghee on it, he chanted :

“Qh, Agni, Bestower of longlife,

Be pleased to accept my prayer.

Drink the ghee as though it were nectar.
Be pleased to lead this boy to old age,
Like a father leading his son.

With appropriate mantras, the blesm_ngs of other Gods were
also invoked. Dvaipa almost saw them in the sky; they had all
gathered to welcome him 10to the Order of Brahmacharya.

The Muni asked Acharya Gautama to accept the office of
being his son’s guru. Dvaipa would have preferred his father to be
“his guru, but the Acharya was happy at this suggestion and after
all, Father himself was the guru of the Acharya.

Acharya Gautama put a girdle of sacred darbha grass around
Dvaipa with the invocation :

«Jt serves truth, increases fapas, Kills evil ;
O ! Sacred Mekhala! Iwillwear youandbe frec from sorrows.

Then the Acharya gave a deer-skin to Dvaipa to wear and
chanted :

“Thou art the eyes of the God Savita (Sungod); thou art effulgence;
I am wearing the deer-skin; give me knowledge, longevity and
effulgence.”

Then the Acharya stood up, facing the east, and Dvaipa re-
peated the mantras as he spoke :

1 have found the guru; he is now in front of me.
By his grace, I will conquer all evil and drive away death,
Let him lead an austere life, filled with noble thoughts.”

1. The ceremony of giving the sacred thread to the boy is treated as a
spiritual birth; hence the said initiate is called dvija or Twice-born.
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Then followed the dialogue between the guru and the shishya,
preceptor and disciple, Dvaipa repeating the replies to the Acharya’s
questions :

“Why have youcome, boy 2" ;

“I have come to you for Brahmacharya, noble Twice-born.
Take me to you.”

“What is your name 2’ :

“I'am Krishna Dvaipaayana, son of Muni Paraashara.”

The Acharya then said :

0, Surya ! (Sungod), this boyis your Brahmachari.
This is your son; protect him;
Let your son not die; let him live long,
Till he attains the end of the path of righteousness.”’
Dvaipa’s heart beat in wild excitement. His eyes beamed with joy.
He was now to be reborn and enter the Order of Brahmagcharya.

He was asked to stand up, holding the sacred thread stretched
out from one hand to the other.

The Acharya asked Dvaipa to obtain his father’s permission
to wear the yajnopavita (the sacred thread). ‘Father, may I have
your permission to wear this sacred thread and enter the Order of
celebate disciples as 5 Brahmachari ?* he asked his father,

“Yes, my son. I give you my permission’, replied the Muni.

. Then the Acharya bent down and talked to the Muni in a
whisper. Dyaipa heard the word “mother’ and looked at the women
sitting there to see whether his mother was among them. He
muttered to himself : ‘How can I be reborn without her 2’

According to the instruction given by the Muni, the Acharya
took some darbha grass and placed it near the vedi, and worshipped
it by Sprinkling kum-kum (red powder), rice and flowers.

,‘DV&IPB, your mother has been summoned in the darbha grass.
She is now present,” said the Acharya. ‘Ask your mother’s permis-
szhon. gfl?.‘/ ¢ “Mother, have I your permission to wear this sacred
thread ?°°

Dvaipa was disappointed, but was helpless and repeated the
Acharya’s words,

Then the Muni gave the signal. The great moment had arrived ;
the Acharya recited the prayer, which Dvaipa also repeated :

“This yajnopavita (sacred thread), born with Brahma, the Crea:
tor, is pure,

It gives long life; it gives power and purity.
z_trrczI Wearing this to let it give me strength of soul and vigour of
mind. »’
Drums sounded ; fifes were played; conchs were blown. Thos.e
who were Twice-borns showered grains of rice on the Brahmachari.
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The sun was shining brightly. Dvaipa looked at the Sungod
and saw theradiantorb smiling;he felt assured that he would always
receive his favours.

“Let these be my vows; .
1 will remember good and forget evil.
I will practise faith and shun disbelief. .
I will honour knowledge and shun ignorance.
I will follow truth and shun falsehood.

‘1 willlead an austere life and shun luxury. ”

Then the Acharya asked him : “Have you been reborn ?*

“Yes.SS .

“Sip the water for purity.”

“Yes.” Dvaipa sipped the water.

“Will you perform your duties ?*’

6‘Yes.!9

“VYVill you eat only food which you have begged for 7**

(19 es.” .

“Will you be obediént to your guru 7

‘GYes.Q, i

Dvaipa was given a kaupina, a single thong; a danda, a staff fit
for his age and strength, and a gourd for carrying food or water.

Then the Acharya covered his and Dvaipa’s heads with a cloth
and whispered into his ear the miraculous Gayatri mantra.

Dvaipa’s little heart, while he repeated the mantra, overflowed
with happiness. Not only was he with his father, but he had entered
the life of the Twice-born who could chant the WORD. Some day
he might even converse with the Gods. As happy as a boy could be
he felt sure that he would become a sage like his great-grandfather.
Vasishtha, and that he and his father would go to Dharmakshetra
and rebuild it. .

Dvaipa prostrated himself before the Acharya and his father
and before everyone present who was Twice-born, and the wives of
the Acharya and other Twice-borns,

Then all the Twice-borns present began to chant the mantrq
to secure the well-being of all :

««May the far-famed God Indra, bless
all with well-being;
May the God Surya who knows all,
b{ess all with well-being; -
May the Divine Garud, destroyer of
inauspicious things, favour all
with well-being; .
May Brihaspati, the lord of divine .
wisdom, bring well-being to all.” /

Dvaipa had heard his father chant this hymn of blessing and
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had stored it in his memory, and now without the Ieast_hesitation
and without a single lapse, he chanted it with the proper accent. 1
The Twice-borns present were amazed to see the six-year-o
boy joining them in chanting the mantra with the proper cadence
and accent, his child’s voice having a distinct ring from those
of the adults. ) ' )
Then the Muni drew Dvaipa to him and hugged him. ‘Dvaipa,

you are the descendant of Vaisishthg, the divine seer. As such,
you have to take special vows’, he said and then recited the VOWS,
which were repeated by Dvaipa :

“ I will refrain from inflictinginjury;

I will not appropriate another man’s wealth;

I will always speak the truth and nothing else; ]

L will give away anything I have to any worthy man who needs it,

if a right time should come to do so;

I will refrain from talking about young women;

I will cut short the flow of greed and desire;

I will worship the Gods and my Forefathers;

I will live for the WORD ;

Iwillseek the favour of the Gods who have the WORD.”

At the conclusion of the ceremony, all the Twice-borns chanted
the prayer to secure the well-being of all:
‘‘May each one by happy;
May each one be pure;
May each one seek goodness; ]
May each one escape from un happiness.”

To end the ceremony the villagers danced and sang. Then a
fine banquet was spread forth.

.. A little after midday, Dvaipa and Paila went atout the
village, begging for alms. The Pangu Muni was held in great reverence
and Dvaipa had won much love, so that there was not a woman in
the village who was not impatient to give the prodigy a part of the
food she had cooked. His open, affectionate smile, and the solemn
air with which he gave blessings, made him so adorable that he
was dubbed “the Little Muni.”’

When Dyaipa started on his begging rounds, the children from
the villages followed him, more for the fun of it. Then a predica-
ment faced him. His gourd was full after begging at two or three
houses. Indeed, he did not really have to beg, because the women
were waiting for him at their doorsteps. Rather than disappoint
them, he turned to the children following him and gave them what-
ever he had.

He went from house to house, the children following him, and
whenever his gourd was full, he distributed the food to them.
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When Dvaipa returned to the ashram, his gourd was empty.

The Muni was surprised. ‘Did no one give you any food ?° he
asked.

“Everyone did more than I needed,” replied Dvaipa.

“Then where has it gone 7’

‘I gave it to the ¢hildren who were with me,” replied Dvaipa.

‘What will you eat yourself 7’

‘I will go without food. Where is the harm ?’ replied Dvaipa.
‘Mother always used to fast once a fortnight. The poor children
were so hungry that I could not deny them what they needed.

As he said this, a few hungry children ran up to him, asking
him to give them food, with their hands stretched outand their
eyes expectant. Dvaipa was in utter despair; he had nothing in his
gourd to give them. He was moved to tears in his helplessness, but
he controlled himself. He prayed to Savita, the Sungod, the giver
of life, who had taken him under his protection, with all the
passionate earnestness he was capable of.

‘Oh, God Savita, keep me without food, but give me enough
to satisfy these children. You smiled at me; in doing so, you assured
me of your favour. Help me.” The prayer rose from the depth of
his heart. “What shall I give the children, for whom nothing is
left in my gourd 7’

Suddenly he felt his gourd grow heavy. When he looked at
it to find out what had made it so, he was taken aback. The God
had heard his prayer; there was enough food to satisfy the hungry
children ! 4

Dvaipa was awe-struck as he distributed the food to the
hungry children. ‘Father, he said, ‘how did my gourd become full ?
‘What happened 7’

Muni Paraashara had seen the miracle of the gourd’s being
filled. His heart was overflowing with joy. He had been waiting
for a sign from the Gods; now it was given. The failures and
misfortunes of his life would be transmuted into the triumphs
of his son.

He threw his arms around Dvaipa and whispered : ‘My son
give away what you have, and the Gods will give you in an
ample measure.’



CHAPTER 5 .
WHAT DVAIPA LEARNED FROM HIS FATHER

DURING the rains, the Muni, with his companions, stayed at
the Godhuli ashram.

When the rainy season was over, they started on their annual
round of the ashrams of the Mung’s disciples. _ ]
The twelve years for whlc}_l Dvalga hadto remain a Bra.hmachal_'l,
a celibate disciple, were a period of intense training for him, ar}d in
spite of the rigorous life he lived, he was extremely happy. His re-
verence and love for his father increased day after day. )
They travelled in boats or on foot, performing the daily
rituals and living on whatever hospitality the hamlets offered.
When passing through jungles, hjs father would chant the

memory, however, would begin to ch
after hearing them twice or thrice.

A fascinating world opened out before Dvaipa as he learned
the new mantras.

There were mantras to invoke a God individually; mantras to

Secure the favour of the Gods collectively.
. There were mantras to secure happiness, righteous living or
VIGtory in war; mantras to propitiate the Gods, particularly
or strength to overcome enemies, and to Maruti

or storms; above all, mantras to invoke the Great
0d, Varuna, the Lord of the skies and the wa

(Cosmic Order) upheld the Universe, and who w

atched the past,

© present and the future through countless eyes shining at night.

; ere were also mantras to ward off the GGod of Death ; man-
ras to i

¢ one from serpents; mantras to win a

uring the day, Dvaipa wasney
father_ pointed out birds with glorious
beautiful hue, or gathered herbs which,
a wound or cure gpn ailment if used with th
Onge th_e herbs were collected,
he carried, slung from his shoulder,

At night, except during the rains, the
open skies, each on his deer-skin, around
voking the Fire-God to pro

y would sleep under the
the sacred fire after in-
tect them from the beasts of prey.




WHAT DVAIPA LEARNED FROM HIS FATHER 29

Before they went to sleep, however, Dvaipa would lie on his deer-
skin by his father’s side, asking questions about the mysteries of the
stars. )
- In their journeyings they avoided highways, large settlements
and the headquarters of the petty chiefs who, during the chaos
following the war, had set themselves up as little kings.

His father’s aim in travelling from ashram to ashram, as Dvaipa
perceived when he outgrew his boyhood, was to keep closely knit
as integral parts of the parental ashram those ashrams founded on
the banks of the Yamuna by his disciples who had escaped the
holocaust.

Every ashram, when they visited it, gave his father a warm
welcome, for they all loved him and had awaited him impatiently.
These visits also provided the bond between the different ashrams
and maintained a common discipline.

As he grew up, Dvaipa was lost in admiration of his father’s

ways of winning the love of the ashramites and teaching them-how
to live righteously. ’ .

Each ashram was headed by an Acharya, a senior disciple of his
father’s. The other inmates of the asiram were generally aduit
disciples who had escaped the holocaust; a few Brabhmacharis in
different stages of training; also the wives of the Acharya and the
adults—young women from the neighbowing villages whom the
Acharya and the adults had taken to themselves as wives; the
children born of such marriages, and the dependants and their
families from the surrounding villages.

In front of the principal cottage was the hallowed spot, in
the centre of which was built the sacred fire, kept burning day and
night. Behind was the cattle-shed where the cows of the ashram
were Kept.

The life of each ashram revolved round the worship of the
sacred fire and the chant of the divine WoRrbp.

Where an ashram was headed by a comparatively untrained
~ Acharya, the discipline was lax, the Arya code of life being often

disregarded: the WORD was chanted without regard for the proper
phrases, cadence and accent.

As Dvaipa grew up, he discovered how wonderfully his father
dealt with the erring ashramites. He would never find fault, never
rebuke anyone, never point out lapses. All that he djd was, from the
first day they arrived, to perform the right acts himself and ¢hant
the Worp properly. The inmates would then begin to imitate him.

The womenfolk of the ashrams, all drawn from the surrounding
villages were generally lazy, getting up later than the brahma

~
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muhurta—the sacred hour when the Twice-borns had to invoke

Usha, the Goddess of Dawn. They took their own time to perform

their serviges, gossiping and giggling all the time. )

His father, without a word of reprimand, would quietly go to
the cattle-shed himself, accompained by him and the two disciples,
clean it out thoroughly, and wash the cows and get them ready for
milking. The womenfolk, shamed into activity, would rush to the
cattle-shed, pretending to do what had already been done.

Then his father, accompanied by him, Asval and Paila, would
take his bathe and perform the morning rituals. The Acharya and
his disciples would shake off their lethargy and hurriedly join them.

Then they would sit around the sacred fire, and his father would
begin to chant the WORD, his fine voice creating an atmosphere of
awesome solemnity. The Twice-born inmates had a hard time
keeping up with his father, and using the correct words and the
appropriate cadence and accent.

The residents of the neighbouring villages invariably looked
forward to his father’s annual visit ith i '

their salutations and receive his blessing, bringing with them
whatever they could a

. / S an offering to Agni, the Fire-God. A
community spirit would then cement the bond between the ashram
and the villagers.

His father would heal the ailing, resolve domestig or family
euds, and also patch up the strife between rival parties in the
villages. His father’s astrological forecasts were sought by men and
women alike.
... Later in life, Dvaipa was to understand the secret of his fathet’s
m.luence over men; it flowed from his insistence that the ashra-

that foodstuffs should be stored in the ashram only if they would
ast no mote than three days.
hen visiting one of the ashrams, his father discovered that
the womenfolk had kept more foodstuffs than were required for
three days. e quietly took the surplus foodstuffs and distributed
them among the villagers.
One experience Dvaipa was never to forget. When they arrived
at one ashram, it had no stock of foodstuffs; the villagers had not
-made any offerings. Even Dvaipa and Paila, the two Brahmacharis,
Were not given any alms when they went to the villagers; the doors
Were closed against them.
.. His father said that the Gods wanted them to live only on the
milk of the cows in the ashram. When the milk was not sufficient
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for all, his father gave up his share of the milk to the children;
others followed suit. However, during those days, his father saw
to it that the prescribed routine was carried out scrupulously. The
villagers felt the rebuke and the next day they brought food for the
ashramites.
~ Some ashragms were found to have earned the hostility of the

neighbouring villagers. His father’s invariable comment was :
‘If you are badly treated, you must have deserved it.’

At one place, when they arrived, they found the Acharya and
his disciples making preparations to shift the ashram.

“Why are you leaving this place?” his father asked them.

“The surroundings are not congenial,’ replied the Acharya.
“The villagers disturb our prayers; sometimes they pour water cver
the sacred fire; sometimes they steal the cows of the ashram.”

His father put an affectionate hand on the Acharya’s shoulder
and said : ‘Why should you give up this ashram? What better
spot can there be than this one to test our faith ? We have invoked
the Gods here: we have hallowed the spot by chanting the WORD.
The place has become a firtha where people ought to have come in
faith to be uplifted to righteous living.’

The Acharya folded his hands and said : “The people are
wicked. We have tried to win them over, but have not succeeded.”

Dvaipa’s father said in a most affectionate tone : ‘If we cannot
win over the residents of the surrounding villages to righteous
living by our dedicated life, we must have failed in our duty as
Twice- borns—to study, to teach and to show the way to Dharma—
righteous living ; we must have chanted the Worp without accuracy
or offended Agni, the Fire-God, by not worshipping the sacred fire
according to the prescribed rituals.’ §

“The villagers will kill us one of these days,’ said the Acharya
hesitatingly.

‘If the villagers want to beat you to death, continue to chant
the Worp and go to the Land of the God of Death of your own
free will; thatis what the venerable Vasishtha, my grandfather,
did when the wicked Kingcame to kill him,” said Dvaipa’s father.

Sometimes the ashramites lived in fear of wild beasts. His
fatber said to them : “You must tame the wild beasts by affection.
It the beasts attack you, don’t run away, If you do so, they will kill
you, thinking that you are their enemies. However, if you invoke
the Fire-God and worship the sacred fire day and night, the beasts
will go way of themselves.’

In the cighth year of their journeyings, Paila completed his
twelve years as a celibate disciple and at one of the ashrams, the
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ceremony to induct him into the Order of the Householder was
performed with the appropriate ritual. !

A strong bond of affection had grown up between Paila and
Dvaipa. During these years, Paila was often in distress; he could
never learn unfamiliar chants with ease and accuracy. Soop a stage
was reached when Paila had to request Dvaipa to coach him. Paila
was modest; he had no congeit; he began to look upon Dvaipa as
his little guru.

Year after year, for ten years, they went from ashram to ashram
on the banks of the Yamuna.

It was in the tenth year of their journeying that his father took
the Acharyas of the different ashrams into his confidence about
rebuilding Dharmakshetra and said : ‘The next two years, We
Propose to go on a pilgrimage to Badri. Do any of your disciples
want to accompany us on this arduous journey ?

Many young inmates offered themselves, but his father would
g;: have more than twenty Brahmacbaris with him, one from each

ram.

e By easy stages, his father with him and his disciples—now
p y \Fere twenty-four in all—proceeded on their way, staying
Or a few days at each of the ashrams on the banks of the sacred
stil:%fa set up by the Twice-borns who bad fled from Dharma-

These ashrams were entirely different fro s ; anks
of the Yamuna. Not only the sages who oncrg tsgks?d%g 123613; the
ashrams in Dharmakshetra, but their senior disciples, had died or
?fitd been killed by the Haihayas. Their disciples of the third gene-
I:;lhlon l}ad drifted away from the code of Arya behaviour. To them,
th_arnwkshr:tra and its high traditions of righteous living were
Vm_gs of a half-forgotten past, The memory of the great rishis—

asmhlhg, Viswamitra, Jamadagni, Angeeras, Shunashepa—had
receded into the background. War had uprooted tradition. They
Sromehow managed to live by receiving a precarious sustenance
rom the villagers and the petty chiefs who had set themselves up in
authority on the collapse of the Arya kingdoms.
to hi !’e“ they arrived, the ashramites gave a half-hearted welcome
0 s father; they could not ignore him: he had become a legend, a
great teacher who had faced the wrath of Sahasrarjuna. However,
I‘;’]Iil:éldtﬂ?y fmcli“'d his father alnd his disciples living a strigtly disci-
€ and 1nsisting on chanti i
thought Fis nuisanfc. ng the Worp meticulously, they

His father urged these ashramites to rely upon the spontaneous

loyalty of the villagers surrounding the ashrams. Dvaipa sensed that
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some of them considered his father a fool for such advice; they dared
not challenge his learning nor his moral authority, but bebind his
back, he was sure, they laughed at his father. -

During this period, they travelled into the Himalayas, and
visited the ashram of the ancient sages, Nara and Narayana at
Badri among the snow-clad mountains. They also went on a pil-
grimage to Kailas, the home of Mahadeva, the God of gods, who had
so pre-eminent a place in the pantheon of the Aryas and others as
Ishan, the Lord of all.

Dvaipa was now eighteen. During the twelve years after his
initiation, he had not only learnt the Worp in its three parts—
Rig Veda, Yajur Veda and Sama Veda—but also the fragments of
the Atharvana lore which his father knew and he had acquired
mastery of the rituals..

He had developed a personality which was as inspiring as his
father’s. :

His body was now powerful and thickset like his father’s;
his forehead was broad and his dark eyes beamed with kindliness.
His practice of serving food to others before he took his own or
going hungry when he had no surplus food sufficient for the visitors,
brought him great love. He had acquired for his own part, a com-
plete hold over the ashrams founded by his father’s disciples.

In the last month of his twelve years of Brahmacharya, his
father and his companions returned to Godhuli to perform the
ceremony which was to induct him into the Order of the House-

holder.

W.p-vi—2



CHAPTER 6
VISIT TO KALPI ISLET

FATHER and son, Asvaland Paila, with twenty Brakmgckar;s

from the ashrams, made preparations to set out for D f?rmll
kshetra. The Muni fully realised the difficulties in the way ol 5%;’1
an ambitious adventure. But he had faith in the Gods, and a{tcr e
God Surya had replenished Dvaipa’s gourd to feed the o
children, he had no doubt that the Gods were anxious to reclaim
Dharmakshetra. had

During their journeyings, they had met a few men who ha
visited Dharmakshetra; according to them, it was now a wilderness
called Kurukshetra because the Kurus had finally vanquished the
invading hordes of Haihayas there. The sacred Sarasvati had also
dried up in parts, they said, leaving a series of lakes connected by
shallow channels.

Day after day during their Jjourneyings, father and son and
disciples discusssd how to set up Dharmakshetra afresh; how to
invoke the Gods to restore the sacred Sarasvati to its pristine
grandeur; how to secure protection against wild beasts and Raksha-
sas; how to build the ashrams and to attract the Twice-borns from
Aryavarta to resurrect Dharma (righteous living); and how to
restore those happy relations between the Aryas and the Gods that
had existed during the days of Grandfather Vasishtha, and finally
how to restore the WoRD in jts entirety.

... These problems weighed heavily on Asval; he always saw
difficulties even when there were none,
To all the difficulties the Muni had only one reply, firm and

unwavering; they were living for the WorD and the WORD would
protect them.

Before departing from Godhuli on their dangerous mission,
the Muni accompanied by Dvaipa, Acharya Gautama and thq
disciples went to pay a farewell visit to the Field of Ashes.

When he came to the Field, the Muni shed a tear for hjs
massacred disciples, for the women who were robbed of their Virtue
or had flung themselves into the fire before the demons could
violate them, for the cows that had been killed.

He was now old and had no hope of returning to this place.

His only aim in life was to reconstruct Dharmakshetra; to

hear it resounding with the sacred chants of the Srotriyas, the
Twice-borns dedicated to the Worp.

When they started to return to Godhuli, a pack of wolves rushed
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out of their lair, baring their fangs and howling. Every one of them
ran for his life; only the Muni could not run as briskly as the others
because of his lame leg. : I

Before anyone could realise what was happening, the wolves
had attacked the Muni, torn his limbs apart and dragged his body
a little farther away. His cry for help was smothered as a wolf dug
its fangs into his throat. : ' : . -

The others, with their staffs upraised, ran back to where the
Muni lay. The wolves, frightened, ran away. What was left on
the ground was the mangled coipse of the Muni whom they
revered. : : '

Dvaipa broke down; a piteous cry escaped-him. Overborne "
by grief, he flung himself on.the dead body of his father. ‘Father,

_ Father, Father,” he cried, assobs convulsed him. Acharya Gautama
raised him from the body of his father. -' WL

Dvaipa would not let the Acharya carry the body. He gently
lifted his father’s body dripping with blood, as if it was the body of
a little child; overwhelmed though he was.by grief, he insisted on
carrying it. ; Mo uplobs e i

Al the inmates of the ashram at Godhuli and the grief-stricken
villagers, shocked at what had happened, came to have a last
darshan of their beloved Pangu Muni. = _ ' g

* Sorrowfully, Dvaipa placed his father’s body on the funeral
pyre and performed the obsequial rites, with all the: Twice-borns

chanting the appropriate mantras, consigning the noble-sage to
Agni, the Fire-God. . 2 gty S o SLOTRACAM L

For twelve days, the ashram and the villages mourned the
death of the Muni. _ =

On the twelfth day, Dvaipa ceremonially cut the consecrated
rice ball, symbolising his father’s spirit, into two;Muni Paraashara
left the Land of the Dead to join his Forefathers in their Land.

For twelve days, Dvaipa was silent with grief, his eyes tearless,
his lips firmly set. He was summoning all his strength to face a life
without his father, who had been a living divinity to him.

On the thirteenth day, Acharya Gautama spoke to Dvaipa:
‘Dvaipaayana, don’t think now of going to Dharmakshetra. This
is your own ashram. Whatever 1 am is.due to the revered Muni,
your father, who was more to me than my own father. You must
now preside over this ashram; in spite of your age, you are fully
equipped for such a role.’

Dvaipa folded his hands in humility. ‘Best among gurus, I
am your disciple. This ashram is the only home I have, but. please
let me try to realize my father’s last wish. He has gone to the Land
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: etra.

of the Forefathers, but still he is beckoaing me to Dharmaksh
1 must go there.’ ! ] ou

Achgarya Gautama made a final appeal. Dvalp}?iy?fa%egers
do not know the hazards you will have to face. If w ad e
tell me is true, wild beasts roam about during the day and m L
night hideous by their howls 1,] theae are no ashrams there, a
an echo of the WORD is heard.’ gt

Dvaipa touched the feet of his guru and said : _I\Ioble%tui?(g
gurus, 1 have pledged myself to Father that I will help him re- ol
Dharmakshetra, For twelve years we have discussed the matter s
I cannot forswear my pledge to him. Please forgive me and let

O my own way.’ 1

3 %he Acharyya raised a doubt. ‘After your father had met Wllh’
ster, none of his disciples is prepared to go to Dharm;a.ks]wtra.
“They are right; I have no claim on their obedience.
“Will you go alone ?° asked. the Acharya, .
‘Yes. Whatever happens, I will go to where he would have

gone, had he been alive.” Then he was silent for a moment and
continued : ¢

cont I don’t mind going to the Land of the Forefathf:rs and
Joining Father there. But I ¢annot break my vow. I don’t want
anyone with me, T will steal away tomorrow night and take the boat
to where I want to go.

“Where will you go 2 The boat that is spending tomorrow night
here, goes the other way, down stream,’ said the Acharya.
. Twill obey you in everything,” Dvaipa beseeched the Acharya.
But ‘please, let me do what I want on this ocgasion.’

. The revered Muni’s death has been a warning from the Gods,
Valpaayana. Don’t you feel that 2

n the contrary, they have given me strength, Gurudeva.
Father never returned to the islet after he brought me here. How-
ever, he gaye me a promise that before we left for Dharmakshetra,
he would let me £0 to the Kalpi islet and pay a farewell visit to
Mother, 1 must get the blessing of Mother. I am going to take the
boat which starts the day after tomorrow. Whatever happens_to
me, please, as my guru, give me your blessing. May the Gods giye
me strength to fulfil the object that Father had pledged himself to.’

efore dawn on the day fixed, Dvaipa rolled up his deer-skin,

took his staff and gourd, and accompanied by the Acharya, pro-
ceeded to the bank of the river,

The boatman greeted Dvaipa and gave him a hearty welcome
to his boat,

As soon as th.e'boat began to sail, the splash was heard of
,Omeone jumping into the water and swimming towards the boat

disa
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with vigour. The boatman slowed down the boat and soon Paila
was clambering up its side.

‘Dvaipa, you must not leave me behind,’ said Paila. “Wherever
you go, I will come with you.” Dvaipa held him in an embrace
wet to the skin though he was. . 3

~ The next morning, the boat reached Kalpi. Dvaipa looked at
his .grandfather’s islet and was dismayed. There was no sign of life
on 1t.

He told the boatman to pick them up on the return journey
two days later. Then Dvaipa and Paila jumped into the water as
the boat halted and waded through the shallow waters to the islet.

The pillar to which his family boats used to be tied, had dis-
appeared. Two of the huts had also disappeared; the third one had
collapsed. :

Dvaipa offered a silent prayer to the Gods; they were seasoning
him for facing greater trials. :

Paila, who had followed Dvaipa, put an affectionate arm
around him. Dvaipa did not utter a syllable nor shed a tear.

Then they went to the fishing village on the other side of the
creek. Tt was evident that during the twelve years that had passed,
it had not prospered nor its population maintained its strength.

Dvaipa came across two young men, one cleaning fish and the
other stitching a net, whom he did not recognise. The young fisher-
men respectfully saluted Dvaipa and Paila, seeing from their dress
that they were holy men. Dvaipa blessed them, but could not
summon up courage to ask them about his people.

A middle-aged fisherman accosted them respectfully. ‘My
salutation, venerable Sir. What do you want 1

‘Nothing’, answered Dvaipa and blessed him with an- out-
stretched arm.

“May T offer you food? You must be hungry’, said the fisher-
man. : )
They accepted the invitation and went to his hut. His nother,
shortsighted and shrunk, peered at them, roofing her weary eyes
with her hands. .

‘Mother’, Dvaipa accosted her, ‘where are the pecple who
used to live on the islet .

‘Oh, they !’ exclaimed the woman contemptuously. ‘They
have gone. The curse of Mother Yamuna was on sem’. She
tousl}ed the tips of her ears to ward off the danger of ths curse.

The curse | Why ?° asked Dvaipa, surprised.

“Yes. There was a certain Pangu Muni who came here ever.
year to meet those people. By his blessing, they prospered’, said ths
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woman. Dvaipa felt a new wave of
old woman continued : “They offended the Pangu Muni. They drove
away his son and invited Mother Yamuna’s curse.’

. “What followed ?* asked Dvaipa. :

- ‘Their daughter was the cause of all their misfortune. She
was a'vile woman. No decent fisherman would marry her. If any-
one had[marrwd her, she would have brought the curse on him and
his family.’ .

Dvaipa felt his throat choking; but controlling himself with a
great effort, asked : “What happened to the daughter 7’
~‘One day that wretched girl ferried a king to the islet. I don’t
really know whether he was a King, but he was dressed like a king
and had shining arms. Next time he came in a chariot and took the
shameless girl aw]?y with him.’ _

“What about her parents 2 asked Dvajpa. suppressing a sigh.

‘They all left with the -kmg’s men who Ic)ame in bullock-carts’,
said the old fisherwoman in disgust. ;
‘Do you know where they haye gone ?” asked Dvaipa.

- “We have heard nothing about them, nor do we want to,” said
the old woman and continued: ‘Old Jaruth was as shameless as his
daughter. I—ie sold his daughter.’

_ ‘Did nobody g0 to live on the jslc d hi :
et Ggiasked Dyaina) N the islet after Jaruth and his family
. Nobody ventured to occupy the huts vacated by Jaruth and his
family’, said Lhe‘ﬁsperwoman and again touched theylips of her ears
‘tig a precaution. Itis an accursed place. Our village also came under

e curse.

‘Why do you say that ?” asked Dvaipa.
‘Because - Jaruth an e

_ d his wives drove away Pangu Muni.
Jarutlh s wife, Chandodari was my cousin, but she always hated me.’
Did you know Pangu Muni 2’ asked Dvaipa. :

‘Oh ! Tknew him very well,’ said the old fisherwoman and sighed,

‘If he ~nly came here just once, he would lift the curse from this

pla., I lighting the sacred fire and invoking the Gods.’

- > Venerable Muni has gone to the Land of the Forefathers.

1 1, uig disciple. Could I'lift the curse ? asked Dvaipa.

‘ .e evening, Dvaipa and Paila re-crossed the creek fo sleep
Lot -ae hut which had collapsed. Dvaipa wanted to sleep where he
"» d have slept, had his mother been living there,

- The next day, in the presence of the assembled fisher-folk of
«.2 village, Dvaipa and Paila, with due ceremony, lit the sacred fire,
invoked the blessing-of the Lord Varuna, the God Agni, the god
Surya and Mother Yamuna on that village and lifted the curse.

sadness oppressing him. The
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At Dvaipa’s request, the old fisherwoman gave him a small
water pot of mud and a clay saugcer to fit into its mouth, with a little
jaggery and lime. He took a leaf from a peepul tree growing there,
putitin the mud pot, and closed its mouth with the saucer, cement-
ing it with a plaster of jaggery mixed with lime.

Then he placed the pot gently on the river with a deep sigh.

_ ‘What are you doing, Dvaipaayana 7 asked Paila, overcome
with curiosity at this strange ceremony-. b

Dvaipa’s eyes were full of sorrow. In a yoice fraught with
emotion, he said : ‘Mother and I had come to an understanding
that if she got angry with me, I was to offer 2 leaf of the peepul tree
silently; then she would accept it as a token of forgiveness. If I
became angry, she was to offer a leaf to me and I would accept it
similarly.’

But why send this pot floating along the river 7> asked Paila.

“We don’t know where Mother is,’ said Dvaipa and for a while
looked at the river. ‘T will leave it to Mother Yamuta to carry the
pot to wherever Mother is. She will then forgive me for going away
and leaving her behind.”

On the third morning, the boat returned to the islet, to fetch
Dvaipa and Paila. The fisher-folk of the village, with due salutations,
invited them to visit them again.

‘I am not sure whether Iwillreturn. But,even if I return, mother,’
he addressed the old fisherwoman, ‘perhaps we may not meet again.
Mother, will you do me a favour? he asked in a plaintive voice.

‘T will do whatever you tell me,” replied the woman. ‘Little
Muni, you have lifted the curse and saved us.’

“Then, please, don’t think ill of the fisher-girl.’

‘Oh! She was a shameless girl. No good mother would have
Jet her child be parted from her in that way,” she said.

‘T am the son of Matsyagandhaa,’ said Dvaipa.

The old woman was taken aback and afraid of the Little
Muni .Gursing them, said: ‘Please forgive us. Don’t be ang~v with
us. Give us your blessing.’ ),

“You have my blessing. But remember, the fisher-gir’ 4
with the boy only for his good.’ :

Before boarding the boat, Dvaipa stood on the edg.
islet and looked mournf’ ully at the river—Mother Yamuna, wi
cradled him. The sun shone warmly on the waters; he looke
both her banks, as he used to do; on the opposite bank, the sa
trcessw?fe ri)lverhanging the water. 2 At

adly, he fixed his gaze on the western horizon it
waters of the river met the sky, as he used to do when a G&l&ere e
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For a moment, he found himself in the old, unforgotten vgorltli.
He looked back, waiting for his mother to come to him with sprightly
steps. A pang shot through his heart. Mother had gone; where and
with whom, he would never know. He would never hear her calling
him “Krishna.”

Fora moment emptiness came over him. No longer could he be
the little boy who waited here for his father and he would never
meet his father again till he himself went to the Land of the Fore-
fathers.

He invoked the Lord Varuna to keep his mother happy.
wherever she was, and look after his father in the Land of
the Forefathers. 2

As he chanted the mantras inviting the Gods to look after his
father and mother, his heart was filled with confidence.

He was not alone. The WORD was with him. And Dharma-
kshetra had to be rebuilt.



CHAPTER 7
THE FIELD OF WOLVES

DVAIPAAYANA and Paila left the boat in which they had travelled
at a convenient place, from where they started their journey
on foot.

Paila now looked upon Dvaipaayana with worship. But he
was a born grumbler; when irritated, he complained against the
Gods, the seers, even the Muni himself in mock disgust.

They were boys, after all; whenever they felt disspirited, ‘they
would run a race, climb trees, crack jokes, reminisce over the years
they had spent with Muni Paraashara or invent fanciful stories.

On their journey, they lived on the precarious hospitality of the
villagers. However, when that'was not forthcoming, they ate wild
fruits: sometimes they went without food and satisfied themselves
with a joke which, though they had cracked it a hundred times, was
never stale. o

Paila would say: ‘Best of gurus, your gourd is always full of
food, but you eat all of it yourself rather than share it with me.’
Then he would raise his eyes to the heavens: ‘Oh, God Surya (Sun
God), what is the use of having a selfish guru like this who eats to his
own satisfaction and leaves his disciple hungry?

In response, Dvaipaayana would assume the solemn air of an
old rishi and reply: ‘Son, “you will never become a good guru unless
you are a good disciple,” as the venerable Muni Paraashara said.
But see, the Gods are great. My gourd is full of food. Take as much
as you want.” He would extend his empty gourd to Paila, who would
make a gesture of eating the food from it. Then he would rub his
hands over his stomach, saying ‘Ah, today I have eaten too much.*
After which, they would laugh. :

Paila could never understand the miracle of the hu ngry children
and complained about it too. “Why should the Gods give you food
for the hungry children and not for me? They have no pity on poor
. Paila who spends the whole day and half the night invoking them.’

Dvaipaayana would then assume the air of an elder and would
reply: ‘My son, *“‘the Gods will never give you food when you want
it for yourself,” as the venerable Muni Paraashara said.” Then again
both of them would Jaugh.

However, Dvaipaayana would repeatedly assure Paila: “When
we have an ashram of our own, we will feed the hungry before we eat
ourselves. We will leave it to the Gods to keep us alive. It is their
business to see that we, who live by the WORD, do not die.’
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. : Muni.
ch had been taught them by the the
It was not difficylt o cdlassify thegchants handed down gﬁra&
school of seers wh o once flourished on the banks of the river e
vatl. They were inyocations and prayers for divine favour— with
Some mantras were to be chanted to invest sacrificial SESS_IDTllseffcct
d1v:ruty~—}’ajuh; others to be chanted so as to give a musica told
t\‘if(t)lﬁaDcadence"S“ma- These formed the Trayi Vidya, three-

: : : = ing the
However, Dvaipaayana f. und great difficulty in arranging
fragments of ?’nanrml: w};ich, l?is fat!%er said, formed part of the lore
of ths Atharvans, - 5

hese chantg gave miraculous powers to charms, herbs daof
amulets; they coyuld also overcome enemies, kill enemies, war He
dangers, arrest decay, secure love, drive out demons, forecast
future aﬂddeffect cures. < o The Lecping
coording to SRcEe 1L 1o jkoo
gf a distinct E%Oup 2Fsrizzllmtig?:rﬁilgzjest;ec}gi?itgu-Angiras or Atharvan-
kst;]glras’ Who held themselyes aloof from the other seers of Dharma-
etrg. According to them, the WORD was four-fold. the
inaccessii]s L€ war, these Bh-igu-Angirases had receded into :
aceessible forests. In this connection, his father had spoken onc
°F tWloe of a very powerful rishi called Maha Atharvan Jaabaali.
some Valpaayana decided to learn these mi_raculous qhants frOH}
Kbt tr‘gaSter of the Atharvana lore after settling down in Dharma
On the way the i illagers as to where
y made enquiries from the villagers as €
‘Eggukslletra Was and were ofctlen given directions, mofgt of whﬁgh
calledwrm‘l‘g' And the tales which the villagers told of what they
tl}e Field of Wolyes” were frightening. i
limately, they reached a vast forest with a mrrlllyt ux:ider-
STOWth, giant ‘trees and wild creepers. There were no well-trodden
PAS going into it, only trails made by wild beasts;" b S hi
Vedic o) Proceeded along the bank of the river Sar?sda 1 Which the
edic seers inyoked as the “Divine Mother of knowledge.” She was
00 longer the flood of waters which they had lauded in the mantras,
only a shallow channel connecting five distinct lakes. They
sh uc.l’der ed; these were the five lakes known as ‘“‘Syamantak Panch_.a-
kas,_' which Parashu Raama had filled with the blood of enemies
during the war, |
.. This “Field of Righteousness,” as they called it, Was a gruesome
sight, more awesome than the Field of Ashes. Bones of men and

—m—
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horses, and broken parts of chariots lay scattered all over it. Ghastly
skulls stared at them through eyeless sockets. At some places, there
were remnants of what had once been huts, now no more than heaps
of rotting bamboos. There was no trace of any human being.

- They selected a spot on the margin of one of the lakes, cleared
it, collected dry faggots, set up a vedi (altar) and built the sacred
fire. They also collected wild fruits and nuts as offerings, and for
their food. :

It was evening by the time the rituals were over. After their
meal, they spread their deer-skins near the fire and retired for the
night.

It was a wintry night, and as it advanced, they wrapped their
deer-skins around their bodies and Jay on the ground. -

Paila, completely exhausted by the journey, went to sleep at
onge. Not so Dvaipaayana; he lay awake, thinking of the Dharma-
kshetra which he was going to restore to its pristine grandeuvr; of the
holy smoke from the sacrificial fires rising to the sky: of the Twice-
borns studying and teaching the WORD, upholding righteous
living. ;

~The silence was only disturbed by the ageless night voices, the
rustling of leaves, the soft, low music of the river and occasionally
the howls of wild beasts stalking their prey.

Little by little Dvaipa_ayana’s eyes became accustomed to the
darkness of the moonless night and began to distinguish trees and
the indistinct ghost-like forms of beasts,

After a while, Dvaipaayana. half asleep, had a nightmare. The
night was filled with anguish. H man hands and feet were twisting
and turning to find repose; moans were issuing from the mouths of
men who had been killed in the war.

A razor-sharp breeze began to blow. Paila, though asleep, pulled
up his legs and folded his arms over his chest; sighs escaped him.
Dvaipaayana took the deer-skin in which he was wrapped and spread
it over Paila. He himself sat near the vedi, seeking warmth from the
sasred fire, his legs pulled up, his arms locked over them.

Suddenly he heard a voice calling him : ‘Krishna, where are you?
Why don’t you come?’ He was thrilled; the voice was that of his
mother. Hz rubbed his eyes and looked around to convince himself
that there was no other human being nearby except Paila. The voice—
slear and impatient—was that of his mother from wherever she was.
He felt suffocated. “Mother, where are you? God Surya, Jead me
to her,” he prayed. '

He was now fully awake and saw a pair of bright eyes full of
malevolence fixed on him from across the embers of the vedi; they
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must be those of a bear, he thought. He could also see dark ffr{ns
moving close to the fire or walking away. He put more dried twigs
on the fire and fanned it. ! s : : o
He waited and waited to hear his mother’s voice again, but wa
disappointed. Yet he was sure that she was waiting for him some-
where—he knew not where. Tears of. he_lplesgness sprang to his eyes.
The memory of that bzloved voice filled him with sadness.
His heart throbbed with impatience to meet her, thougl} he realized
that to try to find her was a hopeless quest. He did not know
whether she was alive or dead ; however, the more he thought of her,
the more he was convinced that she wanted him. ‘Oh Gogls, show
me the way to her,” he muttered, his heart filled with anguish.
‘When it was twilight, he saw rabbits sitting on their hagnchcs
and fixing on him their little eyes beneath their pinkish eyelids, as
they warmed themselves at the sacred fire; deer stood, head lowered
looking at him from across the fire; wolves stalked at a distance,
unable to make out whether the silent figure sitting in front of the

fire, with its arms and legs locked together was a potential danger
or a ready victim.

Paila woke up and saw the animals gazing at Dvaipaayana. His
heart was frozen

with fear. He closed his eyes and clung to Dvaipaa-
yana.

Dvaipaa
They sat th
them.

.. Theforest awoke to the chirrup of birds. The wolves disappeared
into the undergrowth. _ e 0E

Ivaipaayana stood up, stretched himself, and accompanied
by Paila, went to have his bath in the lake. ‘Let us perform our
ritual as usual and collect wild fruits,” he said. :

After the ritual and the worship of the sacred fire, they ate
the fruits. Paila, however, was not able to shake off his fear. “Where
do we go from here? Let us return,” he said. v o T

“Why should we return’? asked Dvaipaayana, eyes widening in
Surprise. “We may go away for a while, but we will have to be here
agaimn to restore Dharmakshetra.’ !

“We cannot. This wretched place is cursed by the Gods and the
seers,” said Paila.
__Dvaipaayana shook his head. ‘You are wrong. It is the Field
of Righteousness. T can hear the echoes of the WORD chanted here
and sense the holy smoke issuing from hundreds of altars.’

“That is an illusion,’ said Paila. “You can actually only heay the
howls of the wolves and see foxes hunting rabbits.’

yana put more twigs on the fire, which emitted flames.
ere clinging to each other, both the deer-skins covering
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“Well, then, our flesh will provide a delicacy for the wolves,’
said Dvaipaayana laughing and he added: ‘I would now. like you
to go to the Godhuli ashram. I will send for you when everything is
ready for rebuilding Dharmakshetra.’. -

“There is something wrong withyou,” said Paila in mock
disgust.

8 “‘No, there is something right in here,” said Dvaipaayarna and
tapped his forehead. ‘I have given a pledge to Father to restore the
Field of Righteousness, and I now have a clear idea how it is to be
done.’ .

. “There.is ho chance whatever of your doing that,’ said Paila in
despair. “You will very soon join your forefathers. Then I will drown
myself in the lake. No one can live here.’ . o
" “sThat is what we have come to do, Paila,’ replied Dvaipaayana
with his broad smile. . )

‘Now that you are bent on destroying both of us, T have a sug-
gestion to make,’ said Paila. ‘I propose that you immediately send-
me to the Land of Yama (the God of Death), so that I knéw where
I am.’ He was caustic. ‘Tt would be interesting; you give me a blow
" on the head and kill me.” = . ‘

“No. I want you to live, Paila. That is why I am asking you to
return to Godhuli till 1 send for you, said Dvaipaayana.

Paila pressed his palm against his forehead. ‘Poor Pailaisin a
sorry plight. He cannot abandon you in this forest; on the other
hand, he cannot .hve.thh a n‘lad guru who is bent upon a foolish
adventure,” he said plteopsly. I am sure, 1 am going to be eaten by
the wolves. Then you will be sorry to have brought me here.’

Dvaipaayana smiled and patted Paila on the back affectionately.
“paila, don’t feel heart-broken. It is not a foolish venture. We
cannot teach dharma without having an authoritative source. That
will make it necessary to restore Dharmakshetra,’ he said and smiled.
‘I know that you do not share my faith. That was why I wanted to
leave Godhuli myself, leaving you behind.’

‘All right, all right,’ said Paila. He could not help barping
upon his death. ‘Do what you like. But if I die, you will be
responsible for my death, and the Lord Varuna, who sees every-
thing, will never forgive you for the sin of killing a Twice-born.’

Dvaipaayana laughed merrily. ‘Evidently you have fallen in
love with Yama, the God of Death. So, T will cheerfully send you to
the Land of the Forefathers, with due ceremony too, for when I go
there, 1 must have your company to chant the WORD. Come along.
Let us not waste time.’

“If the revered Muni had been here, T would have asked him to
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<trike you,” said Paila. “Then you would have fallen at his feeq and
is forgiveness.’ :

bcgg‘?&,}ﬁ;s dong’t you do it yourself?” asked Dvaipaayana. L

Paila again placed the palms of bis hands on his foreheaq.

‘How can I strike you after I have accepted you as my gury? Byt

will you tell me where we are going, if not to the Godhuli gs/rg;,9

‘I have no clear idea where we must go. But the Gods wj]] Iea;i

us in their good time. Let us extmgu_lsh the sacred fire first ® said
Dvaipaayana. ] - : j
Just as Dvaipaayana and Paila were going to extinguish the
sacred fire with due ceremony, five or six naked Rakshasas rushed

out of the undergrowth with bamboo poles in their hands screechin
and howling. Before the two realized the danger, one Raksh s
hit Paila on the head, and he, under the impact, fell unconscio?lfﬁ
2:;1:§?i:1§_]_)valpaayana on the back. A third began to foul the

As a result of the blow, Dvaipaayana fell to th i

; : —vai] e ground, feelin
iddy. He was expect 2 &
%lov.?did 3 cm’;l;_ ing a finishing blow at any moment, but the
His half-conscious mind reg

of the scampering feet of the Rakslstered the sound of conchs and

hasas. Then he lost conscicuspess



CHAPTER 8
MAHA ATHARVAN JAABAALI

HEN Dvaipaayana regained consciousness, he had noidea how

long he had been unconscious. Evidently the blow which

he had anticipated had not fallen. He also heard many voices

around him, speaking in the language of the Aryas. Someone was
treating his wound, which was very painful.

H: opened his eyes. Four or five Twice-borns—for they wore
the sacred thread—were trying to revive him. He looked for Paila,
but he was not beside him. He made an effort to sit up, but the very
exertion was too much for him and he fell back, unconscious.

~ When he came to his senses again, he opened his eyes wide and
tried again to sit up; he could succeed in doing so only when assis-
ted by two people.

One of them was a youth, clad in a deer-skin, of about his own
age and pleasant tempered, judging by the expression on his face
and his soft, dark brown eyes. _

No sooner had Dvaipaayana sat up than the young man shout-
ed : ‘Father, this Twice-born has regained consciousness.’

. Dvaipaayana looked around and saw the people surrounding
him respectfully making way for a strange-looking old man. He
was very aged; the hair on his chin and thinning head—too heavy
for his small and fragile body—was yellow with age. Though
sltlgﬁ‘hlly bent with age, he came with rapid stiides, barely using his
staff.

Dvaipaayana struggled to prostrate himself before the old
man, whe appeared to be a Muni of a very high order. :

The old man, in a low, measured voige, said : ‘Don’t be fooi-
ish,” and waved Lis hand to order Dvaipaayana to keep seated.
_H%thgn turned to the young man and asked him : ‘Sumantu, how
is he 7

Sumantu, who was applying some leaves 1O Dvaipaayana’s
back, turned to the old ms'g y ‘[—%e will be all right soon, Father,
but he has a bad weal,’ he said, pointing to the long contused
wound on his back made by the pole which had hit him. :

‘How do you feel, young man ?* asked the old man, turning to
Dvaipaayana. His austere face broke into the semblance of a smile.

‘I am well’, replied Dvaipaayana, making an effort to smile in
spite of the pain he was suffering. Joining his palms, he added :
‘Venerable Muni, accept my prostration. You have saved me.
But where is Paila, my friend ?’
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‘Don’t worry about him,’ said the old man. ‘I will presently
snatch him from the God of Death’. Then he asked : ‘But who are
ou? : _
2 Joining his palms in respect, Dvaipaayana replied : T am
Srotriya, a Twice-born devoted to the WoORD.’

“What were you doing when the Rakshasas attacked yoy 9
asked the old man. et ( ;

‘We had just finished the komo (worship of the s
and were on tfle point .of extinguishing the salz:red ﬁ};e.’ o g

g\’hy did you_ctgmc to this aﬁcursed plage ?°

vaipaayana’s face gave a charming smile, an i
accursed place if it has been trodden gby the sgggdc}élc;tobfetin
venerable Muni? ’ hei?sld«ad. e ; %

The compliment had no effect on the old map. ‘Did you i

e 0 : nvoke
gggrférgrgod properly ?” he asked, looking at the embers of the
abou?,i?ls,t h\?:fgll'gét.]ftﬁ we did not know that Rakshasas roamed

‘It was lucky you happen :

dark, moonless night, Otgfrwfsi,t?v: ivl::?lrl?l t:?gta }il_a;ftil ?Jedeay o the
plac?r’, said ;;Ihfé%d man and asked : ‘What is your name ]'1?’ e
am called Dvaipaayana,’ replj i : '

‘What is your frieI:ld’g name ?Phed e padyana

‘His name is Paila.’

‘Are both of you Twice-borns 9’

‘Yes, Master,’ replied Dvaipaayana.

“You were fools to come here’, stated the old man sharp]

3 y.

My father and I took a pledge that we would restore Dharma
kshetra to its old glory. Unfortunately, he died; otherwise he ;:113(;
would have been with us to fulfil the pledge.’

The old man laughed dryly, exposing his toothless mouth
‘Don’t you know that this place is accursed, young man ? The
spirits of the men who died here in the war still hover over this
field.’

By order of the old man, some of his disciples who had already
taken their bath, enlarged the vedi which Dvaipaayana and Paila
had built, and fanned the sacred fire, chanting mantras. Dyaj.
paayana was surprised to sce the sacred fire being built on such ,
large scale.

In the meantime, the old man turned to Dvaipaayana, took a
magic charm made of a small piece of wood from Sumantu and
tied it on his right arm with darbha grass, muttering a mantra at

the same time.
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‘Now, get up, Twice-born, and walk,’ said the old man sharply.
Dvaipaayana was still unable to stand up. ‘Come on, get up,’ com-
manded the old man, fixing his penetrating eyes on him.

Dvaipaayana could not take his eyes off the old man and had
no will left of his own. He stood up mechanically; all his pain had
disappeared.

‘Follow me,” ordered the old man.

Dvaipaayana felt as if moving in space and followed the old
man mechanically.

The disciples respectfully made way to enable the old man to
reach the river. Dvaipaayana followed him, his head lowered, his
palms joined. ‘Something strange is happening to me,’ he said to
Sumantu, who only laughed in reply. ‘What is the auspicious name
of the venerable Muni ?” he asked Sumantu. ] ]

‘Don’t you know ?” asked the young man, surprised. ‘He is
the guru of all gurus, Maha Atharvan Jaabaali, the master of life
and death.’ ! :

Dvaipaayana opened his mouth in surprise. This was the
great Master of the Atharvana lore, whose name his father had
mentioned on some rare occasions in an awed whisper.

Dvaipaayana had gathered, from a few scattered references
his father had made, that he had had to leave Dharmakshetra as a
result of a disagreement with his grandfather Vasishtha. There
appeared to have been two rival camps of seers : one, inspired by
Vasishtha and Viswamitra, held that the WoRD was three-fold,
Trayi Vidya—Rik, Yajuh and Sama; other c¢laimed the authority
of the ancient seers, Bhrigu and Angiras, and insisted that the
Atharvana lore was also an integral part of the WorD. His father,.
though he lived for the three-fold WorDp, did not share the view
that the Atharvana lore was not a part of it; with the aid of herbs,
charms, amulets and sorcery, its mantras and practices brought
" protection to the afflicted, relief to the ailing, love to the love-Jorn,
victory to kings. :

Maha Atbarvan, by a gesture, asked Dvaipaayana to follow
him. ‘T am taking my bath in the lake. Do likewise,” he ordered.
Dvaipaayana obeyed the order. _ - -

Having performed the appropriate ritual;, Maha Atharvan
offered libations to the God Surya. Thereafter, he and his disciples
chanted the invocation to Varuna, the God of the waters and the
skies, who watches over the whole creation. ;

At the very first words of the mantras which the old man
chanted, Dvaipaayana felt released from bondage and his rich,
melodious voice joined in the chant,

K.P.-VI—3
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““The mighty Lord, the Great Guardian, knows all,
What is far off and what is near;
Though men long to disguise their acts
The Lord knows what all men do.
Whether a man stands, walks or prowls about,
Or goes slinking away,
Even if he goes into a hiding place,
The Lord is there to see what he does.
If two men sit together to scheme or plot,
Judging they are alone,
The Lord is there as a third, and
He knows all they have contrived.
This earth belongs to the Lord,
And the vast and boundless skies,
Whose boundaries are so far away.
Both seas rest within Him and yet
He is hidden in a drop of water,
If a man should flee beyond the heqy
He would not escape the thousand
Eyes of the Lord which watch him.
Whatever exists in heaven and oy egyy A
Whatever is beyond the skies i

Are unfolded before the eyes ;rf the Lord.
He counts man’s ceaseless waverings.
The Lord wields this universe :

As gamester throws his dice.

Thy fateful coils spread out everywhere
Seven by seven, and three by three,

Ensnare, Lord, whomsoeverspeaks what is false
But let him that speaks the truth £0 free %
Let him be with us to sustain us, Y
Andlet us grow to a higher life.”

When the invocation was over, Maha Atharvan turned to
Dyaipaayana, and for a few moments, looked at him with a frown:
his penetrating eyes under his bushy eyebrows tried to gauge the
secret of this young ascetic chanting the Atharvana mantras with
such mastery.

As he came out of the lake, Maha Atharvan turned to Paila
who had been placed in the shallow waters of the lake, his head
held up by a disciple to let him breathe freely. :

He spoke to his son : ‘Sumantu, open your bag.” He selected
a few herbs when it was held open by Sumantu.

‘Bring ashes from the sacred fire,” he said.

Sumantu went to the sacred fire and brought ashes from it
The old man besmeared Paila’s forehead, cheeks, chest and
legs with the ashes. He then raised his voice and began to chant
an invocation to Yama, the God of Death :
“Yama, Revered God of Death,
United in life, let him enjoy the favours

ens far, far away,
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Of the mighty Surya ( the Sun God), the Lord of Light,
Who rules over this immortal world,

Rise up, man. Cast off the shackles of death.

Do not sink down. Do not be cut off from this world.
Nor disappear from the sight of Agni and Surya.”

Maha Atharvan paused, applied the ashes to Paila as before
and chanted :
““The Sun and Moon shall guard thee;
The skies and waters shall guard thee
Against the divine missile;
May the alert and the watchful Gods guard thee,
May He that never sleeps nor nods, guard thee,
May He that protects and is vigilant, guard thee.
Let this man remain with us, ye Gods,
Let him not depart hence to yonder world !
I, Maha Atharvan, by the grace of the sages,
Bhrigu-Angiras,
Rescue him from death with a charm a thousand-fold strong.”

Then Maha Atharvan soaked certain herbs in water and
squeezed a few drops in between Paila’s lips, muttering the
mantra all the time. :

““The plants jivala, nagha-risha and jivanti,

Ever victorious, mightily-saving herbs,

You Iinvoke to let this man be free from danger and death.”
., Dvaipaayana stood there, in respectful silence, with his palms
Joined. Quite effortlessly, he memorised the mantras which Maha
Atharvan chanted, together with their cadences and accents. He
realized that these mantras were part of the Atharvana lore, which
his father had not known.

Maha Atharvan concentrated his gaze on Paila and went on
applying the ashes to his body and chanting the mantras. In a few
moments, Paila’s breathing became even. .

. After the libations had been offered, Maha Atharvan and his
disciples and also Dvaipaayana had a repast of fruits and roots. -

The sacred fire was extinguished ceremonially, and the disci-
ples, .blowing the gouchs, two by two, began to leave in procession.
Maha Atharvan followed his disciples in a litter.

_ Paila, who was still unconscious, was carried in 2 make-shift
litter. Dvaipaayana, supported by Sumantu, kept it company,
_Again, the spell of Maha Atharvan came over Dvaipaayana,
His pain disappeared and he began to follow the old man
mechanically. '



CHAPTER 9
A
DVAIPAAYANA ELUDES THE DEATH CHARM

rocession entered a dense forest
3 aTn%EariE;eé‘gO;né ;1?1?, éjn the top of WhlGl':lM: c?luIdAlglc s.een’a
settlement of a few hundred huts. 1t was aha larvan’s
ashrqrn;{ey climbzd to the ashram. In the cgnt_reh;ms installed the
= di. kept alive day and night.
sacre(d) fgir?ﬂiﬁghz%fﬁf:ﬁiIs(GiIIJﬂCS: led by Maha Athaulfan, took the
ashes of the sacred fire and applied them to their foreheads. Then
they g:lf;gzl;?ffied Dvaipaayana to his own hut, to which two other
disciples had already brought the unconscious Paila.
Q‘Vhen Dyvaipaayana reached the hut, he suddenly felt that he
Wwas no longer an automaton, Maha Atharvan had withdrawn
the artificial strength that he had given him. He felt utterly exhaus-
ted; his forehead was beaded with perspiration; his wound began
to give pain. He sank to the floor like a sack.
Sumantu was joined by Vatikaa, dressed in dark cloth, She
appeared to be a softer replica of Sumantu, clearly his twin-sister:

she was tall for a woman; her movements were free; her black hair
was plaited in braids.

She came up to Dvaipaayana and asked him to close hjg eyes
and pray to the twin-gods, the Asvins, the divine physicians ° 1o
give him strength. She also gave him the herbal soup Which she had
brought with her. On taking it, Dvaipaayana felt fire running throueh
his veins though the large contused wound on his back was still

. Smarting,

Vatikaa then turned her attention to Paila, who was still un-
conscious, placed wet packs on his head, and after forcing open his
mouth, poured into it a little of the soup she had given to Dvai-
paayana.

Dvaipaayana dozed off; he could not follow the conversation
which the brother and sister cartried on jn a Jow Voice. However,
he had a vague impression that Sumanty was telling his sister how
they had come to bring the two young asgetics to the ashram,

Sumantu and Vatikaa heard the sound of sandals coming
towards them and stood up to accost their father with folded hands.
The two attendants who were with him stood near the door.,

Maha Atharvan’s presence charged the atmosphere,
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Dvaipaayana woke up, opened his eyes, and seeing the sage
Iélade an effort to sit up. The sage, by a gesture, asked him not to

0 so.

Maha Atharvan first turned his attention to the unconscious
Paila. He applied to Paila’s body the ashes which an attendant had
brought him from the sacred fire, and in a low voice, chanted the
mantras to ward off death. Dvaipaayana listened attentively to the
mantras and checked the accuracy of his memory.

Under the sage’sinstructions, Vatikaa again poured the herbal
soup into Paila’s mouth; a faint moan came from the unconscious
young man. .

By a gesture, Maha Atharvan dismissed the disciple who had
brought the ashes. Then he sat down near Dvaipaayana on a wooden
plank which an attendant had placed there, holding his staff as
straight as if it was a sceptre.

Dvaipaayana, helped by Sumantu, sat up against the wall.
Again by a gesture, the old man asked his son and daughter to sit
near him. Then, turning his attention to Dvaipaayana, he said :
“Young man, you chanted the Atharvana invocation to the Lord
Varuna perfectly.’ . Y

Dvaipaayana folded his hands in respect and said : ‘Venerable
Sir, you do me a great kindness in saying that.’ ;

For a time, the sage concentrated his gaze on Dvaipaayana;
as a result, his pain vanished.

‘Swear that you will tell me the truth,’ said the old man,

‘I have always spoken the truth and always will,” replied
Dvaipaayana with due modesty. I pledged myself to it when I be-
came a Twice-born and also when I took the oath of the Vasisthas.
I have always upheld my vOW’.

At the mention of the Vasisthas, the old man made a con-
temptuous moyement of his head. “Who taught you to chant the
Atharvana invocation to the Lord Varuna ? he asked.

‘My father’, replied Dvaipaayana.

The old man shot questions at Dvaipaayana as if they were
arrows, straight and swift. “What is your family name r

‘My family name is Paraashara’, replied Dvaipaayana.

“What is your father’s name ?* asked Maha Atharvan.

‘Muni Paraashara.’

A flame of hatred sprang up in the old sage’s eyes; his voice
became as sharp as a razor. “‘Whose son was your father 7’

Dvaipaayana could see that the old man’s attitude towards
him had changed for the worse. ‘He was the son of Muni Shakti,
the son of Maha Muni Vasistha.’
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‘How did your father come to know the mantras of Brahma
Vid ’ - an.

i S?loliﬁfeggv? hi;sée%h}ieh%ki;?l;ht me several mantras of the
Atharvana ]-Ore.’ 4 2 : 5 i

‘From whom did he learn the Atharvanamantras ?” asked the
old sage. : %

- ‘He did not te]] n whom he learned them’. He only told
me that they formedn]rﬁe&t?;urth part of the WorD,” replied Dvai-
P the Braf 'V:’l a was 7’

‘Did h ; in e Brahma Vidy. ?

‘Once grsaiég ‘iv?géee;ﬁ%??, hge referred to you as the venerable
Maha Atharyan who was the master of life and d::alh and I am
grateful to the Gods for having brought me to you’.

The old man’s face was inscrutable. ‘Do you know that
Vasistha, your great-grandfather, was an enemy of the Brahma
Vidyal, the highest form of the WorD ?’ he asked.

.No,’ replied Dyaipaayana.

_“...that he claimecllj th};t the WORD was only three-fold—Rik,
Yajuh and Sama ? The questions were savagely-dealt sword-thrusts.

No,” replied Dvaipaayana.

. --that he denied the Atharvans their primacy at the sacri-
ficial sessions 7’

‘No.’

“...that I laid my curse on Dharmakshetra and because of it -
the }‘Iﬁth%}yas destroyed it and killed Vasistha 2’

0.

“...that your father stealthily learnt many Atharvan; as

from my son ? asked the old TP 4 e manir g
0.

“...that when Vasistha came to know it, he ordered your father
not to chant them, and thereupon your father left Dharmakshetra ?’

‘NO.’

Dvaipaayana now understood why his father, in the prime of
his life, had left the parental ashram and founded an ashram on the
banks of the river Yamuna.

‘Where did he go ?’ asked the old man.

‘My father founded an ashram on the banks of Mother Yamuna,’
replied Dvaipaayana.

‘Tell me of your father’s ashram.’

‘It was a flourishing ashram,’ replied Dvaipaayana. “Then
the wicked King, Sahasrarjuna, came and reduced it to ashes and
killed most of the dissiples.’

1. Vide Note appended to this chapter.
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‘My curse followed your father. Did he escape Sahasrarjuna ?’

“Yes. When the ashram was burnt down and his disciples were
massacred, he had been to the Arya Kings to combine them against
Sahasrarjuna. When he returned to his ashram, Arjuna’s men broke
his leg.’

‘When did he die?

‘A few months ago,’ replied Dvaipaayana.

‘Why have you come here 7’

‘My father and 1 pledged ourselves to restore Dharmakshetra
to its original grandeur.’ ;

“Why 2’ asked the old man, his displeasure mounting.

‘...t0 provide the authoritative source from which dharma
can flow unsullied. Without restoring Dharmakshetra, dharma
will disappear,’ replied Dvaipaayana.

‘It will never be restored. My curse is on it.”

A charming smile was on Dvaipaayana’s face. “Your curse
destroyed it. Now your blessing will restore it.’

‘No. 1 will never give that.’

‘But the Gods will persuade you, Master, to do so.’

‘Why do you say that ?” asked the old man.

‘Because you saved me and Paila from the Rakshasas. It was a
sign from the Gods’, said Dvaipaayana firmly.

The old sage’s eyes lighted up like live coals. His voice, though
low, was threatening. ‘Dharmakshetra will not be restored. The
ancient seers, Bhrigu and Angiras, have so decided.’

“‘Master, all the ancient seers would be happy if Dharmakshetra
was restored,” said Dvaipaayana with unshaken faith.

“You are mad, young man’, said the old man and added :
‘Why are you so eager to restore Dharmakshetra 7’

‘How can dharma uphold life, if it is not supported by men  who,
d;dicated to the Worp, live in and for it ? The world is waiting for
them.’

“You talk as if the ancient seers had blessed the venture,” said
the old man.

“Master, “the Gods grant the prayers of those who dedicate
themselves to the WORD as the source of righteous living,”” as the
venerable Muni Paraashara said’ answered Dvaipaayana.

“Your great-grandfather offended the Brahma Vidya and the
ancient seers, Bhrigu and Angiras. They will never forgive him
and those who follow him,’ said the old sage.

“Venerable Sir, let me be your disciple. I had already decided
that once I settled down in Dharmakshetra, I would be a disciple
of a master of the Atharvana lore. The Gods have now brought
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me fo you,’ said Dvaipaayana.

‘T will accept you as my
Efﬁya only if you %cilve up th

shetra,’ said the old man. ich my venerabl

‘How can I go back u[_JOi:;l éﬁer:?ffffdwﬁfi?pa gyana. ¢ father
tOOkTﬁdollﬁ wﬁiﬁitgoﬂsﬁ; ci)n stern displeasure. ‘I wqrrt} you : if you !

m s i to grief.’

ist i _called mission, you will come to g by
Fe i oot Joep iy ony il b dad ity
unable to face my forcf‘athers, or thed Onc-1 0y hemlook. et

Vatikaa knew her i;athcrnso;nﬁﬁn s a y , tried to

; ot to an : :
warnMI;;aaIPi?g;‘Ffag had eyes all round his head and he sajd :
‘Even if Vatikaa and Sumantu warn you not to make me angry,
..." He then laughed. ‘These children think that I can dewgte from
my life’s work because of your innocent looks and disarming
speech.’ : .

Then, with a stern look, he added: ‘The wrath of the divine
sages, Bhrigu and Angiras, is ever active and ever devastating.’

Saying this, Maha Atharvan accepted Sumantu’s help and
left the hut. .

Vatikaa and Sumantu came back to where Dvaipaayana was
sitting, his head ‘in his hands. He felt crushed. He wanted to CrY,
but something in him lifted him out of despair.

They brought with them a magic herb and applied it to his
wound. Vatikaa also gave him the herbal soup and left the hut.
Sumantu gave some water to the unconscious Paila and stretghed
himself on a bed of fresh leaves near Dvaipaayana.

Dvaipaayana dozed off for a while and sat up when he heard
the cherished voice of his mother: ‘Krishna, where are you? Why
don’t you come?’

He rubbed his eyes. Paila lay unconscious, though off and on
a low moan escaped him. Sumantu was asleep.

In the fitful light which came through the door from the sacred
fire, kept blazing the whole night, Dvaipaayana saw a figure entering
lt:he hut. He guessed that Sumantu’s sister had come tosee her

rother.

is foolish idea of restoring Dhajpa-

Sumantu woke when Vatikaa placed her hand on him, The !

brother and the sister then had a whispered conversation for some
time and came up to Dvaipaayana’s bad.

‘Dvaipaayana, are you awake?’

Dvaipaayana sat up and rubbed his eyes to make sure that he
was not dreaming.

disciple and teach you the Bygpg ,-}

)
|
|
|
|
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Vatikaa said: ‘Dvaipaayana, do you know what will happen
to you tomorrow?

‘How can I know that?’ asked Dvaipaayana.

‘Father is going to put the death spell on you tomorrow after
Agni, the Fire God, has been worshipped.’

“What is the death spell? I do not know what that means.?

‘It is a charm which will kill you in three days,” said Sumantu.

‘Why should he kill me?" asked Dvaipaayana.

Vatikaa intervened: ‘Don’t spend your time talking. In my
presence, he gave instructions to prepare the charm which will bring
you death within three days, wherever you are.’

1 ‘Why should he kill me?’ asked Dvaipaayana. ‘I have done no
1arm.’

‘Yesterday he found you a determined young man with vast
learning and self-confidence,” whispered Vatikaa. ‘He consulted the
planets and decided to do away with you. But let us not waste time
Get up and go. Take this herbal soup which I have prepared for you'
Here is the bag of herbs which your friend Paila was carrying. T have
alsccl) put in your }lljag_t}:e Lhrlf]:e saviour plants—jivala, nagha-risha
and jivanti, though, without the appropriate mantrq i
no efficacy,” said Vatikaa. % they will have

Dvaipaayana smiled. ‘I know the mantras. 1 memorized them
when Maha Atharvan chanted over Paila, once on the bank of the
river and the next time here.’

Vatikaa opened her eyes wide in admiration. “You are wonder-
ful,” she said, unable to restrain herself, ‘I wish I had your memory.’

‘But how ¢an I go out at night? I don’t know the way. And whg{t
about my friend? asked Dvaipaayana.

‘He will remain unconscious for several weeks, but Father
says he will recover. We will look after him. Now come along. We
will take you to the foot of the hill. We can easily find our way by
the star-light. Hurry up,’ said Vatikaa.

They put on wooden sandals, fastened them to their feet with
strips of leather, stealthily went out by the rear ‘door and took to
the trail.

When they came to the foot of the hill, Dvaipaayana bade them
good-bye. He turned to Sumantu. ‘Gurus adopt disciples. In my
case, 1 have adopted Maha Atharvan as my guru. So we are brothers.
Let me embrase you’, he said and enveloped Sumantu in his arms
with affestion.

He also took leave -of Vatikaa by folding his hands. ‘I will
never forget your kindness. I will be back soon and, blessed by
your father, we will restore Dharmakshetra.’
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Saying this, Dvaipaayana took to the forest path.

NOTE ON THE ATHARVANA LORE

The Srauta literature, like other authorities, shows that at one time there
was a rift between thg school of seers who held that the Vedas were ?"‘my_i Vidya,
three-fold—Rik, Yajuh and Sama, and the Atharvana schoc_)l Whlchllnvoked
the authority of the ancient seers, Atharvan Angiras or Bhrigu Angiras, and
which insisted that the Atharvana lore was part of the Vedas.
The dominating content of the ‘Atharvana Veqda includes Yatz yidyg
(sorcery), medicines (b eshajagl')’ §ltatclcrtaft(raja-karmam), and mantras to secure
rotecti : s or hostile plots. :
P c\%ﬁ%ﬁ ?Fgli";*it;;??fd)’a school dominated , it seems, the Atharvan priests
were denied a place among the four leading ritualists at the Sraura sacrifical
ceremonials. Later, the position appears to have changed. By slow degrees,
the Atharvana lore found a place as an integral part of the Veda, the Atharvans
claiming it as Brahma - Vidya or the Supreme WORD. The office of Brahma,
the fourth priest at the Srauta ceremonials, had-to be filled by an Atharvan,
¢njoying the power to correct, by means of expiatory formulas, the accidents
and blunders of the three others—adhvaryu, hota and udgata. Adhvaryu presides
over the ceremonials as the head of the ritualists; Hora chants the appropriate
mantras: Udgata sings them.
Later it appears that it was accepted that the royal preceptor, the Purohit,

should be an Atharvan, for he had to deal with statecraft, medical relief and
astrology.



CHAPTER 10
EMPRESS MEETS DVAIPAAYANA

‘ DVAIPAAYANA was happy when he arrived at Hastinapur. In all
his plans for resurresting Dharmakshetra, the capital of the
Kurus occupied a central place. ]

The 56-year-old Shantanu, Emperor of Hastinapur, had led the
Kurus in war and peace. Coming to the throne when he was barely
twenty, he had participated in the bitter and relentlesggvar which
the Aryas had waged for years to destroy the Haihaya hordes.

Wise, vigorous and strong, he had extended his influence over
Aryavarta, though it was a hard task welding his turbulent subjects
Into a comparatively peaceful society. . )

By his impressive achievements duting the thirty-five years of
his rule, he had earned the imperial status of a Chakravarti, which
had been enjoyed by his forefather Bharat.

In the chaos created by the war, the Aryas, the Nagas and other
rages had forgotten their differences and fought and won side by
side. Inter-marriages followed. The Aryan pantheon was enlarged
to make room for some non-Aryan gods.

Duting the war, the old homes of learning had all but vanished.
Dharmakshetra, where the rishis, by precept and example, had lighted
the way of righteous living to hundreds of disciples, was now a
painful memory, The sacred fire installed by the Aryas in every
home had lost its paramount significance. The sacrificial session
elaborately conducted, sometimes lasting for years, in which hundreds
. of Srotriyas participated, so that it was something in the nature of a
university, had now been temporarily brought back into existence,
to add to the luxury of kings. .

Shantanu’s lavish generosity had helped the ascetics, men of
learning and Srotriyas to pursue their avocation in the land over
. which he held sway. However, there was a medley of cultures among
them. Some followed the tradition of the ancient seers; others had
come to worship Shiva, the dread god who was also generous with
his gifts; some others ¢claimed divine powers which carried no moral
and spiritual discipline with them.

. No central authority had been set up to co-ordinate their
activities or impose a gommon discipline over them. The firm axis
round which most of them revolved however was purely the common
belief in the divinity of the WORD, which the Srotriyas were expected
to learn, teach and propagate. ‘

On arriving at Hastinapur, Dvaipaayana went straight the to
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temple of the God of gods, Pratipeshwar, which, begun by Pratip,
was completed by Shantanu, his son. In company with his father,

he had halted there when they had gone on a pilgrimage to Badri

Ashram. o

When Dvaipaayana entered the temple, he made enquiries
whether there was some place where he could rest for a while. He
was politely taken to a mongo-grove set apart in the temple grounds
for visiting ascetics, men of learning and Srotriyas.

The first thing which he did on arrival was to take a bathe in the
Gangaa aggl perform the essential ritual for noon. When he came
back to the grove, he found that the time for providing meals for
visitors had gone. He decided to go hungry rather than approach
a devout householder for food.

Dvaipaayana for the moment felt disheartened. He had come
to Hastinapur at an inopportune moment. The Emperor lay dying.
Nobody was in a mood to discuss the restoration of Dharmakshetra.

He knew nothing of the complicated procedure for securing an
audience with such a powerful ruler as Shantanu. He therefore joined
the group of visiting guests who were beinyg taken to the royal mansion
%};nﬁioioung Minister Kunik to give their blessings to the dying

Dvaipaayana was all too conscious that the deer-skin he wore
was worn and dirty; and that having walked for days together, he
was tired ; his wan face showed that he had had no fuli mca%f‘ ¢ days:
: Naturaliglthg M}i’nist]t(:r(}vzlig not impressed. “Where do y(?u Gome

rom, venerable Sir?’ aske unik.
suspicion in his voige, SR undercurrenF 3

‘I have come from Dharmakshetra.’ repl; :

‘Dharmakshetra!’ exclaimed Kunik. ‘Tﬁate%iggalgﬁaﬁgﬁlcs?
How did you leave it alive?’

Dvaipaayana noted the insinuation in the Minister’s words
but ignored it. “Yes, I have come from Dharmakshetra. The Gods
spared me.’

‘What is your gotra (clan name)? asked Kunik.

‘Paraashara gotra,” replied Dvaipaayana. -

Kunik felt that this young ascetic was deseiving him. He asked:
‘\2;;8)1_ g&; k,-?,g’w where Muni Paraashara, the grandson of Mahamun!

‘He went to the Land of the Forefathers.’

‘Where did the venerable Muni die?’

“He was killed by wolves when he was on a visit to the Field
of Ashes, the place where originally his ashram stood, which was
burnt down by Sahasrarjuna,” replied Dvaipaayana.
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‘How do you know that?’ asked Kunik.

‘I was there myself,” replied Dvaipaayana. .

Kunik’s doubts were not resolved, but he did not want to keep
the other visitors waiting. So, by a gesture, he invited Dvaipaayana
to join them. )

The group of visitors, guided by the Minister, was taken to the
room where the Emperor lay dying. In front of the. room, a special
sacrificial session was being conducted by the royal priests to ward
off death, ! A L .

"The room was airy and spacious. The royal preceptor sat in
a corner, muttering prayers. A few Srotriyas sat at a distance, invok-
ing the Asvins, the twin Gods of the healing art. oo

Yuvaraj Gangeya, looking stern, stood near the bed, and cast
anxious glanges at the unconscious Emperor. On the other side,near
the head of the bed, sat the Empiess Satyavati, her face covered by a
gold-embroidered scarf to conceal the tears which were running down
her cheeks, her sons Chitrangada and Vichitraveerya by her side,

Near her, stood two foreign girls, fair and beautiful, unabashed.-
ly scarfless, moving their fly-whisks mechanically over the dying
Emperor. - . o S

Prince Gangeya folded his hands, and by a gesture, inviteq
the guests to approach the bed. Dvaipaayana modestly plaged him-
self in the rear. The visitors uttered a short mantra, extended theijr
hands and blessed the Emperor. ,

. No sooner was the mantra finished, Prince Gangeya foldeq
his hands to the guests, and by a gesture, invited them to leave the
bed-room. All of them left, except Dvaipaayana, who stood Waitin
for the Prince, ' - &

Prince Gangeya was disgusted at the way the visitors Came in a5
unending stream to Hastinapur from all parts of Aryavarta to bles
the Emperor and left him no better. He was, therefore, IITitateq a4
this young ascetic with the shabby deer-skin and hungry look.nOt
leaving the room with the others. . . : »

‘May I have your permission to approach the Emperor’s beq
asked Dvaipaayana.. = o S )

Impatience got the better of Prince Gangeya’s manners, Curty
he said: ‘No, venerable Sir. Please leave now.’ R Y

The words were courteous enough, but the manner jn whigh
they were spoken was insulting, -,

Even the good-hatured, broad smile of Dvaipaayana, which
always succeeded in disarming anger jn others, failed to may, an

impression on Prince Gangeya, who again asked: “What do yo
want?’ o u
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Dvaipaayana raised his head tink d»ig“ity aocasaid: “Nog \
i e to give, not to take. '
an(%aig}g:etﬂ?rrgzd hisgback upon Dvaipaayana, whom he thoyght ‘}
p l[r)n\%ﬁg;;;g;a blessed the Emperor from 2 _d}tstance and left |
with a heavy heart. The whole purpose of his VISt {0 Hastinapur |
was frustrated, His hope of restoring Dharmakshetra with the help
of the Emperér Shantanu, on which he had built so far, vanished
The Prince did not appear to be a helpful person. His Self-_confldencs '|
was shaken. He wished 1is father were alive to show lllm the way
oLt ofihe ciarkness which for the moment surrounded him, ]
As he was leaving the g.rounds of the mansion, an elderly wo- |
man—from her dress, & highly placed attendant of the royal |
mansion—came towards him with hurried steps. After saluting \
Dvaipaayana, she said: ‘Venerable Sir, evidently you have com¢ |
from a long distance. ‘Have you had any food? ]
‘No’, replied Dvaipaayana. I came to the temple after the |
food had been distributed to the other guests.” ‘
“My mistress, the noble Mahadevi, would like you to ¢om® l{
with me and take your food in the mansion’ said the attendant. ‘She
saw you were tired and was unhappy that you were turned away by
Prince Gangeya. She wants me to request you to forgive the Princ; l
he is undergoing a heavy s:train_ on account of the Emperor’s jllness:
Dvaipaayana said with dignity: ‘After the way I was turﬁed Il
l

out, I know that I have no place in Hastinapur. Tell the no aha-
devi that it is not difficult for me to go without food.’ oL

‘The noble Mahadevi, under a vow, does not allo jyd
to leave the mansion without taking food,” said thev;t?gr)x’dg;otrg‘id |
added: ‘She would also like to meet you.’ I

‘Why? asked Dvaipaayana. '!

‘The noble Mahadevi was struck by the words you uttered: |
“I have come to give, not to take.”” She felt that it was not an id1€
boast. You could help the Best of Bharatas to rocover from hi
illness,” said the attendant.

‘I would not like to force myself on the royal family,’ said I-
Dvaipaayana. ' 3

‘Please come With me,’ besought the attendant. The noble
Mahadevi will never forgive me if I do not bring you to her.’ \

Dvaipaayana thought for a little while. “Very well. I do not °
want you to be blamed for my not coming,” he said and fcllowcd '

the attendant to the rear of the royal mansion, where he was ushere
by her into a big room.

At one end, he saw the Empress, a small woman, but gl-acet‘ul,
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sitting in front of a small shrine of the God of gods; her head and
face were covered by her scarf. )

Dvaipaayana stood at a respectful distance from the Empress.

The Empress saw the ascetic, stood up and took a step to ap-
proach him with folded hands. He was also ready to extend his
right hand in blessing....

The scarf slipped off her face and head.... o \

Seeing her face, Davipaayana’s eyes opened wide in amaze-
ment; the staff and the gourd fell from his hands.

There was no mistaking the graceful figure, the bright luminous
eyes, the small feet, the glowing face which the years had not robbed
of its beauty. .

The Empress was taken ‘aback at the behaviour of the young
?scetic, who, reversing the normal observances, had fallen at her

eet. . .

However, no sooner had Dvaipaayana stood up than she
recognized the homely face, the winning smile, the eyes beaming
with kindliness. Ignoring the presence of the attendants, she flung
all decorum to the winds and exclaimed: ‘Krishna!’

.. Dvaipaayana equally overcome by emotion, almost sobbed
with joy. :

The attendants, sensing the poignancy of the situation, with-
drew from the room.

‘Krishna, where is your venerable father? asked the Empress.

‘He died four months ago; he was killed by wolves when we
were on a visit to the Field of Ashes,’ replied Dvaipaayana.

‘Did you complete your period of Brahmacharya under him?
asked the Empress. 4 ‘ :

‘Yes, Mother,” replied Dvaipaayana.

‘Are you alone?”

‘Mother, you know Paila, don’t you? He was with me, but he
was seriously injured and is now lying in an ashram,’ said Dvaipaa-
yana and asked: ‘Did you recongnize me after so many years?’

‘I always see your face vividly. How can I forget your eyes
and smile, which I have never known in any other man? said the
Empress. ‘Did you ever think of me?”

‘Mother, how could I ever forget you? After Father went to the
Land of the Forefathers, I even went to Kalpi to meet you.’

‘What of the .people at Kalpi? asked the Empress.
... ‘T met the village-folk, who told me that you had gone away
with a king—th

ey did not know where to, and that Grandfather
and Grandmother also went away with some people.’ :

‘Oh, T am forgetting that you have not taken your food,’ said

v
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the Empress. She clapped her hands and called her attendapgg,
When tllljey came, she zlfslf{ed them to bring food for D\I;ﬂl?li‘?eyana_

Dvaipaayana took the food brought to him by the ;L:stn(ilan-ts'
The Empress sat in front of him on a pat (low stool) encrusted yyitp
gold ﬁlti;é?e;ld son had parted thirteen years ago under tragic
circumstances, By a strange turn of fortune, however, ti}ey had been
brought together—one as an assetic dedicated to Dharma, and the
othefgsé ?%Eﬁ%ﬁ?iber your promise that you would ¢ome to me
whenever I wanted you? asked the Empress. I have been calling
o8 ?{ri?f Idﬁ;, can I ever forget yo_u? You are always present before
me. I also heard your voice, onge in the Field of Wolves and again
in the ashram of Maha Atharvan, saying: “Krishna, where are you?
Why don’t you come?”’ and the Gods guided my feet t0 you,’ said
Dvaipaayana smilingly and continued: “When I went to Kalpi, T also
set afloat a pot containing a peepul leaf to beg you to forgive me.’

‘For what? asked the Empress. AL

“You were angry with me for having left you at Kalpi.”

‘How could T ever be angry with you? asked the Empress
happily. “You could never have made me angry.’

. In the meantime, an attendant, in accordance with the Empress’s
direction, brought the two princes, Chitrangada and Vichitraveerya,
one aged eleven and the other ten, both thin and pale-faced, arrogant
as p\fer-fondlcd chil_dren genelally are when their slighest wish is
anticipated by their parents.

They folded their hands before their mother, but could not
congeal their disapproval at her sitting so close to the shabbily-
dressed ascetic in disregard of her imperial dignity.

Satyavati, the Empress, turned to them and said affectionately:
‘My sons, this is Krishna Dvaipaayana, son of the great Muni
Paraashara. It was on account of the Sage’s blessing that I game
to wed the noble Aryaputra, your father. Dvaipaayana is young,
but he has inherited the learning and tapas of his revered father.
Fall at his feet and ask for his blessing.’ '

_ Both the boys bowed before Dvaipaayana perfunctorily, join-
Ing their palms. - _ ]

Chitrangada turned to his mother and said : ‘Is he not the same
ascetic who wanted to see Father and whom Brother Gangeya turned
out?

Ignoring the offensive remark, Dvaipaayana smiled indulgently

at both the princes and gave them blessings.
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‘What does he want of you, Mother?’ asked -Vighitraveerya
p Dvaipaayana, who saw annoyance on the face of the Empress.
intervened: ‘Prince,I want nothing from the noble Empress or from
?;g:pe else. As I told Prince Gangeya, I came here to give, not to

:What can you give us? asked Chitrangada haughtily.

I can get you the help of the Gods—from the ever-living
WORD’, replied Dvaipaayana.

_ The Empress asked her sons to take leave of the young ascetic,
which they did half-heartedly.

When they were gone and the attendants withdrew, the Empress
turned to Dvaipaayana and said: ‘Krishna, T am in great difficulty.
I want Aryaputra to recover; the future of my sons depends upon it.’

She was no longer the Empress, but the fisher-gitl narrating
her woes to her son. “When the noble Aryaputra wanted to marry
me, your grandfather insisted that Prince Gangeya should take a
pledge that he would neither claim the throne nor mary. Before
Aryaputra fell ill. T had been pressing on him the need of announ-
cing before the Rajya Sabha that Chitrangada should succeed
Aryaputra and that Prince Gangeya should keep his promise.

‘Are you afraid, Mother—I mean noble Empress—that Prince
Gangeya, will not keep his pledge if it is not announced before the
Rajya Sabha ?’ asked Dvaipaayana. ’ »

‘I know Gangeya will. He is honest, truth-loving and straight-
forward: he treats me with the honour due to a mother. I have no
doubt that he will keep the promise he has given to his father. In
fact he has rejected more than one offer of marriage. He 1s also doing
his best to train both my sons in statecraft,’ said the Empress.

“Where is the difficulty then 7’ asked Dvaipaayana. \

The Empress replied : ‘The Kuru chiefs are very proud, and ,xt"
Aryaputra proceeds to the Land of the Forefathers without Gangeya's
pledge being confirmed by the Rajya Sabha, there 1S sure to be a

conflict among them and the party favouring Gangeya 1S Very
powerful. If your father had been alive, I would have begged of him
to restore Aryaputra to consciousness by his mantra-vidya. Some-
hp;v I felt that you, as his son, might have acquired his mantra-
vidya.

‘T am not sure whether T have,” replied Dvaipaayana modestly.
Then he added : ‘If the Gods want me to fulfil my mission, they
will help me to restore the health of the Emperor.’

‘T will call Prince Gangeya to take you to the noble Aryaputra’,
said the Empress.

” \N;hen Gangeya came, she told him that the ascetic, Dvaipaayana,
K.p-vi—
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was the son of the great Muni Paraashara, who lived for the Wil
and could work miracles. :

In her sweet way she added : ‘T called him back bcqau?.e I GO"tlld
see that he had had no food. Now why not let ’Dvalpaﬁlyaqa r;;
to restore the noble Aryaputra to health by his mantra-vidya
After all nothing is to be lost.’ :

Prince Gaﬁgeya, though he knew very well that no art Otf
healing could prolong his father’s life, complied with her rcquesE
as he did not want his step-mother to feel that her wishes were no
carried out. :

An attendant was asked by the Empress to take Dvaipaayand
down the steps leading to the river Gangaa. He purified himself b();
a bath, offered worship to the Sun God, and by chanting the sacre
mantra, Gayatri, invoked his assistance. )

. Though outwardly calm and self-possessed, Dvaipaayana was
intensely moved by the miraculous events that were happening :
the death of his father; his escape from the wolves and from the
Rakshasas; the way he came to learn the mantras for reviving the
dead from Maha Atharvan Jaabaali; his escape from the ashram
of Maha Atharvan; the strange manner in which he was led to his
mother; his opportunity to cure the Emperor; all of them culminat-
Ing in the possibility of restoring Dharmakshetra with the aid of
Hastinapur. He was overwhelmed by the blessings showered upon
him by the Gods.

When he was being taken to the room in which the Emperor
lay, Dvaipaayana silently invoked the help of his forbears—Paraas-
hara, Shakti, Vasistha; even of Bhrigu and Angiras, the seers,
whose heir was Maha Atharvan whom he had accepted as his guri;
also the God Surya, the Lord of light; above all, the Worbp to which
his life had been dedicated.

. He looked at his mother. Her face was full of hope. If he failed
—'Oh, Gods,” he muttered, ‘ber heart will be broken; her smile
Will vanish for ever.” He dared not fail, he felt: no, he would
n(}'lt]- (?harmakshetra had to be re-established; the Gods had so
willed.

With self-confidence, he stepped into the room, behind Prince

angeya, and followed by the Empress and the attendants.

. The old Srotriyas in the room were shocked at the intrusion of
this young upstart into what was their monopoly. How could this
youngster succeed where they, with years of austerity had failed?

Acharya Vibhuti, the royal preceptor, who sat on a deer-skin,
near the Emperor’s bed, wore a chain of gold, rings.on his fingers
and a silken scarf—the insignia of his office. An expert in mantra-
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vidya himself, he could not help looking contemptuously at the
young ascetic who claimed to perform miracles.

Dvaipaayana, with the materials brought by the attendants
prepared a small vedi near the Emperor’s bed. He lighted the
sacred fire, and made an offering to Agni, the Fire-God.

He took the ashes from the sacred fire and applied them to
\ the Emperor’s forehead, checks, chest and feet as he had seen

Maha Atharvan doing to Paila. ]

He began to chant the appropriate mantras, first from the
three-fold Worp and later from those which Maha Atharvan had
recited to revive Paila. Soon his melodious voice filled the air.

He invoked the God of Death, took the magic herbs from his
bag, mixed them with water and poured the mixture between the
lips of the Emperor.
~ As he went on chanting the mantras
intense faith, the atmosphere was transforme

a new refreshing warmth. :
Again he took the ashes from the sacred fire and applied them

to the Emperor and began to chant. Everyone stood transfixed, as
his voice filled the air and his eyes, fixed on the unconscious Emperor
gained an intensity as if flames were about to leap out of them any
moment.

The Empress saw this

his voice charged with
d. The sunshine gained

intensity in her son’s eyes and was re-

minded of the days when, at Kalpi, he used to stand on the bank of
the river and call upon his father to come—an invitation delivered
with a passionate earnestness capable a bringing his father from

wherever he was.

__All eyes were rivetted on him as his whole body became taut
as if he was gathering all his vitality and chapnel_lmg it through his
voice. Every one felt his eyes WeIc blazing with light, throwing out
rays of power, penetrating the body of the Emperor. ;

The chant went on and on..All the people in the room waited
breathlessly for a miracle. ..

The chant went on and on .. The Emperor’s €ycs began to
flutter. His breath became even. He appeared t0 ‘have lapsed into a
deep sleep.

: The next time when the mixture of the magi
into his mouth, the Emperor opened his eyes
Prince Gangeya. . . closed them again.

~ He again opened his eyes and fastened them on the Empress
in a glow of recognition for a moment, closed them and then fell

asleep.
When the chanting was over for the day, Dvaipaayana cere-

¢ herbs was poured
a little, looked at
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monially extinguished the sacred fire, took his staff ~and g‘?“rd’ ;
and blessing the Empress, Prince Gangeya and the Princes with a
silent gesture, left the room. The people who had heard about the
miracle and gathered outside the mansion, looked at the young
ascetic with amazement and reverence.

The young ascetic, himself drained of all vitality, and awe-
struck at the miracle which had happened, with head bowed and
humility in his heart, oblivious of the crowd, took the way to the
temple ground.



CHAPTER 11
GANGEYA’S VOWS

(N THE cighth day of the treatment, the Emperor Shantanu
was able to sit up, take interest in what was happening and talk,
though in a feeble voice.

In the afternoon, after the treatment for the day was over,
Dvaipaayana extinguished the sacred fire ceremonially and got
ready to leave for the temple. _

The Emperor lay on his bed of soft bear-skins; on the bed,
to his left, sat the Empress Satyavati, rubbing his arm slowly, her
face beaming with happiness at her husband’s recovery and pride
at what her son had achieved. .

Near the head of the bed stood two whisk-bearers, performing
their duties mechanically. .

On the right side of the patient’s bed sat Prince Gangeya,
his face no longer ridden with anxiety, Jooking at Dvaipaayana
with respect. He could never understand how }_ns fat_her had been
revived afte. all remedies had failed, and with his clarity of percep-
tion, saw that the young ascetic had an immense destiny before him.

Acharya Vibhuti, the old purohit, the royal preceptor, saf ncﬁ:t
to him, eyeing Dvaipaayana with distrust. He was shaken by the
miracle that had been wrought. He knew most of the mantras
which the young ascetic had chanted; he himself had a vast expeti-
ence of the mantra-vidya, but he had failed to do what the young

st
ranger had done. he Jeading Srotriya and was

He enjoyed a vast prestige as t
knov i “sing hostility towards those who held
i onishungOmprom WorD. His presence by the

that the Atharvana lore was part of the , I
bed-side of the ailing Empergr was part of his ,oﬁiclal duty; other-
wise he would have left the moment Dvaipaayana s treatment included
the chanting of mantras from the Atharvana lore and using the
magic saving herbs approved by it. g

The young Minister, Kunik, a very shrewd and ambitious man,
stood near the foot of the bed, calculating what influence Dvai-
paayana was likely to have over Hastinapur and how best he could
derive the maximum benefit from it. ¢

Before leaving the room, Dvaipaayana whispered to Prince
Gangeya to have the room cleared of the attendants. By a gesture,
Gangeya asked Kunik and the attendants to withdraw from the
room.

After the room was cleared, Dvaipaayana said to the Emperor :
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‘Best of Bharatas, the treatment will end tomorrow, lhf‘«l lmgﬂllogsy'
Then you will be able to walk a little and my services will 11 ser
i s hands in salutation and asked :

Shantanu silently folded hi on_and.
‘How may [ reward you, venerable Dvaipaayana ?’ His eyes were

full of gratitude. .
‘Agreward I’ exclaimed Dvaipaayana with a boyish laugh.
‘T would not know what to do with it, noble Emperor.” He added :
‘If T accepted it, my tapas would lose its efficacy and in my mouth
the mantras would lose their power. I have done nothing to deserve
any reward. The Lord of Light guided my footsteps to Hastinapur
and gave me power to cure you, as he does to many many
Srotriyas. . 3
As a sign from his father, Prince Gangeya bent down and
listened to what he wanted to tell him. Then he turned to qul-
paayana and said : ‘Father wants to know how he can help you in
what you seek.’ y
‘Best of Bharatas,” replied Dvaipaayana, ‘you have laid me
under a deep obligation. You have given me the confidence that the
God Surya, the Lord of Light, is with me in what I seek. T have only
one aim. in life : to revive the dharma of our forefathers.”
_ ‘Throughout his life, Father has helped dhiarma to his utmost,’
sald Gangeya.

The Emperor’s lips twitched into the semblance of a smile. He
made a gesture to indicate that he wanted to speak. Then, in a low
voice, he said : ‘Yet dharma is declining.’ : ’

Noble Emperor, it is no one’s fault. Sahasrarjuna was like an
311'3,0“51_1““8 wild fire. He destroyed everything that game in his
way’, §a1§l Dvalpaayana deliberately and as if chas ging every word
with significance. “In resisting him, the Aryas had to fight for their
very life; this you, noble Emperor, who took a leading part in the
war, know better than any one. Most of the ashrams were destroyed.
Homes were unsettled. Women, uprooted and unprotected, courted
death or becl:lamc the vistims of [ust. Righteous men retired into
.ﬂgiﬁuﬁ%’oﬁeﬁ_f‘““"’"‘ ordinances governing the life of the Aryas

“What is the way out ? askeq the Emperor. Hi howed

~ ‘Noble Empcrqr, the only way to save dharma—why, life itself
—is for Kshatra-tej, radiant valour, to be irrevogably allied with
Brahma-tej, radiant righteousness, as it was before the war,” said
Dvaipaayana.
Gangeya nodded his head to express his' agreement. ‘That is
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it about ?° .
“My father, Muni Paraashara, often said that dharma would
never flourish if the Srotriyas failed to lead an austere life and the
Kshatriyas failed to profess righteous living,’ -said Dvaipaayana;
. “‘What you say is_ perfectly true, venerable Dvaipaayana,’
said Gangeya, shaking his head. ‘The days of royal sages like Manu
and Vivasvan are gone.. The Kshatriyas do not understand the value
of tapas, much less live for it. They struggle for power. They
waste their life in revelry. They kill each other. They: laugh at
dharma.” . . . .
Gangeya put his hand of his father’s arm affectionately and
continued : ‘Father himself is puzzled. The Kshatriyas have lost
the art of righteous living. The rot has set in. I c{apnot see how it can

be halted.’ .
Dvajpaayana smiled indulgently. ‘It is in the hands of the
noble Emperor and in your hands, noble Gangeya, to halt the rot.
= T wish it was,” said Gangeya with a sigh. ‘Sometimes I myself
find it diffcult to live according to dharma.’ . . ,
‘Noble Prince, do not despair,’ said Dvaipaayana with a wisdom
far beyond his years. ‘Light is always born out of darkness; only .

: ather strength.’. .
when dharma is rampant d°es"’"“’”f“'rﬁ1. Father will, Iam sure, do

‘Let me know what we can perio 1 .
{lﬁs utmost,” said Gangeya. In spite of the difference 1 age, he felt
umble before this young ascetic. _ - - o
 “The way is simple. When you, I and hundreds of others were
inducted into Brahmacharya, we took the VOYIVS : o
« [ will remember good and forget evil.
1 ::i]ll ractise fai% dlsbel_lef.

so, venerable Dvaipaayana,” he said. ‘But what can we do to-bring

‘If “&e ]l)ceep to these vows,
way,’ sai vaipaayana.

His eyes, fgr .31' moment, were clouded. He added modestly:
‘Don’t think that I have been able to keep to my, vows as strictly
as I could wish; only I have not given up the effort.

He paused for a moment, silently gazed at the mellow sun-
shine which flooded the room through the windows and the doors
and recited the Gayatri to himself, seeking the guidance of his guar-
dian.god, the God Surya. -

Then he added : ‘In spite of failures, my faith has never wavered;
the pledge which my father, the venerable Muni Paraashara, took
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cannot remain unredeemed.’ With these words, he recaptured
his self-confidence. )

When Muni Paraashara’s name was mentioned, the EmpIess
blushed. Continuing to rub her husband’s arm, she asked in 2 quiet,
melodious voice: “What was the exact pledge which the venerable
Muni took ?” Then turning to the Emperor, she said : ‘The noble
Aryaputra already knows that it was the blessing of Mum, Paraa-
shara which brought me the happiness of being his spouse.

Dvaipaayana was no longer hesitant. He spoke firmly,
decisively : ‘My father pledged that he would restore Dharma-
kshetra as the source of living by dharma. I am only seeking
its fulfilment.’ i , o

‘The Field of Wolves is a jungle infested by wild beasts,” satd
Gangeya.

_ Dvaipaayana 'smik_:d and asked : ‘Well do I know it, noble
Prince. Ingompany with my friend, Paila, I spent a night there before
I started for Hastinapur. Wolves, bears and other wild beasts live
there: so do the Rakshasas. We would have been killed by the
Rakshasas if the God Surya, the Lord of Light, had not sent a
venefabl_e Muni to our rescue.’ . ¢

1 It is easy to destory the beasts and clear the forest, but the

place is accursed; the ghosts of countless warriors who died there
foam across it; men cannot live in such a spot’, said Gangeya. f
I 'am going to live there,’ said Dvaipaaya;n witl - ile. ‘An
als}wm will flourish wherever the Srotriyas obs‘erv:: :ha Slg:vs' that
they have taken.” After a ; ) OV
dharma cannot be revivedpiﬂigéshfhgog:‘g}ﬁig ; ‘Noble C;ange.\;a,_
are wedded; if they are not, the rj h a-te] and Kshatra-1€j
2 ; ’, teous 7
CavesRand the unrighteous will sinkginto bea:glsl’hwe to, reticg
‘Remember, Father has done his best to i - -a-1ej
the radiance of valour,” said Gangeya with asgdr:::ﬂe i:l;hiﬂlafé?;
he found nc true response in others.’ Sl
. Ttis our fault, noble Prince—the fault of : i
1“13 ({{:arma’, said Dvaipaayana, ‘Only when Wedllilvgrul;f t‘;hr?]:i]ig:
¢ have taken, even at the cost of oup Ij : :
be stirred, not otherwise.’ ut lives, will the hearts of men
Gangeya was lost in thought. He f, i
; : . -ougat, elt that tl ascetic
was Kmntentlona[ly administering a rebuke to hi]i‘fl N
s if he had read Gangeya’s mind. Dvaj ' ; i
fri : ; , Dvaipaayana smiled 11 a
: raise for you, a in
which you keep your VOws.’ 2 - 2 nd for the way
The Emperor, casting an affectionate glance at Gangeya, said
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in a low voice. ‘Gangeya never deviates from the path of righteous-
ness.’

_‘Noble Emperor, to take a vow and fulfil it oneself is very
praiseworthy indeed, but it is altogether another and harder task
to bring men to the path of righteousness,’ said Dvaipaayana.

‘I understand what you mean,’ said Gangeya. ‘I try to lead a
righteous life myself, but I confess, I have not been able to change
men’s hearts.’

‘Noble Gangeya, you are older than I in years and have better
experience of men. Forgive me if I venture to make a suggestion.
Ll_vmg the life of tapas by onself is great, but greater is the power to
stir the hearts of men’, said Dvaipaayana.

“That is true, too’, said Gangeya, speaking slowly as if he was
talking to himself. “What oppresses me day and night is that the

strict life that I lead is misunderstood by others.” "
e Gangeya’. said Dvaipaayana.

‘You are true to your vows, nobl _ vaip
‘But the flame of your noble resolve has not lighted faith in many
men. If the impression I have gathered is correct, the Kuru chiefs
shudder at the prospect of being deprived of your ]eadershlp.’

Gangeya understood what Dvaipaayana was suggesting. He
looked down for a moment, shook his head and with a solemn air,

confessed. ‘T was wrong in thinking that the matter was between
: : People, T know, will talk.

me, my noble Father and my mother.
All kinds of motives are attributed to me or to Mother, though she
has treated me as if I was her son.” ) L alled
‘Nothing will be said if you see that Chitrangada is installe

as Yuvaraj immediately,” said Dvaipaayana. .

i Shantanu said : ‘I am seriously Iiertg[rb?‘dthaeboffm f\‘;}t]l;ltrsEhe
Kuru chi i o to the Land o orefathers.
chichs will donplien & ‘You are right. The Kuru chiefs

Gangeya, in a low voice, said :
are looking forward to a war between those who want me to

succeed and those who think that Chitrangada should succeed.

Hastinapur will meet with disaster.’ _ o e
‘Find out the way to allay their anxiety yourself,” said the

Emperor.
‘If Father permits, the Rajya Sabha may be convened the day
talled as Yuvaraj. 1

after tomorrow and Chitrangada can be ins ;
will not only declare my pledges before the assembled chiefs. but

will also declare my decision that I will uphold the throne of the
Bharatas, whatever it may cost, and whoever is the ruler of Hastina-
pur

£

i Dvaipaayana said : ‘The noble Gangeya is right. Then he will
become the flaming sword of dharma.’
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‘Call the Rajya Sabha before Dvaipaayand leaves us,” said
Shantanu. -

‘I cannot stay here any longer- T have decided to leave Hastina-
pur in three days’ time,” said Dvaipaayand. )

‘If Father so commands,” said Gangeya, the Rajya Sabha can
be convened for the day after tomorrow- By then, as the venerable
son of Paraashara says, Father will be able to walk a little.’



CHAPTER 12
THE RAJYA SABHA

THE news that the Emperor had revived and was able to talk
spread like wild fire in Hastinapur. People rushed to the royai
manSion to receive a darshan from the young ascetic who had
worked the miracle. ‘

~ Crowds also gathered in the temple of Pratipeshwar to secure
his blessing. Among the crowd were the ailing and the maimed,
who piteously appealed to the young ascetic to cure their afflic-
tions. He responded to their greetings and wails with his beyish
smile and blesssd everybody by raising his right hand. Wt

So great was the growd that, when he reached the visitors®
grove in the temple grounds, the Minister, Kunik and the royal
attendants had a hard time to see that a way was made for him to
the place where he was to eat at night. ;

Dvaipaayana went to the river, performed the evening sandhya,
worshipped Pratipeshwar, and returned to j:he grove.

During the treatment that he was giving to the Emperor, he
took his meal only once in the evening after returning to the grove.
By now, the Minister Kunik, who was 1n charge, of looking after
Dvaipaayana, had come to know what the guest’s meal wasdhtlﬁa.
The young ascetic took his food only after he had. served the
children who, attracted by the food, gathered there 11 increasing
numbers everyday. ]

There wis great excitement in Hastinapur when the
mandate“\_?‘?ﬁgﬁg;ﬁ‘;ﬁ‘fgh; Emperor, the Best of Bharatas, an;oufm}:le_s

to his beloved people of Hastinapur that he 1s practically cured of his

HAe: 1 the grace of the Great God Pratipeshwar, he will

“Tomorow, witl
A from the terrace. ;
be able to give his darshan to the people iro e e he Rajya Sabha the

“The Best of Bharatas has decided 1O C ; AE
day aftcrclomorrow, six ghatikas after sunrisc, when tlhe I}‘i?lgi;{u}f?ra]
Gangeya will announce the vows he has taken to re m'ql'ing Y0 ice.
Prince Chitrangada—may he live long— will then be insta cl as Yuvaraj.

“The venerable Dvaipaayana, the Best of Ascetics, Whosc mantra-
vidya gave life to the noble Emperor, will also attend the Rajya Sabha.”
The announcement came as a thunderbolt to many of the Kuru

chiefs who wanted Yuvaraj Gangeya to -succeed the Emperor.
Several of them were working to this and, notwithstanding the
rumour that Prince Gangeya had pledged himself not to accept
the throne. They attributed this installation of the Yuvaraj to the

manoeuvres of the Empress Satyavati.

royal
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; i d in political

eople, however, were not intereste
intri;}::cs gﬁl&n&gepjugﬂant that the Emperor, whom they loved,
was well again. All that they wanted was the blessing of the young
ascetic. 1 ]
i of the treatment, when it was ended, Dvai-
Paaygr?atﬁeenf 1;1t%fnag to the Emperor, who, with trembling legs,

: ch and walked a few paces.

stepped down from his cou :

On the tenth day, after .the treatment, the Rajya Sabha met
in the morning. The leading Srotriyas, the Kuru chiefs and others
entitled to attend the Rajya Sabha, gathered in an atmosphere of
unea’sv{f}fgfﬁf‘%riberor was brought on a couch intq the hall, the
members of the assembly rushed forward to touch his feet.

After the Purohit (the royal preceptor), Acharya Vibhuti and
the leading Srotriyas had blessed the Rajya Sabha, Gangeya, hand-
some and dignified, addressed the assembly in his characteristic
way, quietly but firmly.

‘The noble Emperor, the Best of Bharatas, my revered father,
is on the way to 1ecovery. May the Gods grant him a long life.

‘I took certain vows many years ago when my worship-worthy
Father married the noble Empress Satyavati. In the absence of an
authoritative announcement, all kinds of rumours have been
current. This Rajya Sabha has been convened to enable me to tell
You what the truth is. ’

s H‘I ?ave ple,dged myself neither to marry nor to claim the throne
astinapur. ]

The assembly hez&rd Gangeya in breathless silence. After a
pause, he continued : ‘I have further pledged myself to stand by

the throne of Hastinapur as long as T live,

‘T am deeply touched by the wish so often expressed by the
leading Kuru chiefs that I should succeed to the throne of the
Bharatas. That I cannot do.

‘The noble Emperor, at my request, has decided to install my
beloved brother Chitrangada as Yuvaraj of Hastinapur in my place.
No one need feel perturbed !’

The majority of the members of the assembly were moved,
some even to tears, but after a little while, they burst out into wild
applause : “Jaya Gangeya.”

Some chiefs however, were disappointed and almost angry
because they felt that they had been slighted. It was all the work of
the Empress. They were afraid that the power of Hastinapur would
disappear under the leadership of a boy, but Prince Gangeya felt
no room for doubt.
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He continued : ‘I warnt you to accept the decisi
of Bharatas; his wish is the mandate of t!I:e Gods; éﬂ%%t%rﬁ%ir??t
me by asking me to g0 back on my vows. I appeal to you to give tlfs
allegiance and loyalty which you have been giving me to Yuvarat?
Chitrangada without a murmur of dissent. I have promised tth:
Best of Bharatas that I will always stand by Hastinapur and its ruler
and with the blessing of the Great Gods, the power of Ha.stinapuf
will never decline so long as I am alive.’

The Purohit, Acharya Vibhuti, took over. Chitrangada was
ceremonially installed as Yuvaraj before the sacred fire. The
Emperor, lying on his bed, blessed him and placed the crown of

the Yuvaraj on his head.
Dvaipaayana sat quietly,
on his lips. He murmured to himself :
for bringing me here. Now the power o
dharma and Mother will be happy.”
the couch on which the

When the Rajya Sabha was oOVer,
Emperor was lying was taken out by the attendants, attended by

Gangeya, Chitrangada and Vichitraveerya.
As the assembly dispersed, many people came to touch the feet

ﬁf Dvaipaayana. The old Srotriyas also came to him and blessed
im.

his eyes unflickering, a half-smile
‘Lord of Light, I thank you
f Hastinapur will stabilise

Ity that Kunik could get the assembly
to make way for Dvaipaayand. The young ascetic eft for the temple

grounds, followed by the crowd. )
The Empress had invited Dve yana for a meal in the Icoyal
mansion, but he had courteously declined. He had replied : ‘The
children will be waiting for me in the mango-grove of the temple
to share my meal. I cannot disappoint them.

Tt was with some difficu



CHAPTER 13
“HERE IS THAT SON’’

IN THE afternoon,‘ Dvaipaayana visited the royal mansion (0
bid gocdbye. When he came to meet the Emperor, Gangeya
was in his usual seat, with his hand on his father’s arm. On the
bed, on the 1e€t, S?}‘ieileo]in;};;‘esss-t’fhe royal preceptor, Acharya
Vibhuti, was also eat.

As soon as Dvaipaayana entered the room, Gangeya asked the
Minister, Kunik and the attendants to withdraw.

After a formag exchan‘ge of salutauoqs, Gangeya again put his
hand on his father’s arm. “Venerable Dvaipaayana, you are leaving
tomorrow. Father, Mother and myself have discussed what you
referred to the day before yesterday. Father is right. We must do
so}Tethlng to d1scl}llai‘ge the debt we owe you. Tell us, please, i
what way we can help you.

_d‘g[y first intention is to found an ashram in Dharmakshetra,’
said Dvaipaayana.
“We here can order all preparations to be made,’ sajd G
‘ ’ . . P : ] angeya.
Not now,” said Dvaipaayana. ‘T am going to the as!zran}gs on
the banks of the Yamuna where my father’s disciples are waiting
for me. 1 will assemble them and go to Dharmakshetra ’ &
. Did your father, g}}c venerable Muni, leave diSc.iples .
i o Xomus el e
: ; ut them,” said th ¢
venerable Muni’s ashram was destroyed byesgﬁlﬁes.s- When the
his disciples were massacred. The senjor disciples wchrjuna, most of
escape founded tiny ashrams on the banks of the ek al?l%to
spoke slowly and hesitantly, looking down all the ﬁn?:luna. She

Gangeya turned to Dvaipaayana and as i 30

father escape the holocaust ?° ked : ‘How did your

‘He happened to be absent when Sahasrariiimn.

burnt dOWan]fis ashram. So he esgaped bg}_";gi’ﬁggﬂ%rca]me anc}
tinued to visit the ashrams of his disciples year after ec ?_wnhconr
grew up, he also took me with him. During his jog]- X cnhc
Inspired the ashrams to keep alive the discipline of riglltneymgs‘:.
the worship of the Gods and reverence for the WORD efus l“"Png’
iol ﬁ’;sn these ashrams and find out how many of the Twice ﬁiﬂf sofar%
villi ' ishi am i 2
said%v;?p ;;};;n?e in establishing an ashram in Dharmakshetra,

‘Why go to the accursed place 2’ asked Gangeya, ‘We can
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find a vast area on the banks of the Gangaa where you can found
an ashram of your own.’

Dvaipaayana shook his head. fThe ashrams on the banks of
the Gangaa do not accept Father’s discipline of righteous living.’

Acharya Vibhuti felt the remark a personal affront, as he was
recognised as the patriarch of these ashrams. He was going to say
something in their defence, but restrained himself.

Dvaipaayana continued : ‘If righteous living is to be saved,
we must re-build Dharmakshetra as a source of dharma on the sure
foundation of lives dedicated tothe WORD.’

»  Acharya Vibhuti’s face was flushed with annoyance; this young
ascetic was impertinent. .

“Well, the choice is yours’, said Gangeya. ‘] will send hunters
and foresters to destory the wild beasts and clear the jungle.

“What more would you like us to do ?° asked the Emperor.

Dvaipaayana thought for a while, his eyes clouded for a
moment. Then he looked up and addressed the Emperor: ‘Best of
Bharatas, with the might of the Kurus, you dealt a final blow to the
Haihaya hordes. That is Why ‘he Field of Wolves is rightly called

“K‘l]l"llkshelra”.’

_ Dvaipaayana W
his gaze on the grou
Lord of Light. Then be spoke :
conqueror; he has been accepted by many
Yet, out of modesty, the Best of Bhagatas
the great sacrificial ccremonials—Vairpeya,
which he was entitled t0 perform.

Dvaipaayana was again silent for a few moments. All those
sitting there looked at him expectantly. it

‘Noble Emperor’, he said, ‘the WORD gave you life; it was a
sign from the God Surya that Dharmakshetra would be redeemed
by you. It is only proper that you should p?rform one of the great
sacrificial ceremonials at Dharmakshetra. _

Acharya Vibhuti could not remain silent any longer. Dvai-
paayana, he felt was casting his net very wide. ‘How can the noble,
Emperor, in his present condition, travel to the F}eld of Wolves ?
he asked.
__‘Vajpeya, as the venerable Acharaya knows, can be concluded
in 17 days. It does not occupy months and years like the other
Qlabora‘ge ceremonials. The noble Emperor can travel by stages;
there will be no strain on his health. If he wants, I will accompany
him,” said Dvaipaayana.

as silent for a few moments. He again fixed
nd as if he was seeking inspiration from the
“The noble Emperor has been a
kings as the Chakravarti.
has not performed one of
Rajasuya or Aswamedha,
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‘It is a grave risk which I, as the Purohit, would not like the
Emperor to run,’ said Acharya Vibhuti.
__ “Nevertheless, I feel sure that the Lord of Light gave back his
life to the noble Emperor in order that he should celebrate a great
sacrifice at Dharmakshetra. With the noble Emperor as sacrificer
all the Kuru chiefs will be there; the rulers who acknowledge hirn’
as Chakravarti, will also attend, and also other royal guests. The
Srotriyas, I am sure, will come in their hundreds, and T should not
be surprised, if after the Vajpeya is over, some of the leading
Srotriyas deside to have their ashrams there. Once again Bm!u:;m?
;féa‘j;;léabe wedded to the radiant valour of the Kurus,” sajd Dvai-
Thc- Emperor turned his eyes towards hi St ol
wishe; of the venerable I!)vaipaayana must b: ?Slrilil?elgl, said : ‘The
~ ‘As Father commands,” replied Gangeya. ‘I will at
the Minister Kunik to send hunters aﬁd)’ fo:e?tm at. once depute
of Wol . : ers to the Field
Jolves to clear it of wild beasts and remove the jungl t}
Kunik will come with you, venerable Dvaipaa Jungle growth.
Drepa{tations for the Vajpeya.’ paayana, and make
_ ‘I must now beg to take le : ,
said Dvaipaayana. ‘i.s I told ioiecivﬁtc’f b noble Gangeya,
disciples and bring them with P ave to assemble my father’s
Paraas me. Perhaps I can induce ] le
aashara gofra to assemble in Dharmakshet e who
O It as early as possible because T shetra. I should like to
four days before the full mo?r? save qonsult.edt
most auspicious time to begin th cc;m,es to Chitra
The E : € Vajpeya.
, mperor turned to the Purohit, Ach i
a‘;r’?miable Acharya, -please make thi’ngg ?gggyv?hmi, and said :
arly as you can.’ or the Vajpeya
... The Purohit said in deliberate tones - oy
will, please, forgive me. I am getting old,
I Garll)not_ take this responsibility.’ §
"% vaipaayana turned to th O lTE Nz :
Venerable Acharya, you are the ﬂ?tas}t)fe” szfft and said r
%ﬂ the banks of the Gangaa look to yi,ﬁ fg;ew
mpe e u
ritug]irs?.l" holds the Vajpeya, you must be the ng1
‘Noble Emperor, with th
: ) e : :
of Ascetics has about the aj,!H,aI??UtSpoken VIEWS which the Best

S 0 it i
useless to ask me to preside ove e Pojpomks of Gangaa, it is

! ¢ 1 rt / ’ sai
without replying directly to Dvaipa};;arrlfgjpeya’ o P

‘I beg you to forgive me i
; _ Y > if I offended you, Vener ;
said Dvaipaayana, folding his hands in apoliogy. ‘gﬁatl ‘}1?1[;\%‘:1]11\&’1;(}1%1

‘The Best of Bharatas
My health js very a;gor-

espectfully :

};:lance. If the noble
danhvaryu, the leading

ORD. The Srotriyas
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some of them with my venerable father and know that they are not
particular about maintaining the vows strictly.’

_‘Dvaipaayana, I have not the power of the WORD as you have,’
said the Acharya and shook his head. ‘It is difficult for me to be the
head ritualist at a ceremonial where the Chaturved, the four-fold
WORD, is recited. My life has been dedicated to Trayi-Vidya, the
three-fold WORD. Please do not press me to join the Vajpeya.’

Dvaipaayana was silent for a few moments. Then he looked
appealingly at the Acharya. “Venerable Srotriya, is there no way
to settle this ancient feud? Has not the divine WURD enjoined that
knowledge should be welcome from whatever source it comes 7’

The Emperor put up his feeble hand to indicate that he wanted
to speak. Looking at the Purohit, he said : ‘The venerable Dvai-
paayana has given me life. Yesterday’s Rajya Sabha was also
successful because .of his advice. We must all carry out his
wishes.’ s

The Acharya said : “The noble Emperor IS right. We must do
what the Best of Sages, Dvaipaayana, suggests, but let me ’not take
part in it. I cannot destroy the faith in which I have lived.” Behind
the apologetic air of the Acharya, affronted dignity could be dis-

cerned. _ :
Gangeya turned to the Acharya and said earnestly : “Best of

Acharyas, the Great God has given you an opportunity to settle this

feud between the leading Srotriyas. Acharya, shaking

Ty ; .t is 2 matter of faith,’ said the 3
Itis not a feud;1t1s hat the WORD is only

his head. ‘Honestly, sincerely, I believe t
T ?‘ay:'-Vr‘dwftthree-iyold. How can I accept the Atharvana lore as

art of it 7 o ; j 3
5 DV:ltii:;aayana found himself in a great'dlfﬁculty. hHe lsgu};led. I
do not want to bring the feud 1nto the Vajpeya. It ?{ ou : e Il:a]v;r}
formed Wit the noble Acharya VIOH 58, Uil
Itualist) i ay he approves of. T ¢ : abl

Cl'la_[';{g)t 1Ir51 ;];‘3 f\:;l?k.l Hepﬂ only doing what my v_cn_erablle gé eﬁt:
grandfather, Mahamuni Vasistha, would have hearttlyq apE aude 1

The Acharya shook his head and looked at the Empurorv}}un
appealing eyes. ‘Noble Emperor, [ am an old man Ilow.1 en
Dvaipaayana performed the miracle, I immediately saw that my
time as Purohit of the Kurus had gome to an end. A younger man
—perhaps the Best of Ascetics, Dvaipaayand himself—would be a

Suitable successor.’

Dvaipaayana interrupted in humility. “Venerable Acharya,
I do not accept favour or office. If 1 did, T could never serve the
WORD in the way T wish.’
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The Empress Satyavati was following the discussion very care-

she lifted the end of the scarf, which covered her
F:};g %?S—il t;,:'::lg e)ir-::s flashing with anger, her face glowing red like
burnished copper, she spoke in clear, decisive acsents : “Aryapulra,
_excuse me if I interrupt the conversation. T am a woman; I do not
feel competent to speak on the differences between the three-fold
WORD and the four-fold WORD.”

All the people sitting there, including the Emperor, were Sul-
prised at the way the Empress was speaking with angry eyes and in
a vibrant voice. The Emperor sat up in his bed.

‘Whatever the differences are between the Srotriyas, 1 will tell
you what I am going to do,’ said the Empress. Then she continued
defiantly: ‘Neither I nor my sons will attend any sacrificial sessions
from which Dvaipaayana is excluded. Vajpeya or no Vajpeya, I am
going to Kurukshetra myself to see that Dvaipaayana’s ashram
is founded there.’ ;

She paused. Her eyes still glowing with anger, she added :
‘T will see that the pledge of the venerable Muni ....’> she stopped,

she could not utter the name, °. ... is redeemed.’

Every one was amazed. Nobody, not even the Emperor, had
thought that the ever-smiling, ever-calm Empress was capable
of exhibiting such anger.

. The Empress turned to Acharya Vibhuti. ‘Venerable Acharya,
since I came to Hastinapur, you have been my guru. Youhave stood
loyally by Aryaputra. 1 have a profound respect for your learning
but everything will be done as the Aryaputra wishes Iy = ea}'l tac;
be the Adhvaryu, the leading ritualist, at the Vajp;g e;\pecF }Oumﬁ
is tcilged and would now like to take a rest. You c};:{ G(ﬁgi_ﬁ{uthe.
at:;a tl}rlleg ﬁigaf‘yr;;of Hastinapur.” With irresistible dignity, she looked

Dvaipaayana was carried
for his mother.
The Acharya bowed low, blessed them silently and left.

The atmosphere was so tense that Dvaipaa
= ane ave.
He stood up, picked up the gourd in his Iefrlilarfd na -I'.Osc ol

He was on the point of extending his ri
Emperor and the Empress. . . . § 13 Tight hand to bless e

Before he could do so, the
gesture, stopped him from blessin

‘Not in that way,” she said, p
hand. ‘Krishna, you have been bl
day by extending your arm. T will
lack of respect.’

away by a giant wave of adoration

Empress, with a commanding
g the Emperor and herself.

ointing at Dvaipaayana’s right
essing Aryaputra and me every
no longer be a party to such a

77
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Even the Emperor opened his eyes wide. He could not under-
stand the significance of this strange explosion.

‘Noble Aryaputra,’ she addressed the Emperor in a soft, gentle
and affectionate voice, ‘Before we married, I told you that I had
had a son, who was taken away by his father.” She pointed a

finger at Dvaipaayana and said :

‘HERE IS THAT SON.’ )
The Emperor looked at her, then at Dvaipaayand and felt that

the Empress was going mad. N
‘Krishna, fall at the feet of the Emperor, he is in the place of
your venerable father—a god to you,’ she said.



CHAPTER 14
AN UNEXPECTED ALLY

. a ‘he
inister, Kunik, Dvaipaayana came to L
Plf;;;[fe bgyrc;[irlg ?gbe received by a crowd of worshippers craving
for his blessing or a cure for their ailments. ] . o
After the evening ritual was over, Dvalpa_aya_ma, as udtc;
had his meal after he had blessed the ailing and distributed foo i
the children. When the c¢rowd was pqrsuadecl to disperse by ¢
attendants, he asked Kunik to show him the way to the house 0
Achaz{s.jt{f‘cf é}lﬁggclling through a maze of narrow lanes, they camt?dto
the royal Purohit’s residence. It had large grounds; on one Sid¢,
there was a pen with about a dozen cows, some of which were being
milked by the women of the household ; from an annexe on the other
side came the voice of the disciples, chanting the mantras. In the
middle of tke court-yard, in front of the house, was a vedi for the
sacred fire. .
At this time Acharya Vibhuti was sitting holding a consultation
on a side verandah, with Brahmistha, his 90 year-old father, a
shrunken old figure with faded eyes, his right arm shaking with
palsy, three elderly Srotriyas who shared, with Acharya Vibhuti,

the leadership of the ashrams on the banks of the Gangaa and two0
middle-aged is, both hi i

rituals of Trayi Vidya. All of them, except Brahmistha, wore dhotis

of silk and had gold armlets, insignia of their h;
State.

They were taken aback when Kunik came to the yerandah and
announced the arrival of Dvaipaayana—the very person whose
action they were discussing.

After Dvaipaayana had touched the feet of all the Srotriyas,
Acharya Vibhuti said : ‘Son of Paraashara, be seated,” and pointed
10 a seat next to his sons and added : ‘We did not expect you.’
Vibbuti’s voice by no means warm or pleasant, regjstered the
annoyance which they all felt at his visit. :

Dvaipaayana did not take the seat pointed out py Vibhuti,

but sat in front of him as a disciple would. Worshipful Acha1ya,
I'myself felt that after what happened today, isi

Strange,” he said. He then paused and added : ¢

that Worqhipful Acharya would not turn out a Srotriya who has
¢ome to his house in humility to beg a favour.’

My doors are always open to a Srotriya,’ said Vibhuti loftily;
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his attitude was scarcely consistent with the words he spoke.

‘Best of Acharyas, I have come to beg of you to prescribe for
me the expiatory ritual for baving cast a slur on the askrams on
the banks of the Gangaa,’ said Dvaipaayana.

‘Vibhuti tells me that you are the son of Muni Paraashara.
I remember him as a young boy,’ said old Brahmistha, roofing his
eyes with the palm of his hand to see Dvaipaayana’s face clearly.
He added : ‘I was then in the ashram of the venerable Maha Muni
Vasistha.’

Vibhuti stiffened. He asked : ‘What is the point of asking me
to prescribe the expiation ? If you think that you have committed
a sin, the canons which you know will indicate to you the appro-
priate ritual.’ g .

_ ‘Because I feel that you have not forgiven me,’ sa:c_l Dvaipaayana
with his boyish smile which, though always so irresistible, created
No impression. ; : ]

“What does it matter whether I have forgiven you or not ?
asked Vibhuti rudely. .

‘It matters to me, Worshipful. If my apology had been sincere,
you would have forgiven me. Why should I expect perfection in
others when I am imperfect myself ?’ asked Dvalpaayan‘z’z’ and
added : “Will you permit me, Worshipful, to make a reqpcs't o

Vibhuti lost patience and with lLali'Sh cmphas:.l,(cs?:c’i : ‘If the
request relates to Vajpeya, 1 reject it before you maxe it. .

‘Why not listen{r% me 7" asked Dvaipaayana. ‘“The Gods listen

to the prayers even of sinners.’

Thg fa{:e of all the persons sitting there, except that of the old
Brahmistha, bore a smile of contempt. The old man, ho’\:s.fevcii
cupped his ear in his hand to catch words of Dva;paayang s, an
by a gesture, indicated that Dvaipaayana should C{Jmcceoﬁ ek

__“All right, say what you want to in as few words as ):‘ . oui
said Vibhuti. He suppressed a desire to turn this young asucolu]d )
and resigned himself to go through this ordeal as best he ¢ e

~ “Worshipful, as T said, I want to expiate the offence pe
given you,’ said Dvaipaayana. He waited for some reﬁ?ﬁ{lse rom
Vibhuti, but none was forthcoming. Then he resumed : V¥ prayer
to the Worshipful Acharya is that he may be pleased t0 leave me
out of the Vajpeya.’

‘....and invite t mpress,” com
Vibhutivita Sneer.he wrath of the Emp | ;

‘The noble Empress will not, I am sure, be angry, if she istold
that being guilty of an offensive remark, I am not fit to take partin

the Vajpeya,’ said Dvaipaayana.

mented Acharya



86 - KRISHNAVATARA-VI

‘Have you studied the Trayi Vidya ?” asked the old Brahmistha
in his husky voige. ] . .

“Yes, Worshipful Sir,” replied Dvaipaayana, with his hands
joined.

‘Under whom did you study it ?° :

‘Under my father, the venerable Muni Paraashara.’

‘Do you know how to conduct the Vajpeya 7

‘I have conducted Soma Yaga', but not a Vajpeya,’ replied
Dvaipaayana. :

Acharya Vibhuti intervened sarcastically. “Whether you are or
not competent to conduct the Vajpeya makes no difference. I am
not going to be associated with it.’ ;

Dvaipaayana looked down for a while and then said : ‘Best
of Acharyas, I want you to show me a way out of the situation
which I have foolishly created. I want to eliminate myself from the
Vajpeya.”

Vibhuti was now angry and interrupted : ‘You can do what
you like. We have decided what I should do. I will give up the office
ot} Purohit of the Kurus and renounce the world by taking sanya-
stha.’

_ ‘Please don’t think of that,’ said Dvaipaayana with his palms
joined. “The Emperor has decided to celebrate the Vajpeya, and you
alonev_cbaﬁl Galill'y out the decision.’

1bhuti shook his bead. ‘You want the Emperor a €ss

both to think that somehow I tricked you out gf the ;%;?ﬁrm

my age, I do not want to be classed as an intriguer,” he said firmly-

. Dvaipaayana looked appealingly at Vibhuti. ‘They will never
think that. They will understand why I have desisted.’

H‘l know them better than you do, young man,’ said Vibhuti
curtly.

‘May T be permitted to tell you what prompted me to suggest
holding the Vajpeya 7 asked Dvaipaayana.

_ Vibhuti shook his head, but his old father, Acharya Brab-
mistha, intervened : “You may.” He was attentively listening 1O
the conversation with his hand cupped to his right ear.

“Worshipful Sir, my father, the venerable Paraashara, was very
clear about the situation,” said Dyvaipaayana. ‘The fate of dharma
is in the balance. The Srotriyas, its guardians, are divided in faith

and discipline. The ashrams, for want of co-ordination, are 10sing
their influence. If they do, the Gods will forsake us; the sanctity of
the WORD will disappear; dharma will collapse. Every effort,
therefore, should be made to save it.” The apostolic fervour with
1. Sacrificial ceremonies which can be finished in a day.

A
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which his father talked on this subject was reflected i :
voice, face and demeanour. ; gl in hus lown

‘Don’t blame the Srotriyas for this,” said Devayaana, one of
the elderly Acharyas present. ‘They are doing their best.”

‘Are they ?” asked old Brahmistha.

“They are,’ said Devayaana. ‘Like all young men, you cannot
approve of the work which your elders have done. They had a
hard time building up the ashrams during the confusion that followed
the war, at great risk to themselves, and without any support.’

Acharya Vibhuti sat in sullen silenge. He did not care to
prolong this conversation with the young ascetic who appeared to
be an adept in discussions, but he could not stop the elderly
Srotriyas nor his father from carrying on the conversation.

“Worshipful Sir, have the Srotriyas of today the same zeal to
maintain the Eternal Ordinances of the WORD—to live in Brahma-
charya, dedicated to the WORD, or to enter upon Grahastha-
sramam, to build up righteous living in the family, and maintain
the sanctity of marriage ?’ asked Dvaipaayana.

“You were not born when Sahasrarjuna’s war shook the very
roots of righteous living,” replied Devayaana.

“That is true, Worshipful. But how can we strengthen them
except by enriching the soil in which they are embedded ?* asked
Dvaipa a. : : :

ﬁyaga;iture, the old Acharya, Brahmistha, prevented Vibhuti
from ending the conversation. ‘How do you propose to strengthen

2 he = A
i I%O(;[: y'e.;.es: ;lsl]éegears, my venerable father discussed the problgm;
the solution, he found, was that a new race of Srotriyas must be
reared with 2 fresh zest to live in dfmrmg; said Dvaipaayana.
e S (T words,’ Vibhuti commented. He wanted to
Gt Short tilc discussion, but his old fathcir, Brahmistha, again
held up a hand : “How would you do that ?l-lfw aglied- rigorous
“We must lead back the Srotriyas 10 2 lﬁ1§15eaf{1{g’sr‘£%?‘f}-’as,

s apdptterseg R faith in the WORD;
self-discipline; give them 4 those whom, they want to

: Vaishyas an :
the Kshatriyas and the Vaishy world,” replied Dvalpaayana.

uplift, with the faith to greate a new Worl ! 18-

p What is the way to achieve their aims 9 Tell me in detail,
said the old Acharya Brahmistha. : 3

The faces of Vibhuti and the Srotriyas registered annoyance

at the old man’s persistence, but there was no way to stop him once
he was interested in a subject. )
ana, ‘that the Vajpeya, sponsored

‘I had hoped’, said Dvaipaay :
by the noble Emperor and p%rformed under the leadership of the
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Worshipful Acharya Vibhuti, would restore Dharmakshetra as
the centre from which the stream of dharma would flow; the heart
of every Srotriya—why, every man and woman,—would be stirred;
the kshatra-tej of the Kurus would be harnessed to ‘the brahma-tej
of the Srotriyas under the leadership of the worsh!pfl.}[ Acharya.

“You are still a boy,” said Acharya Devayaana impatiently.
‘The present outlook of the Srotriyas has little need of change.’

‘I suppose, in your scheme of things,” said Vibhuti with a
sneer, ‘the new vitality will come only by a leading Atharvan being
associated with me in the performance of the Vajpeya.’

“Young man,’ he continued with withering contempt, do not
let your fancy run away with you. If I attend 2 ceremonial with
which a leading Atharvan is associated, dharma will be in chaos.
He shifted his position as if to rise.

Dvaipaayana, by a respectful gesture, requested the Acharya
to remain seated. ‘If you and a leading Atharvan come together

as the head ritualists, a new enthusiasm and a new tradition will
be created.

‘Let us not indulge in idle speculation,” said Acharya Vibhuti
contemptuously and held out his hand to his father to enable the
latter to rise.

“What do you know of the Atharvana lore 2’
Persisted ignoring Vibhuti’s hand.

‘T hope to study the whole lore after the Vajpeya, as soon as
I have a gury qualified to teach me,’ replied Dvaipaayana.

. ‘I will never be a party to the Atharvana lore being included
In the WORD),’ interrupted Vibhuti. ‘Never, never, never.’ he Ie-
Peated with emphasis. Then with a sneer, he shifted his sgarf from
one shoulder to the other and again held out his hand (o enable
his father to rise from his seat. ]

As a crushing blow, he added : ‘T know what you want; you
Want a spectacular background to emerge as the most pre-eminen
among the Srotriyas of Aryavarta.’

Vibhuti’s insinuation came as

€ shivered. He looked down, lost
¢ame over him. His shoulders hunghe

1S lips trembled; he became a
Plete silence prevailed.

He silently invoked his guardian deity, the God Surya. ‘Lord
of Light, have you forsaken me ?’ he muttered to himself.

The older Srotriyas could not but enjoy the discomfiture of the
young ascetic.

‘Forgive me, Worshipful Acharya, for what I have sajd and

, the old man

a whip-lash to Dvaipaayana-
in thought. A sudden chang®
d, his eyes lost their brilliance:
tragic image of desolation. Com-
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done,” said Dvaipaayana and stopped. There was a break in his
YOIGe-_After a few moments, he folded his hands and muttered :
rle;fiztl;rl%e that my rapas is not adequate to convert my dream into a

He prostrated himself before the Purohit and his father,
touched the feet of the other Srofriyas, took his gourd and staff,
and turned to go.. ..

Old Brahmistha raised his feeble and shrunken hand and
beckoned him. ‘Dvaipaayana, come back. Why are you going ?
Sit down.’ \

~ ‘Father, Father,” said Vibhuti placing a restraining hand on
his father. ‘Let him go.’ _

‘Listen, Vibhuti,” the old man raised his trembling hand.
Decades of authority which he had exercised as the patriarch of the
Srotriyas was reflected in his voice and gesture. ‘“There 18 something
in what this boy says. If the change which he hopes fo_r comes to
pass, the WORD will become invincible and the Srotriyas will be
restored to their former strength.’ _ -

“What are you saying,lFatherl('i?’isasked Vibhuti in amazement.
‘You in the world : i

‘\%{ilgiti }hzage?flg.ccording to reason,” the old man rc_:ouged.
‘I have been a party to the feud on the content of the WORD. : ut
what this boy says is right, it has reated a rift among the Sro.fr.r,t} %Sé
and deprived them of the capacity to uplift men. The feud mus
settled.’ i :

1 i d puzzled. He gazed from his father to Dvai-
Paay:rg}.ll}\f‘dlﬁ%:earoge in his mind : Ha_d the yopng EngCth \T;ogik_eg
Atharvanisbroery onihistatier © Vere his father’s \;r\c;r s r’ez} y 15:.(.i
‘Don’t ask me, Father, to accept the four-fold WORD,” he sai

Pathetically. e : : oW
The 03{(1 man changed his position and turned his face towards

his son. His eyes, though faded, had an air of finality. ‘Are you
unwilling tlo j}(;in the Igfajpeya begause some _learnecld At;harv?n
I;;ight become Brahmaa, one of the head ritualists, and T€C te the
tharvana lore ?” he asked. i :
‘You taught me not to compromise on the three-fold WORD,
said Vibhuti. : y
_Seecing his father exsited, Vibhuti placed a hand on his arm,
which was shaking violently, and said : ‘Let Dvaipaayana depart,
Father. We will think the matter over coolly. _ ‘
. ‘Why should he depart 2 asked Brahmistha in a quaking but
irresistible: voice. In all my life I have not known a Srofriya like
this young man. He has both faith and vision; we may not have
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another like him for generations.’ He turned to Dvaipaayana,
roofing his eyes with his hand to have a better look at Dvaipaayana.

“My son, go and begin your preparations for the Vajpeya. I see
that dharma cannot be revived if the feud between the Srofriyas goes
on. If Vibhuti renounces the world, I will resume the office of
Purohit of the Kurus, which I gave up in his favour and preside
at the Vajpeya.”

The Srotriyas sitting there were angiy at the old man’s decision,
but did not know what to say or do.

The old man, in his trembling voice, addressed Dvaipaayana.
‘My son, do not be disheartened. I was one of the leading young
Srotriyas in the ashram of your great-grandfather Maha Munl
Vasistha. T had my share in thq quarrel. But you are right, my son-
The war has changed the situation. We must stop the disintegration
of dharma at any cost. I will preside over the Vajpeya. Find a learned

tharvana to officiate as Brahmaa.’

He took hold of Vibhuti’s hand and rose on his tottering feet:

want to see this feud ended; then I can go to the Land of mYy
’Ifjore_fathe[s happilv. My blessing,” he extended his hand OVEL
vaipaayana, paused for a moment then uttered the words of

greeting which were customary between two eminent Srorriyds:
ay your fapas increase.’

Dvaipaayana was overborne with gratitude.

Then the old man turned to Vibhuti, : ave
some sleep.’ i. ‘T am tired. T must h




CHAPTER 15
MAHA A,THARVAN LAYS A DEADLIER CHARM

AHA Atharvan sat, wrapped in silence, in the Cave of Medi-
tation, a little away from his ashram. He retired to the cave
whenever he felt that his strength and vision were failing him.

. FO}‘ weeks he had been puzzled at the strange things that were
happening to the Ficld of Wolves and was summoning all his medi-
tative power to discover their significance.

unters had come in groups to clear the Field of wolves and
other beasts of prey. They were followed by foresters who removed
the undergrowth, cut down the creepers, enlarged the trails and
cleared the ground around the five Syamantak lakes. :
Every day a large number of villagers and foresters, with their
families, used to come to the askram to be cured of their ailments;
to secure the help of Yatu Vidya, sorcery; to propitiate evil planets,
or to obtain help in settling family or tribal quarrels. After their
needs had been looked after by his disciples, they would approach

the sacred fire for the darshan of Maha Atharvan, who sat like a
distant god_rfhe symbol of irresistible power;’ which could make the

living dea the dead alive. _
%)[‘ lag,otlile \?iliagers had brought back strange rumours which

i i : ascellG;
revolved round the miraculous achievements of a young 4 ;
how, for nine days, he had invoked his mantra-vidya to b{ﬁ“gégﬁ
Emperor Shantanu of Hastinapur back to life; how Yama, the

A l el I ; 1
of Death, was vanquishet B Rajya Sabha held in Hastinapur

The rumours also referred to a
where Gangeya, the Crown Prince, announced that he had taken a

vow : he would neither claim the throne nor marry, and so_honghaz
he lived, he would stand loyally by Hastinapur. It was sal - ctl a
Chitranéada the elder of his step-brothers, was also mstalc las
Yuvaraj. The young ascetic had then t_ilsappeare_d mlr'a_cu ously,
some even claiming to haye scen him flying away 11 th\B dlllr-

Maha Atharvan’s disciples felt that it was a b]1a]dc1]'13ge—1a
sacrilege. According to them, only Maha Atharvan gou e the
master of life and death. :

All these rumours were duly reported to Maha Atharvan
by his pringipal disciples and his son, Sumantu, and his favourite
da.Ughtcl‘, Vatikaa, who bustled around her father, busy with some-
thing or other, important Or unimportant. , :

Somehow, Maha Atharvan gould not dissociate these rumours
from what was happening to the Field of Wolves. He was now
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bending all his powers to discover why things were happemﬂﬁh’iﬂ_
a way he disapproved of. All his efforts to unravel the rnys_ter)]J) p
mately pointed in the same direction : the young aSGeth,[ vthe
paayana, who had escaped from his ashram before he could lay
death spell on him. 4

Hispmeditation was interrupted. His eyes beheld a solitary figure
climbing the hill to the ashram. A frown furrowed his brow. Dval-
paayana, the young upstart, had the effrontery to come back 10
him to flaunt his victory ! This time he must make no mistake,
he must lay the death spell when the young ascetic reached his
ashram.

Maha Atharvan could not meditate any further; he became
impatient to deal with this young ascetic promptly. !

Sumantu, his young son, came to the cave and stood at 1§
mouth, awaiting permission to enter. Maha Atharvan was annoyed.
He did not like to be disturbed in his meditation, particularly at
this moment when he required all his powers to lay the death spell
on this upstart. _

‘What is the matter 2 he asked Sumantu sharply. ;

‘Father,” said Sumantu, touching his father’s” feet, ‘Dval-
paayana has come bagk.’ :

‘I know—the young upstart who left the ashram stealthily:
He has incurred the wrath of the ancient seers, Bhrigu and Angiras.
I do‘not want to see him,’ the sage stated emphatically, 4
ko ) SHuil::ga that he has come to beg a favour of you, Father,

‘A favour of me ! He will get only one favour, said Maha
Athaf“’an and, by a gesture, indicated the death spell,

I told him that he had incurred your displeasure and that

you, Father, would not see him; that he might as well go back;
said Sumantu.

‘What did he reply ?°

‘Strangely enough, he wanted the same thing as you, venerable
Father, want. He said that he had come back so that you could
fulfil your wish of laying the death spell on him—a disobedient
disciple.’

‘What !” exclaimed Maha Atharvan, unable to believe his €ars.

"He wants me to lay the death spell on him ? Are you sure that he
said that ?°

“Yes, Father,” replied Sumantu. ‘He also said that he was

Your disciple and that he would not allow his guru’s wish to remain

unf‘ul.ﬁlled. At first T thought that he was saying it in jest, but he
was in dead earnest about it.’
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‘My disciple! The effrontery of it ! :
as my disciple, said Maha SRl e eer accented (i

‘What shall I tell him, Father ?” asked Sumantu.

o Maha Atharvan thought for a while, and closed his lips firml
= eII;mrmur.ec,l : “The will of the venerable seers, Bhrigu and Angirag-
hge_,Prevall. Then he turned to Sumantu and said : ‘Call him

%llllmantu went out of theT cave and returned with Dvaipaayana.

he young ascetic prostrated himself before Maha Atharvan
and tried to touch his feet in salutation, but before he could do so
the sage withdrew them. ?
. ‘T'have come to seek your blessing, Master,’ said Dvaipaayana
In a penitent tone. ‘I do not deserve it, I know, for I left the ashram
without your permission. I have come to invite the penalty for such
gross misbehaviour.’ ; .
.. ‘Invite the penalty !’ contemptuously exclaimed Maha Atharvan.
You don’t understand the meaning of what you are saying.”

‘Believe me, Master. I want you to lay your death spell on
me—your disobedient disciple. That is why I have come back,’
said Dvaipaayana with such earnestness that the sage for a moment
thought that he had gone mad.

_ “You are not my disciple. I have never accepted you as one,’
said Maha Atharvan. :

“Best of gurus, last time I was here, T vowed that I was going to
be your disciple,” said Dvaipaayana and added : ‘As )’9111'}115011313,
I had to leave your ashram only to fulfil your heart’s wish.

“You fulfil my heart’s wish ! Surely ? Do you know how to
tell the truth?” asked Maha Atharvan cynically. ] ,

‘I took a vow to speak the truth when I was inducted into

Brahmacharya. 1 have striven to live up to it.’

“What vows did you take ?” asked Maha Atharvan.

“The vows which every Twice-born takes. o

‘Are there any other vows to which you are pledged 7 asked
Maha Atharvan.

“Under instructions from my father, all members of the
Paraashara gotra swear an additional oath, Paraashara Vrata, the
pledge of Paraashara,’ said Dvaipaayana.

“Did you take it 2’ asked Maha Atharvan.

‘Yes’, replied Dvaipaayana.

What is it 2’ _

“ I shall refrain from inflicting injury;
I shall not appropriate another man’s wealth;
I shall always speak the truth and nothing else;
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I'shall give away whatever I have to @ needy and worthty
man at the appropriate time; X

I shall refrain from talking about young Womeu;

I shall cut short the flow of greed and desire;

I shall worship the Gods and the Forefathers;

I shall live for the WORD ; .

I shall seek the favour of the WORD, for it
upholds Rita, the Cosmic Order.”

‘There is a flaw in the vow,” said Maha Atharvan c_onif?fil&
ptuously. ‘By the word “WORD?”’, you understand the three-10
WORD.’

‘No, Master: My father said that the WORD was four-fold.

All the Twice-borns of the Paraashara gofra understand it in this.

way. I have dedicated myself not only to the three-fold WORC?’
but to the complete WorD. Without the Atharvana lore, the body
cannot be saved from ailments, nor royalty from disaster, so Father
said,” said Dvaipaayana, with his eyes lowered in venerationl:

The manner in which Dvaipaayana repeated the vows impress¢
Maha Atharvan. He said : ‘Tell me the truth : Why have you ¢onie
back"? His tone had lost its severity.

As I told you, Master, I have come back so that you mdy

lay the death spell on me. T left the ashram only to see that my gu/ts
mission was fulfilled,’ said Dvaipaayana apologetically.
.. My mission fulfilled I’ exclaimed the cxasperated Maha
)}tharvan, his curiosity about this strange young man aroustt
How do you know what my mission is 2

May I'speak frankly 2’ asked Dvaipaayana.

‘Speak frankly—al 5 ik : it ith
gcynical il y—also truthfully,” said Maha Atharvan W

The venerable Maha Atharvan laid a curse on Dharmakshetra
because the rishis led by my great-grandfather, Vasistha, wou
not accept the Atharvana lore as a part of the Worp: because the
Atharvana’s privilege to be appointed Brahmaa, one of the four
leading ritualists, at a sacrificial session was denied; and becausé
the Atharvana lore was looked down upon by those who followed
the Trayi Vidya, the three-fold Worp,” said Dvaipaayana.

Maha Atharvan was surprised at the way the young ascetic had

gauged his unexpressed thoughts. ‘What follows on this 2 he
asked.

& .
I have sccured a promise from the noble Emperor Shantant

of Hastinapur that Vajpeya will be performed in Dharmakshetra.

You or \’vhomsoever you like, shall be the fourth head ritualist,
Brahmada.

“This is 1dle talk,” said Maha Atharvan. ‘The leading Srotriyas

“J f
“f
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of Hastinapur have. : s - .
‘ “The Gods and the'seers gave YOU mantra-vidyd .the power
t 0 bring the Emperor back to life,” said Dvaipaayana. P

“Who taught you this mantra-vidya 7’ asked Maha’ Atharvan.
taught me the mantra-vidya he knew; it was to cure
to bring back a man to

.. ‘My fathet tal A
ailiments; but its important incantations, to DI L ;
by my venerable gury, said Dvaipaayana res-

life, was taught me
pectfully, joining his palms. .
d Maha Atharvan angrily. “You are

‘I did that !’ exclaime
u,” said Dvaipaayana.

telling lies.” :
“No, I learnt the mantras from YO

‘But I never taught you,” said Maha Atharvan puzzled. ‘I

never teach them even to my disciples.” |, ° ‘ )

“You did, Master. When Paila was revived by you, you recited

d I learned them. And when he was brought here

the mantras an .
u chanted the maniras over Paila, I verified
memory was correct. And I

I had retained in my me
%SO learped from you how to transmit life force to the dead,’ said
vaipaayana. . ief. ‘Wi
ll\)/l:ga Atharvan’s eyes betx;’aylfd disbelief. “With words, cadence
and a tin Such erfection r e,as ec. . s )

. : ;Zin vle nerablepMaStel"’ replied Dvaipaayana. The mantra
which T had retained in my memory, as chanted by me, brought the
Emparor Shantanu back to life. That shows that I have been able
to recite it correctly.’ g e .

Ic\}I:hla i\.tharvgn was interested. «you did it without the saving
ana with a smile.
ked Maha Atharvan.

herb ? he asked, ] B
“No. I had it,’ replied vaalp%?y !
“Where did you get it from 7 & r

Dvaipaayana’s face reflected sly amusement. ‘My  gurw’s

ashram provided me with it.’

“Don’t go on repeating that you are my
accepted you as One,’ said Maha Atharvan.
“You have, venerable Master. Otherwise, how could you have

me for leaving your ashram without your

laid the death spell on
permission 7 asked Dvaipaayana.
became soft. He moved his

Maha Atharvan’s glittering eyes ] )
hand over his yellowish beard, his Iips twitching as if he was going
;‘;kmgile. “Who is going to officiate’ the sacrificial sessions 7’ he
ed.

‘It will be performed in Dharmakshetra, with the venerable
8uru as the Brahmaa.’
hat for me 7 asked Maha Atharvan

disciple. 1 have not

“You have also decided t
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sharply, but the edge of the remark was blunted.

“Yes Master, so that your heart’s wish that the Atharvana lore == -

may be accepted as an integral part of the WorbD shall be fulfilled.’

‘Why do you say that 2 asked Maha Atharvan.

‘Because the Emperor Shantanu as well as the royal Purohit,
Vibhuti, have left it to me to find a learned Atharvan to officiate
as Brahmaa at the sacrificial ceremonial, the Vajpeya,’ said Dvai-
paayana. Then he paused for a few moments and respectfully
added : ‘Now that you are laying the death spell on me, the matter
is different. Otherwise, you Master, would have taught me the
whole of the Atharvana lore. _

The sage ignored this and was silent for a few moments. He
suddenly changed the subject. ‘Is it true that you vanished into
thin air, as the rumours say?’ he asked.

‘The crowds had become very oppressive. They would not
let me be in peace, and if the sacrificial sessions were to begin il
time, there had to be a Paraashara ashram in Dharmakshetra dedi-
cated to the complete WORD.’

‘Is there anything else that you achieved 2 asked Maha
Atharvan,
“Yes, something which, but for your blessing. T wo Y
, ; - uld not hav
g,cured. I requested the Emperor, the Best ot‘gl(urus, and Princeé
a]?vr;%zya that th?l'n:ld]amhp%wer of the WorD (Brahmatej) should
remain allied with the radiant atej 16
of the Kurus,” said Dvaipaayana. s (isharrare)) oLl
‘What did they say ? asked Maha Atharvan.

‘Both the Emperor and the Prince acreed ith ithout
such an alliance, nei ] > B e hat
prom]\i;eg thatjt’shofz};grb(gféﬁm nor the State would survive an

aha Atharvan’s ex i i & i

you really vanish into the girfi?élon e el me g
- t‘_[ did ngtfvanish into the air, bu

tastinapur before the crowds could pest ; the
gg;';f‘am at Godhuli, where my father was? cree;m]tgg, inc‘lvi:ll:én tt% the
Yla erent a_s-Ii_:rams esi‘tabllshed by his disciples on the banks of Mother
1 muna. Forty of the Srotriyas, with their dependents—among
them some Asharyas with their families—have now come with me
to bu11(;} an ashram in Dharmakshetra,” said Dvaipaayana and
added: ‘The noble Empress, Satyavati. has also given three hundred
cows for the ashram we are to found .’

‘When are they coming ?” asked Maha Atharvan.
‘They are at’thc foot of the hill, waiting for your blessing.’
The folly of it !—you want to establish an ashram in the Field

t in the early morning T left




MAHA ATHARVAN LAYS A DEADLIER CHARM 07

of \Yolves, the accursed place 7 remarked Maha Atharvan

Not I, Gurudev, long before that time comes, your death
spell will have sent me to the Land of the Forefathers. Father's
senior disciples have promised that, if I am not alive then, they

: will accept Sumantu as their guri, said Dvaipaayana.

Maha Atharvan’s eyes sparkled with humour. “You are the
most dishonest man I have ever seen. You claim to be my disciple
and yet disobey me; you run away from the asiram, that too with-
out my permission. You took the saving herbs from my ashram like
a thief. You revived Shantanu with the Atharvana mantras without
my permission. I cannot understand how you came to do it. None
of my disciples, though they can chant the mantras and use the
saving herbs, has been able to bring a dying or a dead person to life.”

Dvaipaayana laughed like a naughty boy. ‘I am sorry, I did
not follow the example of your disciples. Gurudev, I myself do not
understand how I did it, for, when treating the Emperor, I felt I
ceased to exist and the power of the WORD was being transmitted
to the dying Emperor without my knowing it.”

Maha Atharvan was silent for a minute. ‘That may be the
reason for your success,” he murmured in a low voige as if to himself.
Then the old mood re-possessed hin. “You are not fit to be my dis-
ciple. Now you have decided to establish an ashram without con-
sulting me. You bring me disciples and hundreds of cows which I .
never wanted. Without my permission, you have appointed
Sumantu the head of your ashram. And you want me to accept the’
word of the Kurus, which I never trust, that they will stand by dharma.

The sage was indignant. ‘Now you want me to place the glerzlth
spell on you so that you may €s¢ape the ICSPOI‘ISIbl]._lty for building
your Dharmakshetra and fasten it on TS, he said and looked
sternly at Dvaipaayana. ‘I will not have it. I will not look at your
ashram nor at your disciples nor at your cows.” The sage sniffed
1n contempt. :

“Venerable Master, will you do m¢ a favour ? Will you allow
Sumantu to adopt Father’s disciples 7’ asked Dvaipaayana.

‘No, I will not,’ said the sage firmly. Then his voice lost its

sternness. ‘I shall put another—a more dreadful—spell on you.’
Amusement was in his eyes. _ :

‘Yes, Master. Whatever you say shall be accomplished.

‘I will put a charm, more deadly than the death spell on you.’
The sage found it difficult to suppress a smile. ‘It will make Vatikaa
80 mad about you. I want to be rid of this nuisance of a girl, who
sits listening to all my talk, messes up my affairs and betrays me
?_)’Phanding over the saving herb to you,’ said Maha Atharvan,
N P, VI-5
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Sy o rner
‘I am sure, she must be hovering around us, hiding in Som%?sofacc
and listening to what we are saying’ T}}ﬁ ascetic lines on
disappeared for a moment. He was smiling. 1l be
‘You are the Master. Whatever spell you lay upon me sha

fulfilled,” replied Dvaipaayana and for a moment his face registered
triumph.

The sage clapped his hands, and to the attendant who Ga‘gi}g{
response, he said : ‘Go and bring Vatikaa here; she must be S
where near ‘this hut.’ Vatikag

The attendant left. Soon running feet were heard and Va e
came in. ‘Did I not tell you that she would be hovering aro
this place, Dvaipaayana ?” said Maha Atharvan. | hild

The sage’s attitude softened; Vatikaa was his darling ¢h X
“What do you want meifor, Father ? asked Vatikaa, flinging bac
two of her braids which had fallen over her bosom.

‘You were listening to our conversation 2’ asked Maha
Atharvan.

. No, Father,’ replied Vatikaa with a smile. ‘I was only standing
behind the rear ¢

00r, so that fcould be useful to you immf"dlatell"’r
you wanted me. Yoy were speaking so loudly that T could not help
hearing you.’
‘Liar ! T AM now laying a dreadful charm on Dvaipaayana
- for being a disobedient disciple and on you for having stolen my
saving herb,’ said Mahq Atharvan and closed his eyes for a few
moments. Then, concentrating his gaze on Dvaipaayana, he said
ina §§Iemn voice i ‘Dvaipaayana, fall in love with Vatikaa.’ :
look deS, Master, T obey,” replied Dvaipaayana and instinctively
00Xec at Vatikaa and feft 5 yearning for her. -
1© sage then turneq o Vatikaa and said : ‘Vatikaa, fall M
love {rwt}_avaalpaayanag
.. vatikaa bashfully [ookeq t Dvaipaayana if he was
1wmgA1ndher heayt. “Yes, Fat}i:r,l?zheprcglied.and e
~And thus wil] the love charm of the ancient seers Bhrigu and
Ang:ras,_kbe fulfilleq > said Maha Atharvan. :
was ;;ilitllina; threw a side glange at Dvaipaayana and Dvaipaayand
‘Go now,” Maha Atharyan them. ¢ 't sit here
looking like idiots. The diSCiplestglde\I;ﬁg} ggr:}llaﬁ'arf ?1?6 waiting
at the foot of the hill, Bring them to the ashram and make them
comfortable till DVa!.paayana builds his ‘hermitage. Sumantuy,
find out the next auspicjoy day and take Vatikaa off my hands.’ ¢



CHAPTER 16
VATIKAA FEELS UNHAPPY

ACCORDING 1o the practice enjoined by the Vedas, if the father
7 so liked—and in most cases he did not—a daughter could be
B vested wnh the sacred thread, and put through the discipline of a
uf‘ahmacharmz (celibate girl-studentship) for twelve years, studying
tl:ie WORD and undergoing rigorous self-discipline. She would

en enjoy the status and privilege of a Srotriya, 2 privilege denied
to women who had not undergone it.

_Following this tradition, Maha Atharvan had invested Vatikaa
with the sacred thread when her twin-brother Sumantu was so
invested. Both of them had recently completed their twelve years

of discipline.

Besides, Vatikaa had the privilege, generally enjoyed by-the
youngest daughter of the family, of being effusively devoted to her
father. She was also his beloved child. Though she played all sorts
of pranks, the stern—and to many, terrifying—Maha Atharvan

Jaabaali indulgently smiled at her trespasses.

Vatik ind of her own in spite of her very strong-
prafhrs f studentship, she was

minded father, On completing the period 0 [
looking forward to marrlj)age with a suitable Srotriya. No_sooner
had she seen Dvaipaayana’s irresistible smile, and heard him re-
c;lting the Hymn to Lord Varuna on the banks of the Sarasvati, -
than the idea of marrying him seized her.

L Dvaipaayana telling her father about
ater, when she heard OV y of bringing life back

" hi life’s missi is uni hievement
X mission and his unique ac¢ I _
t(}'gShamanu’ she needed no Jove-charm to fall madly in love with

him. Tt would be a wonderful future, she thought, building up

Dharmakshetra in association with him.
She joined Dvaipaayana, Sumantu an
fully recovered, when they came down the
mates of the Paraashara ashram, as Dvaipad
to be the guests of her father’s ashram. .
So far she had only seen the life in her father’s ashram and
hen she had accom-

the ashrams of some of his principal disciples W. :
panied him on his journeyings; naturally, therefore, she was exgited

at seeing Dyaj s i T :
aayana’s travelling aspram. .
i Dvaipaayana had told

he inmates of the Paraashara ashram,
d?r'. were principally drawn from the ashrams founded by the
isciples of his father, Muni Paraashara, on the banks of the

amuna,

d Paila, who was now
hill to invite the in-
yana had named it,
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On its long journey to Dharmakshetra, the ’ashéa{if, lfgl‘:gﬁg
on the move for the best pzzircll; of ;[gft rﬁgii k?ll:itsuﬁ- ;‘t’i][i?}g asie
ly. It was an o as s . :
?{;"fﬁﬂﬁ?j \{ras maintained by every member of the ds!uan; (i?éigg
. on Dvaipaayana and sharing his faith that Dharmakshetre
o3 re%lll::ecﬁgf;ipal Acharya was Gautama, the senior surviving
disciple OIE Muni Paraashara. \then ‘_{atikaa was introduced to
i with a parental smile. _ :
hlm,.éleesi?i?sssg%;;izi, Acheu%a Gautama’s wife and their children,
there were several Acharyas with their families and dissiples; 3]_3]?;1&
a dozen celibate students dressed in deer-skins, with the prescri o
staff and gourd in their hands; the dependants otj the ashrams Wi .
their families; noisy children who thoroughly enjoyed the Jourgcy,
the ailing, the old as well as children too small to walk, seated In
the bullock-carts; a few stud bulls and several hundred cows, with
their cowherds attending on them. Finally there were a few bow-
men sent by the Emperor to secure their safety against any danger
from wild beasts or Rakshasas.

Vatikaa’s heart throbbed with joyful excitement when she saWw
how devoted the inmates of the ashram were to Dvaipaayana whon
they called ‘“Bal-Muni”’—the Little Muni—to distinguish him from
his father who was referred to as “the venerable Pangu Muni.”

When she was introduced by Paila to the womenfolk as the

- daughter of Maha Atharvan and Bal-Muni’s bride, they were in
ecstasies. Vatikaa could not restrain her tears of joy when Acharya
Gautqma’s wife Sharmi, a plump, maternal woman, after first
scanning her up and down, accepted her completely and pressed
her to her ample bosom, which established Sharmi’s authority
over her. Other elderly women took turns at welcoming her by an

?mbrace. Vatikaa enjoyed the welcome, even though it smothered
ler. 2

The travelling ashram camped at the foot of the hill, the
bullocks were unyoked and the cattle taken by the cowherds to be
waterTeﬁi. ;he: deggﬂdantsdbl.llsied themselves preparing their food.

€ lwiGe-borns and their families went t ill to pa
their respects to Maha Atharvan. Up the ull tozely

The next day, Maha Atharvan, Dvai
and several Acharyas from bot
Syamantak lakes to select a sujtable spot where the Paraashara

_ashram could be constructed.

A suitable spot on the margin of the third lake where the
channel of the river Sarasvati was deep and wide, was selected.

paayana, Acharya Gautama,

h the ashrams, went to the:
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sThhi%pSeagEd fire was lighted and Mother Prithvi (Earth) was wor-
The Atharvana hymn invoking the Goddess Prithvi (Earth)
was chanted by Maha Atharvan and his disciples : -

“Satya, that is Truth, and Rita, the Cosmic Order,
Rigorous self-discipline, whi ch is tapas.
Spiritual realisation, which is Brahma,
And the deities presiding over the sacrificial ceremonials—
May they all support Mother Prithvi....ocoveaees
O, Mother Prithvi,
Thou, the Mistress of what was and what shall be,
Give usabroaddomain Lo .....c...coveeees
O, Mother Prithvi, be pleased to set us down
Upon a well-set place. I
With Thy Spouse, Dyaus ( the Hea yens) co-operaling,
O Thou, Goddess of Wisdom,
Let us live here in happiness and prosperity 12
A pit was dug and sanctified. Two of the disciples caught hold
a live tortoise, the emblem of stability, and to please the Goddess
Prithvi, who rested on the Primeval Tortoise, placed it in the pit.
Vatikaa’s heart overflowed with hope and joy. This would be
her home, the home of her husband and her children from gene-
ration to generation, which the Gods would bless. And here the

Paraashara ashram would arise, ringing with the WORD chanted in

melodious cadences. :
Vatikaa fell under Dvaipaayana’s hypnotic spell. He behavlfd
as if they had known each other for years, and whenever he.lspo e,
his homely features were lit up by hlS’]lllmltablc boyish 5111111 eicnew
She soon discovered that his learning was fath?n:‘lﬁsds.cagcmes
the Tryai Vidya with its recise sequences, accen G -
to perf—::,c:tioril '};everal Athalrjvana hymns, the use of he_rbsl which cf(_)?ﬁg
mitigate or cure ailments, and the movements and influence 0
Planets.
However, what amazed
though never a word of com

r most was how he would encourage
1[‘?1&11(1 or of complaint passefdul(us t!ltp}f
In the morni t milking time, he was with the womenfolk ot the
ashram hoglr;)lii% ?hem. A!% the Srotriyas and the Brahmachcg‘ssqu
the ashram th?:n joined him in lighting the sacred fire, and his

ing the chants with a new life.

melod: ; in infusl
elodious voice led the others 11 1n would help anyone who had

He rebuked no one, yet he )
Committed :lapse to repair it and he would put a sluggard to
piame, by inspirin’g him to.work harder. Most of the elders of the

draashara ashram had been trained in the hard school of Pangu

uni and the ashram soon reflected the austere discipline which
angu Muni had taught them.
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He would never fail to attend the sick and the ailing and distri-

bute food to the children before taking his meal, and win over ghe
hearts of the crowds which came for his darshan by his cheering
words and happy smile. _ {
During the days preceding their marriage, Vatikaa had avidly
learnt all about her husband’s exploits, which the talkative Sharmi
was never tired of describing, never failing to attribute them to the
- inspiration and training of her husband.  She had also told her
how the Bal-Muni, when he was a boy, helped the womenfolk to
clean the cattle and even milked the cows; how wonderful he

looked when her Aryoputra invested him with the sacred thread, |

and how with loving care he brought the dead body of the venecrable
Muni to Godhuli.

Sharmi was, moreover, bubbling over with enthusiasm when
she talked about the Empress, whom she had met at Hastinaput
where the Paraashara ashram had halted on their way to Dharma-

kshetra. It was the brightest moment of her life—talking to a living
Empress.

-dres;gxhﬁ the Empress, so slender, so beautiful, so gorgeously

she would exclaim every time she talked about her. ‘She
gr%l:}ddcome every day to where we had camped in the templé
purmn, s of Pratipeshwar to serve food to Bal-Muni and Arya

On such 3 5 .
but she folt u;’ﬁ:g;;f‘s’ Vatikaa, would respond by a forced smile,

ekt %‘ééﬁgg:gicigush day, the wedding of Dvaipaayana and Vatikaa
guru, received V. i arya Gautama, as Dvaipaayana’s parental
ride andl}t;i{:e 1-atl a?' from her father, Maha Atharyan. The
Ove-charms \fe?eo?x }?Ok the seven steps around the sacred fire:
for Vatikaa havi changed. Deer-skins were presented to both
, having been a Brahmacharini ; f
one. ahmacharini, was entitled to wear
Vatikaa h
when they wosﬂjlggﬁ%i&;wmd to the intimate hours of the night
talks she had had with thgr by themselves with dread. From the
gathered the impression thatWomenﬁ)lk of the ashram, she had
{)hf.‘.y were brutal. She was, tp, When men met their wives at night,
eing mauled by a man an,
COmg TR Of Dfléhcﬁl?sam)ndered whether she could eyer over-
him as a wife ? _ ent. And would she be able to please
However, when tf
surprised to find DvaipI:gygg‘iottglglet}égrﬂ f‘orttl;;:. night, she t‘f\«’as
was not brutal, not even Pmprietaryy o f)li'cr:i' m:la.sstgl-wli]t’ S\E:ls efaté

erefore, frightened at the prospect of

!
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entle - y

1g‘eady fg’ ﬂl;lt of an affectionate mother. Dvaipaayana was always

flood of Jéﬁpond to her unspoken wishes till, carried away in the

oon frce “C;isﬁasy, she surrendered to the joy of the moment of her

I Wan%%'gtgfylgg Er%d}{ Izindlmll}d, I am thine,” she murmured, ‘and
A Sovhui at Paulomi was to the primeval seer, Bhrigu.’

the Eml rY ul expression was on her husband’s face every time

e Sigﬂ};ﬁess was mentioned before him. She could not understand

well that lti_ance of this change. By now, she knew her husband so
e is betraying the marriage vow was _inconcewable.

i AL days later, the Minister Kunik arrived from Hastinapur

with bol‘lot. With him came several assistants, some of them armed

A eds ws and arrows, and also a large number of foresters, who
Klat?ly began to cut bamboos and construct huts.

Sach W‘}nlk brought four cows with ample and generous udders,

Vatik ith a keeper, and a stud bull, as presents from the Empress to

their al?'- The cows were of a rare breed and were Pancha-Kalyani;

. Whiteshlr-l was glossy black, with five auspicious marks, a tuft of

the .F air, one on each of the ankles and one in the middle of

=t orechead. The stud bull, a majestic animal, pawing the earth

€yeing the cows purposefully, was kept at a distance by two

cowherds. ==
Vatikaa suppressed her inclination to reject the gift from the
band; it would be an

Empress. But she dared not anger her hus :
unforgivable insult offered to the Empress. ‘What shall I do with
the cows ?° she asked him.

‘They are your GOWS and you can
them,’ replied %)vaipaayana with a laugh. ‘But, don’t go near the

bull, otherwise I will lose MY wife.” Then he added : ‘Isn’t the noble
Empress wonderful ? She never forgets arlly;hmlgl.’ P;’e said this with
such admiration that a pang shot through her eart. | A
2 i e which
Vatikaa passed several sleepless nights, an exg;;n&ngum L

she had before. Even when s

ugly drer:;:;? i}rllac\lwh?ch she was being throttled by the Empress
who generally took the shape of a hideous monster or an ugly
witch.
She braced herself to decide upo
DPress arrived, but this decision did no

obsession. . ;
She had inherited the implacability which characterized her
father, She racked her brain to find a way out to be rid of the

d with the idea of requesting her father

t Mmpress. At first she playe
O put a death spell on her, but for the moment he was SO much

do whatever you like with

n some action after the Em-
t help her to get rid of her
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under the influence of Dvaipaayana that he would look upon the
request as ridiculous. And if her husband came to know of it, he
never would forgive her. - ! :

One morning she saw light. She went to Urvi, her father’s
elder sister. She was a Srotriya like herself; she looked after the
field in which Maha Atharvan grew the magic herbs; she also knew
the mantra-vidya relating to women’s grievances and ailments,
and often helped women to get rid of their rivals. She alone could
give her some charm which would eliminate the Empress from her
husband’s life.

Vatikaa begged her aunt to teach her the appropriate mantras
to overcome rivals.

The old woman laughed. ‘So soon after the marriage ! You
seem to be unhappy,’ she said. ; .
‘No. I am happy, but I want to arm myself against a possible

rival. T must be ready to meet the danger if it comes,” said
Vatikaa.

Urvi taught her sever
particularly the one which
“Idig up this
By whose Power rival women are overcome
And the husband’s Joye strengthened.

‘;)O thou p_hmr_ Wwith erect leayes, lovely as Yyou are,
Do‘r.’wu, inspired by the Gods, full of might,
A;;:!;;away my nm!,‘:;nake my husband mine-

The concluding part of the mantra was -
The magic plant js po werful,
I am more powerful,
Superior to Siperior women,

"n‘:' '?g’ r!: val shall be inferior to those that are inferior
Mo )’m rd, Ihave placed the over-powering herbs upon thee,
224Y thy mind run after me as a calf after the cow, as water along

al mantras to rid herself of her rival,

would make her rival ugly and hateful.
plant, the most potent,

115 course |

begged Utvi to show her the magic pla i
t, with-
iras would be useless. i

Then Vatikaa
out which the mq

larlt 1 13 T
her the way to make thep Which she called “pata” and taught

: o .-1€ spell effective.

Mash it, Slhgrs_ald,_ MIX it with milk from a red she-goat and

make },’Olir g‘"?l Ink it, Sprinkle the mixture around the bed of

your Tivas uibicayes ofithe magig plant under the bed of your

tr;lva{_; F;Uf some on his bed too. Confinye to recite the mantras all
e time.

'1
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“Will this mantra kill her ?” asked Vatikaa. &5
_‘No. It is not a death charm. It may make your husband angry
with your rival or she may become evil-natured, but in any case,
your husband will come to be alienated from your rival,” replied
the old woman. .
Now that Vatikaa had mastered the mantras and the ways of
administering the magic herb, she was ready to face the Empress.

s



CHApTER 17

, ARRIVALS
HE life of an average Arya family would revolve round _thle
sacred fire. There were three great sacrificial ceremonials
lauded in scripture and tradition—Aswamedha, Rajasooya and
Vajpeya, in which the sacred Fire God and “King” Soma were
worshipped by elaborate ceremonials, rituals and oblations.
At these ceremonials, which were communal gatherings, Aryas,
Nagas and even Nishadhs congregated. . s
These ceremonials were beyond the means of ordinary kinds,
for the host had to provide food to all the visitors, bear the ex
penses of the ceremonials and give presents to the guests.
The Emperor Bharat, the forefather of the present Emperor
Shantanu of Hastinapur, had celebrated a Rajasooya yajna.
The news spread like wild fire that the Emperor Shantanu,
recent[}r revived by the young ascetic Bal-Muni, was celebrating
the Vajpeya at the Field of Wolyes as from the eleventh day of the
bright half of the month of Chaitra.
be prg;fi gi“gtﬁ’:a Szent_personally to invite friendly kings to
casion.
goingT 122 S:‘:Suillliso spread to the ashrams that the Vajpeya was
over it as the A:}&:‘fafvent. Acharya Vibhuti was going to preside
of wonders, Maha Atﬁm, the head of the ritualists, and, wonder
tl}e Trayi Vidyq schoc?rg?‘ns-w?q had;f;’és“’a;’f;‘ ?%Gorltacts with
of Br rotriyas, H ed t osition
ahmaq at the Vajpeya. ) P he p

Some ; : i

St So ott:eE: ioy and others shook their heads dolefully at the

fold Wors ande&mon of the Srotriyas who accepted the three-
Srotriyas of o 0S¢ who accepted that it was four-fold.

each other. tho § 1ﬂ‘qre1.1t schools came to the Field to discuss with

leading Acharyasag;ﬁiclal homage which should be paid to the

had rec?ntly Hen] faigesecure the blessing of the Bal-Muni who -
» few Ach :

superiority of th:i? anlrnieb et also qame to/establish the

ashrams in chant, doctrine and rityal; many

others were there
. 0 m 2
Kings and ¢ 1l account of the fee, which was sure to be lavish.

2 hieftaj - .
with each other ftains of the surrounding areas arrjved, vying

: N pom
Guilds of p, P and strength.
their well-fed gOat::‘GtI"}flants opened marts. Goat-herds, brought

monies. €y would be needed for the sacrificial cere-
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Hunters came with deer-skins, which the kings were sure to
present to the Srotriyas participating in the sacrifice.

Thousands of villagers came to earn religious merit by making
small offerings. Most people brought their womenfolk with them
It was a glorious occasion for women; they would have no domestic
tasks to perform, enjoy freedom to sing and dance, and have an
opportunity to secure the blessing of the learned Srotriyas, who
would read their future and promise good husbands to the un-
married and sons to the married.

: Dancers, serpent-charmers, monkey—perfom}ers and profes-
sional wrestlers also came to enliven the 0cGasion.

There were also the uninvited but inevitable guests—the
beggars—who had sensed the prospect of sharing therich feasts
which the free kitchen set up by the Minister, Kunik c¢ould pro-

vide.
As the day of the inauguration came nearer, the representatives
the accommodation for

of the royal guests arrived to prepare

their masters. _

Vatikaa was in despair. During the whole day and half of the
night, the new arrivals wanted to have a darshan from her husband.
They would crowd around him, the ailing prayins for cures, others
seeking his blessing; so would the children when they learnt that

i ere fed. :
he would take his meal only after they W attend to his needs.

There was no moment when she could !
However, whatever her anxiety for his health Shﬁrgff tll?;rgigseéy
proud of having a husband who, of all others, wds
like a magnet.

Maha Atharvan was the only pers ;
days, participated in a Vajpeya. He knew =
monial, and under his guidance, Acharyd,

principal disciples made detailed preparation

Gerc%ﬁ?ﬁf{: seventh day of the bright h_ztlf of the ;‘l&:‘ijﬂi&&f %lll?ura,
the royal guests began to arrive in chariots encru S char;got( and
silver, bringing well-fed horses to partlclp‘c_lie n e race
which was the most exsiting part of the Vajpeya (t)ge Ereal A 1
Messengers came Wi hat charyy

th the intimation tha :
Vibhuti of the ZTrayi Vidya school, the royal (Iljfce}p' or of the
Emperor, was coming the next day, ac:ompa“;'e };.1118 Pringipa]
disciples. Most of the Srotriyas were 100kIng ;?VI? d with dreaq
to the rival schools—Agcharya vVibhuti and Maha Atharvap__

so hostile to cach other. v i .
Vatikaa was also very uneasy. The situation was SO delicate thq¢

on who had, in his early
he details of the cere-
autama and his own
s for celebrating the
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3 - she counted
there might be a break-up of the happy 0cc as{m},ell?lu]‘;es I:vas deter-
without her father’s skill in overcoming crises wh

mmelc\i}[:lcl)];i OASt?].arvan was all for making the Vajpé’,l? l?lesﬁclfg?g
he wanted Dvaipaayana’s entry into the hl?rarchyh‘?l_n friendship
to be as spectasular as possible; he was as t m.rou]\g/[ ni. he would
as he was in hostility. He declared that belng.;} S sl disciple
not officiate as a ritualist, but that Shaunak, his princip

vould be the Brahmaa at the ceremony. ; ; idst
¥ ﬁciaﬂ};a {Eibhuti, the royal preceptor, ar;'wed ml}tltorrﬂ}?’niurﬂhlgh
a crowd of disciples, four of whom were bearing the li gtinga o
he was travelling. He was none too happy. jf{e Was ex}f_)emilia’[ion at
flict, for he had decidad not to put up with any humil

the hands of the uncompromising Maha Atharvan. the litter,

As soon as Acharya Vibhuti had climbed down fromt cli theoaa
Dvaipaayana, Shaunak and the other Acharyas prostrate
selves before him. . -

‘A thou}slarr?d salutations, Worship’fu]_,’ said DvalpiaY3zfl'
“This is Acharya Shaunak, the principal disciple of Maha At af; act-
Maha Atharvan feels that he is too old to stand the str.?m (f)]‘ iate
ifng I:'S Brahmaa at the Vajpeya; Acharya Shaunak will officia

or him.’

The scowl disappeared from Vibhuti’s face. Shaunak was
Younger than he anctlnl)'sis fear of being dominated by the uncom-
promising Maha Atharvan vanished. : e ¢

vaipaayana added : ‘Maha Atharvan is waiting at the food
of the hill to welcome you.” Acharya Vibhuti had not expecte
this honour, and could not help feeling gratified that things were
Shaping s well that, as Adhvaryu, he should dominate the
Vajpeya,

While the other L
the litter in which the Acharya had come, seemingly empty, stirre
into life. An old. wi

a fragile body, ’shrivelled with age: the cover
\charya Brahmistha sat up, |

slipped away and
tions

ooking with faded eyes in all direc-

Every one was surprised. The old man looked as if he had
come from the other world. Ina husky voice, he shouted : ‘Dvai-
paayana, Dvalpgayana.’

Acharya Vibhuti, by way of introduction, told the Agcharyas :
‘He is my venerable father, the

. . Most Worshipful Brahmistha.’
Dvaipaayana whispered to Sumantu : ‘Run fast and bring

your father. Tell him that the Worshipful Brahmistha has come
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and e ;

Tf’}?;iolile would be happy if he came over to receive him.’
Brahrid e went over to the litter and prostrated himself

rahmistha, who patted him on the head. After a littl ?‘ before
he caught hold of the ear of Dvaipaayana and in wh teh umbling:
was a whisper—but sufficiently loud for those ha e f:-hought
DVE-lpaayana to hear—said : ‘“Where is your v\.fi‘f‘it:ag ‘Eez;ﬁ Inea:;

Dvaipaayana asked Paila to bring Vatikaa who was bl
the \}iomen standing a little way away. e

‘Pn’thc meantime the other Acharyas saluted Brahmistha.

_Paila brought Vatikaa, trembling with fright at being publicl
exlllublted, up to the litter. She prostrated herself before Brahmistha):
w O/Eﬁtte}? her on the back and asked : ‘Are you beautiful ?’
el t\}_oqe who heard the question could not repress their

. Vatikaa, blushing, looked down without giving any reply.

:Fhe old man continued : ‘Are you a Srotriya?”

“Yes, worship-worthy Master,” replied Vatikaa.

‘I warn you, Dvaipaayana’s wife, not to fail to behave as a
wife should. Women Srotriyas do not make good wives; they are
filled with pride.’

There was irrepressible laughter and Vatikaa felt as if she
would fall to the ground out of sheer shame.

‘Now give me your hand, Dvaipaayana,” said Brahmistha.
‘1 want to get out of the litter.”

_ Dvaipaayana practically lifted the old Acharya out of the

litter and supported him till his tottering legs could grow steady.

%ver} then Brahmistha could stand only by throwing an arm round
vaipaayana’s.

{)'ibguti felt that his father had stolen people’s attention
from him, but he was helpless. And Shaunak and Gautama, as
the leading Acharyas Were scrupulously respectful to him.

In the meantime, the people standing there parted to allow
Maha Atharyan’s litter to be brought up to where Brahmistha
was standing. Dvaipaayana assisted him in taking a few steps
towards the litter. Everybody waited anxiously to see how these
two old giants would greet each other. :

Maha Atharvan would not let anything come in the way of
making the Vajpeya a SucGess. Brahmistha was his old enemy,
but an older Srofrive. So without the least hesitation, he obsery-
ed the code of behaviour sanctified by the ages: he bent down
and touched the feet of Brahmistha.

Everybody breathed a sigh of relief. Brahmistha caught hold
of Maha Atharvan’s hand; he was also at his best. He said:
Jaabaali, T was one of those who drove you out of Dharma-
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kshetra. Today you are here to welcome me to Dharmakshetra
again. The gods have kept us alive to se¢ this great re-union. :

Maha Atharvan laughed. <Times have certainly changed.
I never dreamt that T would give my daughter in marriage ’to the
great-grandson of the venerable Maha Muni Vasistha.

The next day Prince Gangeya arrived in a chariot drawn by
four horses. Well-built and tall, with a dignified mien and bril-
liant eyes, he has a born ruler of men. He stopped the chariot,
jumped to the ground with the agility of a youth, touched the
feet of Acharyas Vibhuti, Gautama, Shaunak and Dvaipaayana,
and folded his hands to the rest.

The people who had gathered to welcome him formed them-
selves into a procession to take him to the royal camp. Before the
procession started, Gangeya called Dvaipaayana: ‘You have
a surprise for us. Where is your wife ?’

Dyvaipaayana pointed to Vatikaa.

Gangeya paused near Vatikaa, looked at her with a smile
and F’?]lag's See that your husband does not outdo you in learning’.

the formere‘;;:;;ie?glf&r{og brought Chitrangada and Vichitraveerya,
saluted all the Achar;;‘;’ng the chariot. They climbed down and
Empgt;? czll?l{f t?lifoéilﬂm Vajpeya was due to be inaugurated, the
painted elephant, wig press arrived on a caparisoned and gaily-
: alarge entourage of bowmen and attendants.

'@?ﬂ?g&ﬁi&thgg Sliﬁiir'l for the Emperor and to allow him to travel
ed like a howdah, T.LOurney by slow stages in a spegjal litter shap-

lifted from hjsg ¢ elephant kneeled down and the litter was
Prince Gangeyg bs?:k' The Emperor, helped by the Empress and
Vatikaa haq pped to the ground.
yavati, she felt asf-‘%ftps. only for the Empress. When she saw Sat-
honey dark face gl she would faint. She had a slender figure, a
limbs decked in goﬁ:lw'mg with youth, magnificent eyes, graceful
When she step, eda“d diamonds, and a glamorous presence.
wards her. There WES b O]:lt of the llttE:l D\-’aipaayana turned to-
at him with her eyeg a“’lylsh smile on his face; the Empress smiled
pent down before Dvag' OW with pride and adoration. When she
corum Tequired, hey g P22Yana to touch his feet, as formal de-
she thought that the a;:e Was lit by a mocking smile; evidently
The Empress Wazddutauon was something to laugh about.
nd she behaved in 5y, .+ gerously beautiful, “and very seductive
pand. Vatikaa thoygh oy omanly manner by smiling at her hus-
Dvaipaayana ang she had no chance against this rival.
N4 the Acharya, led by Vibhuti, Gautama

-




;&RRIVALS 111

and Shaunak showered blessings and flowers on the Emperor and
the Empress. Conchs were blown and the drums sounded a
?earty welcome. The kings folded their hands and touched their
eet.

When Vatikaa was introduced to the Empress she placed an
affectionate hand on her and patted her on the back. She looked
for a few moments carefully at her as if appraising her worth.

“You have stolen Dvaipaayana from all of us,’ _said the Em-

press with a charming laugh and added: ‘May you’fmd your hap-
piness by bringing happiness to your husband.
" With so many people looking on, Vatikaa suppressed her
inclination to respond by a cutting remark which came to her lips.
But one thing was clear: there was some understanding betwiclg
the glamorous Empress and her husband; what it was, she co 1
not say. However, she was glad that she had decided to put a spe

on her L : -
: Emperor
Soon the people who had come there to greet the 2
formed themsell)vesp into a procession, and with gledltamt%f%;:;gg
the Empress, carried in the litter leading, it progeecec to

grounds where the Vajpeya was to be heid, the womenfolk with

rots on their heads singing songs of welcome-



CHAPTER 18
THE MAGIC CIRCLE

VATIKAA was lost in admiration at the way her husband was
working to make the ceremonial a success.

The head ritualists—Acharya Vibhuti as the Adhvaryu, Ach-
arya Gautama as the Hota, Acharya Devayaana as the Udgata
and Acharya Shaunak as the Brasmaa— were busy the whole day
in making preparations for the Vajpeya. .

“Seventeen’> was the mystic number which invested the
Vajpeya with miraculous sangtity.

Seventeen vedis (altars) were set up, the central one being the
targest, where the sacred fire Agni, the Fire God, was to be worship-
ped, invoked by the head ritualists; each had its own ritualist.

The ritualists were selected to chant seventeen Mantras, Se-
\trcnteen Stotras (hymns of praise), and seventeen Shastras (learned

eXts). Seventeen goats were also selected, perfect in shape and
colo%_to be offered to Agni, the Fire God.

ot follfhthgul?s ceremony, a Yupa was constructed, a sa(_;rificial
e dsed‘?f_tk_le Emperor and the Empress in climbing up-
edwi Vinity; it was seventeen cubits high, and girdl-

Wb Seventeen pieces of cloth.

Ceremony began early in the morning wh h ror
and t : L g when the Empe
e i e et e e nd Vel g Som

eight white bull:)cks ght from the Himalayas in a cart drawn by
e e o e
the : : e Emperor an ver

Adk;a,-yu, e e ntans p 1anded o

“ King” to t‘ﬁgf‘ﬁf, With appropriate chants, handed over the
extracted from it ola. The plant was then crushed and the juice

were also extractcdw[flg placed in_Swenteen vessels. Other juices
other vessels. fom appropriate plants and kept in seventeen
Emperor ag

The
: the sacrifi 4
chains of gold crificer and his consort wore seventeen
g each and distributed seventeen chains to each of

% f"‘g‘-"]—:"r‘e’1?'[(;-'15}.‘;11 ggﬁh\i}g and one to each of the other ritualists.

With a due recitalr?)tpiﬁseented to each‘ of the head ritualists.
on all }t]he Sseventeen yedig (altarsfmnms’ the sasrificial fire was lit
Godgiﬁ .;g;ceemé)efnt};gssi?cred_ “King’’ Soma was offered to the
the appropriate hymns, S, with hundreds of Srotriyas chanting
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Vatikaa had eyes
H eyes only for her husband and the
thz ‘;";E‘wﬂways smiling, encouraging, taking part in the ceErgﬁgi?:
e v ]S, however, ’would not let him be, for they followed him
Siesiad r he went. Ch}ldren, wl}o were anxiously waiting to be fed
e t(:"]iys c_lamoul_'mg for him, and women with their children
M he o im to receive his blessing. It was difficult for the Mini-
e endants to keep him unharmed by the frantic for his
s fxi@rﬁrst Vatikaa had not liked her husband’s idea of sheering
Tt Ad}om any official position; he should have been, she thought,
e ]I:)\’aryu_. But, in spite of his youth, he had been acknow-
theg y universal acclaim, not merely as the son and disciple of
5 dgreat Muni Paraashara, but as a Muni in his own right. This
ade her happy and proud. -
10 Throughout the seventeen days of the Dharmakshetra cere-
i nies the husband was unable to be with his wife. She had
erefore no opportunity to meet him by herself, except for.a few
moments when he returned to their hut at night, dead exhausted.
her husband; evey time

- She had no reason to complain about
eir eyes met, he exchanged smiles with her. However, she could

not help watching the Empress’s hehaviour towards her husband.
In their turn, whenever they met each other, they exchanged glan-

ces in which she read mutual understanding. o
The Empress was wicked, she thought from the way she smue

every time her eyes met Vatikaa’s, as if she was her private prOPeEtt}i’-
The smile was hypocritical, Vatikaa concluded; a {ieceptmﬂ‘Pf a
sed on her; or worse, a smile of triumph for havin

g captured the

affection A a d__ :
Durfngftggrtl\lvﬁ?e nyears of Brahmacharya, Vatikaa had_exer—l
cised strict self-restraint in matters of S€X; that was the pwotaf
discipline. However, when ipaayana, the gateslo
her heart were opened and 2 flood of surging emotion ovcrwhclm-
ed her. Now when she felt that someone else hqd stolen her
husband’s heart, she was gripped DY maddening jealousy. The

fascinating Empress must be removed from her path, her heart
1nsisted.

On the sixteenth d i _ s

who had gathered in the Field <tood in the sun for ghatikas to

see the race, the most exciting part of the ceremonial. ;
mbol of the sacrificer’s

A wheel with seventeen spokes—the sy

overlordship—was tied to ‘the sacrificial post. '
On the left side of the post sat seventeen, drummers whose

duty was to play the drums seventeen times during the day.

K.r-vi—6

ay of the ceremonial the thousands of people
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The race-track was seventeen arrow-flights in length.

To the Aryas, the horse was a divinity, a descendant of the
divine horse, Dadhikravas, lauded in the WORD, a living symbol
of strength and vitality. In war, the four-horse-chariot of the
Aryas provided a terrific engine of destruction, bringing victory.
In peace, chariot races were the favourite sport of the Aryas.

Looking after and training horses were among the accom-
plishments of the Kshatriyas. Most of the kings maintained a stud-
farm of their own. The military hierarchy among the Kshatriyas of
Rathi, Maharathi and Atirathi was based on their skill and mastery
in chariot driving. ; .

On this occasion, there were seventeen chariots, sixteen of
which were drawn by four stallions each. The seventeenth chariot
in which the Emperor and the Empress were to ride, had only
three pc::\;f;ri{lul stallions harnessed to the yoke; the fourth, which
i €ry one, was not yoked, and the charioteer had to
see thal, (hough umyoked. he would Gourse ogether vith the ot
stallion was Eiuly Worsﬁ? y by a separate set of reins. This fourth

pped as divine.

In vie f ’ i i
B, tlha'ﬁ grinége Emperor’s health, the head ritualist had

Gangeya should drive the chariot in th
_ ¢ race.
Maha Atharvan and Dvaipaayana, both enjoying the status

of Munis, were standj i i i
AT ding at the starting-point, besides the head

by a polite gesture to step aside and
i or, his body taut, his eyes fixed on the
streams of vitality, <}y ble lord ho tors - oasmitting mysterious
rity, ‘you can oi oble lord’, he told the Emperor with auth
T am afraid ;lzz the chariot yourself.’ ;™
‘No, you can’ rgge(;tt’ said the Emperor with a helpless smile.
eyes by his compell; ¢d Dvaipaayana and held the Emperor’s
noble Emperor,’ {he“% glance. As he repeated—‘Yes you can
shivered and cast 3 p legs o xed his gaze on Dvaipaayana,
“You can T assuilpless glance towards the others, Wi
a hand to_the Emperoy oL h:c:l;;i’:]p_eated Dvaipaayana and extended
1lm mount the chariot. ;
. 5 _Dvalpa.ayana,_ and as he caught hold
firm. Squaring his Shou[éne over him. His unsteady legs became
ers, he mounted the chariot himself to
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the amazement of all the Ach i
D aryas standing there.
e Ghar;g:t.tagana then arrested Qangeya’s movement to climb
0o y a polite gesture. ‘Noble Gangeya, the E ro
il drive the chariot himself: : G
e Emperor, who had once bee - i
tg}:;lthfn:ed the reins of the yoked horses 11131 hli.ls igft }%ﬁlséez;:clll ?I?Oteer’
e u;g}c:ked horse in the other, which also held the whip. e
T R b A T e e
NS ok g [aha Atharvan, will help you mount
Vatikaa would have sooner bitten her nose off, but
%as no disregarding the request. She offered a hand to the Emlfll':?iie
he Empress took hold of her hand, gave her cheek a fond pat and
mounted the chariot with sprightly steps.
Vatikaa sa'v her husband standing near the chariot, ready
to help the Empress, should she stumble while mouting the chariot.
Oh, the wicked woman—the whisper of her imagination became a
deafening roar. She trembled with rage. ‘I must act and act now.’
‘Satyavati, the Empress stood by her husband in the chariot,
straight-up with a triumphant look in her eyes.
Seventeen drums were sounded. The race began. Sixty-eight
horses of the finest breed raced towards the goal to the vociferous
delight of every one. Children jumped for joy. .
While every one in the huge crowd was watching the race with
breathless interest, Vatikaa quietly disappeared.
‘When one of the horses drawing a chariot became unruly, the
chariot toppled over and the charioteer Was thrown from it. This

led to tremendous excitement.
s attacked one another with

The horses of two other teams at _
d, snorted, tried to bite each other. The

chariots were roughly shaken and the kings driving them, barely
escaped with their lives. The attendants who ran to the spot could
Ojﬂ)' suppress this equine riot with great difficulty.
~ Ongce an atirathi of great power, the Emperor found his racing
spirit reviving. The unyoked stallion, a powerful and beautiful
animal, the finest product of the Emperor’s stud-farm, sensed that
the reins were now held by a master and would not brook any
other horse to outdistance him. He shook his manc; his nostrils
ﬁu“’ered; he snorted. Setting the pace of the three yoked horses,
e soon outstripped the other chariots. The Emperor won the race.
‘Sadhu, sadhu,’ shouted all who were watching the race.
After the race was won and offerings were made to the sacred

fire, there was a community dinner.

murderous fury. They rearc
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When the royal family retired to the camp, the Empress said:

‘Lord, today you were splendid.’ :
“Thanks to your son—I felt that I was twenty years younger.
¢....and yours too,” reminded the Empress.

When he was ready to retire, she arranged the bed-clothes
round him, folded her hands in salutation and saw that the oil
lamps which lighted the room were extinguished. With a nod to
the attending mull, she went into the adjoining room, where she
was to sleep.

Her maids removed the ornaments and diadem and }_lelped
her to change from the heavy formal dress that she wore into a
homely skirt and a scarf loosely tied over her breasts. She permitted
the maids to retire, leaving only Daavi, her senior maid, whose
duty it was to sleep on the door-step of the room.

She approached the bed and stood still. ‘Daavi, bring the
lamp,” she said. Daavi brought the oil lamp and held it so that the
Em_press could examine what had caught her attention.

There was a circle drawn around her bed in some milky sub-
stance. For a moment, the Empress was taken aback and tried to

discover the significance of this magic circle.

Without risking t Sl f
up the bear- ing the danger of crossing into it, she picked

B sicms from her bed and shook them. Four or five small
avos tha plant fell to the ground. She picked them up and exa-
.Someoneem carefully; they were the leaves of some magic herb.
this? Wh \:as trlymg to harm her by sorcery. Who could have done
S, Etl - could be the object of putting this spell on her? The
foRed riumph which had made her happy the whole day, va-

; (D . - E !
the Em?)iz;’s _Who Was in charge of this hut during the day?’ asked

Daavi looked i
see the race she rgle)lﬁgg

'D\E:IE .}Egll(lihfe for the whole time?
august mistressew e hands. ‘Forgive me. When I saw. that the
the temptation ofasgéi?)lggt ey RN forel
Di 0 see the race.’
‘I Illc'}tdy](;ilacsgg ttl?e magic cirgle?” asked the Empress.
I botghi insiii :ear;iskms in the sun and just before leaving,
circl“f was not there whe?lnI l::}f:‘tn'm{:i them on the bed. The mag_lc
‘Daavi, prepare my hed on |
magic circle,” said the g
She was miserabe,

nt. ‘T allowed the attendants to go and

on the ground. I will not sleep in this
mpress. ;

Who could this enemy be? Since she first

A
T
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came to Hastinapur, she had been trying to be friendly to all, oblig-
ing every one, never losing her temper. The very idea that she had
implacable enemies made her unhappy. _

She hastily sat down and began thinking about the person who
bore her a grudge. ‘I have made no enemies. I have made no one
unhappy, never harmed anyone. I have been a devoted and loyal
wife to the Emperor, an affectionate mother to Gangeya, gracious
to the Kuru chiefs, a generous mistress, solicitous about the welfare
of the attendants, as well as the people of Hastinapur. If T only

- knew his name, I would seek his forgiveness,’ she said to herself.

She called Daavi, who was standing at a distance and whis-
pered: ‘Daavi, go to the Bal-Muni. Tell him about the sorcery
which was being practised on me. Show him these leaves and tell
him to find cut the person who is bent on harming me. Ask him
to see me tomorrow, early in the morning. I sense some GONSpPIracy.



: CHAPTER 19
THE ASCENT TO HEAVEN

IN DVAIPAAYANA’S hut, Vatikaa retired to the room in which
she slept, away from her husband. . )
Dvaipaayana also went to his bed of deer-skins. Before lying

down, he took the deer-skin and as usual shook it. Four leaves

dropped from it. He picked them up and trought them near the
solitary oil lamp which dimly lJit the room.

He observed them closely and found that they were the leaves
of the magic herb pata. He was taken aback. This was the work of
some Atharvan who was adept in Yatu Vidya (sorcery). _

- Healready knew from his father that paza leaves had the magic
porver, when applied with appropriate mantras, to make an enemy

1&3 ydor wicked. Who could have placed them in his bed, he won-
ered.

Maha Atharvan was
best to rajse his position i
Sumantu were very frien

out of the question; he was doing his
n the world of the Munis. Shaunak and
Ath ) lendly to him. There must be some other
arvan _]BB.]OUS‘Of_hlS importance who wanted to harm him. -
Daa\?sc he sat thinking over this matter, he was surprised to see
e ‘g"th a message from the Empress. ‘Venerable Muni,
n'yht gh : istress has_sen_t a message: When she retired for the
1811, she found a magic circle round her bed, made of some
milky substance and found these leaves on her fjed.’
Dvaipaayana took the leaves from her hand.

VLY august mistress,” conti Iy 1
conspiracy agajnst her.> i

i ‘f:?;l;:;lyaléa identified the leaves as those of the magic herb
in the morni’ng' and tell your august mistress that I will see her
was no doubt ablm:;f't{ Vaipaayana was lost in thought. There
on him also wished t,lo- The person who was trying to work the spell
her than him, for i¢ ';vhork it on the Empress, rather more to harm
would have iy s Dad stepped into the magic circle, she
Who coul]?ﬁe]gl%tely altracted the spell.
wantedia correspcme({-And the person who tried to work this spell
person after another II!tlg change in him also. He thought of one
be Shaunak. And wh ¢ould not be Maha Atharvan. It could not
: What was the connection between him and the
Empress that led to thjg S ibei o
Suddenly, as if in 5 flash, he saw who had made this spell:
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it was Vatika -
Kkshet a. From the time the Em ; :
tohetra, he found that Vatikaa had e woin e
tried 0 be with the Empress . erself; she
aI;PGatI?anmc?;e fiiends with her, I‘?er re’s;l;]r?s:vgglféhm‘:otgﬁ Empress
He recoltljgzlitlgic(]}lusa wa'ls'}acking i warruly S
had laid a friendly ha(r}l\;,o\; 1{{ et_nlréountmg the chariot, the Empress
help, and when she affectionaetlei aa,ttthgugh she;didhol meed ey
turned pale and shivered y patted her on the cheek, she had
Vatﬂg;c% 05" this track, DV:di]Jaayana found other occasions whe

A thoig;ffsslfmkfﬂ-mdly overtures by the Empress. % >
without f‘ormalityru:xa t;m' In'fh‘S presence, the Empress aehavec
brought s ctly as 1 they were at Kalpi. She had been
ore indu‘{p Eo_the unsophisticated life of the fishei-folk; she there-
e Thougghe tl?'] freegon;ls which no Arya princess would be guilty
Beoplelitionly attract 4t immensely popular with the ordinary
et aty attracted the dislike cf the haughty Kuru chiefs.
Deoplel natural to her was offensive in the eyes of these proud -
natinHe saw light. Mother was glamorous. Her smile was fasci-
o g. Anyone who approached her was Jost in admiration of

“ways, though he might disapprove of the easy familiarity with
which she dealt with people.

led J_h}s was, beyond doubt, Vatikaa’s work; she must have been

d by jealousy, for the Empress openly showed her affection for
him.

o ;.lf_he pata leaves e bed of the Empress

L his own bed, mu arden of magic herbs
maintained by Maha Atharvan.
It was stupid of Vatikaa to beljeve that he bad an unjustified

{0nd_ness for the Empress O that the Empress was making love

hO him. He grew angry. Fora flitting moment a desire to punish

her came to his mind. Then he smiled. Poor Vatikaa was so much
in Jove with him that she had lost her balance of mind.

y He had no right to be angry with her; it was his fault for not
E?(plalmng to her this strange relationship between an august
Empress and an ascetic Muni. 1t was indeed fortunate that the

mpress had not stepped into the magic circle and had removed

the leaves from the bed.
e What was to be done to save the Empress from coming to
y harm and to prevent the exposure of Vatikaa’s foolish action?
woullfl' gatnk:aa discovered that he had traced the witchcraft, she
d te miserable. If he charged her with resorting tO sorcery

which were found on th
st have come from the g
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_ : bat
against the Empress, she might confess her guilt or ilsowgylt’c\]?cn
she would not forgive either the Empress or hun._lt ng‘fwwér}cing
if she came to know that she had been found gui l(}i’ i
sorcery on the Empress and himself, the guilt would opp

e heI:-lieh{flought and thought. He was in a difficult mtuaﬁug}{ hI;I:
could not tell the Empress who had tried to lay the spe

& - = I
If he told her, she would harbour a grievance against Vatikaa, 0
anyway look down upon her.

Vatikaa was entitled to his protecﬂion. H%mUStyI’}Ot hurt her
ignity nor expose her folly. Then what was the wa 2
qlgnl-%is heartpwem out to the poor girl, who, during the Ifit
seventeen days of the ceremonial, had been torn by Jea_loyis}’_dent
of love for him. He must not let her down nor must this 1ncl o
come in the way of the affectionate relationship which he wan
to establish between the Empress and Vatikaa. : a
Dvaipaayana got up and tapped at the door which separa ¥
his room from the room occupied by Vatikaa. Immediatel y Vatika
asked: “Is it you, Jord? Do you want me?’ :
“Yes, Jaabaaleyaaq, something unusual has happened. I wan
your advice’, replied Dvaipaayana.
Vatikaa immediately got up, adjusted her clothes and came
into the roo

m. She was under a nervous strain, for, if her husband
had discovered that she had put a spell on the Empress and him,
he would never forgive her. :
‘Sit down, Jaabaaleyaq, Why do you stand?’ asked Dvai-
Paayana in a very affectionate tone.
Vatikaa sat ip fr

ont of him, expecting an explosion, which
however never came,
3 & 1 1 :
Something strange has happened’, said Dvaipaayana. ‘I want
your assistance i

; .C¢ In solving this mystery.’
hat is it, 1orq9°

' asked Vatikaa. The moment she. dreaded
had come, -

Y R
Someone drew 5 magic circl
and left some

e around the bed of the Empress
Data 183.\’(‘:'5 under

her bed. Here are those leaves.’

He made no Mmention of the Jeaves found on his bed; that
would have made it a personal affair,’

Vatikaa was confused. She dared not look at his face. She
knew that he woulq be angry; perhaps he might abandon her
altogether.
Then Dvalpa_ayana said almost in a whisper: ‘I know pata
es; I used to pick them up when I accompanied my father on his
must be the magic herbs from your father’s

leav
journeys on foot. These
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%g.r;ien. We would find out who the culprit is. We should take steps
leavee that no harm comes to the Empress. You can show these
o fg_to your father, who possibly may be able to throw some light
5 trenlsbnrﬂésﬁeﬁﬂ“s witchcraft.” Vatikaa received the leaves with
.. Unable to speak a single word, Vatikaa suppressed - her
inclination to shout at Dvaipaayana to say that she herself had
{esorted to sorcery because the facinating Empress was making
hovc to him. But it was impossible to vent her jealous wrath, for
er husband placed implicit trust in her.
. “You must help me, Jaabaaleyaa, to find out what this cons-
piracy is. The same person might harm the Empress 1i1 SOmo other
way. So, you will have to attend on the Empress to see that no
harm comes to her from any Yatu Vidya,’ said Dvaipaayana.
 Vatikaa was again tempted to shout and say: ‘I will not do
it; T don’t want to look at that woman,’ but the very affectionate
and persuasive way in which Dvaipaayana expressed his confidence
in her prevented her from giving vent to her feelings. She looked
down and said as if to herself: ‘T will” ;
‘No. That is not enough, Jaabaaleyaa. Tomorrow morning
?{f shall go to her and I shall ask her to let you be with her all
€ time.’ ] -
“The whole time with her! What am I toqdo? Shff b“{i‘ I?;g_'
‘What are you to do, Jaabaall’s daughter? You avfeorcery)
tect her from this wicked influence—from Yatu Vfd}l’lﬂ Sff A
You know the Atharvan mantra which eradlcatesft e eh ;:m,
sorcery. You will, by your mantra-vidya, save her | rO{n‘ ik
Vatikaa could not resist the temptation of sayng: ‘Why are
you so solicitous about the Empress? It is the Emperor who 1s

ill and not the Empress.’ : _
‘Jaabaaleyaa, no marricd man should neglect his d m%ﬂ;ﬁz

and no married woman should come between her husbang, 23 anla

mother—as the venerable Muni Paraashara said,” Dvaipaay

told her.

_ Vatikaa could not believe her ears. ‘Mother! The Empress

is not 2 imed. i
your mother,” she exclai she nursed me in

‘She is, Jaabaaleyaa. She gave me birth; >
my infancy; she lived only for me. It was for my benefit that she
lﬁent me away with my father. That was before the Emperor married
ler.’ ‘

:What was she then?’ asked Vatikaa.

She was a fisher-girl.’

Proud as she was of her descent from the ancient seers—
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t she
Bhrigu and Angiras—Vatikaa felt as if she would swoon bu
bit her lips to maintain self-control. en years:
Then Dvaipaayana added: ‘T lost sight of her for fifte vishes
I met her again when, in order to fulfil the unexpresse
of the venerable Maha Atharvan, I went to Hastinapuf
the Emperor.’ d a nd
Like a demented person, Vatikaa looked at her husban o her
as she felt her head swimming, she put both her hands ©
forehead. oods
“When you come in contact with her, you will see hoW %n ;
generous and noble she is. Now she is in some danger frfl o her
enemy; you must protect her. It would be a cardinal sin tO 5010\365
harmed,” said Dvaipaayana encouragingly and added: ‘She

Y P : hert
me as no woman ever loved her son, and she is dying 0 find
daughter in you.’

: 3
Vatikaa was confused. Tears began to flow from hef:l eg:?,
‘Oh, the ancient seers, Bhrigu and Angiras! What h;we:[ OobS-
she murmured to herself, as she broke down and lapsed into ?t up
hD\ie_npailyana got up, brought a jug of water, and put ! o5
e deli lpS.ETakc this water, Jaabaaleyaa. Now, go to your I9 e
gge ;ST%E harly tomorrow morning we shall meet the Emp}'iré
to protect he?l}Dy to_flnd that both her son and his wife are th
to c;?tflkzaesilljent a sleepless night. She cursed her folly il}_trylflﬁ
in'ust}ce‘ tophcr %‘3 the Empress, and more especially in doing dt
dite sure wh thusljan':1 by misreading his character. She was nOS
?vhigh she had el er her husband had observed the pata leave
fulness at the g ?_ced on his bed, but she was overcome with grate-
The next dae I6ate manner in which he had saved her.

called the “As-.cgn\:zﬁ)t § culmination of the Vajpeya, the ceremony
In the mor

< eaven.”’ ’ .
camp. The Empn;;ls% Dvaipaayana and Vatikaa went to the imperial

the maids were g, iﬁ_nt a maid to bring them into the room where
On seeing D\?a-mg her with ornaments. i
affectionately anq Paayana and Vatikaa, the Empress smile
vatikaa was OVervg}?ve them her blessing as they touched her feet.
the Empress and cUrelmed by the qffectlonatn_e reception given by
spell on her, Sed herself again for having attempted to put
By a gest
Daavi,y hEI“g col;??agh{% Empress commanded all the maids, except
Then she turnléga] attendant, to leave the room. - .
ishna, did you f; to Dvaipaayana and asked in a whisper:
SRESARS Ind out who put the spell on me?’
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‘NO

1 - I have entrusted the werk to Jaabaaleyaa. She knows

the spells her father, Maha Atharvan, casts. She is also
N Atharyan S;I'erfya, you know. She will be with you all the time
Yave you from any possible harm,’ said Dvaipaayana.
ask, The Empress turned to Vatikaa with a smile. *Will you?* spe
e({,hgl]‘{anxiously.
~alikaa nodded assent.

3 am glad that you will be with me the wholehda_y. I feel' lost
With such a gcrowd staring at me. Please find out WHO 1S ¢conspiring
dgainst me said the Empress in an earnest vOIGE. I_Il' I knew who
cid it, Y would ask him how he came to bear ill-wi 1 %gamst me
and they, repair any wrong that I might have done to him. I wijjj
?k his forgiveness. I have not harmed anyone, nor intended to
0 80.°

Tears sprang from Vatikaa’s eyes. : X
Jaab Ip 5 said the Empress as she patted Vatikag
Kri Sk i o tone— L am sorry, I made
Kl‘lShna’-——then she added in a mocking to e
ah apse; I should have said the venerable " PPy
that he ha wife like you.’ treat :
Vatikaz \avas so overwhelmed by the ge?‘if:ru?eet :ndn:::l;f: ct)f‘
the Mpress that she could not resist falling a St-
lng hel‘ as “Mother.” g her aﬂd em‘braced her. T
The Empress bent down, lifted es iven me one,’ she said.
Wanted a daughter and the Great God ha g ppropriate_mantras
After the rituals were pcrformgd ?:ps of the sacrificial post
chanted, the Emperor climbed up the sTJhc Empress, with a hang
with the assistance of Acharya Vibhutl. = iy grace.
On Vatikaa’s. climbed the steps with sprig

ikaa was Nnow mak;i
Vaipaayana was glad to see that Vatika kin

t the foot of ¢
up for hey distrust of the Empress. She stood 2 he

led.

i ress if she stumb \
Stalrcal—?g’]; ead);;;) iﬂﬁ}f?%ﬁ?ﬁ;ss went in todtltlﬁer:éotr?u"?]};ft; ;1); trei)d
on the to mcE)t“ethe sacrificial post, and Sta{i(;bed o th;
priate maErm.s- were qhante_d. Then they fjerous shouts of “Victor
Adhvary,, Acharya Vibhuti, amidst thundets.; y

to the Best of Bharatas and the Mahade‘”;‘ken by the rity

2 st alists.
w as left of the Soma juice Wa: the others. >

the l‘cnkllgitn‘ir‘lr);sjUiGeS were distributed amoftglleir bathin perfy,
Then the Emperor and the Empress t09 med

the Srotriy
water to the accompaniment of the G?aﬁg’v&; asccndedigs}} The
were no longer humans; they were gods,
in their bodies. ' ificial fire. .
Then they took their seats near the sact A White

y
eaven
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umbrella—a sign of the imperial status—was unfol]dedkionvesr :l]ig
heads of the Emperor and the Empress. Everyone, “ewhog“:as 3
chiefs and all the Srotriyas, except Maha Atharvan, Bl
recognised Muni, came and touched their feet. The”GOIlgl' i3
lustily shouted: “Vigtory to the Best of Bharatas. (o
Dvaipaayana could not help noticing how happy the Emp
was, and so was Vatikaa. : f the Em-
The climax of the ceremony was a proclamation o
eror’s announced by Prince Gangeya:
" "The Best of Bharatas has taken a_pledge that the Porfrogsf
the Kurus will protect every ashram which is the centre of “gd’. eate d
living; every Srotriya, living in austere simplicity and def 1 e
to the WORD; every woman who is loyal to her lord and 3"1.’1 Y5
every cow, the mother of plenty—so that dharma may prevail.
‘The Best of Bharatas has also commanded me to announce
that in every way he will help the Shraut Satra, the Twelve-year
session which the venerable Bal-Muni Dyaipaayana proposes to
hold in the Paraasharg ashram, so that the-grace of the Gods and
the inspiration of the WORD may descend upon men.’

i)

S H
4;_4“.-.&.“1 W,




CHAPTER 20
/ THE VENERABLE MOTHER IN DISTRESS

THEinVaJ,’Sx?e)-'a._ was completely successful. It brought the lead-
Shantaﬁu ';9” iyas together; it raised the stature of the Emperor
e u among the kings; it whetted the edge of Arya conscious-
$s which had been blunted duri h d :
of Wolves was re-invested wi hm";lngc;' > protractg o SRl
source of dharma. ed with the dignity of Dharmakshetra, the
Vibhlf:; ‘ii’m the next day, the congregation began to disperse. Acharya
left for }\I’-’Oll_nd up the ceremony In an appropriate manner and
S astinapur, feeling happy at the thought that the ceremo-
ad added to his stature as the patriarch of the Srozriyas.
dis The kings and other chiefs who had come to attend the Vajpeya,
: persed after paying their respects to Dvaipaayana who had
een spontancously and unanimously. accepted as having attained
- to the status of a Muni, an honour generally reserved for a master
of learning and rapas who possessed miraculous poOwers.

The Minister, Kunik announced that the free kitchens would
be closed after two days, but according to the Emperor’s wishes,
he had made arrangements to supply foodgrains to the Paraashara
ashram and also to the Acharyas and their disciples who decided
to join the Twelve-year Shraut Satrd, & ceremonial session dedi-
cated to teaching and learning the WORD.

The goat-herds, foresters, tradfe.;r]s5 and V;Sﬂ;lf;fs
perse after inc the blessing © yaipaayana. . .

When t?lcg lll;{:,r.gflock of the gﬂiﬁ,ﬂg game to offer their par}l;l_n;g{
salutations to Bal-Muni, the situation was sygchal‘ged with hig
emotion. With their arms extended, the ailing c_lamoured for

relief. They besought the Bal-Muni to heal their sickness by his
miraculous powers. He disclaimed any such power; 1t Was the
power of the WORD, he said, which would come to the rescue,

when one acquired complete faith. ) s
ir family, women-

As usual, the ailing with the members of the X
: each with a pot of

folk and children, sat round the Bal-Muni, g t
milk in his hand. Bal-Muni dropped the leaf of 2 magic herb into
each pot and uttered appropriate maniras. A

 After they had taken the milk, he went round giving a. bless-
Ing to each sufferer. He had his own form of blessimng: ‘Have faith
in the WORD and it will cure you.” Then he talked for a few mo-
ments with each of-the suffering about his personal problems,
and about his domestic life, and the condition of his cows; if the

pegan to dis-
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sufferer happened to be a woman, he enquired about her daughters
and daughters-in-law. : .

i Thegfc}hildren were heart-broken at the prospect of parting
with him. He had talked to them about his friendship with the
fish in the Yamuna and how he could understand their language.
One child came forward and asked him: “Won’t you teach me the
language of the fish?”’ :

He said: “Next time you come here, I will teach you how to
talk to the fish. For now, go with your parents.””

Then he led them to the entrance of the ashram. When the
final parting came, every eye was moist, but every heart was full
gf happiness, for he had given them the most precious of gifts—

ope.

4 Nevertheless, it was greatly against their will that they parted
from him. :

The visiting Srotriyas also left, after offering salutations to
Bal-Muni. So did such of the Acharyas as were anxious to return
to their respective Paraashara ashrams on the banks of Yamuna.
They, however, extracted a promise from him that after the Twelve-
year Shraut Satra was over, he would visit their ashrams in the
Same way as the venerable Paraashara Muni used to do.

. As they were leaving, Dvaipaayana gave them a last warning:
l;{!ié?j WORD would promote righteous living only if the Srotriyas

in tapas, austere poverty and rigorous self-discipline. Without
tapas, there could be no achievement.’
Then he prayed ;

Grant us, 0 Gods, protection——
By protection, give us zest to live;
By such a zest, mutual understanding ; :
By such an understanding, the knowledge of truth;
By such kno wledge, the will to live righteously,
By such a will, the love of all things;
And by such love, faith inthe WORD
That reveals Rita, the Order which
fmmndipholds the Universe.

Dvaipaayana, Gautama, Paila and Sumantu organised the

life of the giant ashram, which, though presided over by Gautama

?\;Sﬁf head of the Paraashara Gotra, was in fact guided by Bal-

He appointed Paila in char k; i
ae ] ( arge of Rik; Gautama in charge of
Samfjd: Sumantu in charge of the Atharvan lore.

number of young Srotriyas, attracted by his learning and
personality, had decided to join the ashram; the task of bringing

o W
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their learning and self-discipline to the isi
adde% tp - responsibilit)l?. requisite standard also
Valpaayana saw to it that Dharmakshetra

shape which his father would have loved to give it. e

N hWhen the morning star rose, he would go to the; ashram of
laha Atharvan to master the Atharvana lore. On bhis return, he

would attend to the ailing and distribute food to the children.

After the midday meal, he would join the Acharyas to give a final

touch to the recitation of the WORD.

_Soma Yaag, a sacrificial ceremonial, in which the worship
of ‘King’ Soma, the miraculous plant, was predominant, was also
performed now and again to standardize the ceremonials.

The womenfolk of the ashrams milked the cows, ground corn,
prepared food, looked after the children, observed the vow of
strict loyalty to their husbands and sang songs.

Boys, when they attained the age of eight, were invested with
the sacred thread and - as Brahmacharis began to master the
WORD. The new Acharyas, when they became competent, were
sent out to found ashrams of their own and spread the message
of righteous living, through tapas. , .

In the meantime, affairs at Hastinapur were getting compli-
cated. ' :

Exactly 17 months after the Vajpeya, the Empero
departed for the Land of his Forefathers. oot Frasti

Dvaipaayana often thought of his mother and visited X f:;rl-
napur now and again, even though he had to perform cxpia Y

rituals on his return before rejoining the Shraut Satra.
He was glad to see that Prince Gangeya was taking prompt

i i tected from
action to see that the ashrams 11 the realm were pro
rakshasas. bandits and wild beasts, that the Srotriyas and loyal

women were respected and that vows were honoured as living
divinities. '

After the mourning period was OVer, Chitrangada was duly
installed as Emperor, but a few months later, he lost his life in a

border incident. :
The death of Chitrangada came as a bitter blow to the Empress

Satyavati who was now universally called the venerable Mother
and it took some time before she came back to her normal self.
Vichitraveerya was installed as Emperor with due ceremony,
but an atmosphere of gloom enveloped Hastinapur. Luckily,
Gangeya’s firm hand was there to guide the policy of the State
and his leadership enhanced the military strength of the Kurus.
During this hectic period, Vatikaa often had to stay at Has-

r Shantanu
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tinapur with the venerable Mother, Jeaving Shuka, her infant son,
with Urvi, her father’s sister. Every few weeks she came to Dhar-
makshetra and kept her husband in touch with affairs in Hasti-
napur. _ ) . e

The venerable Mother was having distressing time. She con-
tinued to feel that the shadow of a great calamity was about to
fall on her, on Hastinapur and on the Kurus.

This distress was not unjustified. Vichitraveerya’s health was
very poor, and if something happened to him, the royal line of the
Bharatas would be extinct-and the power of the Kurus would
collapse, she felt.

That Bal-Muni was her son by Muni Paraashara had come
to be whispered from mouth to mouth. However, it did not affect
the respect in which he and the venerable Mother were held.

Satyavati was loved for her goodness, generosity and her
readiness to give help to all who sought it. Dvaipaayana was held
in veneration for his vast learning and mastery of the WORD; for
his congern for the welfare of all; for the healing touch which
};% ga.veuto the ailing; for his vow of feeding the children; and

Shoa;?a%ﬁ for his miraculous power, which had revived the Emperor
Vichitra was weak in health, not much of an expert in arms
and temperamental in dealing with men. Whispers had gone round
the royal houses about his maternal ancestry; no king was, there-
t‘ore,T\f_Illling to offer his daughter to him. > , there

. ¢ venerable Mother found the situation very di i
. 1 y disheartening.
Prm(il‘?hgaK‘}%eya:f IEW;YGI, discovered a solution. s
g ol Kashi was holding a Swayamvara f i
daught . L Iay ra for his three
hu‘;%;?n‘gs’ Ambaa, Ambikaa, and Ambalikaa, to select a proper
for each. Prince G h :

Kuru warriors, descended angcys Wi Qustrong pontingent ol
the three princesses—p S WL the Swayamvara and kidnapped
defeat on the Ki y no means an unusual event—inflicting a
Honci tatwee thmg of Kashi and on the other Princes who had

Thiswas e ‘:rgﬁlnd of one or other of the Kashi Princesses.
had lost her selt‘-conr?‘lzih for Kuru-power, no daubt, but Satyaval

idence, since she realised that the prestige of

the royal house whi : S

Vatikaa who h: ; : (
o T Wéd}:lrilg come to Dharmakshetra went to Hastinapur

g of Vichitra; Dvaipaayana could not, as his
attcnﬁa;}gi a:w:h}[: Shraut Satra W;ELS essg;tigl. Moy
Aharas wcreer: _ltfglter, when Dvaipaayana and the principal

b4 ciing the mantras in the Paraashara ashram,

A
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they heard the clatterin
- g of wheels &
:ccltﬂsxvs.%l()sostOPPed. Something uneiggc?e%oiggaﬁaggei%?es' T
n as the first chariot i 3
ashram, Kaundinya, a Minister, Glix?lrgglegu;titog I}te amdtral'lce ofgthe
StBPST‘l?l{;Hﬁ. to where Dvaipaayana was sitting B HiTied
; :
L M sonomcs 0l e e
ESitance of _ d a beat as he hastened towards the
e the ashram, with the other Acharyas following.
e endants eeDr-sklp curtains of the third chariot were lifted by the
i . Daavi got out of the chariot first and held out a hand;
e venerable Mother took it and stepped down from the chari 5
Dvaipaayana’s heart almost sank; only di i i
T o8t Sarks only dire calamity could have
xste: 11 _ come to har maksl:?rra in such unceremonious
e prostrated himself before his mother, who patted him
on the back by way of a blessing. N
Satyavati was as beautiful in sorrow as she was in triumph;
as graceful in unadorned simplicity as when she wore the royal
diadem; as impressive-——pcrhaps more—in the black scarf which
enveloped her from neck to heel than when she wore a gem-studded
skirt and sgarf, Her sprightliness was now replaced by the dignity
ﬁgrmature womanhood. The shadow of a great sorrow was upon
After the Srotriyas had blessed her, Dvaipaayand cleared
the way and led her to his hut, requesting Paila to carry i Wit
the recitals. He also asked one of the disciples to prepare for her
the hut in which the Emperor and Empress had lived during the

Vajpeya and bring her a cup of buttermilk.
s, all her attendants went out

At a gesture from the Empres . _ ‘
except Daavi. Then she sat down on a deer-skin which Dvaipaa-
yana had spread out for her.

‘Mother, where is the daug
asked impatiently.

‘T sent her with Ambaa.’

~ Suddenly Satyavati burstin
misfortune, like a thunderbolt, has struck us down,’

‘A thunderbolt!’ exclaimed Dvaipaayana.

‘It has fallen upon me, Gangeya, our family, the Kurus and

ted by sobs.

in a way upon dharma itself.” Her words were interrup
‘I thought you

“What is it?” Dvaipaayana asked in surprise. ht
were happy after the Kashi Princesses Were married to Vichitra-

veerya’.
ode was a ghastly affair,” the Empress

¥ ‘No, the marriage epis
roke down again as convulsive sobs shook her frame.

K. P-VI—7

hter of Jaabaali? Dvaipaayana

to tears, her lips quivering. ‘Krishna,
she said.



CHAPTER 21
THE MASTER ON THE SCENE

; all
(NTow take a little buttermilk,” Dvaipaayana offered the sm
Nclay jug of buttermilk to his mother. . oq . At

After she regained her composure, Satyavatlh sal L e
was expected did not materialise. Only two of the three

jed to Vichitraveerya.’ s )

Wem‘%?nsvhat was the matter with the third 7 Dvaipaayana
asked.

' - father’s consent, she had pledged herself to King
g}la;l\,‘;l.d};hléelwas going to select him at the open .Swayam'.iqf{‘a:
when C’iangeya came, forcibly kidnapped her and ruined her life.

The Empress wiped her tears, sipped a little of the butter-
milk and added : ‘Gangeya was as noble-hearted as ever. He
admitted the propriety of Ambaa’s decision, and sent her to Shalva
as if she were a Kuru Princess. The Minister, Kunik, accompanied
her with wedding presents for the bridegroom. At my request
Vatikaa also went with her.’ ;

“What happened to the Princess 2 Dvaipaayana interrupted.

The venerable Mother laid a hand on her forehead. ‘Oh
Gods I’ she exclaimed; she looked the very image of despair.

‘Shalva declined to wed Ambaa. He had been defeated, he said,
by Gangeya at the swayamvara in open battle and it would be
unbefitting for a kshatr

Shatriya to accept her as a gift from the man
who had won her in the battle.’ -

‘What followed on that 7’ y

‘Then one misfortune followed another,” said the Mother.
After a pause she continued : ‘Ambaa returned to Hastinapur in
mlghpy _Tage, upbraided Gangeya for having ruined her life
igg,msmcd upon his marrying her for the wrong he had done

:Oh- Gods P’ Dvaipaayana exclaimed.

Gangeya, in spite of the abuses which she hurled at him and
me, explained to her that e had taken a pledge not to marry
and begged Ambaa to marry Vichitrg oor to find a proper suitor.’

Mother wiped her tears and continued : I also begged of
her to live with me in Hastinapur as my daughter. She would be
treated, T assured her, witp 4] the dignity and comfort of a Kury
Princess and would be marrieq to 4 Prince of her choice.’

‘She declined ?

‘Ambaa, the eldest, declined to marry Vichitra. She said _

_——_—
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‘She was n aoi s :
Word%;lat Gange)?; z?.nzlv?nrg'a’m but a raging volcano, emitting fiery
¢ Mother paused for a while and then continued : °
id_]t:a(r)rganded that she should be sent to her maternal Jc;,ramdf'atl?cj;-'e
ced ra Vahana, who had retired to the Himalayas. She also announ-
k?llelclie’r resolve that she would have Gangeya marry her or see him

Di What a woman !’ exclaimed Dvaipaayana and asked :
id you comply with her demand ?’

o The venerable Mother heaved a deep sigh and continued :
here was no other alternative.’ _
_‘Did the Minister, Kunik, and Jaabaaleyaa (Vatikaa) also go’

with her ?° asked Dvaipaayana.

. The Mother replied : ‘Yes. The last message that I received

rom Vatikaa was that they were staying at the ashram of Rishi

Shaikhavatya, and that grandfather Hotra Vahana also had

arrived there. Both were trying their best to persuade her to give

up her resolve.’

“When do you expect Jaabaaleyaa to return ?”

. . ‘Very shortly, but in the meantime the situation became

infinitely worse,” said his Mother. She wiped the tears which welled

from her eyes. : .

‘Last week, Akrutvarna, the disciple of the mighty Parashu-
rama, came to Hastinapur with the Master’s message. It seems he
arrived at the ashram and was prevailed upon by f\ml:gaa to
intervene. You know that Gangeya was his disciple, said his

Mother. "
“Wh aster’s message?’ g Xy
‘Thea;lgsiigilivzge{ will quote the very words—*‘I am coming
to the gshram of Maha Atharvan TJaabaali, two days after the dark
Moonless night. Meet me there, re@dy tc:,{narry Ambaa whose
ife you have ruined or to fight with me”’." The Mother broke
own. _
calise the meaning of the

‘Doc oble Prince Gangeya I . nean .
mesgagef?,s ats};cci:dn Dvaipaayana. There was anxiety 1n his voice.

“The significance of the message 18 Very clear: either Gangeya
breaks his vow to remain unmarried, or offers his life in a fight
With his guru. Krishna, either way, Hastinapur 18 doomed.” Tears
again sprang up in her eyes as she was qnable to speak further.
She placed her hands over her forchead in despair.
. ‘You need not tell me more, Mother,” said Dvaipaayana.
I know that if Prince Gangeya leaves for the Land of the Fore-
fathers, civil war will destroy the Kurus. Vichitra, with his weak
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health and vacillating behaviour, will not be able to control the
situation by himself.’ : oE. £
‘The future is very dark,” said his Mother. Th? edifice Od
dharma which we were building up will be demolished.” She wip¢
her tears, and paused for a moment, staring vacantly. d
Then she continued: ‘Krishna, sometimes I wish I ha
stayed at Kalpi as a fisher-woman and brought you up myself. we
would have wershipped Mother Yamuna and lived happily.’
Dvaipaayana saw that she was seeing_ picfures of how they
had lived at Kalpi. Then she smiled a little: ‘Do you remembef,
Krishna, how T taught you to dive into the river? Out of fear, you
wouldn’t do it of your own free will. So I played a trick on you;
I sank into the waters pretending that I was drowning. You lost
your fear and dived to rescue me.’
Dvaipaayana’s face assumed its boyish smile and he said:
‘Is that what you are doing now—pretending to be drowned $0
that 1{;{0?1? dlvcd and rescue you?’
other and so . e
ey I,;O e rea]itis'laughed. In a moment, however, they cam
valpaayana spoke t - ‘T also see that with nobl®
Gangeya gone, the ksl:atra}igﬁ}:}f; i‘lgdiarfce of valour—will nlevne?- be
harnessed to brahmg te; 2 p f th S Aft e
he asked: ‘When jq PJ—_—the radiance of the spirit.” After a pau
“Prince Gan rince Gangeya coming here? )
A nincd behindgfya will be coming here in three days’ time. H¢
O make arrangements in case he did not return:

He has grown silent
of Haslinapur wij] ?;T‘guiﬁ?; If Gangeya ceases to be, the powef

gg;lrl‘ I\gother and son were silent.
Don't ygalipaayana looked up.
will just happen . o-1¥> Mother. Leave it to the God Surya. Things

Three days g 23 We wish, but as He wills.
accompanied by 4 fer Prince Gangeya arrived in his war chariot
the entrance of thce“’ Kuru Maharathis in their own chariots. At
Prince ceremonioyg Paraashara_ashram, Dvaipaayana received the
tatiogs' > and the Prince, in turn, offered him salu-

angeya's fag .
Dyvaipaayang elgffs grim, his lips firm set, his eyes stern.
removing his armg 1 him to the hut prepared for him. After
pthSAtffi fhg.Mothe’r_ accompanied Dvaipaayana to pay his res-
er his sajutyy;

was OPRISang them " he at once plunged into the matter which
al-Muni, hag )\

S Mother told you everything about the crisis?’

e v il _H__:.qu'_.::.m_‘ 4
A e — e

l/.nu
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to do%”es, Dvaipaayana replied briefly. “What do you propose
Gangeya cleared his throat d said: ¢ i
I wi at and said: My way is clear.
) ng;)t I?I;C&;{]:’;?‘ pledge not to marry. I will not break my pledge
‘Mother is worried as to what would happen if you
10t there to lead the Kurus,” said Dvaipaayana.pp S
‘AndI” break my pledge, I will be worse than dead,’ said Gangeya.
livs once the Master gives a mandate, you cannot disobey and
i Gangeya......” began the Mother, but she could not con-
HHB‘, as her voice was choked.
‘Pleasc don’t worry about me, Mother,” said Gangeya.
S I know what you feel, Gangeya,” said the Mother. “You are
alyapratigna, living in and for the truth; your death would be the
f_mwmng act of your heroic life; you would live on as a beacon-
flght in the memory of men because you had been one who pre-
te:rred death to breaking his plighted word. But what would happen
o the dharma which your father and you have helped to build up?
That world would crash.’
Gangeya shook his head sorrowfully. ‘If I don’t adhere to
my vow, how can I stand for dharma? he asked frankly.
' Tears were in the Mother’s eyes; she did not know what
0 say. .
The news travelled from mouth to mouth that the mighty
Bhargava, Parashurama—Rama of the Battle Axe—was coming to
Dharmakshetra.

In his own life-time Parashurama had attained to the status

igni ivini i iri tion, wor-
an, vinity, inspiring awesome veneration, :
L e Y T s—Lord Shiva Himself.”*

shipped by some as the God of all god .
highl venerated Sage Jarn.adagm:
He was the son of the highly I e

who had been killed by Sahasrarjuna.
in the course of his invasion, had devastated Aryavarta, destroyed

kingdoms, killed many revered sages, reduced ashrams and settle-
ments to ashes, raped women and butchered Gows. :
Then Parashurama had arisen as the great ayenger, destroying
the invading hordes hip-and-thigh. His epic exploits had been woven
into the race memory of the Aryas through song and story, des-
cribing how he had killed the mighty Sahasrarjuna with his bare

hands; how he had organized an rresistible force to overcome

the invader; how, under his leadership, the Aryas finally destroyed

1. For details vide Munshi's romance Bhagawan Parashuram in an English
summary published by the Bharatiya Vidya Bhavan.
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he had filled

ders. He was
fa master

I : -a; how
the Haihayas on the battle-field of Kurukshetra; I
the five S}):amanmka lakes with the blood of the m;f; "
said to possess ttlle mysterious and awesome pow h
f the Aghori cult. ; : t, as he
> He }%ad cleared Aryavarta of the invading hordesﬁaléu R
was a strict Brahmin pledged to non-possession, he their des-
back the respective territories to the rightful rulers or
cendants. y :n Shur-
~ Every year he came to Aryavarta from his ashf‘a?glé“ askiram
paraka (Sopara) on the West Coast on his pilgrimage to < and to
of Nara and Narayana at Badrinath in the Himalayd - Killed
Kurukshetra where his father, the Sage Jamadagni, had be
and his ashram burnt down. A ;
Whenever the Master came to Aryavarta, his dl?Glp[eget‘;hig
conducted the Parashurama ashrams in Aryavarta to train 6& The
the use of arms, joined him. They travelled in open Ghaflﬂlts' S
kings offered them hospitality; the residents of the settiem the
and villages on his path congregated to receive a darshan from
mighty saviour and secure his blessings.

When on a visit to avarta, he would invariably stay for
a few days with Maha A&?rvan, whose predecessor in office s
been his grandfather, Maha Atharvan Rickhik. When at Kurt-
kshetra, he offered an obsequial tribute to his father on the spot
where he had been killed. '

On this occasion, all those living in the ashram of Maha Athar-
van came down the

1 hill to join the inmates of other ashrams 1
Ieceiving the Master. : i
chari °-eame with the thundering swiftness of a hurricane, %
eacgloé[.e’}veloped in a cloud of dust, followed by his disciples,

ving his i
The Mg own chariot.

el “aster was a giant of a man, wearing a tiger-skin around

il‘lziielatgss' fI nllsplf‘e of his age, his muscles were POWerf”L oty

s i his beard ample; his matted locks rose on his head

with humony. 1Po2Ks ‘of Kailas, His large eyes, often twinkling
Heheld i Uﬂf‘-‘d_dee_p behind his bushy eyebrows.

e crooke TeIns in his right hand; his mighty battle-axe rested

flashing [t Of his left arm, its bright blade now and again
With & t!ghtmng_as the rays of the sun fell upon him.

aut of fhe'ch Wist of his wrist, he pulled up the horses and jumped

before him -a%(;tl‘{\;ﬁl h:shl:_uattle-axe, as everyone prostrated hipﬁelt‘
: . u is 1i : eryone. a

you live for a hllndre% y‘i:rgslzt hand and blessed every y

The Master embraced Maha Atharvan and turned to Gangeya,




!
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WhO‘had prostrated himself before him, and patted his back.

You have come, Gangeya? asked the Master with a loud
lz}ugh and added: ‘Speak with me tomorrow after the morning
rituals.’

‘As the Master commands,’ replied Gangeya.

The Master turned to Maha Atharyvan. ‘Jaabaali, your daugh.-
ter, with the Princess of Kashi and the attending Minister, wi||
soon arrive, Tell someone to look after them and bring them to
the ashram.’

‘As the Master commands,” replied Maha Atharvan.

When they reached the foot of the hill, the Master turned
to the crowd and said: ‘All of you go and attend to your appointed
tasks. Maha Atharvan will look after me.’

As he took a step forward, he suddenly turned to Gangeya
who was following him. ‘Gangeya, is your mother here?

‘Yes, lord,” replied Gangeya.

‘Bring her withp you, he said and wqu to Maha Athagvan.
‘Jaabaali, your daughter is very clever,’ said the Master with a
chuckle. “Where is her husband, about whom 1 have heard SO much?
: ]?Ivaipaayana, who was there, folded his hands. ‘Master,

am here.’

‘%ou are Paraashara’s son?’ asked the Master.

‘Yes, lord,” replied Dvaipaayana. :

. Your wife isxvléry clever,’p sai}é the Master w1t1}11 amusement
in his eyes, ‘She was full of praise for you when she met me at

Shaikhavatya’s ashram.’

b Yes, I}\//Iasstgi.l ltll"he' daughter };)f lt(hei Vg;;i%blg‘m%gzy?gaﬁgg
as not :eovered my drawbacks,” TC

a tWinkleyfri 1(311556 e(;'es,matching the twinkle 1n the,e}’:asi cfl’f g:g l\iffaster.

‘Take care, Paraashara’s son, take Ga{;:“ s w_f..astgzr
pointing a warning finger at Dvcriupaa)'aﬂa- £ wile will
always b on her husband.’ il »

yDVa?pga%i% folded his hands and replied: “Master, a critjca)
wife would other him.

Both thcsnl\}laster and Maha Atharvan ha('loﬁs-h?)?gy laugh
over the repartee. Their laughter Was contagious; ers also
Jjoined in. : .

“You are right, my boy,” said the Master. ;
With Ma}r;-f Atharvan, the Master took the path which leg to
the ﬂSh!'a}n_



CHAPTER 22
THE MASTER’S DECISION

The next day, after the morning rituals were over, Sumantu

brought Prince Gangeya, Dvaipaayana and the venerable
Mother, sadness lending dignity to her gentle face, followed by
the constant Daavi, to where Maha Atharvan and the Master werc
seated. After the salutations, the Master, by a gesture, asked them
to take their seats on one side.

7 Shaunak, the principal disciple of Maha Atharvan, had
brought Ambaa, the Princess of Kashi, who had arrived the previous
evening. Vatikaa, the Minister, Kunik, and Hotra Vahana, the

maternal grandfather of Ambaa, also came with her.

T ékre};baa was tall and statuesque, and wore her hair unbraiclled;

Gang{:ya‘:iﬁ? red and her face sullen. As soon as she saw Prince

o e ttfg near the Master, she began to tremble, her nerves

SeSsah ly high-strung. She glared at him with irrepressible

‘Ly(;n;}?kmg like a tigress ready to jump on her victim.

S Shi said to the Master in rising vehemence, ‘there

SoRtn e ‘I‘-IV o has ruined my life.’ She pointed at Gangeya and

olohinaa n‘fla;“lll.ned my life—rendered me homeless—Ileft me

mad?r S Gasta\?ggiflt?lt’z-;g?‘groyed my hopes of happiness—

“Chil hig\fnasézr , by a gesture, asked her to take a seat and added:

meaa'l; fe yoursel‘f. W(_i will set everything right presently.’
to marry me ¢ ury subsided into a whimper. ‘Lord, I want him
choked in h 0 compensate for his misdeeds.” The last words were
he Mailt‘e:hﬁo?t’ as she burst into tears.

told me your tale oefd up his hand. ‘My child,” he said, ‘you have

‘ought to expiate hi‘sme many tI’I‘nCS. I agree with you that Gangeya

Gangeya, why don’t n;:::lie?:li:}ryTﬂ%dzg’ the Prince he asked:

rince eLel

said: ‘Masl:e(l:}ajrigi?ztt folded his hands and in respectful accents,

the swayamyar fue that T kidnapped the Princess of Kashi at
. ara. Among K : : : :

bride from a swayamy g Kshatriyas, as you know, kidnapping a

her to be the Emprefa 18 never considered sinful. We wanted

Vichitraveerya. She—wathf Hastinapur, but she refused to marry

with the wedding nted to marry Shalva; so we sent her to him

_ Presents befitting a K i
did not accept her, Then the venegable I\blll")l::hlgil.r?e.%& S

Ambaa i
Interrupted vehemently: ‘The venerable Mother in-
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deed!” Then her face grew red. *

she 1& a% the back of gall my tmhlclgg?v herHovi; e s 2 ek
mbaa stood up in excitement adjusted her scarf CRE

to the v L e e and pointin

s hereegre;:‘gllft 'I\it'o.t,her, continued: ‘She is wicked, lord. If I coulg

Every one present was shocked at Ambaa’s explosi i
got up from the place where as sitti plosion: Vatitas
near‘the ity {_P Mothell}. she was sitting and seated herself
o %gumcairge tear_tlher f:yes out after we all leave Kurukshetra,’

2 T
R e qui:::l.’ 1 a laugh and made a gesturc to Ambaa to take

Ambaa shook her head, ‘Why should 1 be quiet? She is my
arch-enemy; she is the evil influence behind Gangeya.’

_ The venerable Mother was shocked; she had never heard such
wild abuse before. ‘I have never stood in the way of any one,’” she
murr}mred in distress.

You alone have stood in my way,” Ambaa shouted. ‘I know
everything about you. When you married the Emperor Shantanu,
Gangeya was forced to take a pledge that he would not marry.’

,At the mention of this, the venerable Mother burst into tears.
Vatikaa put her arms around her protestively.

‘By her witchcraft,” Ambaa continued, ‘she has cast a spell
upon Gangeya; he has become her slave.’” She repeated this remark
with such vehemence that her speech became incoherent. ‘This
witch will not release Gangeya from the VOW.’ f :

Gangeya’s eyes flashed in anger, but he ‘mastered it and said:
‘Master, the accusations made by the Princess of Kashi against

unjust, and Venomous. The

the venerable Mother are untrue,
Mother has looked after my interest more than my own mother

would have done. The Princess of Kashi does not know that the
venerable Mother begged of me again and again that T should give
up my vow and marry the Princess of Kashi.’

“What a mother and what a son!” Ambaa laughed derisively.
‘She knows that if I marry Gangeya, my son will claim the throne of
the Emperor Bharat and her son will be nowhere. The Gods have
been punishing her. One of her sons has been killed and the other
will soon follow him to the Land of his Forefathers.’

The Master, by a gesture, again asked Ambaa to take her seat
and turned to Gangeya. ‘If Satyavati is willing that you should
revoke your vows, why don’t you do it?’
... Gangeya looked down for a moment or two and spoke:
Master, you know better than I do; if a man breaks his plighted
word, he is worse than dead; he has committed spiritual suicide.
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My vow is the sheet-anchor of my life. For days and nights I
struggled against the temptation to break it; human nature being
so weak, I had a hard time obtaining the victory over it. A vow
taken is a promise given to the venerable Father, the Gods and
the Forefathers. I would sooner die than break it.’ ] B

Ambaa looked at Gangeya with contempt and in derisive
accents said: ‘Look at the great ascetic!’ _

‘Have T the Master’s permission to speak?’ asked Dvaipaayana
in his most persuasive way.

‘Yes, you may,’ replied the Master.

‘The empire of Chakravarti Bharat stands or falls with the
noble Prince,” Dvaipaayana said in a quiet way and added: ‘The
Kshatriyas worship him as a shining example of Kshatra Dharma
(righteous valour). People stand in awe of his superhuman moral
strength.” Then he paused for a while and resumed: ‘If he breaks
his vow, he will forfeit the faith which the people have in him;
the alliance between radiant valour and radiant dharma which he
stands for, will give way.’

The Master listened fo Dvaipaayana’s words with interest.

Dvaipaayana continued: °If I were Prince Gangeya, I would
not depart from the vow. Equally, T would not combat you as
you are my guru. In both ways dharma would be undermined.
The choice is between Ambaa’s life and life in dharma,’ said Dvai-
paayana.

«r . The venerable Mother wiped the tears from her eyes and said:
I beg Ambaa to name any other price. If she thinks that 1 am at
the bottom of all her troubles, 1 am willing to give up my life.’

Ambaa interrupted her in a loud voice: ‘I don’t want your

life.l_ If,,Gﬂnge}[a has taken a vow, so have I; either he marries me
or I will see him killed.” She shot an angry glance at the venerable

Mother and added: T 4 i ife.”
: m not concerned wit .
to the Master: ‘This woman. ...’ 3 P g

The Master intervened st s
thatisohoid s sternly: “....The venerable Mother—

“....She has a tongue wh; : :
Ambaa. gu¢ which drips honeyed words.. ... began

‘Gangeya,’ interrupted the Master, ¢
; Ip ‘aster, ‘'you must release your-
self from the vow. Circumstances have changed. The purpose of
your vow has been fulfilled. Satyavati’s son is now Emperor of
Hastinapur and married to the two Princesses of Kashi.’

The Master held up his hand to quiet Ambaa who was ready
to explode.

‘Gangeya, I have promised Ambaa that T will see that justice

e a—
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is done to her. I will have you marry her or fight me; and

Whatltlﬂit means,” said the Master. : : You know
By ow it too well,’ said Gengeya firmly. ‘I have not I

with the Master for twelve years in vain.’ t-lived

“You will not break your vow then? asked the Master.

Gangeya shook his head. ‘It wounds my heart to say that
1 cannot comply with the Master’s injunctions.’

“Will you fight me? asked the Master with an amused smile.
’ Gangeya looked at the Master with eyes full of reverence.
No, lord. 1 shall keep my pledge; I will see that your promise to
Ambaa is kept, for it is more precious than my life.’

The Master moved his hand over his beard.

“May I speak, Master?” asked Dvaipaayana with folded hands.

The Master nodded assent, so Dvaipaayana said: ‘May I
respectfully point out to the Master that the empire of Chakravarti
Bharat—Aryavarta itself—depends upon_the strength and confi-
dence which Prince Gangeya commands. He is Satyapratijna, truth
ihn_calrnate, He can forswear his plighted word only at the cost of

1s life.’

The Mother reiterated. ‘I beg
?ther price that she wants. Als'fl have

am willing to give up my life” "

‘T onlygwan% Gangeyay to marry rpe,’ Arr}baa shouted. ‘That
is all that T want: nothing more, nothing less.” She shot a‘Ill\/I angry
_glace at Satyavati. Then she turned to the Master. aster,

Gangeya reak his vow.’ ; .
gT)l;cnniﬁixsslsl ft‘ ?ghtt) him’,fsﬁi'd the N}I{aster with a broad smile,
i the edge of his remarx. :
Whl(}% ta?:rc:kafz‘);‘;i?z tge Pr?ncess of Kashi does not realise the enor-
mity of the situation if Gangeya dies,” said Dvalpaayana.

The Mother intervened: ‘T beg of the Princess of Kashi to
1 marry Vichitraveerya and

accept what I suggest: that she should /
become the Empress of Hastinapur. I shall then retire to the
forest and renounce the world.’

swered Ambaa contemptuously.

‘I don’t care what you do,” an ity |
The Master intervened. ‘Gangeya, you leave me no a ternative

but to fight you.’ ) A
“To fight you, my guru. Never, never,’ said Gangeyaina solemn
voice. ‘I invite you, Master, to keep your promise made to .the
ghtly battle-axe 18 lying by your side.

Princess of Kashi. Your mi :
Take it, Here is my neck.’ He placed his head at the feet of the

Master.
There was a twinkle in tl

of Ambaa to mention any
already said, if T am a witch

e Master’s eyes as he exploded into
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loud laughter and turned to Maha Atharvan. Mat}fl'a Pgtglltafvth
everybody wants to die. Ambaa is willing to enter the fire. § 33; s
wants to die. Prince Gangeya wants to die. Plerhaps DvaIII)) I)é =
will die if his labours in building up dharma fail. And. Jaao a'é; }‘:he
would certainly like to die before her husband does. A:bal_ ik
Master burst into an old warrior’s full-throated laughter; his ey

were full of glee. ‘Maha Atharvan, you and I are the oply 01;85 Viillég
want to live; perhaps because we are very near death.” He laug
till his face b

; i ith the God

ecame 1ed. ‘Everyone has fallen in love with t
of Death. Jaabaali, why not you?”—he turned to Maha Atharvan,
but noticing a sudden change in him, he stopped speaking. 3
Maha Atharvan, with his eyes closed had gone into a trance.

: - Maha
Everybody silently noted the change. After a few moments :
Atharvan said in a solemn voice as if coming from the other world:
‘The God of Death has taken a

victim who is dear to many ?’f}ls'
Someone is coming to bring the news; he is climbing the hill.

The Mother went pale. The blow which she had been expect-
ing had fallen! With g voice choked in tears, she asked Maha
Atharvan: “Whom has the God of Death taken away?’

Suddenly Maha Atharvan awoke from his trance. He looked
at the expectant faces. ‘Someone is coming up the hill to tell you
that, Sumantu, go ang receive him.’

A terrifying ‘silence desgended upon those assembled there.

. Sumantu went tq receive the messenger and returned with
M. He was breathless ang covered in dust. In his distress, he
forgot to Pay Iespects to the Master and Maha Atharvan,
Gangeya Immediately recognised him as Suketu, one of the
fInGipal Kury chijefs. ‘Suketu, what is the matter? :
Suketu and asked: ‘Suketu, what is it?
€ars rolleq down her cheeks.

uketu made an effopt to speak: ‘The Emperor. ...’

Satyavati raised op
choking.

Suketu summ,

oned i
addressed Gan 1¢e, P his co

urage. ‘The noble Emperor,” he
2 geya, ‘fell from the terrace and has been serjously
SHEEC e worship-worthy  Purohis has requested the venerable
Mot{ler and the nople Prince to return to Hastinapur immediately.’
; I knew, I knew,’ 4 Wail of distress issued from the Mother’s
lips as she fainted, Vatikaa gathered her in her arms. Sumantu
sprinkled water oyer her face.
When the Mother opened her eyes, she was still dazed. Dvai-

Paayana and Vatikaa helped her o rise from the ground.
Dvaipayaana asked the Magter's permission to withdraw.

¢ of her hands to her throat as if she was
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“You have my permission, but listen to me, all of you.’ saj
the Master in a tone of authority. A

Everybody turned to the Master to catch his words.

‘Several of you were foolish enough to invite the God of
]?eath. Now he has come and snatched away his victim. Whatever
sin Gangeya has commited is expiated by the penalty imposed by
the God of Death,’” said the Master.

The Master got up, lifted his battle-axe and took -a step or

two towards the Mother. Wz L i
‘Oh, Master, the light of my life is extinguished,” said the

Mother amidst convulsive sobs.

‘Satyavati, you should not allow the death of your sons to
interfere with the work which the Gods have called you to do.
I know that your life will be barren, but it is filled with a purpose.
See that the line of Chakravarti Bharat does not come to an end.
The triumph of dharma is more important than the life of any one

of you,” said the Master.
Ambaa was trying to interrupt the Master, but he made a
gesture to her to be silent. ‘Ambaa, if Gangeya decides not to
marry you, you should ascept Satyavati’s offer to look after you
as a Kuru Princess. She badly wants a daughter to strengthen her
in this crisis.’ 5 : )
‘No, no,’ said Ambaa excited. ‘I want to scc this maﬂoﬂuﬁg&
The Master looked at her severely. “Then, Aml:gataﬁ }{Perhaps
better enter the fire and kill Gangeya in your next birth.
the iGod .ofuirehyill 1ctyoriCalty ana. ‘Son of Paraashara,

ipaa . H
Then the Master turned tot}gv‘ilgrk );v D is left unfinished.

I lete ,
b Igll"?lsgml\%fa?s?eg ogﬁtcggphimd on Maha Atharvan’s shoulder,
as both of them left.
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‘TAKE ME TO GODHULT
RINCE Devavrata Gangeya stood on the balcony of his mansion

_overlooking the river Gangaa, in a reverential attitude.
He was praying to Gangaa, whom he believed to be his mother,
to give him strength to face the crisis.

He was awaiting a call from the venerable Mother. ’The new
calamity—the death of Vichitra—had changed her attitude to-
wards the vow on which his life was anchored. She had begged of
him to disregard that vow, assume kingship and marry, so that
the Emperor Shantanu and his forefathers might receive ob_sequlal
offerings at the hands of his descendants. She had given him two
days to ponder over her suggestion. ¥

He saw clearly how the gloom that had descended upon Hasti-
napur on the death of his father was developing into a serious Grisis.

‘His father had commanded universal respect; his achieve-
ments had been a source of pride to the Kurus; under his care,
they had emerged as the pre-eminent power in Aryavarta. Yet
events which had afterwards happened in quick succession had
brought them frustration.

Then came the terrible episode of Ambaa, the eldest of the
Kashi Princesses. He s

. _ huddered at the very thought of that fero-
cious young woman. s

. The most cruel blow of them all was the sudden death of
Vichitraveerya; it left problems difficult to solve—the problem

of his two young widows; of an heirless royal dynasty; of mount-
INg pressure on

g pre him (Gangeya) to break his vow and take up the
klﬂgShIIé ;v%:llg Oli;lth& polfition of the venerable Mother.

rable Mother was immensely popular with the psople.

1‘;1:‘; lﬁtifa;?ltl wes stirred by the distress and poverty of the poor. She

aﬁ‘ecti{%nsya gnonrcd by the Kurus, for she was generous in her

s shenwhexgemdy wise. If a collateral succeeded to the

> S8, WIo had been venerated as a guardian deity of Hastina-

ur, would be reduced to the iti .
P . posi
two young widows without tion of a shadowy dowager, with

: ) royal status to be looked after.
dinyzf a}}?ﬁga\i;hmhng was interrupted by a Minister, Kaun-
Bharatas.’ erable Mother is ready to receive the Best of

‘I wonder whether T am r
; 1 ready to meet her,” murmured Gan-
geya. Mgeilng i}ﬁ? Mother had always been a source of inspiration
to him, but on this occasion he felt as if he was going to the gallows.
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She was sittng, as usua i :
God, which had been constt}ilcrtlggrtéhz h;)tlle lshrme glle Gre g
Whmé\fer Fewarel nable her to worship Him

angeya no -
. ge}rl? fﬂll n Elerilshtg:lc?ttcl;?-fs face reflected deep anguish and her
ehind the Mother sat Vati i ;
closeg doors to see that n?) c};lflgr?&nga?;é rgifn IR B
n one side of the Mother were seated Mu'ni Dvai
_:gzv ﬁ?Spe{;tf’plly styled Muni Paraasaarya (son of Pﬁgﬂiﬁﬁg)a
and S kls disciple Sumantu. On the other side sat Mahabahu
KuuikuBetu’ two very senior Kuru Elders, and the Minister
Vibhuti efore her were seated the preceptor of the Kurus, Acharya’
fath uti, in a silk scarf and gold necklace and waistband, his old
& 3(1'} Brahmistha, and his deputy, Acharya Devayaanzl.
Rim b;négetya c([)'ﬁered salutation to the Mother. She silently blessed
corn? ofﬁfﬁség%f_her right hand, wiping her tearful eyes with a
n salutation, Gangeya also touched the feet of Muni Dvai-
%?1??2&’ the Acharyas and the Kuru Elders, and took his seat.
Vibhuti s of all of them were solemn and the voice of Acharya
iy :;11&311 he began to speak, was full of sadness.
B aovk 11 : ‘Best of Bharatas, we have discussed this matter
e cauall ole day and half the night from every point of view. We
e fagreed that you should marry. Without a male heir, your
noble father, his forefathers and you yourself after you have
joined them, will be deprived of obsequial offerings; it will be a
deep humiliation. The power of the Kurus will disintegrate.
The rule of dharma, which your noble father and you have built
up, will collapse. The venerable Mother agrees with us’.

The Mother nodded assent.

“What about you, Bal-Muni?’ asked Gangeya of Dvaipaayana.

‘T leave everything to the venerable Mother’, said Dvai-
paayana in a detached manner.

__‘If you do not marry and oceupy the throne, noble Gangeya’,
said Mahabahu, the most senior of the Kuru Elders, ‘the Kurus
will face a tragic situation. You realise the sinister possibilities of
the situation. If you do not occupy the kingship, I as the nearest
collateral, would be entitled to succeed to the throne, but in the
interests of the Kurus, I do not want to. Yet my eldest son would
succeed to it—and rightly; it is his privilege. But, I am sure, he
would not be able to keep the Kurus together. It is unnatural
for me to make such a sacrifice, but I love Hastinapur more than

my family.’
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“Your own position would suffer, noble Gangeya’, said Acharya
Vﬁbhuti. “Noble Mahabahu’s family would not endure your leader-
ship.’

Suketu intervened : ‘Both of us, my brother Mahabahu and
myself, have discussed this matter between us. My sons and nephews
are sure not to accept Mahabahu’s son as king. Regardless of
the interests of our families, we have, therefore, come to the ¢on-
clusion that the only way out would be for you to accept our advice,
break your vows and save Hastinapur from calamity’.

“Uncle’, replied Gangeya in a very low, sad voice, ‘I fully
realise that T will have committed a crime against the Kurus and
a sin in the eyes of the Gods. There will be no male descendant
to give obsequial offerings to my father and forefathers and to
me when I join them’. He paused and added : ‘A fratricidal war
might begin even during my lifetime.’

‘Intrigues have already started in anticipation of your not
accepting the kingship’, said Acharya Vibhuti. '

_‘True’, said Brahmistha in his hoarse voice, roofing his eyes
with his palm.

_Gangeya continued in the same low voice : ‘I realise that
I will be the cause of all these misfortunes.’

‘Then, why not accept our advice, noble Gangeya, and marry 7’
aske(‘i Acharya Vibhuti. , i )
Best of Acharyas,” replied Gangeya, ‘the venerable Mother
has discussed with me every aspect of this misfortune and I have
myself pondered over her suggestion.’
5 The Mother looked down to conceal the expression on her
ace—the expression of a wounded animal, and said : ‘Then you
reject my prayer ?’
e glother, please do not be offended, but look at my plight’,
Wlhe ?ngeya‘ in an appealing voice. ‘How can T break my vow?
i E'or:' took it, I had to undergo a terrible struggle which I carried
o ai?rslwh’ether awake or asleep. Untimately I emerged victori-
> d climinated women from my life. How can I come to
terms with it now ?

‘B ealmi?t?lbah: %antled to interrupt, but Gangeya stopped him:
ordainag thnt h ncle, for a few moments. The Gods have so
lifelon celi]fl) e _only CStapo left to me is to break my vow of
) acy. If T don’t break it, the Kurus are sure to look
upon‘;ne as an obstinate fool, a traitor, a sinner.’
o (11.1}1.:11‘?1 f-ll(.lllt? right, noble Prince’, said Acharya Vibhuti,
1o (1}ng o efal. Thef"» why not ageept our advice?’
angeya folded his hands and continued in humility : ‘I
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beg all of you, venerable Srotri
T yas and noble Uncles,—yo L
rjl_lt)lelMother, whom I have always respected above zv:r’yfxfﬁfg
i 0 look at the choice with which I am faced. I am honoured
_eciluse I am recognised as Satyapratijna—as an image of dharma
= (ilr gloIs:t a God, who would rather die than break his plighted
Jorcs or the last two days, I have been struggling hard to re-
- cile myself to accepting your request. At moments I have
ood on the brink of hell. He paused and wiped the beads of
perspiration from his forehead with his scarf. ‘Please don’t ask
me, I beg of you, to break my vow. It would be WoIs¢ than death;
it would be the death of dharma in me—a spiritual suigide.’
Gangeya’s fine face reflected the anguish of his heart. Every-
one realised his position and felt sympathy at what he was passing
through, the Mother more than anyone else. ! ;
~ The old Brahmistha raised his trembling hand and " spoke
in a hoarse voice : ‘Best of Kurus, we know the difficulties which
you are facing with regard to breaking your VOW. There is a way
out, a way which the venerable Mother approves. You can keep
your vow and still prevent the line of Emperor Shantanu from
becoming extinct.” . . ' 5 :
What is the way ?° asked Gangeya. ‘I se€ none.fo os .
 Brahmistha, holding up his shaking hand, said : % W =
Niyoga. Tt is old fashioned now, but. has the - sanation of the
venerable rishis.’ : ‘
Gangeya was shocked at what was. proposed. He (tlhO:igdm‘:
that he had not heard old Brahmistha's suggestion 4% ofm er
“You mean that I should beget sons on ‘the W1VES of my ¥ i &

brothers 7’ ) : i
tom sanctioned by the sages,

‘Tt is an ancient Gus
mishta. i _ 1 : . 3
Gangeya was indignant. For a moment he was on the point of
giving vent to his anger. ‘T beget sons on the Prm.cgsseg.‘of Ka’_Sh;,
whom I look upon as my daughters I’ he excla.lmed; Upthmk-
Sble;” Yol IR o . Ryl Lol

‘At times it becomes the paramount duty of the sp:;*\lrvmg
brother to continue the family. As the WORD has said : Never
cut off the line of your descent,” said Brahmistha. . 4

- Hope kindling in_his heart, Mahabahu, intervened : “In our

‘family we had an instance of Niyoga. My grandfather was born

of it.” _ ; _ ;
Recovering from the shock, Gangeya firmly, asserted : ‘I
will not. Niyoga is marriage.’ "
Acharya Vibhuti, in his most persuasi

' said Brah-

ve way, intervened :
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‘Niyoga is not marriage, noble Prince. It is a solemn ritual. You
don’t go through it to satisfy carnal desires, but to pay your debt
to your ancestors. The family is cursed which has no male heir
to give obsequial offerings to its forefathers’.

Gangeya shook his head. s

Acharya Vibhuti, however, continued : ‘The Princesses will
only offer their bodies to perform the ritual.’ .

Gangeya bit his lips to prevent an outburst of rage. ‘I will
not touch the Princesses in the way that you desire. I will not ¢on-
vert my vow into a fraud.

Brahmistha said : “Your vow is not to marry, but Niyoga
is not marriage.’

Gangeya shook hishead and said : ‘ Niyoga is a form of marriage
and nothing else.’

‘Prince Gangeya’, said Acharya Vibhuti, ‘we all feel miserable

and share your misery. But reflect upon the suggestion very care-
fully. You will find it the only way out.’

‘There is no need for me to reflect,” said Gangeya decisively,

indignant at the persistence of the Srotriya. He added : ‘I know

that my keeping the vow would open the door to many misfor-

:ﬁgfs.m Thg &nly re?redy I have is so to live in the coming years

y lather’s throne remains powerful, whoever o ies it,

and t%ﬁt dharma flourishes.’ g ’ L
¢ venerable Mother pulled down her scarf to

cover her

ia:re so that no one could see the change that was coming over

‘T assure you that T will be i i
dharnfraﬁ’ by more steadfast in upholding

‘Then, consider for a moment the pli ht of the Mot hen
a co}lateral succeeds to the throne, sgidg Brahmistha.0 G
b I havg lfgeen thinking deeply about the Mother,” said Gangeya

Eause or a while. Then he continued : ‘So long as I am alive,

I will maintain her status i i
and aut :
after I am called away, e o ot (il

she continues to command the same

llgfligsy ggg ngvgﬁzngiﬁl‘lshe ha}s been the guardian deity of the
2 Ie ifeti

long as she lives.’ main in my lifetime and thereafter as

The venerable Mo_ther , for the first time, lifted the scarf from

her face and in a voice trempli : . e
Gangeya, you have giy mbling with emotion, said : ‘Noble

el me your love and loyalty, but you need
Jorhar an}c!itlilefld- O‘f me, nor of the welfare of the K)::lshi Prbi(ncesses’.
Then she added : I deserve the punishment that the Gods have
inflicted upon me. As a wife, T have failed in my duty to Arya-
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putra by failing to give him a son who would offer him obsequial
Oﬁbf!ngs-’ She looked up. Her face was flushed, her eyes no longer
humid. With ineffable dignity, she added, her voice gathering
strength as she spoke : ‘I have decided to retire to the ashram
at Godhuli where the body of Muni Paraashara was placed in the
arms of the God of Fire. I will also take the Kashi Princesses with
me.’ .
Every one was surpirsed at the sudden decision. They were
bewildered; they did not know what to _say.d Hevsontt oreries
The Mother got up from her seat, adJUSteThen AL

head and took a step to leave the room. .
Dvaipaayana : ‘Krishna, take me to Godhuli.” .



'_ CHAPTER - 24
_<{p THE MOTHER LEAVES 7’

HEN the venerable Mother left the “room,.followed by V;ttlltkzi;
- Y¥-and Daavi, the atmo;phc;re. becanie tense. Every one Ie
if a awned at his feet.
I%;%Lgcil a(%a;geya, the learned Srotripas and the Kuru chiefs
looked at each other, almost panic-stricken. . LT
“Throughout the episode, no one had antigipated- that 19
venerable Mother, by her swift and emphatic action, would ghod_
she resented being reduced to a helpless dowager Empress, depenc:
ing upon the favour of the ruling Emperor, not descended from
Shantanu. ca
On Gangeya’s usually stern face, there was the shadow 0! :
great anxiety. He could visualize the magnitude of the cnsm_whzc
would overtake Hastinapur if the venerable Mother left it. ;
The ordinary people, who looked upon her as a beneficen!
divinity, would invoke curses on him as the i}l'?hlt{::ct of their
misfortunes. They would never forgive his rigidity if she were
to retire to the Godhuli ashram.
. Even the Kuru chiefs and their families, whatever their mytul
Jealousies and distrust, had come to look upon her as the guardian-
deity of the Kurus; on many an occasion she had helped those in

diffi ;ulties and had intervened in their family feuds with loving
kindness and homely wisdom. ¥

The faces of those sitting there—all except Dvaipaayand’s
—I-Ireil‘llected what they thought of him, Gangeya, the architect of

all the misfortunes that had been overtaking Hastinapur of late.
a Gangeya knew the Mother well. She was fair-minded, 1n-
ulgent and pliable; she knew the difficult art of yielding with
grafl& But on the very rare occasions when she took decisive
clion, there was no prospect of her changing her mind.
e, b;ﬁcharya Vibhuti, the preceptor of the Kurus, was the first
VOiceeak the uncor{l.ii‘ortable silence, He coughed and in g hesitant
heiog :rcf,y unusual for him, saiq : “We never foresaw thijg terrible
The ninety-two-year-old Brahmi
! . { mistha, father o charya
Vibhuti, the Purohit of three generations of Kuru 1-u|£.rSApeerecl
at Gangeya as was his habit. Eyep at this age, he was mentally
alert and had not forgotten a single syllable of the WoRrD:

He had the uncomfortable hap; i i
A : it of showing his gontempt
whenever his advice was not heeded; with a lookgo[‘ triumph, he
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said @ ¢ : s SRS AN g
my a‘(\iﬁ\;ﬁg ble Prince Gangeya,"thm gomes of your not_ heeding
. ‘Worship-worthy Acharya, T ire . with v .
Atirathi y Acharya, entirely agree with you’,
sectiof;:;_ ‘S_Il‘lil‘fetu,. the ‘Kuru. elder,” who headed one of: }the-- KSL?;S
ot the ¢ Kurus will go wild with rage if it comes to be known
e Gngf?nerablq Mother is leaving Hastinapur. For fifteen years
not as a in Hastinapur has been looking upon her as the Mother,’
o matter of form, but because they take her to be a veritable-
‘II) 'ma—the Godess of . Abundange.” .. - (3
Ly i?lg;fig t\mth _you, noble Suketu’, said Mahabahu, “‘every
e Kitirus stinapur would Ifeel as 1f‘. a_curse had desc‘er_l;‘i.ed upon
hil f;?%ﬁya‘, in  great distress, turned to Muni Dvaipaayana
D, ed : “What shall we-do, venerable Dvaipaayana 7= : -
‘T have alpaayana. was sitting 'qu_letly all the time. He: replied ¢
ke no place in the State affairs of the Kurus. I am here only:
Aty out the wishes of the venerable Mother.” * -0 "
-0 aavi came into the room and saluted all those present im-
R m";gepmg formal gesture; by her tone and manner, however,
e e it clear that these people, who were. ready to drive: her
august mistress out of Hastinapur, did not deserve to be saluited.:
o e approached Dvaipaayana, folded her hands:-and said :
enerable Muni, my august mistress wantsto se¢ you and Minister
Kaundm_y_a. Please come’. : : Lol -
Dvaipaayana and Kaundinya both.got up and left with Daavi.
i &charya Vibhuti was most unhappy. It was .cr{)s‘}ls1 (t?fsﬁf:ﬁ’f;‘:
e re i ow a way out. “Wha
sponsibility was his to show y rince. Gangeya.

do now, noble Prince?’ d, turning to
> e Prince? he asked, turning .
“The solution is in your hands. Either you give up your vOWws or

let the Moth ” ' ; .
Gangey;rlggked up, his lips pressed tight. Worslup-\(-.lrortigg

Acharya, the Gods have been very cruel to me; 1 am made

face one trial after another.” . )
‘W: cglljld easily tide over this crisis,” said the Acharya.
Slowly and sadly, Gangeya said : ‘People will rightly con-

sider me as having driven away the venerable Mother from Hastina-

pur. For the moment I am confused.’ i ; 3
‘You have all contributed towards creating ,thlS': terrible situ-
ation. Now we had better face the consequenges,’ said Brahmistha

in disgust. ’
induce the venerable Mother to give

‘Could you, Father, i . :
up her resolve to go to Godhuli 7’ asked Acharya Vibhutl.
“When you are tired of trying to find a way, come to me and
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I will show one to you,” said Brahmistha.

“What is that, Worship-worthy Acharya 2 asked Suketu.

‘Why should 1 waste time ? I know that you will not a,l::cept
it nor will the Kurus. Let them walk the way to destruction,’ said
Brahmistha. y :

“Worship-worthy Acharya, I will accept any suggestion which
Mother approves; only I ought not to be asked to.give up my
vows,’ said Gangeya.

‘But is there such a way 2> asked Vibhuti of his father.

“None of you will accept my advice if I show you a way out
of the difficulty,” said Brahmistha.

“There is nothing that T will not accept,” said Suketu. I see
it clearly. If the venerable Mother leaves us and if the noble Gangeya
sticks to his vows, you, Mahabahu, or your son will have to be
installed as king. But that would immediately lead to civil war
among the Kurus.’ '

‘What is the way out? asked Gangeya, anxious to find 2
solution.
“There is no way out except following the old i f
: lere ) X g the old practice o
ﬁggga , said Acharya Vibhuti, ‘but the noble Prince will not think
‘It is condemned by many ancient * sai i
¢ texts,” said Dvaipayaana.
S a‘r} .expert’m texts, he now spoke for the ’ﬁ.rst time. BR
know,’ said Vibhuti, ‘but several ancients have proclaimed

it as necessary for saving the fami soti .
y mily from extinction and
the forefathers to receive obsequial offerings.’ enabling



CHAPTER 25
“I BOW TO YOUR COMMANDS”’

RAHMISTHA’s trembling voice b insi e i :
B shook with cxcitemgnt_ ‘Dog‘f}ffg:tms‘;ﬂen{? lhls fragile body
of arguments. Answer me straight : Do YOULSCLp 08¢ S0 2 1anEle
Princesses to beget sons by Ni : you wart the noble Kashi
it yoga or not ?” he asked.

‘WgcﬁaGanﬁ?ya as well as others nodded assent.

not E};ink OIYE;t? Sz?gYAE;I?lE;E;C% jgg Llllt:l Only Prince Gangeya will
ou are all aware o i ; .
and cannot face it,’ sagéh%fgﬁ?s%}fgla%gé? 1:;%%?1? e cowa.:l-)clls
chiefs ? Will the Kurus accept Niyoga ¥’ e o

?_‘r}i‘f}’ f{miled wryly.

e Kurus may object to Ni i inni i
mately they will ag)r{ee,"]saicl Mjg{f;ﬁg;hiﬂ te v but 2t
o aczget old Brahmistha chuckled, smiling. ‘If they are willing
from ap Niyoga from a step-brother, will they approve of Niyoga
ety c;"‘aIJ"M—Jbana’;’zz‘t——brothers or cousins on the maternal side ?°

Every one understood whom he suggested and shook his
head. Gangeya alone looked up eagerly to discuss the new way
suggested by Brahmistha. y

Answer me unequivocally : Will the Kurus of all the factions
accept the sons of the Kuru princesses begotten by a mairic
bandhu as the legitimate successors to the Emperor Shantanu 2
asked Brahmistha. ; ;

Acharya Vibhuti turned to the Kuru chiefs. ‘Do you realize
what he is saying ? The rulers of Hastinapur will not be the blood-
descendants of the noble Emperor Shantanu; they will be the
descendants of the Mother, who is a Kuru by marriage. Will the
Kurus accept it 7’

‘It is difficult to say,’ said Mahabahu.

] cannot help obstinate fools. Let Gangeya keep his VOWS ;
let the Mother leave Hastinapur; let the Kurus fight it out bet-
ween themselves.” The old man was working up to a rage. ‘Vibhuti,
give me your hand. Those who do not accept my- advice are not
fit to be given it.” He caught hold of Vibhuti’s hand and got up,
ready to leave.

‘Don’t go away, Worship-worthy Acharya,’ said Gangeya.
‘T will bring round the Kurus. The situation is very critical.’

“Listen,’ the old Brahmistha said. ‘Remember one thing :
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If you want to preserve the power of Hastinapur and keep it as
the protector of dharma, you must accept my suggestion. If you dc:
not, nothing prevents you from rushing into hell; its gates are open.
“We will accept it,’ said Gangeya. * i
“Will the Mother .accept it 2 Will the matru-bandhu himself
accept it 2 asked Brahmistha, and added : ‘That is for you to
decide, not for us.’ ' '

Dvaipaayana returned to the room. The others breathlessly

awaited what he had to say. He said : “The venerable Mother has
commanded Minister’ Kaundinya to make preparations for the
journey to Godhuli ashram tomorrow at noon.’ ;
‘Is there no hope of her changing her'mind ?’ asked Mahabahu.
‘None,’ replied I}va1paayana.
‘Venerable Dvaipaayana, wont’ you induce her to change
her mind ? asked Gangeya. : ;
_ “You know as well as I do,noble Prince, that once her mind
is matsie up, she will not change it. She has also sent a message :
ADont try to persuade me. I came to Hastinapur to make the
t};’yaptftra and the Kurus happy. I ¢annot remain here and see
em &m}?ppyf,‘” 331(1 Dvaipaayana. i .
¢ have found a way out,” sajd Acharya Vibhuti, ‘Gangeya
Shall‘ not break his vow ; the Mother shall not leave Hastinagur.’
‘ghat is wonderful’, said Dvaipaayana sarcastically.
toc om?h?}i hf‘\\rr?oﬂ?&nl(ilka ‘{Va)’-l Please ask the venerable Mother
: 1€1¢. u ¢ to plage the solution befor s gaid
Acharya Vibhuti. _ 3 % Qer, el
Dvaipaayana went out and after a 1 i i
: . a little while, ret ith
the venerable Mother, followed by Vatikaa and Daa\:.;rned witl
‘Mother, we have found a way,’ said Gangeya.
‘:]Er’have already found a way for myself,” said the Mother.
; ution acceptable, I will not have to break m d
y‘3'~1,‘112/I[othcr, will stay with us.’ i ' s
ow do you propose to aghiey iracle ?°
e such a muiracle ? e
Mot}}er, p}lllzz}e%l at.dqg-“%ﬁya's confident (:ﬁttitudc. asked H
¢ haye decide at the 1j : mpero
shall‘ ﬁ;ormnue by Niyoga,’ said (L*I}I:ngogyzllhe PRI
A»‘i,tafou {,‘?iﬁi_fet.m.a_“]“?pt the. suggestion,” said the Mother.
Princcéses ys?lalllbegrl,éégs “l? Most persuasive Way, said : ‘The
smiled, paused and added : «Eugh not by Prince Gangeya,’ He
’ - But by Muni Dvaipaayana. He is a

matru-bandhu of noble Vichitra
s Veer o of
as you are—the guardian-deity of };%e \E{iui‘)tf; you to renald

PP
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Dvaipaa
yana was taken aback at thi ¢
: he vensrable MothetSiTaanIe tg uhg unexpected suggestion.
Ec;flhfat Acharya Vibhuti had said plagec%rgz?‘ng thde Mblloations
or a moment. Then she said : * gncion uenifore,
perly. You wa . L . aid : ‘Let me understand you pro-
cesses ? The Kﬂguls)\\fﬁilﬁaanagvaer;a to beget sons on tl?e Kashi Prin-
Aryaputra. Who will suarant aGtilelp_t them as the rightful heirs of
T brotiide B I&Oz:han,ee _dclr succession to the‘ throne 7’
throne of Hastinapur is o o saidpaenscy ol yijfceethat gthc
the Kashi Princessgs by D\?ggz:;iagz ’the sonsibeEgrn ononciol
‘Ha i A :
Mothei-,s Dvaipaayana agreed to this suggestion ?” asked the
~ ‘I.don’t agree to'it,” sai . e,
CA ,” said Dvaipaayana
Jaabaaleyaa ?’a as?creed tth}'?e \i\lffg:?lel? ftlfraa_baalteyzila e
Vatikas ; ning to her. :
to think itqoégf%ee(%oio‘lvg“;::gectf‘ul]y and said : ‘I will have
What will the Kurusbsay'when the throne of Aryaputra is
OGG“PI‘G‘-‘ by Dvaipaayan’s sons 2 asked the Mother
BC Olr igi my brother Suketu are agreed on one thing : if one
war’ said i{succeeds t? the throne, there is going to be a civil
ahabahu. ‘Our decision may look unnatural in the
g)l’les of our families. But we grew up with the noble Emperor
antanu from our childhood and we took a solemn pledge years
ago that we would help him build up Hastinapur as a formidable
power in the world. We stood by the Emperor in every crisis. We
cannot fail in our loyalty, now because he bas joined his fore-
fathers.’ i
‘Do you think that t
asked Acharya Vibhuti.
‘Yes,” replied Mahabahu. ‘If both of us are agreed, we are
sure, our sons will accept it.’ :
“If they defy us, we shall disown them,’ said Suketu.
_* Gangeya looked unhappily at Dvaipaayana, and in an appeal-
ing voice, said : “Everything now depends on your decision.’
Dvaipaayana said curtly : ‘T will let you know my decision
tomorrow.’
; Brahmistha roofed his eyes and peered at Dvaipaayana. He
ll‘lalse(cjl his other trembling hand to indicate that he wanted to be
eard.
Everyone lapsed into silence, expecting that the old Srotriya
was ‘about to cause fresh amazement.
Now, listen, Dvaipaayana,’ said Brahmistha. ‘There is going

he Kurus will accept the suggestion
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to be no tomorrow. The thing has to be decided today, here and
ow.’ . e
3 The old man paused for a moment and continued : I;I'I;:
Gods have worked miracle after mirasle; they gave Muni flf’a.'raajL a 2
a gifted son; they made him the most eminent Srotriya in hrt)i'?a
varta; they gave him the privilege of restoring Dharmakshe %
They raised his mother, a fisher-girl, to be a powerful Ele'biI&-
They worked the miracle of bringing the mother and son together
after they were parted, never hoping to meet again. They gﬁ"‘ta
him a patron like the Emperor Shantanu; why, not a patron, bu
father.’
3 lglrahmistha cleared his throat and contipued . ‘We, ‘ghe
Srotriyas, the Kurus, Aryavarta and dharma itself, are passing
through a terrible crisis. The Kurus, divided, are facing destruc-
tion. No discussion is going to prevent it. You alone can save
them.’

‘Let us know once for all : Do you agree to Niyoga or not ?
There is no time to be wasted; we have already had endless dis-
cussions; discussion cannot lead to action.’ "

“We have to decide—here and now.” Brahmistha raised his
voice. ‘Do you agree to participate in the Niyoga ritual or not ?
You can save the Kurus and help dharma to be re-established, or
in your arrogance you can let the Kurus destroy themselves—
and also dharma—so that there will be neither brahma-tej nor
kshatra-tej. g

. The old Srotriya sat up erect and in a decisive manner con-
tinued : “The choice is not to be made by the Mother or by Gangeya
or by Vatikaa—not even by you. It has been made by the Gdds;
they have decided upon Niyoga, however unpleasant it is to you.’

Brahmistha paused, gathered his breath and continued :

“Answer me straight: Will you or will you not perform the ritual 7’
The voice of the

oL the patriarch rose almost into a threat. He recaptured
the authoritative voice of his earlier days.
Dvaipaayana

g bowed his head and said in a hesistant voice :
“Worship-worthy Acharya, I bow to your commands.’

.




CHAPTER 26
SHUKA CREATES A PROBLEM

TIME began to fly on speedy wings.

Vatikaa had a busy time running a home for her husband,
who spent most of the days conducting the Shraut Satra. Time
and again she went to Hastinapur to keep the venerable Mother
company. She was a bold and resourceful woman and very
affectionate by nature, and the Mother had come to rely upon
her in her difficulties.

The Kurus, who loved the Mother, were aghast when they
heard the report that she was leaving Hastinapur. The womenfolk
of the leading Kurus came to her mansion to induce her to give
up the idea. However, they found to their pleasant SUrprise that
she had already decided to stay on in Hastinapur. The Mother
felt happy at the idea that so many people loved her and that
whatever sacrifices she had made were worth making. '

During this period, Gangeya—now referred to as «Bheeshma
—the Terrible” on account of the vows that he had taken and the

way in which he had kept them—subdued turbulent Kings and
chiefs, protected the shirams and the villages, and upheld righteo’

living. By his devotion to dharma, he became the sym . fs
kshatra-tej, and under his guidance, many of the Kuru Icclélted
recaptured the life of dharma which had come to be neg

during the period of the war. et

The work of collecting and sorting out the I'lynlnstShi
WoRrDp was very difficult, but under Dvaipaayana sfle}:]i iior(lfg
very soon form was given to gaclf;_hy?n, the order of the
and the cadence being standardize€d. "

d Dvaipaayana had placed Paila in charge of c.olleclglnfI zﬁd
writing down the Rig Veda, Jaimini 10 charge of Sam}tlz el;ro’ther
Vajsampaayana in charge of Yajur Veda. Sumantu, er'nto thé
had been placed in charge of fitting the Atharvana lore iS' s
framework of the WORD. Each of them had several Srotri)
working under him.

Dfring the twelve years the Shraut Satra was held, ;Dharmal-l
kshetra attracted Srotriyas and Brahmacharis from asarams a
over Aryavarta. Most of the leading Srotriyas came 10 participate
in it and to acquire the established chant of the WORD under the
guidance of Dvaipaayana and his pupils. iy SN

Tt was not easy to memorize the Worp, maintain its per-
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A i hange b
fection and chant it with the appropriate cadence. Any change by
negligence or acciclignir. WOI].;}..d. d?ptrive theE:l \;’31;3)%1‘ its divinity and
the defaulter would lose his status.as " a \ _

({Act‘?erl the training, ‘they went to their parent ashrams or
started one of their own, thus extending the frontiers of Dvai-
aayana’s empire. - :
3 yUnder t}?e ceaseless drive of Dvaipaayana, several ashrams
became the centres of vast learning. Thus, a very veluminous
literature of prayers, invocations and -ceremonial _chants for
rituals, preserved by word of mouth, came into existence.

On the final day of the Shraut Satra, Dvaipaayana recc1'ved
an ovation from all the Srotriyas, and also the kings and chiefs,
led by Gangeya, who had gathered on the ogcasion. They hailed
him as Veda Vyaasa, the Great Recorder of the WORD, the Master.

Evil planéts, however, continued to rule the destiny of the
Kurus of Hastinapur. Both Satyavati and Gangeya had to face
one calamity after another. ) )

Vatikaa often had to go to Hastinapur. Looking after Satya-
vati was no small job either, for she had to-face one crisis after

another, and each of them put a terrible strain on her.

No sooner was the episode of Ambaa over than the problem
ok Niyoga oppressed her. After it was solved, it raised many
complications. h

. Ambikaa gave birth to a robust and healthy son. Tears were
In the eyes of the venerable Mother when she first took the baby
' her hands and found that it was blind. She realized that, agording
to the ancient canons, be could not succeed to his father’s heritage-
However, she did not want Ambikaa to be miserable; ghe con-

;J}ialetd her tears by bending her head and hugged the baby to her
art,

:Whar. shall we call him, Ambjkaa 7 asked the Mother.
Whatever you like, Mother,’ replied Ambikaa.

I would like to call him Dhritraashtra, the upholder of the
nation,’ said the Mother.

. Ambikaa was exultant. ‘Yes | am sure he Will uphold the
nation.’ ’

Ambalikaa also gave birth to , son, who Was nameq pandu
}Jccause he was pale and €magiated, not likely to suryive for
ong. -

The Mother induced Ambikag to regeive Dvaipaayana again.
However, Ambikaa did not fee] happy at the prospect and set
her maid instead to fulfil the ritual, The maid Was in esctasy; it
Was a privilege 10 spend a night with the Muni. In gourse of
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time, she . : s

namig' Vidguzt"‘.’e birth to a healtby and bright-eyed son. He was
hen the Shraut Satra was over, Dvai

glfafrlme for the coming twelve years. He decidaditn made-a pro-

t l'et }important ashrams, helping their inmates to magtegrotflou%d a

with accuracy and become centres of right Feinae YA ORD

to Dharmakshetr v to ghteous living, and returning

With ten di & ?n y. to spend the rainy season there.
way, Dvaj sciples and several otbers who joined him on the

U aipaayana began his tour of the ashrams. .
Dvaipg?aya;:g i?l“d’n ht.he rivers, Ganga, Sarasvati and Yamuna,
Hardw ~ his companions visited the ashrams from

ar to Kashi and the settlements also when invited by the
Pcop%ghor the local chiefs. 2/
erever he went, Dvaipaayana was greeted by the Srotriyas
i,sot]_ﬁ%MaSter and worshipped by others as agdiviniry zvhose blcss{ng
s secure for them welfare in this life and happiness in the
am.D':“mg their stay in an ashram, the Master and his com-
gf W%I;Z corrected the deviations from the WorD, and the order
ol s or their cadence, as laid down at the Shraut Saira. By
: ple and precept, they also imposed a life of zapas, self-
imposed austerity, on the Srotriyas of the ashram, and taught
them to redeem the. pledge taken when they were invested with
the sacred thread, praying to.the Sun God for. enlightenment
in terms of the Gayatri mantra : .
“ e shall adore the effulgence of the divine ruler, Savita
(the Sun God).
We shall always seek his life-giving light. | ¥
May it enrich and stimulate the power of our minds.

They attracted the villagers by teaching them to maintain
the worship of the sacred fire; by curing their ailments by mantrc-
vidya or the use of magic plants; by helping families to settle feuds
and by inculcating in the womenfolk the importance of observing
strict loyalty to their families as the most basic element to pre-
serve happiness in them. ) _

The visit of the Master to ap ashram was an €xperience of
immense value and was looked forward to. It taught the Srotriyas

to live in austere self-discipline and initiated the village-folks into

devotion. : :

Shuka, Dvaipaayana’s son by Vatikaa, when he was eight
years old, was invested with the sacred thread ceremonially. When
he was twelve years old, he was sent to the Godhuli ashram, which

was presided over by Acharya Gautama, Dvaipaayana’s own guru.
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i as loath to part with her son, but Dvalpaayapg

was :ri? E:i]keazi:v that in an o%t-of-the—way ashram, he would easily
ining to face life later. oos )

Sy tS}llfe ‘t::g; ve%y proud of her son. He was fair like herself; h1?
face was more like his father’s. His memory was phenomena
and he could chant the WorD with inimitable grace. 3

Vatikaa was anxiously waiting for the completion of Shuka's
twelve years of Brahmacharya, when he would be permitted to
found a home and to see him wedded to a bride whom she had
already selected. But Shuka did not come.

The year passed, and she did not know what do to. In the
meantime a report was brought to her that Shuka wanted to avoid
founding and become a sanyasi straight-away renouncing the
world. This was very disquieting and Vatikaa decided to consult
the venerable Mother about it. _ .

The venerable Mother immediately sent a litter to bring
Vatikaa to Hastinapur. On the way, Vatikaa was miserable all
the time.

‘When she was received by the venerable Mother at the gate
of her mansion, Vatikaa fell at her feet. The Mother raised her
and affectionately breathed in the scent of her hair by way of
blessing. The Mother’s touch was soothing. In spite of the years
and the pressure of one calamity after another, she remained the

very embodiment of grace, and by her loving kindness, made
every one feel that he had a place in her heart. ’
e The Mother threw a protective arm around Vatikaa’s back

led her to the apartment with the little shrine in which she
Spent her day. “What is the matter 2 she asked. pa

b ‘Shuka is not coming back,’
Whole of the last year, I"'have been waiting for him to come and
Xund his home, but for one reason or another, he has not come.

5 nd now I hear a report that he does not want t0 Mmake jt at all;
€ wants to renounce the world.’

:‘gho toi%you that ?}’l asked the Mother.
ertain Srotrivas who had Dharmaks o
Godhuli,’ replied Vatikaa. come 1o hetra fr

‘But has he sent you word why } pnot come to ma-
kshefra ? asked the Mother. Y he does Dha

. 0. Despite several messages sent by me, he has not gome-
His Only repl)’ has ]:)een : “Mothcr’ donyt vex yourself. I shall
come at the appropriate time.” It will be a calamity if Shuka re-
nounces the world,” said Vatikaa

‘The sinister planets dominate our life, said the Mother.

replied Vatikaa. ‘Duyripg the
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‘One grandson i i
son is born blind; the other is 23
now‘th%t’fﬁllrd threatens to renounce the Worlljg‘l"3 apcsmaclaice
er, do something to bring him b . -
can found 3 home.’ ring him back to us so that he
x me,” pleaded Vat 1 T
P]ete‘wlthout a good \I;ife 0 atikaa. ‘Llowfcaaiueliesbeiconty
agree with you. We must immediatel < i
. . y seek out Dvaipaayana.
ﬁ;ewilélwpﬁrsuade Shuka to come to Hastinapur, and orﬂ:e 31;131“1'13
Do you kl be easy to induce him to give up such a foolish decision.
ey now precisely where Dvaipaayana is ?” asked the Mother.
e his on’t know, but there was a message some days back that,
e ere ﬂiygga&u;? ‘?E}sstlnapur,;he Muni would go to Godhuli,
Jrar as cremat isi i
Ashe% il Vatikaa: mated and pay a visit to the Field of
We w}'{f_Mothqr wiped away Vatikaa’s tears. ‘Don’t cry, child.
Shukal hlmmedlately seek out Dvaipaayana so that he may bring
et Dere and ask him to give up the folly of never founding a
Kin aavi, go and fetch Kunik. He will find out some way
SEC };g out Dvaipaayana.’
but he i‘m so unhappy,’ said Vatikaa. ‘I have the best of husbands,
= ﬁ‘ea\{es me alone. I have the best of sons—handsome, brilliant
s fa ectionate, but he wants to renounce the world.” She hid
er 1ace in the lap of the Mother.
Dont’ worry. We will strajghten matters out,” assured the
Mother.
The Minister, Kunik, came in. d
‘Kunik, come here. Sit down,’ said the Mother, and turned
to Vatikaa. ‘Don’t cry, Vatikaa. He is a very resourceful man an

can find a way out of any difficulty.” ¥ od
Kunik folded his hands, bowed in reverence and said diplo-

matically, “Whatever resourcefulness I have is due to your blessing,
v " A 0
enerable Mother of the situation.

The venerable Mother apprised Kunik ¢
“What is to be done, if the boy does not come here 92 she asked.

It is no use troubling yourself, Mother,’ said Kunik. ‘He 1s
a young boy, highly impressionable and may have been led away
by someone. If you permit me, I will take a boat to Godhuli after
T have secured the permission of the noble Gangeya.

«yves. Tell Gangeya how important it is for you to go and
meet the Muni as early as possible,” said the Mother and turned
to Vatikaa. ‘Don’t vex yourself, Vatikaa. I shall see that everything
is put right. Sometimes We sc¢ dangers which simply do not

exist.’
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i i > i Dvaipaayana was,

T s not difficult to find out w}}e.ru Muni Dve A
I Vf‘g?' ?vhichever ashram Kunik visited had vivid memories of
his visit. : 3 o -
i The fast-moving royal boat with its twenty rowers soon caught

ith him. i _

. w’i‘he 1i\/[inistcr, Kunik, gave the message from the venerable
ther to the Muni. ] ]
e ‘T am glad that the venerable Mother has sent me the messagfi,_
said the Muni. ‘The day after tomorrow, we will be at Godhuli.
I met Shuka some months ago when I went there. I think he 15
still there. Acharya Gautama was full of praise for him.’

“The venerable Mother and the respected Jaabaaleyaa would
like to see Shuka found a home,’ said the Minister, Kunik.

‘I also share their view,” replied the Muni. ‘Twleve years of
Brahmacharya are all that human nature can bear. Yet on all acc0-
unts, Shuka is a good boy, and if he disagrees with his mother, he
must have good reason to do so.’ : ]
The royal boat sped fast, with Dvaipaayana’s boat in tow:
When they approached the Field of Ashes, the boatman woulc

not pass by the accursed field; whoever did so met with a serious
calamity, it was believed. They too

! k the boats to the opposite bank
and returned to the old course when the Field was left behind.
When they approached Godhuli, a fearful sight met their
eyes : tribesmen with bows and arrows, spears and bamboos il
their hands, surrounded the ashram grounds; the agshram had
be_en burnt to the ground; some of the woodwork was still burning.
Tribesmen were still prodding the charred remains of an apimal,
from which smoke was issuing. There was no trace of the jnmates.
Krivi, the head boatman of Dvaipaayana’s boat, shuddered.-
He had ferried Dvaipaayana for years and held him in great res-
pect. “Bal-Muni,” he said in g Whisper, ‘this is strange, When I
passed Godhuli . eight or nine days ago, this ashram was as
leUrlshlqg as ever. As usual, Acharya Gautama invited ys to a
meal‘. This must be the work of Mosa, the new Chief’
When did you come (o know that the old chief Proppa was
dead and Mosa was installed ag tripal chief 2 asked the Muni.
‘We heard of this calamity only as we were leaving the gshram’,
replied Krivi.

s[ kncw that fathe.r and s0n were not on gODd te]_'ms, tha‘t
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- Mosa hat
- when Mosifl the ashram. But Acharya Gautama. had faith. th
' aith. that

Pecame tl . :

he was too ccame the chief, he would be able t in hi

Muni. good-natured to_understand men likc:ol\/?[‘g?ashlg;igvgi
_ > e
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‘Mosa 1S 1 g :
: s in the hands of ¢ i -
against the old chief,’ said e o o R ST
n’t understand w ' :
%" has made life better f‘(l;l?, I}c Sl_lquld quarrel with the ashram.
omen have been happier.’ 1e tribe. Violence has decreased.
. ‘This section,” contin st o
their daughters aildcs?igtt;mued RLE bl thoss Swhol geanicd
ashram. Many of our e;i to be married to the inmates of the
mother Sharmi, were agxior&% tTlv’omen, under the inspiration of
g;]é understand it now,’ said tcilegg{ R granis
i Xithiro dow 2, H , uni.
Possibly hecmay ll]mt\}rlee g;{lm(zlm seems to have been his first act.
inmates. He js vorv h l1 ed Acharya Gautama and the other
ﬂ’-ereélsaid Krivi y harsh and cruel. T would advise you not to go
1€ Minijstes . N o Skl o
not to face ister, Kunik, also joined Krivi 1n advising the Muni
No. K the 311urd53rous fury of Mosa. : :
happcnezj Tc];mtl]% ilr“lepllted the Muni. “We must find out what has
Broushisin by, o mates of the ashram. As you know, I was
i Lhere)(ﬂlS(}C:P.arya. Gautama and mother Sharmi. Perhaps
‘It is more th i i ki
4 an probable,” said- ; d th
‘m%m\?\;) before he,set%re to fhc S(fslhrair.l’w’ ﬂ-J?t MOS% klﬂe— ] -"3
hat would have happened to mother Sharmi and the other
women ?” asked the Muni.
They might have been taken to the tribal headquarters or
they ‘mlght have fled to the Field of Ashes,” said Krivi. bl
: I want to request you, Kunik, to accommodate my disciples
in your. boat. Krivi belongs to the tribe of Mosa, but he and his
sons are thoroughly loyal to us. They will take me to the bank,’
said the Muni. :
“Must you go alone 7’ asked the Minister, Kunik. “You should
take a couple of.archers with you.’ : <k '
“No, Kunik,’ said the Muni. ‘If T approach the bank accom-
panied by archers, the Chief may cut the throat of every one of
the prisoners.” .. . s e - - :
‘But our ow ]ife is very valuable; you are the architect of
the rt?}v-.{lmargmé’ ?ald 'tcllu'a . Minister, Kunik:
_“If the Gods have ecided that T am no longer needed " for
E’I‘iffv:fffk, Mosa will not hesitate to kill me,’ said the Muni.
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13 1 t
Then he paused and laughed. “If they try to kill me, you may ge
an opporlt]unity of testing whether brahma-tej can do without
kshatra-tej.’ :

“We can easily overcome the tribesmen,’ said the Minister
Kunik. ' )

“Your archers can certainly overwhelm the tribesmen, but
if there is a conflict, Mosa may kill the inmates. I am asking
the Gods to let me save them,’ said the Muni. :

Kunik threw up his arms in despair. ‘As the venerable Muni
pleases. But if anything happens to you, Prince Gangeya, the
Best of Bharatas, has instructed me to rescue you at any cost.’

Dvaipaayana’s disciples were soon transferred to the royal
boat, which was then anchored. 3

When Krivi’s boat came up to the landing ground of Godhuli,
there was a commotion among the tribesmen. Some pointed their
ﬁ}’:gel‘s at the boat. A couple of them went to fetch Mosa. Soon

the new Chief came down to the river and stood looking at Krivi’s

boat and at the Muni with a malevolent look.

. Krivi, the boatman, and his sons uttered a weird scream,
nelt and bent their heads in obeisance. Mosa replied by shouting

an Oﬁer that Krivi must not bring the boat to the bank.

._.Viosa was a short, broad-chested, dark-hued man, with red-
Eﬁ;g;en% eyelids which gave him a fierce look. He wore brass rings

ed from his ears, and also a headgear with th of a
uffalo to indicate that he was the chiefgof the tri e horns

Sentative of Mahishaasura, the Buffalo God. be, the repre-

Dvaipaayana ¢lambered from th at into k

MDSE b Hom the boat into nee_deep water.
) a gesture, asked h )
orders tg theg Im to stay where he was and issued

tribesmen standin i et
at 1h? e S g near him to get ready to shoot

hi My blessing, redoubtable Mosa,’
1S hand in blessing, with an irresisti

said Dvaipaayana, extending
Th i irri
o ¢ smile only irritated the C

ble smile on his fage,
hief. He shouted : “Who are
“Your father was always kind i
i to me from the time | was a
year-old boy. I met him only 4 1 4
to G%;ihuli,’ said the Muni. F9aTew months 880 When TGy
ut who are you ? asked the Chief. stampi i
The Muni smiled ind AN PILE his foot,
Muni 2 he sibed ulgently, ‘Have you heard of Pangu
‘T have heard about the lam : ki
ut what have you got to do wit}ﬂ:’}ﬁ ;fhazk\zgleélSezs by WOt
I am the son of Pangu Munj anq a disciple of Acharya

ﬁ\'e..
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Gautama. T i .

NOW anc ag;g?’d here for many years and have been visiting here
osa laughed as if it was a great joke. ‘It makes no diffe

%00 3)1? whether you are the son of the lame Muni or a Mtiln?rsle}fg

fly. Segs" Don’t come out of the river. If you do, 1 willlet my arrow

] jf(t haylng so, he took the bow which was suspended from his

eft shoulder and picked an arrow from the quiver. ‘Why bave

* you ¢come here ?° he asked.

I cam here because this is my home. Acharya Gautama was
my guru and I lived as his son. Where is he ? I want to pay my
respects to him,” said the Muni. o

_ osa again laughed contemptuously and pointed at the
cinders and the smoking heap of ashes. ‘Find him out among
the ashes.’ " .

‘Where are the others ?’ .

‘I wish T knew,’ replied Mosa. :

. ‘Redoubtable Chief, you have burnt down the ashram. Is
not that so 7 asked the Muni. ' .

Yes, I did. And now get into your boat and don’t let me see

Your‘face again.’ ' , . e
“But, noble Chief,’ said the Muni, ‘why are you so 085 with

the inmates of the ashram ? Last year when I was here, your .noble

father was on very friendly terms with Acharya Gautama.’ He

again smiled. Mosa’s conceit was aroused; he could not leave

the last word to the Muni. . . 1 a snarl
‘T am not my father,” remarked Mosa, again th ; w?vi soar,
<And I don’t care what my father did or thought. Bu r
permit you people—as my father did—to entice away t e’ young
women of the people of Mahishaasura, the Buffalo God.”
*s wife, mother Sharmi, has been like a

¢ tama .
P Ggl:le came from your tribe. She was very happy.

“who came to her and all the men of the
d hostess to the Srotriya kings
Vajpeya wWas held i

mother to me.
She loved everybody
ashram respected her. She playe
and chiefs when for 17 days the

h > gajd the Muni. . ‘
° etl:lazi!e Muni was trying to advance, but Mosa shouted : ‘Stay

where you are. Don’t try to come near me. You talk of Sharmi.
She is g wicked woman, a great enemy of the people of the Buffalo
God. She used to decoy our young ‘women to the ashram and get

them married to its inmates.’ . N -
“What was wrong about that ? All the girls married to the

inmates of the ashram were very happy,” said the Muni.
‘Happy ! They were veuomous. They came to our tribal

n Dharmak-
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village and taught many of our women to be unruly and hate our
ways.’ .

“Then, let me take the unruly women of the ashram if you
do not want them,” said the Muni. _

“No. I want them to be punished in such a horrible manner
that no woman will dare to act against the tribal law. Now, you
had better go away; otherwise....’ shouted Mosa.

Krupa, the senior Elder of the tribe and Sharmi’s father,
whom Dvaipaayana knew very well, without casting a glance
of recognition at him, approached Mosa, fell on his knees and
bent his head to the ground. Having paid due respect, he carried
on a whispered conversation with Mosa.

After Krupa stepped aside, Mosa turned to Dvaipaayana.
‘The respected Elder, my uncle, says that what you say is true.

ou came here every year. You also brought here the dead body
of Pangu Muni and set fite to his funeral pyre. The Elder,’ and
he pointed to Krupa, ‘also says that my father was very fond of
You and used to invite you to the tribal dinner.’

b , That is true. That is why T want you to be friendly with

Mosa again had whispered conversation with K
: ] rupa and
t:r’g;lshtjurned to Dvaipaayana. ‘Ungcle Krupa says that )I;)c.u are
i topped as a God by the peop]elo_f the ashram. Now T want
e Wworship Mahishaasura, the Divine Buffalo. You can come

Then Mosa addressed Krivi. th i
_ » the boatman : ‘Kyrjy;
{{fl}l}gh?o?t here till T tell you to £0 on your usual rorl.m]cisxou'rl;z‘?
sons.’g o the tiibesmen, he said : ‘Give food to Krivi and his

K . - . . . -
fi Orer}l-l‘ftl'n.fel] at his feet and saluted him by kissing the ground
When Dyaipaayana approached th i
v € e Chief, he asked . «will
Yo;utglve me the dead body of my guru, the venerable A},h;}-;a
‘ama ? T should like to offer him appropriate obsequies.’
“Part id you expect me 10 preserve his dead body 2’ askec(li ps{(',sa.
S of it is here,” he said with a loud laugh and slapped his
-E‘;;ht- IHls bones have been thrown into the river; PP
. UL T understood that your noble father was
eatln% hﬂma'} flesh,” said the Muni, ** CpposeCls
fatherhg{ Chief laughed proudly.
LUCT, He w i
with the as a traitor.

ashram in a frie
flesh at the tribal dinner

‘Don’t remind me ahout my
He betrayed the Buffalo God byodtaling
ndly way. He prohibited serving human
when you or Acharya Gautama had been
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;“Illgsllfleg’r but I want every one to eat it. It i
ot men that their spirit and courage s only by eating.the
get you to eat it too, now that you areg enter one’s body. I shall
Shar vaipaayana smiled and said : ‘lr%_y gu%?;_
‘rgi]aand. |thch0ther Frornen Grehe ad:.i::vm A ere are mother
rmi ! e s
safe where fl She and lh? other women of our tribe are i
e they are. Don’t hope t : quite
had not been the daughter of pe to i seqthepg s L S
into a hundred pieces. She i our uncle, I would have cut her
said Mos C . s responsible for the whole troutle,’

Mos; W.'tll: a;] emphatic nod of his korns %

, with a i - el
otdering Dvaipaayz‘g;nt%esf{gﬁn’ started for his tribal headquarters
alternative; he was surround c(i)w him: ARSI had: 1o joflick
with a spear in his hand I'eacle tbyk'mgh't SIED Lk o
effort to escape. There ‘was go gsc'.la,l;])ehl? IIf e m}z:ide e st

By about noon, t NI o :
arrived at the tribai, hel:ied‘]\tlrggt];‘spa”y’ followingf et

Th : : i
ells m:‘,‘rhﬁ’iosa stopped and turned to Dvaipaayana. ‘My uncle
e iiments you can foretell the future and provide a cure for

‘,IWE’IE’-“, if you have faith in the WORD,’ said the Muni.

. at is this WORD ? Where does it live 27 asked Mosa.
Gautatm:;vfjhg:n ;1})6 Tl:l'?lutdh of eminent Srotriyas like Acharya

] u K1lle i
e Does it live in your mouth also 2° asked Mosa in @ mocking
one.
‘T think it does,” replied the Muni.
‘Let me hear it,” said the Chief.
“You can hear it only when you are pure, and freed from
murderous frenzy.’

The Chief glared at the Muni. ‘You mean to say that T am
impure ? You dare to tell m'e——the descendant of the mighty,
divine Buffalo—that 1 am a sinner ? 1 will chop your head off.’

Dvaipaayana laughed as if he was enjoying a joke.

:What are you laughing at 7 asked the Chief.

1 am laughing at your wrong-headedness. You have burnt
the %?harya; the WorD lived in his mouth. How can you hear it
now
‘Yqu are alive. You can let me know what the WORD is,’ said
Mosa. ‘My uncle, Krupa, says that he has seen you working
gu'r?:;lg; on ailing people and your blessings have brought welfare

‘1 did not do that, it was the WORD that worked the miracle
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—the WorD which can be recited in the presence of a sinner only
when invoking the wrath of the Gods on him.’ _

“You again call me a sinner !’ shouted Mosa angrily.

Dvaipaayana looked at him unperturbed. ‘“What else are
you ? You have burnt down the ashram, killed one of the eminent
Srotriyas, taken away the cattle dedicated to the ashram and
forcibly removed the women. You yourself told me that you have
eaten the flesh of my guru.’

Mosa glared at Dvaipaayana for some time. He was not
accustomed to being spoken to in this manner. ‘T will. throttle
you here and now if you do not let me know what the WORD 18
like.” And he.made a gesture with his fingers as if they were the
claws of an eagle. {

“Bvery time you open your lips, you want to do something
to me, but not all your threats will make me chant the life-giving
WoRrbD.’

‘Let us see. I will have to decide tomorrow whether you are
to live or die,” said Mosa.

They came to a spot enclosed by a thick hedge of thorny
plants, guarded by two tribesmen with spears. Under the orders
of the Chief, they barred the entry to the enclosure.

The two guards, under the orders of Mosa, told Dvaipaayana
to go into the enclosure. As he was doing so, the Chief said : ‘I
will see you tomorrow. I want to know what the Worbp is. If you
persist in witholding it from me, I shall pull your tongue out.’

Dvaipaayana looked at the Chief and laughed. ‘Even if you
cut my throat or pull my tongue out, re-doubtable Chief, you
Will not hear even a single syllable of the blessed Worp, unless
You have become pure or the Gods want to condemn you for
your misdeeds.’ . ; !

Mosa flared up. ‘You have said that twice. If you say it
again, T will gut your throat here and now.’ ’

There was an amused twinkle in Dvaipaayana’s eyes. ‘Evi-
dently you are trying to make up your mind how to kill me. Who
Prevents you from doing it here and now ? I am ready. Why do
You hesitate ?’ .y

The Chief was baffled. ‘1 will not do it just now because you
want me to do it. I will do it when T wish.’

“Then, Chief, come to me when you are ready to kill me.
Don’t forget one thing : You can kill me. To kill a Srotriva—
Who lives in tapas, austere self-discipline, and dediceted to the

ORD—is the greatest sin that one can ¢ommil. The Gods will
never forgive you, for in a Srotriya’s mouth alone lives the WoRD,
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which is eternal and all-powerful. And the curse of a Srotriya
will destroy you and your people.’

‘Don’t irritate me further,” shouted Mosa. ‘It is now time
for me to get ready for the tribal dinner. I will see you tomorrow.
Now go inside and make friends with some of your people.’

‘May the Gods give you better sense tomorrow,” said the
Muni and stepped into the enclosure. \

The guards closed the opening. Mosa gave them strict orders :
‘If you see this man trying to get away, kill him on the spot.”

It was well-nigh eveuing then and Dvaipaayana turned his
eyes towards the five young men who were squatting at the other
end of the enclosure. They saw the opening and closing of the gap
and thought that some tribesmen had come to Kill them. They got
up and came towards Dvaipaayana. -

Suddenly one of them tore himself away from the group,
rushed towards Dvaipaayana and fell at his feet. ‘Father I he

laimed. e
i a"My son !’ exclaimed Dvaipaayana, and raising Shuka,

gatbered him to himself in an embrace, breathing in the scent of
his hair by way of blessing.
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THE MANDATE OF THE GODS
T ECOGNISING the Muni, the other young men also came rushing
up. to him and fell at his feet, each one receiving an embrace

from him. : ‘ :

Though it was dark, the Muni could see, with delight, when
his arms received his son, that Shuka had grown tall and muscular.

What has brought you here, Father ?’ a_sked Shuka__

T came to Gedhuli to take you to Hastinapur,” replied the
Muni. ‘But tell me why you are here ; that is more important for
the moment.’

“You know that Mosa hated his father, who had interned
him in a small settlement in the forest; he was never permitted
to come to the tribal headquarters. No sooner had hebeen installed
as tribal Chief than he sent a demand to the venerable Acharya
1o surrender all the women of the tribe, ingluding mother Sharmi.
The Acharya declined to surrender them,’ said Shuka,

"And rightly,” said the Muni. “What grievance could Mosa
have ? All of them had been married to the inmates of the ashran
With the consent of their parents and the old Chief, Poppa; most
of them had. been happily married for years and had children and
had completely taken to Arya ways. What happened next?

uka continued : “The next day, Mosa came with about @
undred tribesmen, surrounded the ashram, set fire to it anq killed
the venerable Acharya—and even the children; mother Sharmi
and the women-folk of the ashram who came from g tribe,
?{Vere brought to the tiibal headquarters driven by whip-Jashes
like cattle, Some inmates of the ashram ran away to the Field of
Ashes. After reducing the ashram to ashes, they killed a few
rOtriyas and had a hearty feast. The reason why we were kept
alive, T think, was that they wanted our flesh to serve as g delicacy
at the tribal dinner.”

ointing to the setting sun, the Muni said : ‘It is time for us

o perform the evening ritual, but we gannot perform it without a

fa €. However let us pray to the Gods silently to give yg fajth to
aGe our trials.’

The five young men, all in the sta
Valpaayana in silent meditation.
Suddenly the silence was broken by the sounds of drums
orns. Shouts of victory were heard. The tribesmen 3 peared
ave assembled at the community meeting place. Shor[]y after,

ge of Brabmacharya  joined
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the rhythm of the-sound sho
| wed tha ' :
to tl:{i é‘l;fgg)mpacllnh]?ent of the drums agcihggnlll: ¢ begun »to dance
b a dark, moonless night, and as s . i
ga"hel‘:‘lng got into full swing, they heard the no?gsn o?‘saﬂll)za::nbzl
. N?ther, it is mother Sharmi calling,’ said Shuka. oek
‘Thoetl}er %harmi g’ exclaimed the Muni. . ’
~The food served to us has been either human flesh or ‘b
g}le‘-:t:;’% a:30>uld not te}ke either; so we decided to go without fo%i{’
of tha )l', at midnight, mother Sharmi and some other women
daughtes iram who had been brought here by Mosa—all of them
daugt _hrs or sisters of one or other of the Elders—passed us food
the gh a gap in the thorn hedge at the other end of the enclosure. ~
A eyW ave come today also for the same purpose.” - ‘
'assedhen they went to the other end of the enclosure, Sharmi
p the food to the young men through the little gap in the

hedge. ,
‘}V,Iother Sharmi, Father is here,” said Shuka to Sharmi.
.‘I seek your blessing, Mother Sharmi,” said the Muni. ' e

in mlo<r ishna, my son, how do you come to be here? asked Sharmi.
bo ll';lents of excitement, she only saw him as the motherless
y who had been brought up by her. Seeing the Muni there,
§he. suddenly remembered what she had lost. <Krishna,” she said
in a voice charged with emotion, ‘your guru and my children were
all killed before my eyes. Evil days have gome upon me’.
‘Mother, don’t weep over the past, particularly at this mo-
ment.. The Gods have brought your Krishna to meet you, said
the Muni in an affectionate tone. ‘Listen. Krivi’s boat 1S waiting
for me at the Godhuli landing ground. The royal boat is near the
Field of Ashes, with the Minister, Kunik, in charge. We can easily
make this gap a little wider to enable the boys to get through.
How many women are willing to escape in the way I suggest 7’
thers too,” replied Sharmi
and added: ‘Here Mosa is sure to mrake a living hell for them;
their noses.and breasts may be cu i
handed over to the most brutish of the tribesmen. But how can
our women who have pledged themselves before the sacred fire
to remain loyal to their lords, ever live with other men? I hear
that I shall be cut to pieces. With the Acharya gone, my children
“}‘5 killed and the ashramreduced to ashes, I have nothing to live for.’
b ~ “You have to live not only for the women who were married
/' into the ashram under your advice, but for us also. Go and collect
.as many women as afe willing to .escape, -and with these boys, run
for Godhuli ashram for whatever you are worth,’> said the Muni.
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i i 1d like to

‘Krishna, we will do as you want us to, but I would
die in my ashram,’ said Sharmi. ‘Take this food, boys. I will speak
to the other women,’ she said and handed over the basket of fruits,
roots and nuts to Shuka. ot i

‘Go and collect your friends as soon as possible, said the
" Muni. - '

‘I will be back very soon’, said Sharmi and faded into the
darkness.

‘Father, are you not coming with us?’ asked Shuka.

‘No, my son,” replied the Muni. ‘“The Gods must have some
purpose in view; otherwise they would not have brought me here.
You had better go.” Then he added: ‘Your mother is in great
distress at your not coming to Hastinapur to found a home. She
has already selected Shaunak’s daughter as your bride. i

‘I want to be a Brahmachari all my life or become an ascetic
(sannyasi) by renouncing the world,” said Shuka. '

The Muni patted Shuka on the back. ‘This is not the time

to think of these matters. The first thing is: you must reach the
Toyal boat as fast as you can. You had better eat the food brought
by mother Shaimi.’ X

The young men took their food; the Muni would not.

They waited impatiently for the shrill note of the peacock:
About midnight the note was heard.

.. ‘Here comes mother Sharmi. T will keep back the thorns
With this bamboo, boys. Crawl through this gap as fast as you

can,’ said the Muni. ‘Are all the eleven women going to {
§ : . e wl
you? he asked Sharmi. §° oo

toucﬁY‘:?Iaﬂd tv}vo or thﬁekothers also; they had been in close
h with the ashram and liked the happy way in whi ived,’
replied Sharmi. ‘Bal- iali etiide

; Muni, are you not coming with us?
No, Mother. I cannot come,’

‘But Mosa will kill you.’

o ‘If the Gods have decided that 1 must be killed by Mosa,
Yogrcgn ! de{i-them"l?; replleddthe Muni with a smile. ‘Don’t waste
Mr time talking. The guards mg e to suspect me-
INg unusual is going on here.’ 28 v fhetii

Sharmi laughed. “The guards are asleep; they are fijjed with

;Vlge, at any rate, they have covered their eyes With their hands
n yml only remove them after we have left the headquarters-

_ ‘Mother Sharmi, YOU are a great schemer and intriguef 1N
Spite of your white hair,” said the Muni, trying to keep her spifits
alive. “Wil you be able to find yoyr way in the darkness through
the forest?

replied the Muni,
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‘One of my brothers, who k :

s nows the trails : -
0t %%?]ntthe outskirts of the village,” replied V;ﬁgr\;ﬁ%l, Is waiting
e sun I'?Szgetl;) happens: you must reach the royal boat before
‘Shuka, your nl:‘u;}x;rovi{, said the Muni. Then he turned to Shuka:
in my name tha?I Er 1S “élaltmg for you at Hastinapur. Tell her
D173, Mother SEas a}ve'ﬁ opted all the women in the Paraashara
3 téllsse who arem&;:riari?ﬁe’how manage to 2 good iusbands

uka and the youn n s .
my 1}%61111 to leave yoyu alcigng}csafgusgflktgjz AR (o5 et
are ayé’ﬁnThe WORD has to be preserved and protected. You
ber m Sanall, you:can do it much better than I can. But remem-
y advice: No man can ever be happy who cannot make his
mother happy too,’ said the Muni and patted Shuka.
to th ter the boys and the women had left, the Muni prayed’

-ffhiGOdS to give them protection.
PO s providential escape had given the womech a new zest
thcmgw‘ile wings to their feet. Sharmi’s brother was waiting for
Ehdithe I;:n they reached the outskirts of the village. The women
ing hand oys made themselves into an unbreakable chain by hold-
the ni nds so that no one would be lost on the way, and t_hm_:gh
Hicir ;?a}}'lil“’as dark, they did not have much difficulty 1n finding

In the morning, there appeared to be a volganic eruption il
the settlement: loud, angry shouts, running foot-steps, the f_souncii‘
of people talking in high-pitched excitement, and the blowing ©
horns summoning the tribe to face a grave danger. Very soon there
was a commotion near the prison-camp-

'The opening of the prison-camp Wwas cleared of thorns.
Mosa came in, his eyes red, wielding a bufallo’s thigh-bone as a
mace. With two of his lieutenants, he went round the enclosure,
but there was no trace of the young mei.

He rushed at Dvaipaayana who was sitting on the ground.
The Muni, by a gesture, asked Mosa to stay his hand. ‘Why are
you so angry ? he asked him.

Mosa glared at him and shouted : “Where have the others

gone 7’
The Muni looked up quietly with a twinkle of amusement:
in his eyes. ‘Better ask your guards,” he replied. ;
Mosa turned to the guards. They were kneeling before him
with their heads in the dust, trembling for their very lives. “Where
are the other prisoners ?” Mosa shouted at them, hitting one with

the mace.
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‘They must be here,’ the other guard said. ‘We were awake
the whole night and the five men were here when we closed the
opening.’ L ) _ !

" He found that the food supplied to the Muni the previous night
had remained untouched, and he shouted : ‘Why didn’t you take
your food yesterday evening?

‘I cannot pray to my Gods without taking a bathe, and unless
1 have prayed, I cannot take any food. And even as it is, most of
it is beef; I will never touch that.’

‘You won’t eat what I give you ?” asked Mosa; his anger
was rising, but he did not know how to give vent to it. “You won’t
get any other food. I shall enjoy seeing you die of starvation.’

‘Then I shall have grown so emaciated that you won’t be
able to feast on my flesh,” said the Muni with a smile.

Two or three of the Elders of the tribe, including Krupa,
Sharmi’s father, came running. ‘Mighty Chief, son of the Divine
Buffalo, a great calamity has befallen us,” said Krupa.
Mos?’\r’hat has happened to you ? Why are you wailing ?° asked

‘My daughter, Sharmi, has disappeared,” said ‘It
must be the magic of these people.’ e : S

“Your daughter ! Sharmi !’

‘Not only that’, said another tribal Elder in an ag; i
: , 52 n agitated voIGe.
Oh, AGreat Buffalo King, my two daughters have aigso ge(?nc.’
4 nother Elder, placed in charge of the women of the gshram
amfi to salute Mosa and stood trembling before hj oy j
xhat is the matter with you ? asked Mosa e
‘All the women whom we brought here h: :
1 a ed
frothhe:; homes, oh Buffalo King.{g ve disapbRgy
osa turned ferociously towards the Muni a :
[3 R n ted :
};Oglnblaci:‘kgﬁuardi)f know that this is your magic.” He (:h:?)t!tllrﬁcd
¢ of the tribesmen who was loyal to him and sajd - ¢ to
One of the experts in Yatu vidya il

( (sorcery) and ask hi make
counter sorgery.’ Then he turned to the Muni : ‘Wir:érzo

your companions gone ?’ s
;\I’Itold you : aSI]é your guards.’
Mosa turned to Krupa. “Uncle, where can Sharmi j one?
s How am I to know ? When I saw that she was nc?r eti%ere, I
_Wopected foul-play and came straight to you,” said Krupa. ‘The
unmen who have been living in the gshram have always been
: Tuly; they' do not respect our tribal customs. One (does NOt

OW what they are ¢apable of doing with themselve ma
have drowned ~themselves in the rigver.’ % el d
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One of the chi
i chiefs trusted by Mosa came runnin
;)?é;:’-}_t a?ll&ui*f, dIncarnation of Mahishaasura.” He g\l:{zatgll;isslgf._
1 [ * 3 £
s . E.l-’ to stop. ‘Great Chief,” he said after a pause, ‘your

theml\g?sa turned to him, his eyes blazing with anger. “What about

“They have disappeared.’

“What ? Disappeared ? Are you sure ?’

‘Yes. I swear by the divine Mahishaasura.’

‘Where can they have gone ?” asked Mosa.

How do I know ?’

Mosa was so excited that he did not know what to say; his
mouth was frothy. Then he turned to his favourite chiefs. ‘All
of }c’lou go in search of the women. Bring them to me at once,
dead or alive.’ Then he turned to the Muni. ‘You wait till our
sorcerers come, Why are you smiling—you wicked one, you enemy
of the great Buffalo God 7’ '

h:The Muni could not help laughing and stood up. Mosa turned
to him angrily. “Why are you laughing Gp
he Gods have given the mandate. You wanted to listen
to the Worp. So, listen,” said the Muni, raising his hands to the
heavens.

MOSa was transfixed at the sudden transformation of the
Muni, whose face was like one inspired, his eyes aglow, his body
tense, his voice sonorous, raised in a majestic chant.

““O Ommnipotent Lord, mighty Varuna,

Who rules over the earth hiere and yonder broad sky,

With their frontiers far away,

O Lord, I, son of Muni Paraashara and great grandson of
Vasishtha, pray to Thee,

Grant me my prayers.

Oh, Mighty Lord, ,

Surround the unrighteous with a hundred snares.

‘Let him not escape Thy wrath,

O Thou, the Suprenie observer of men.

He defies the sacred canons of Rita, the Cosmic Order,
arching life,

On which righteous living rests.

May his evil deeds be like fire-brands,

Mady the heavens surround him with fire—

This hater of righteous ways.”

Suddenly, Mosa’s younger brother came running, trembling

with excitement, out of breath. ‘Brother, brother, she has dis-

appeared.’
“‘Who ?’ asked Mosa.
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“Your senior wife.’
The Elders of the tribe we

‘Muni re awe-struck and looked at the

,» but Krupa held his hand ; (oht arip.
Mosa shook himself free from the Igli‘ll o t?iut:iir higs II':lace on
the ground and ran as-if for his life. P,
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led bylme the morning star rose, they—the thirtee
the 1 7 IMothe : s Y irteen - women
¢ landing o St Sharmi and the five Brahmacharis—reached
?ften at g unol_“ld at Godhuli. It was a trying experience walking,
rom the ord ning pace, over the forest trail; the women emerged
: i €al with torn skirts and bleeding feet.
with ﬂﬂ'ectiogatmd her younger brother who served as their guide
lest his absep and asked him to go back to the settlement at once
ment ﬁt the ﬁ:ng::gh; 11\3/}3 discovered and attract severe punish-
; € v O osa.
lived hap;?]me“ could not look at the spot where once they had
lifetime ha Y. Sharmi bit her lips. She had lived there almost a
geﬂerationspplly with her beloved Acharya and her children and
that if she of cows. Now she had lost everything. But she realised
companiongow surrendered to the urge to ¢ry aloud, her younger
The ty, would lose courage to face the grim situation.
tree. Kriyj O tribal guards were sleeping under the shade of a
near the pland his sons were also asleep on the bank of the river
other o Where their boat was grounded. .
getr Sharmi grasped Krivi’s shoulders and shook him.
up and make the boat ready. We are going in your

till believing

‘Krivi,
boat.’
that 1"{3};1?? x;)atﬂler Sharmi 2’ asked Krivi, sitting up, 8
~ “Yes, T am Mother Sharmi.” She twisted his ear till he cried
in pain.

‘Oh, Buffalo God, have mercy on poor old Krivi. I agree that
you are Mother Sharmi,’ said Krivi.

‘Then, get your boat ready. We want you to take us to the
royal boat,” said Sharmi, relaxing the pressure on the boatman’s
ear.
“The royal boat ! Have you all escaped from the settlement 7’
asked Krivi.

“Bal-Muni has asked you to take us to the royal boat before
the sun rises,’ said Sharmi.

Krivi was awake now. ‘But where is Bal-Muni

‘He is in the prison-camp of the settlement. He has asked
us to escape from the settlement. Don’t waste time.’

“But how can I take you ? The Son of the Divine Buffalo
God had ordered me to stay here,” said Krivi helplessly.

"
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‘Look here. We are all escaping from death or worse, muti-
lation. If you don’t take us now, all of us will drown ourselves in
Mother Yamuna. We don’t want to go back.’

“But where is Bal-Muni ?* repeated Krivi.

Shuka intervened. ‘Krivi, the venerable Father has left him-
self in the hands of the Gods. You have to-take us in your boat
immediately. Father has instructed us to go to Hastinapur.’

Krivi’s two sons were awake by then and came up to Krivi-

‘T am an unfortunate man,’ said Krivi, beating his forehead.
Then he continued piteously : ‘If I take you in my boat, our Chief
will kill me and my sons. If I don’t, I will be cursed by all of you,
‘and also by the Bal-Muni.’

“Well, then,” said Shuka and patted Krivi on the back. ‘Get
along and take us to the royal boat.’

~As dawn broke, the head boatman of the royal boat saw
Krivi’s boat coming with several women and Brahmagcharis
and drew the attention of the Minister, Kunik, who was standing
knee-deep in the water of the river, performing the sandhya along
\t\ﬁth It)hhe disciples wh}? w;r}e transferred to the royal boat, and also
e anurdhars, the kshatriya arc ; o 2
takin'%htheir bathe in the riveJ:'. heesy e rOWers’ Were all
¢ Minister, Kunik, was surprised when he saw “Krivi’s
boat coming with its human car ; =T
the Mastergwas 5 v go and was shocked to see that

As the boat was grounded on the improvi : -
Mother Sharmi and the other women }’u;‘sggd éirtld(l;tlg'gml'llr}lfé
younger women were so tired that they stretched the il‘l- o
on thl'sl bank of the river, half-dazed. g

. ‘Minister Kunik,” Sharmi accosted Kunik as s

im. Her skirt was torn. Her breast scarf was noh?niggrgagﬂcg
strip. The Minister, Kunik, stared at the partially unveiled f tniﬂc
abundange standing before him, 2ot

Sharmi shouted-at him : “Why do you stare at me as j
a beautiful apsara from the heavens ? yI am old enough:l ic:fb; fgﬁ?
grand-mother. It seems that you have forgotten Mother Sharmi.

Tave you eyes to see that we have been running over the forest
trails; look at our bleeding feet and torn skirts 2’ '

The Minister, Kunik, felt the remark like a whip-lash and it
was some time before he could look at Sharmi. ‘But Mother
Sharmi, how did you ¢ome here ? T thougt that all of you had
been killed or taken prisoners by Mosa,” he said.

. Mother Sharml, with her hands placed defiantly on her hips,
said : I am tired of explaining everything to everybody, We were
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taken to i ;
mlltilated,ﬂgaalt_ri,?al ‘headquarters and would have been killed or
Godhuli uni came to our rescue. He told us to
e tu i and take Krivi’s boat and come to the royal bescape 2
‘((}:otake us to Hastinapur.’ 2 oa Eiou
- ‘Come and sit down here on the bank f ile,” sai
Minis Sl 1 the bank for a while,” said the
el ?,ter, Kunik. ‘Mother Sharmi, did you meet the Master 'youbll-_
Seeing a look of distrust on the fa ini i
Shuka intervened : ‘Minister Kunik, nghgf E?eiansfl(I:rsst;’rs’ K;usn o
camp. He instructed us.to escape and come to you. He ﬁirlnorllt:
WO“‘%hléoiﬁcLonr}}:. dl‘{e'hfls left his fate to the Gods.” ,Se
luni iscgiples, wh ;
boat‘under his instrugtions, cgn?eac:lr}iie?%igea&nstfﬁ;gd S
e ‘But why didn’t you bring the Master with you 2> asked
‘-‘m‘{;; still not able to understand the situation fully.
like.’ ou have forgotten, Minister Kunik, what Bal-Muni is
o g_il)%eghayml. All the elephants of Hastinapur could not
Ry him to change his decision.’ s
‘Y‘-‘-t he must have been killed by now,’ said Kunik.
B tal f}f;[ we know. There is no chance of saving him from the
S dded: el said Sharmi, disgusted at Kunik’s sceplicisml and
: : ‘And there is no chance of your escaping Mother Sharmi
if you don’t act as you should.” Not for nothing had she, as a
hostess, dominated the arrangements in Dharmakshetra when
the Vajpeya was performed. .
] The Minister, Kunik, saw that the ‘situation was very difficult.
Sit down, Krivi. You and your sons can join us. We will provide

you with some food.”
Shuka intervened. “We will keep to our VOWS. We Brahma-

charis will offer worship to the God Surya, perform the sandhya
and worship the sacred fire, then partake of whatever food you
can give us.’ 3

The boatmen served food to the fugitives. Mother Sharmi
could not swallow even a morsel of it; her mind was oppressed
with confused memories of Acharya, her children, her ashram,
even of her Krishna who must have been killed under Mosa’s
orders. i :
; Shuka was standing by her side. ‘Mother Sharmi, forget the
past. We have to build a future,” he said. She piteously looked
at his face and between sobs bewailed his fate : ‘My Acharya is
gone, my children are all gone, “my Krishna'’ is gone. I have
nobody but you to look after me in my old age.’ '

Shuka bent down and forgetting his vow not to touch a
K. P. VI-9
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woman, embraced Mother Sharm'i]. ‘I\;Iother Sharmi, don_t WOITY-
e. Why do you forget that ?’ _

- am‘Yl’lgx are thg onlyyone lcftgto me,’ she said and clung to his leg:-'éi

Shuka gathered her hands affectionately 1n his arms an
said : “You must not succumb to despair. The Gods are with us
and T love to see the sacred fire burning bright in the Godhu}1
ashram. I am sure the Gods won’t deny you happiness. Don’t
lose faith.’ i

For a few moments Mother Sharmi cried. Soon she was her
old self. She pulled herself up, and wiped her tears away with the
back of her hand. ] _

After she recovered her composure, she turned to the Minister,
Kunik. ‘Minister Kunik, let us start for Hastinapur as early as
possible.’ \ ;

The Minister, Kunik, shook his head. ‘Mother Sharmi, it is
not so. easy for me to do what you say. I have to consider the
commands of the Best of Bharatas, the noble Prince Gangeya.
He has asked me to see that no harm comes to the Master. Tell
me all that Mosa has done.’

Shuka, at the request of Mother Sharmi, told him all that had

happened to the ashram and its inmates; how Acharya Gautama

and his children had been killed; how the women of the ashram
had been driven like cattle to the tribal headquarters. ‘Now ﬁi;:athel'
has sacrificed himself for the sake of all of us,” he concluded

‘That makes me think twi ni 25

: : I ce before ret ; s
said the Minister, Kunik. ‘T am j returning to Hastinapuf,

: in duty bound to ta
the Master or punish whoever has lgilled him. ke steps to save

‘But we have received instructions from Ba] o
“Master” ou call him—t a-Muni—t1€
said Sharn?is.. 4 hat we must be taken to Hastijnapuf,

‘That is all right. But what about the commands of oble
Gangeya ? T am a Minister of Hastinapur and have beentggmnmis-
Slone%{to rescue thedMahster‘,?’ said the Minister Kunik

‘How will you do that ? He a1 5
said Sharmi. ki h ppustheye el Mled by oz

‘T am now taking the roya] boat to the Godhyj; .

? 1 1 3 . ldlﬂg
ground,’ replied Kunik. *Burning the gghram and kill]ilafé the
Srotriyas, including the venerable Acharya, is a challenge to the
authority of the Best of Bharatas, who has pledged himself to
protect dharma and punish those who seek to destroy it. | cannot

forget that aspect,” added Kunjk.

‘How can we g0 to H%sﬁi}apur ? asked Sharmi,
‘That will have t0 Wait,” said Kunik, He continued : ‘yester-
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?gycc} (;l‘d.ered three boatmen who were plying their own crafts,
ihc. Brat here and join me. Mother Sharmi, with the women and
Ty melsmacharis, will stay in those crafts. Krivi too will come

head.Oh’ I will be killed by Mosa,” said Krivi and beat his fore-
‘YouI?don’t worry about your life, Krivi,” said the Minister, Kunik.
ey Bfﬁ; it{(')o old,lnot w?rth killing. You bave to show us the
taneously.’ you play us false, you will meet your death instan-
Kuni}?scthe master pleases,” said Krivi and bowed low before
e I have already obeyed the orders of the Bal-Muni con-

yb to me by Mother Sharmi and offended Mosa. I cannot
%gu ;‘ick to him, having disobeyed his orders. So I have to help
5 That is talking sense,’ said Kunik. He then turned to Sharmi:

other Sharmi, the other women and the Brahmacharis will stay
here in the small boats under the charge of two TOWerIS and two
archers whom I am leaving here. That is quite enough. The rest
will come with me.’

Nothing of the kind,” said Mother Sharmi, who was now
her old self. ‘If you are going to restore the ashram or rescue Bal-
Muni, T must be there. I am his mother.” She would never forget
that as Mother Sharmi, her primary duty was to maintain order
among those who came her way, all of whom she treated as un-
ruly children. .

) i;fi‘tlllnik remonstrated : “You will only come in our Way if there
is a fight.’ .

Again she placed her hands on her hips, which was with her
a posture of authority, and said : ‘I owe that to my lord, the
Acharya, and my children, one of whom was already a twice-
born. I will come with you, whatever happens, Minister Kunik.
We must rescue Bal-Muni or see that those who killed him are
punished. Bal-Muni and Shuka are the only two children left to
me.” Then, for a moment, her grief overcame her and, in spite of
her defiant posture, her eyes were filled with tears. Shuka placed
his hand on her back. Again she clung to him, suppressed her
sobs and gathered composure.

‘T have got a feeling, Mother Sharmi, that the Gods will not
allow Father to be killed,” said Shuka. ‘He has had a charmed
life throughout and dharma depends upon his survival. We
Brahmacharis will come with you, Minister Kunik.’

One of the Master’s disciples came forward and said : ‘We
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are willing to come with you, noble Minister. We cannot abandon
our guru.’ 1

gAll right, all right. Then all the women, the Brahmacharis
and the disciples shall go in the three crafts, which will be in tow
of the royal boat and in your boats till I clear the ashram grounds
of the tribesmen. I only want fighting men to come with me,’
said Kunik. ;

‘But you are few and they will be many,’ said Sharmi.

‘Don’t worry, Mother Sharmi,” said Kunik with a .smile.
‘The dhanurdhars—the archers—whom 1 have brought, are
seasoned warriors, the best in Hastinapur. They can take care of
themselves. All the rowers, except two, will also come with me
With their spears. Well, let us go to the Godhuli ashram.’

- The royal boat then moved towards Godhuli.



CHAPTER 30

MOSA INVOKES THE DIVINE BUFFALO
\\/ HEN the royal boat arrived at the landing ground of i
' ' the archers with their formidable bowsgaﬁd the rong?sdi’lvlil:k
their spears, jumped out of it. Secing the archers and the rowers,
thc two guards posted at the ashram ground, ran away into the
jungle. The women and the Brahmacharis, when Kunik told them
to, clambered out of the three crafts. . . .
.~ The Minister, Kunik, ordered four of his rowers, armed with
spears, to be in charge of the ashram. He then turned to the women
and the Brahmacharis: ‘All of you stay here.’ . :

“Yes, we will stay here, * said Sharmi. ‘We will clean up the-
ashram ground and make it ready for installing the sacred fire.
But don’t you return without Bal-Muni.” )

Kunik turned to Krivi. ‘Krivi, now show.us the way to the
tribal headquarters, the shortest.” o . )

“Mosa will murder me,” whimpered the old man and cried
like a little child. . :

Kunik looked at him menacingly and gave him a buffet.
‘Mosa will kill you tomorrow, but T will kill you just. DOW if you
don't show us the way to the tribal headquarters,” he said. .

‘All right, all right,” said Krivi. ‘Mosa will kill me if I take
you there. You will kill me if I don’t take you. Everybody is busy
trying to kill me. But what will happen to my poor boys .

“‘Nothing will happen to them nor to you if you obey my

orders,’ said Kunik. ‘Come along. Show us the way.’

Krivi, though anticipating death at any moment, led the XKuru
warriors along the trails to the tribal headquarters, )

When they arrived at the settlement, Krivi, without saying
a word or even looking at Kunik, turned round and ran back to
Godhuli. Life was dear to him; he wanted to face neither Mosa
nor Kunik. . : . )

When Kunik saw some tribesmen standing at a distance, he
ordered one of the archers to let fly an airow at them. The wa-
rrior took an arrow out of bis quiver, fixed it on the bow string
and let it fly. The arrow hit its aim; a tribesman fell to the ground,
uttering piteous cries. His companions fled away.

Under Kunik’s orders, all the archers blew a terrible blast
on their conchs. . _

“There was panic in the-settlement. Drums were beaten, horns
blown, signalling danger. Women and children hid themselves
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away. The tribesmen came out of their huts and ran towards the
mee?ingl?grom?d, but long before they reached it, Kunik had taken
possession of it. Never had the tribesmen seen such powerful airows
and spears. They stood at a safe distance, oppiessed by fear.
As Kunik and the warriors blew their conchs again, the
forest reverberated with the blast. One of them who knew the
tribal speech, stepped forward and in the name of the Best of
Bharatas, Prince Gangeya, the Terrible, called upon them to hand
over their Chief, Mosa, and to produce Muni Dvaipaayana, the
Master, whom he had kidnapped; if the orders were not obeyed,
said the announcer, their settlement would be destroyed and every
tribesman killed. :

Quile a few tribesmen who were followers of Mosa slipped
away to hide themselves in the jungle.

Krupa, the leading Elder of the tribe, in the absence of Mosa
officiating as Chief, came forward and accosted Kunik, folding
his hands, and said in the speech of the Ayras which he had Jearnt
during his contact with the ashram: “Valiant Chief, I am the father
of Sharmi. Wait a little. I shall go and fetch the revered Master.’

Kunik felt relieved; the Master was safe. ‘If you deceive me,’
he said, stepping nearer, ¢ T will kill every one of you.’

Kunik and his warriors waited for Krupa to r ith
the Master; P cturn wi

so did the tri
ST i ibesmen who stood where they were
Led by Krupa, the Master came u i i
: Pa, with his bo
playing around his lips and an amugeq t?vinkle in his eyes, ‘Mi-
nister Kunik, why did you take the trouble to come hepe 9 be
ﬁ»ilfgdz ‘hI nffded s Onekblﬁ the Gods to keep me alive. The bra-
-te s work. - £
strings{’ as done i émove your arrows from your pow-
Kunik prostrated himself before the M ; i
ke aster; so did t s.
The Master blessed them, his right hand extended, and :;;f‘ilﬁ;y
y}?u lllw’a.a hundred years and may peace descend on the s;:)ns of
Lnt’;‘i]zwme Buff;z;lg.glzghggckéour arrows and put down your pows
ears on . :
: SéJm;j o A TUPa, ask your people also to do the
The Kuru warriors, at a glange

o t?fi] ggloufr&d_ K’rupg. t‘]:’rdﬂed the tribesmen to do likewise.
Noble Krupa,” sald the Master, <we must have a triba] dinner-
Call the children alsc; they wil] B Hungrs
‘But where is I}A'osa ;)[,' asked K gry.
‘He has shut himself up ip ¢ . . 5.
said the Master with a laugh. . he shrine of | the Divine Buffalos

yish smile

from Kunik, Iaid their yweapons

!
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‘Hiding himself !’ exclaimed Kunik. ‘He b
Godhuli ashram, killed the Stotriyas including Ac;;l-;a d%‘;ﬁltaif
a?l?lilgdnapped you, Master. I have orders to mete out severe
Fnisdséerc?sefpt to Mosa and his tribesmen who have committed these
‘Minister Kunik,” said the Master, ‘he has been punishe
the Gods, and the tribesmen. I will also disown him]?’ L

The leading Elders of the tribe nodded assent to the Master’s
statement.

‘But how is he punished 7’ asked Kunik.

His senior wife ran away with Mother Sharmi,” replied the
Master. ‘According to the tribal custom, as the valiant Krupa
tells me, the Chief is the master of all the women-folk, particulatly
of hl_s wives, and the senior of them is looked upon as the symbol
of his authority.” Kunik laughed aloud and remarked: ‘That she
left l;um was a disgrace which he could not face, could he ?°

No °, said the Master, ‘unable to bear the humiliation, he
has sought refuge in the shrine of the Divine Buffalo.’

__ The Master smiled. .‘Prayers will not do him any harm; they
will teach him bumility, which he badly needs.’
I wish {o see him,” said Kunik. ‘The Best of Bharatas has
commanded that he shall be put to death.’ ;

_ ‘Kunik, don’t worry about Mosa. Krupa is now the tribal
Chief. Before you came, the tribesmen decided to g0 down to
I(?Jodhuli ond rebaild the ashram, didm’t they, Krupa 2’ asked the

aster.

¢ That is so, Master, ’ replied Krupa.
¢ In obedience to the commands of the Best of Bharatas, [

have to deal with the tribal Chief,” asserted Kunik.
¢ What do you propose to do 7’ asked the Master.
¢ To teach a lesson to the Chief,’ replied Kunik. ‘I must see

him first.’ )
The Master turned to Krupa: ‘Take us to the shrine, noble

Krupa.’ ] . ) i
< He won’t see you, ’ said Krupa. He has shut himself 1in
the shrine, where the sacred buffalo, which represents the Divine

Buffalo on earth, 1s worshipped. He has also the sorcerer of the
tribe with him.’

“Don’t worry about the sorcerer; we shall deal with him when
we find him,’ said Kunik. :

Led by Krupa, the Master, the Minister Kunik, and the four
archers accompanied by the elders of the tribe, went to the shrine
which was situated on a hill in the centre of the settlement. If was
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alarge hut with bamboo walls and enclosed by three concentric
hedges of thorns. It housed the buffalo woishipped as a re- -
presentative of the Divine Buffalo on earth. ]

When they reached the outer-most hedge of the shrine, they
saw a magic line in white drawn around it. Krupa Jooked at the
Master and said: ‘The tribal sorcerer has drawn the magic ba-
riier around the shrine. We cannot cross it, for by doing so, Wwe
will inyite the wrath of Mahishaasura.’

The Master smiled. ‘If you are afraid of crossing the line,
}élil&lk and myself will do so. We are under the protection of the

ods.’

The Minister, Kunik interrupted ‘Master, you need not
take the trouble of coming. I will go into the shrine and drag Mosa
out. to receive the proper punishment for his misdeeds.” Then he
turned to Krupa: ‘What do you think he is doing in the shrine?
Son He is perhaps inyoking the Divine Buffalo to bring back his

HOr queen so that he can present her as a sacrificial offering,’
said Krupa.

‘Let us first go in and see M * sai M: £ )
i i s 80, osa,’ said the Master. ‘Perhap$
righteouns livingg ovide a proper atmosphere to win him back to




CHAPTER 31
MOSA EXPIATES HIS SIN

KR_UPA did not know what to do. He had loved the Bal-Muni
since his boyhood; to this was added deep respect when he
saw what a beneficial influence his visit to Godhuli askhram had
exercised over the tribal life all along the banks of the Yamuna.
He was moved to the core of his being when the Muni brought
down the wrath of the Gods on Mosa whose hateful ways he had
disliked all his life. :

He was, therefore, ready to risk the displeasure of Mosa and
possibly the wrath of the Divine Buffalo by taking the Bal-Muni
to the shrine.

. Krupa went to the other Elders who were.standing a little
distance away. They also stood in awe of the Bal-Muni. He held
consultation with them. They could not but admire the way in
which he had faced death, and also the way in which he had brought
down the wrath of the Gods on Mosa. i

. They agreed with Krupa that Bal-Muni’s wishes should be com-
plied with.

Krupa then returned to the Master and said that they would
accept his injunctions.

Krupa and the Elders, assisted by the archers, removed the
barrier of thorns tied together by fibre ropes from the opening 11
the hedges.

The walls of the shrine were of bamboos knit together. Its
door was closed from the inside. ' ol

The Master asked Mosa to open the gate of the shrine. No
response was forthcoming. Under the Minister, Kunik’s orders,
the archers removed the barrier from the entrance. *-

It was a strange scene that met their eyes. A young buffalo,
its face painted red, with glossy, black skin and carrying between
his loins the attributes of generous fecundity—a thing of beauty
—was chewing the grass placidly. It was tethered to a pole. All
its legs were hobbled and fastened to pegs. It appeared to be uneasy;
now and again it made futile attempts to shake itself tie.

According to the tribal custom, when Mosa had been installed
as the Chief of the tribe, the old buffalo that was worshipped in
the shrine, was offered as a sacrifice, and this young one installed
as the Divine Buffalo on:Earth.

Mosa was kneeling before the divinity, his head placed on

the ground. A short sword of copper and three. spears with
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shining blades were by his side. Next to him sat the old sorcerer,
his face painted red and his eyes closed, muttering magic charms.

The Minister, Kunik’s hand went instmctwg:ly to the hilt
of the sword which was suspended from his waist-band. The
Master turned to him and said: ‘Minister Kunik, don’t try to kill
the Chief. We must not convert a shrine into a slaughter-house.’

Then he turned to Mosa and in his most persuasive way added:
“Valiant Mosa, rise up. You will not recover your wife in this
way. She is at the Godhuli ashram helping Mother Sharmi to
re-build it.

Mosa raised his head and turned his inflamed eyes on Krupa.
“You traitcr !”’he said in a hoarse voice. ‘You have helped Sharmi
and the other women to escape. Sharmi also committed an
inexpiable sin by decoying my senior wife. Now she is re-building
the ashram which T destroyed.” He paused for a moment, controlled
his anger, and continued : ‘You, Krupa, have also broken your
oath of obedience to me . You betrayed the Divine Buffalo: his
wrath will pursue you to the end of your days.’

° The Divine Buffalo will soon burn you up as you stand.
gur master of magic charms is invoking the curse of the Divine

uffalo on you.” Mosa became very excited, his voice was ingo-
erent, his breast heaved, his hand clutched at the hilt of his sword
Wwhich lay near him.

Krupa and the other Elders could not help shivering at the

?}f{(:r?ect of the wrath of the Divine Buffalo being directed against

Mosa raised his hands in prayer. ‘Divine Buff:
z i alO (4] rth’
I cltlrét your son. Turn your wrath on alJ these people, destror; Elaem.’
o 0 he pointed at the Master and added: ‘Particularly their
rce{?r Who pretends tl(\)l' b'?-}'lspﬂaking for alien gods.”
1y all waited. Nothing happened, except a dee
- 2 . Ow
zroem the young buffalo. Then it lowered its hgad and Eeé):,lll to
W the 1118(:10115‘: grass. It seemed to enjoy its role as a dryinity-
Voide Mosa, don’t be foolish,’ said the Master in an affectionate
el .hYou hayve committed a bruta] ast. You have burnt down
wax ram and killed the Srotriyas, al| of them harmless people-
¢ ant to be your friend. I want tq help you if I can. I don}i want
any Flli‘arm to come to you or yoyur people.’
i Che Minister, Kunik, was impatient to discharge his duties
Interrupted the Master .by saying : ‘The Best of Bharatas,
Gangeya, Bheeshma the Terrible, hag given me his Gommand that
Mosa must be punished.’ n

Mosa, his face blazing with anger, turned towards the Minister
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Kunik. ¢You dare punish me, the son of the Divi :
Then he shouted : ‘Ll;avc here.” vine;Bultaloll

The Master, by a gesture, asked Kunik to remain silent.

Vah,ant_Mosa, anger has never paid anybody and will not
pay you,” said the Master. Then he bent down, selected a handful
of green shoots of grass and offered them to the buffalo. The buffalo
looked at the visitors with what another buffalo would have re-
cognised as a smile. :

Mosa saw the change in the buffalo. He got up and shouted
at the buffalo : ¢ Divine Buffalo on Earth, destroy these wicked
enemies of your people. They have entered your shrine without
g?;tgc’rmlssmn. They have threatened me, your son. They deserve

The Master stood patiently while Mosa invoked the Divine
Buffalo. Then he smiled and said: ‘Mosa, you have been suffici-
ently punished by the Gods. Your senior wife, the emblem of your
power, has left you. I want you to forget the past. We will also
forget how you desecrated the sacred fire of the ashram. We will
pray to the Fire God to forgive your sacrilege.’

[osa rolled his eyes as he impatiently listened to the words
of the Master. With wild eyes reflecting fanaticism, he looked at
th_e Master. “You wicked sorcerer,” he shouted and brandished
11133 hands to control the breathless exsitement which had come over

im.
; The Master looked at him with indulgent eyes and slowly,
in a low voice, said : ¢ Valiant Chief, you know that I am not a
sorcerer, I am Dvaipaayana, the son of Muni Paraashara who de-
parted” for the land of the ancestors from Godhuli. The a._shram
is now a sacred place, a tirtha, where people come to worship the
memory of my revered father.’ s

Then the Master bent down, picked up some grass and held
it for the buffalo to chew. Mosa was shocked to see that the buf-
falo showed its appreciation of the Master by accepting grass
from his hand—a privilege to which he, the Chief, alone was entitled.

Uncontrellable rage seized Mosa; his hands began to tremble.
“You, Divine Buffalo on Earth,” he shouted at the buffalo. “You
are also betraying me. You have become a friend of my enemy’s.’

He was shaking in every limb. He took the sword, in one jump
approached the buffalo and waved it over his head for some time.
Then he gave forth a weird scream, took a step forward and with
all the strength he possessed, thrust the sword into the buffalo’s
neck once, twice, three times.

The buffalo roared with pain. Blood gushed from its wounds
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and mouth. Tt made futile attempts to shake off the ropes to which
its legs were tied. It tried to rear in a last attempt to get away, and
sank on its legs, moaning piteously. o

Mosa, sprayed with blood, his sword also dripping blood,
turned to the sorcerer who was sitting there. ;

“You also have betrayed me, wicked sorcerer,” he shouted.
‘ You promised me that the Divine Buffalo would protect me from
this wicked sorcerer. Here is what you deserve.” He thrust the
sword into the sorcerer’s chest.

Mosa then laughed like a mad man; with the sword uplifted,
he 1tushed at the Master. The Minister, Kunik, and the archers
caught hold of him. He struggled to free himself, but did not suc-
Geed. In blind fury and with blood-shot eyes, he looked at the
sorgerer lying on the ground, his body bespattered with blood:
death rattled in his throat.- >

Mosa’s face was distorted in an ugly grimace.
shake off Kunik and the archer
a little farther away.

. Traitors, traitors, traitors,’
You, Divine Buffalo on Earth,
a traitor. You, Uncle Krupa, are
€en a traitor. You clders are all cowards and traitors.’ e
‘Stopped for breath. ‘And my wife is a traitor too,’ he S’I{Ihoe&;é,
And you, you wicked monster” He started at the Master and
added: T invoke the curse of the Divine Buffalo upo r ou
sorcerer, and upon all you traitors.’ RODL YOS
5 By a supreme effort, he shook o

0 were holding the hand with which he was graspine h;
Before anyone G%uld realise what he was oing t(? dg pis wons
: ] going 0, he thrust

It into his own chest. ;

Blood spurted out. He fell down dead.

He tried to
S, but gould not. He was dragged

he shouted almost incoherently.

whom I worshipped, yoy are
a traitor. You, sorcerer, have

ff the grip of the ,rchers
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- CHAPTER 32
MOTHER SHARMI ASSUMES CHARGE

MDTHER Sharmi took charge of the mounds of ashes which were

once the ashram of her lord, Acharya Gautama, and insisted
on their removal. She hurried about, sometimes shedding tears
for her Acharya and children who had been massacred on that
SpOt; sometimes shouting at some lazy workers; sometimes laugh-
Ing, or twisting the ear of someone, never forgetting the fact that
as Mother Sharmi, she was the supieme dictator of the
ashram and that the re-building of the ashram was her prime res-
ponsibility. : 3 '

The inmates of the ashram who had escaped into the Field

of Ashes, when Mosa burnt it down, had from time to time been
sending two persons to watch the developments at Godhuli. Those
on the watch were surprised when the royal boat arrived at Godhuli
and Mother Sharmi returned in one of the three small crafts.
; The watchers, afraid of being caught by Mosa’s men, crept
slowly towards the ashram, moving on all fours in the J‘.mgle
grass or hiding behind trees. When they saw Mother Sharmui, the
brahmacharis and the other disciples were cleaning Uup . the
ashram grounds, they felt confident that the ashram was not likely
to be visited by Mosa. ‘ i

Mother Sharmi’s watchful eyes spotted the two ashramites
axf}d waved to them. She shouted : ‘Rghit, you coward, how many
of you are alive in the Field of Ashes 7’

Rohit and his l(;Lompanion emerged from t_:chmd a tree, a:nd
fell at Mother Sharmi’s feet. ‘Mother, eighteen of us are hiding
in the Field of Ashes,” said Rohit. :

‘ How many women ?’ asked Sharmi.

¢ Five,’ replied Rohit. ; :
“ You cowards,’ said Sharmi. “You preferred to live rather

than die with the ashram. Even the heroism of the Acharya did
not inspire courage in you; he was willing to die rather than live
without the ashram. Never mind. What has been done 18 done.
1t does not matter now. I forgive you. You are still children. Go
and fetch all the others here.’

Before sunset, the disciples of the Master installed the sacred
fire with proper rituals and appropriate chants. The sacred fire
burnt high. - '

Before it-was dark, the eighteen fugitives, including five women,
arrived. They had had no food at all for several days; when the
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chief boatman of the royal boat brought food for them, Mother
Sharmi told them: ‘You cowards, you deserve to die. But T will
forgive you. You cannot have had -any food -for days. But don’t
eat like wolves; otherwise you will fall ill.’

Two cows which had escaped when the ashram was burnt
down, instinctively sensed that the danger was over and came to
the ashram grounds. They waited a little distance away from the
sacred fire. They had one eye on it; the other was on the forest
trail by which, if there was danger, they could escape. Sharmi
got up and called them. At first they stood still, but when they
recognised that it was Mother Sharmi who was calling them, they
came and stood by her. Sharmi affectionately threw arms around
their necks. :

In spite of the re-union at the ashram grounds, one anxious
thought oppressed them all: Mosa must have certainly killed the
Master before the Minister, Kunik reached the tribal headquarters.
3 An Elder of the tribe, with two tribesmen, emerged from the
jungle. The royal archers got ready to shoot at them if they came

near. Everybody had collected in a growd, expecting Yﬁ ht
Mother Sharmi shouted orders to the archers: ‘Don’t 1a tl%eni
come near. But shoot at them only if they try to come net 1
. . The Elder of the tribe who heard this, raised both hj eiaf- ds

Mother Sharmi, we have come only to announce that th S Manm:
and the valiant Krupa, your father, are coming here te [as
afterihc morning rituals are over.’ : omorroW

Il present were electrified at this r i
transported with joy. : news. Mother Sharmi was

; Wﬁlere is Mosz%1 ?’fS{:e asked the Elder.

. * The valiant Chief has been ca > 7
Divine Bufalo’, replied the Elder, lled away to theiword:ofile
, wo other Elders of the tribe, wi : ;
lmmiiiatcly thcreaftcr,hbringing fooéﬂlwsi?gleﬂf;ﬁesmen, arrived

1l the persons in the ashram gro BT
to sleep; not so Mother Sharmi, thgou:;:dsiée[gcsduf?orﬁghand went
Womenfolk. Whenever she closed he?eyes she saw he ed by thg
her children standing before her. Whep thc)’r had been Gal;, lord an :
by Mosa to the tribal headquarters she had had to | Sed awa[)f
into furious action in order to forget ,the; e ‘[. Sbich ash herse
" However, every fime sh Ere OPpressed hel-

; wever, every ¢ remembered her husband her
children, she felt as if on the brink of collapse, but she w and o
woman, Her primary duty had been to saye the kidnap as a pmen
from the anger of Mosa. Now her ¢ ped wom!

as her husband would have liked to dgty W?].S to rebuild the gshram
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She could not sleep. When every woman in the ground had
gone tc sleep, she got up and went to the bank of the river, sat
down and wept. d )

. A piteous cry came from her heart. ¢ Oh, my Acharya, why
did you leave me ? You have broken your promise to look after
me till T die.’

She thanked the Gods for saving the life of her ‘Krishna’
and for the way in which the ashram was being re-built. She also
thanked the Divine Buffalo whom she had worshipped before she
married Acharya Gautama. She wanted no god to be angry for
being neglected. .

She had no idea how long she sat there. When her heart was
unburdened, she came back to where she had been lyirg.

. The next morning, after the morning rituals were over, offer-
ings were made to the sacred fire by the Srofriyas. Soon they
heard drums beating, flutes and fifes playing. Eveiryone rushed
to the place where the forest trail ended. o

The Master with a happy smile, Krupa, his face painted red
as befitted the new Chief, and the Minister, Kunik, with a look
of triumph, emerged from the forest, followed by tribesmen
— the men carrying food and most of the women, with their chil-
dren at their breast or riding on their hips, singing songs.

Mother Sharmi saw them coming and was beside herself
with emotion. She parted the crowd. She must be the first to greet
the new arrivals. In her haste, she almost forgot that her skirt
was torn in places. A

¢ Krishna, Krishna, my son,’ she cried and fell at the Master's
feet. The Master lifted her up. She forgot decorum, placed her
hands around him, rested her head against his chest and broke
into convulsive sobs. In broken accents, she said : ‘My son, our
Acharya is dead.’ > :

The Master placed his hand on her white crown of hair.
‘Mother Sharmi, the Acharya will never die,” he said. ‘He will live
in you, in me, in all his disciples and even in all the children of
Mahishaasura.’ .

¢ My children, > Sharmi uttered a moan.

¢ No, they are alive. Their memory will impel you to preside
over the ashram.’

The Master led Mother Sharmi with one hand and with the
other, blessed the people gathered there. ‘ Mother,’ he said, loud
enough to be heard by every one, the valiant Krupa has brought
back such of the cows, and bulls as have not disappeard into the
stomach of Mosa. And you know, something wonderful has
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ened. The tribe have expiated their sin by giving up eating
Eigfan E:tsilesh or beef. Now let us have a bathe, offer our prayers
to the God Surya, light the sacred fire and make offerings to the
Fire God.” . - : P = o

Then he turned to mother Sharmi, with a boyish mischievous
look. ° What do you think, Mother Sharmi ? Shall we call this
“Mother Sharmi’s teerth 7’ °

Mother Sharmi was shocked at the proposal, opened her
mouth wide and patted it with her fingers. Then she registered
her protest and said‘ Me ! How c¢an it be my reerth? I am a woman,
I cannot chant the WORD. The teerth should be named after you.
You must stay here and make it your home.’ :

‘T am going to stay here for a few weeks. T have asked Kunik
to fetch Jaabaaleyaa from Hastinapur. We must see that the sacred
fire burns as bright as ever before and the sacred chant is chanted
to perfection,’ said the Master.

The Master and the Srofriyas took their bathe, performed
sandhya and lit the sacred fire.- :

The tribesmen between themselves discussed the miragle that
had been worked by the Master. The tribesmen had now no doubt
that the Master was a god.

The Master, according to his vow, took his meal after he had
served fnt to others. . :

After the meal, the inmates of the ashram got busy preparin
the pen for the cows, washing them clean, and 001Iec¥i£gei]?oaddegr
for them. _

_ The tribesmen went into the forest to collect bamboos to
build cottages.

Krivi and other boatmen left on their usual rounds and
wherever they halted, they talked about the miracles of the Master.

The next day, due obsequies were offered for Acharya Gaytama
and all those who died at the hands of Mosa’s men.




CHAPTER 33

THERE IS SOMETHING IN A NAME

THE Godhuli agshram took a new form; it became a centre
-t of attraction for the neighbouring ashrams, settlements and
villages, %
~ Men and women came to Godhuli, took a holy bathe in the
river at the sacred spot where Muni Paraashara had been received
by the God of Fire, worshipped the sacred fire in the ashram and
received a darshan from the Master.

Hunters came to present. deer-skins to the Master for the
use of Srotriyas and to secure his blessing.

The Srotriyas came to join in the sagcrifical session which the
Master intended to perform in order to purify the ashram.

The Aryas and members of the guilds with their women-.
folk also came, bringing food by way of a present to the Master.
The Master promptly distributed most of it among the visitors,
tsl'}:lleSn‘_len and children, and handed over what was left to Mother

armi. .

Mother Sharmi bustled about, grumbling at the meagre
food which the Master left for the inmates of the ashram, and also
at the inmates, particularly the women-folk, for eating too much.

The Master, however, strictly adhered to his vows; he would
not permit any Srotriya to retain foodstuff which would last for
more than three days; it was for them to lead a life of austerity
and serve the WorpD as a living divinity.

Once, as the Master was performing the pre-dawn sandhya
in the knee-deep waters of the Yamuna, he pondered over the
miracle of his surviving Mosa’s wrath; of the escape of Mother
Sharmi and the other tribal women from Mosa, and of Mosa’s
death. s _

He looked at the sky; it had turned pale. The morning star
shone blue; dark clouds on the horizon were dispersing.

Suddenly, through the dense curtain of clouds, a single shaft
of light struck him. He understood its significance. It was a
message from his guardian God Surya. With humility, he uttered
the Gayatri mantra sacred to his God :

s« oh Divine Ruler, Surya (Sun-God),

I adore Thy effulgence.

I shall always seek Thy life-giving light.

Oh, Lord, enrich and stimulate the power of our minds.”

As he looked at the orb of molten gold emerging majestically
K.P. VL7
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from a cloud bank, he realized the unity which was at the heart
of creation: it was so simple, though it was beyond language
and beyond the mind. .

The light which coursed in his veins became articulate. He
heard the mandate of the God : “Make the whole world Arya,
pure, noble and united in high aspirations.”’

He felt that he was possessed. What had been given to a few
ancient sages was given to him ; all the gods and the whole of
creation were to be merged into One.

As he offered libation to the God Surya, his heart was full of
gratitude.

Then the significance of Godhuli dawned on him. Things
had to happen in the way they did because it was a hallowed spot
—the spot where his father was received by the Fire God—a spot
Where men and women would purify themselves by taking a holy
bathe in the river, recapture the inspiration of dharma and realise
the l‘guty of creation through worship.

s the days passed by, every one in the ashram v i
the arrival of Jaabaaleyaa, the;y Master’sh spouse. ¥ cxpectine
After about three weeks, a royal barge was sighted, coming

over the horizon. Every one was exci
/ Xcited—not one
barges were approaching ! - Ut

Mother Sharmi standing on the b i
o ! s ank of the river, i
Lhe visitors with her sharp eyes and shouted : ‘Jaaba;f: ogm;t;(:
rought the venerable Mother and the Princesses of K yaa
Get ready, all of you, to receiv ashi too.

¢ them properly! ’
All the men and women of the as;,m,?, cgme to the landing

; ! ¢eremoniously. The

the ashram in a procession, the o Y Icturned to
heads, leading it.p 7 Women, with water-pots on their

. The Master was anxious tq e .
decided to solve the outstanding di;gg:;ﬁ}gs hﬁzfo'}%ufllée{éﬁgs and
e Elrst Fhere was the problem of the tribal women WilO had
n ghed with, Mothergebarmi, Then, there was the Problem of
d:‘lfl"?g thosseer s e that, by its very name, it would e{?ract
& ‘otion, The third problem was the obstinacy of Sukdey :
using to found a home. ev in re-

The eligible tribal women wh

. . o ht :
ashram, did not want to go back {, trﬁi;i] ISE?;gCre:tsi}g:n; 1110:11;?
that was the message of the Gog Surya. These tribal womas ne
wanted to live in the ashram shoulq “ip:orofore. be absm-ben Wos
one homogeneous community, 2 g ed in

If the gods were One, so were men and women. His niotherie
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the venerable Mother,—was not an Arya woman
noble and devoted. Mother Sharmi was g tribal woﬁlag:l tbi}fl;ethwe?:
were few Arya women as devoted and pure as she was. ;

Two younger sisters of Mosa refused to go back to tribal life
but Wwanted to live in the ashram. Mother Sharmi wanted them to
be married to the Master’s son, Sukdev, but the young Brahma-
chari, like his companions, refused to found a home, to become a °
householder (grahasthasrami) as required by the ancient canons,
and wanted to enter directly the final stage of the sanyasins—
ascetics.*

The next problem was also insoluble. If the mandate received
by the Master from the God Surya to unify creation had to be
obeyed, it could only be done through Godhuli becoming a model
ashram and teerth.

. They met in a conclave. The venerable Mother, graceful and
dignified in spite of her age, was seated on a silver-inlaid bench,
with the ever-present Daavi behind her. In front of her sat Mother
Sharmi, with her resplendent crown of white hair, in a new skirt
and freshly-woven woollen scarf.

. On the left of the venerable Mother sat the Kashi Princesses
with their mournful eyes, the very image of helplessness and
Vatikaa, the Master’s spouse. 1 .

. On her right sat the Master. Next to him was Krupa with
his headgear adorned by buffalo horns, the insignia of royalty.
Sukdev with four of his companions sat behind him.

The venerable Mother said : ‘I have discussed the matter
with Dvaipaayana. The best of Munis, Paraashara, was received
by the God of Fire at this place.” ) o

There was a catch in her throat as her imagination recreated
the events which had changed the life of Godhuli, her own life,
and also the whole of Aryavarta. It was here that she, the fisher-
girl, met the Pangu Muni; she nursed him to health in Kalpi
nearby, and poor little girl that she was, she offered him all that
she had—her body. Pangu Muni had brought Dvaipaayana to
this place. Acharya Gautama had adopted him as a disciple and
Mother Sharmi had brought him up as if he was her own son.
The memory of these events, which also changed her life, brought
tears to her eyes.

*Note:— For a complete life, an Arya has to live in four stages : Brahma-
charya (celibrate student); grahastha ( of the housecholder) ; vanaprastha,
( retirement from active life to spend years in meditation ), and the final stage,
sanyastha, the stage of an ascetic, without possessions and without a home,
seeking self-realization.



196 KRISHNAVATARA—VI

Clearing her throat, the venerable Mother continued : ‘I
have talked the matter over with the Master. He has assured me
that he will accept whatever name we all agree to give the reerth.
The Gods have given a mission to Dvaipaayana to qu‘y men and
women through teerths. Its name is therefore important. It
must evoke sacred associations.’

Then she turned to the Master. ‘Now you tell us what you
think we should do,” she asked him.

With a humorous twinkle in his eyes, the Master said:
‘Venerable Mother, I have my own views about naming the
ashram.’

‘What is the name that you suggest ?° asked the venerable
Mother.

‘T am sure that, when I mention the name, all of you will dis-
agree with me,” said the Master with a boyish smile. ‘T would like
to name the ashram after the person who has suffered th t
for its sake.’ S
rab]e‘:%(j)g;ﬁ;ralk in riddles. Let us have the name,’ said the vene-
... You will be shocked if I name t > sai :

The{e she is,” he pointed a finger at hl/}gtﬂzlx:sgﬂérmi.d ety

Mﬂthel‘ Sharmi !’ interjected the venerable Mother in shocked
surprise.

};g.ﬁkaahlooé(ed gngrily at her husband.

es, she has done the mos i

Suffered the most too. She Worketdpg:;]b;i dfotiigtl?tc fas}uam and
build jt up. She made a success of the Vajpeya by playin Or years to
like the Goddess Annapoorna,” said the Master. SdhcHostet

. He then paused for a moment and continued in 5 Iiotfer

vein : ‘But her time is spent in complaining that she ha S
Stuff enough to provide the whole ashram. From her § not food-
T think she is eating too much,’ he laughed aloud Appearance
««. Before Mother Sharmi could interrupt him, he cops: :
She brought about happy relations betwlgcn the Divi o nuech
tribe and ourselves. For the sake of the ashram, she passne Buffalo
the most distressing of experienges: she saw her husba ¢d through
children being massacred before e s & o5 NloW sln d and her
to devote her life to rebuilding the askm):;ﬁy y 1¢ Is going
Mother Sharmi grew frantic and shouted : ‘Dvaj
don’t talk nonsense. This is no oggyg; Sf S tw»f?»lpaayaﬂ_a,
chievously.’ SN 105 alk so mis-

‘No, the truth of the mattey ; s ;

thing T have ever said in my life > sasitfhtite I]k/[;?stgl]'.c oy sonubig
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‘I am not going to allow you to give my name to th am.’
said Mother Shgarm%. Sasaran,

But you have done so mugch for the ashram, brought harmony
between the tribesmen and its inmates,” said the Master.

‘In spite of your learning, Krishna, you are as foolish now
as wheu you were a boy,’ said Mother Sharmi. Then she realized
what she had done ; she saw the horror on the faces of the others
at what she had said.

She patted her mouth with her fingers, a sign that she had
spoken something which she should not have. ‘Oh, what have T
done ? I have abused the Master.’

‘No. You have not abused the Master. You have only scolded
your son, Krishna,” said the Master in mock humility.

Mother Sharmi looked at the Master with affection. ‘Forgive
me. But don’t you see ? I have never been a brahmacharini; never
mastered a chant from the WorD. Don’t you realize that “‘my
Acharya.> now living in the Land of the Ancestors, would be
angry with me if I allowed the ashram to be named after me ?
1f the ashram is named after me, it will lose its sanctity. I want
this place to be a gateway to the Land of the Gods, where people
can come and purify themselves. 1t must always remain sacred to
Muni Paraashara and ‘“my Acharya.’” It is their memory which

ives sanctity to this place.’
- “What )?,ou salysils) perfectly correct, Mother Sharmi,” said the
Master in a persuasive way. ‘Association with the venerable
Muni Paraashara and Acharya Gautama will give sanctity to
the ashram.’ : ;

‘But a mere name will not do,’ interrupted Mother Sharmi.

“There must be a learned Acharya as the hcad‘ of the ashram.’

‘Dvaipaayana, you are a disciple of “my Acharya’ and you

t become the Acharya.’ iy o Lol
o ‘Y ! How a:I:anAI ]livlz here ? My mission is to make Dharma-
kshetra a source of inspiration and to go from place to place,
teaching dharma and the worship of the Worp and to lead the
people to righteous living,” said the Master. )

‘Then if you don’t become the Acharya, T will not part with
Sukdev.” Her eyes grew moist. A tear dropped down. ‘The Gods
have taken away my sons. If they were alive, they would have
carried forward the heritage of their father,” said Mother Sharmi
and brushed away the tears which sprang into her eyes. ‘I thought
I had a son in you, Dvaipaayana. But you have no love for the
Godhuli ashram !*.

She cleared her throat and after regaining her composurc
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said : ‘If you don’t become the Acharya, I will not part with Sukdev. :
If he forsakes me....” She could not proceed further, for she was
choked by emotion.

‘Sukdev has created a complication,” said the venerable
Mother. She looked at Sukdev who sat behind his father, modestly
looking up, with a little smile on his face, enjoying the difficulties
of his elders.



CHAPTER 34
“MOTHER SHARMI CANNOT BE DISOBEYED”

‘IF we come to a decision about Sukdev, the other difficulties
will be solved automatically,” said the venerable Mother.
An indulgent smile played on the Master’s face. ‘He looks

so simple and modest, but can create a world of complications,’
2311503121- : Venerable Mother, you have to persuade him to found
C.

“What can I do ? Jaabaaleyaa and myself tried our best to
persuade him. He continues to smile irritatingly as if we were little
children. He has set his heart on becoming a sanyasi; he does not
want to found a home,’ said the venerable Mother.

The venerable Mother then looked at Vatikaa, who took up
the thread of the conversation. ‘Sukdev is my only child,’ said
Vatikaa, ‘and I want him to found a home. No Srotriyva could
fulfil his vocation without founding a home, according to our
ancient canons, How can he save his forefathers from hell unless
his sons offer obsequial offerings to them ?°

Before Vatikaa could proceed further, Mother Sharmi burst
out. ‘How long will you continue this endless discussion 2’ She
folded her arms on her chest to express finality. ‘Dvaipaayana
should preside over this ashram; failing him, Sukdev must do $O-
My decision is final. And Sukdev has to marry no less a person
than the younger sister of Mosa, Peevaree.” She adjusted her
scarf, which always had the habit of slipping off her shoulders

whenever she got into a rage. | © e i
“You are all selfish,” continued Mother Sharmi. I am going

to do what “my Acharya’” would have wished me to do.” She
glared first at Vatikaa and then at the venerable Mother, un-
. folded her hands and placed them on her hips.

Vatikaa looked at mother Sharmi angrily. She had never
realised as she did now that Sharmi was such a powerful factor in
her husband’s life. 4

‘Dvaipaayana was a motherless boy when I mothered him,’
<aid Mother Sharmi. ‘He is my son. Spiritually he is the son of
“my Acharya’’.

She looked at everybody defiantly. Then overpowered by
emotion, she burst into tears. ‘You have made Dvaipaayana a
“Master’”>. He is required here, there and everywhere. He is too
big to be spared for my ashram.’ She regained composure and
continued : ‘I will not part with Sukdev. He must become a house-
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holder and marry Peevarece, the younger sistcr of Mosa. I have
already decided it.’ y T s :

Vatikaa felt deeply hurt at. the monopolistic way .in wl_nch
Mother Sharmi was disposing of her son and said angrily :
‘Mother Sharmi, don’t forget that for nine months he was a part
of me. T have to select a proper bride for him, not you. I have
already chosen Acharya Shaunak’s daughter for him.’ )

Mother Sharmi adjusted her hair and asked with devastating
sarcasm : ‘Jaabaali’s daughter, where. were you when Sukdev,
whom you claim to be your son, was going to be killed by Mosa ?
Where were you when I risked my life to bring him food, without
which he would have been starved to death ? Where were you then ?°
Then she replied to her queries herself : “You were at Hastinapur,
enjoying the hospitality of the venerable Mother.’

Vatikaa was going to explode, when Sukdev, though modestly
looking down, was seized with a fit of laughter. The tension
dissolved as the venerable Mother intervened : ‘My son, what
are you laughing at 7’ she asked Sukdev.

Sukdey moved his head without Jooking up and was again
shaken with uncontrollzﬂa_}e laughter,
es ‘What are you laughing at ? asked the venerable Mother
again.

Sukdev shook his head and with some effort to cont el
folded his hands and said : ‘FOIgivc me, venerable h:}%lt}}l]éi‘nilﬂ(i
all of you, but I had tolbur;t out laughing.’

‘But what are you laughing at 2 asked the e B
‘We must share the fun which you seem to enjoy a]f ii;b;le fuggfff,
. Sukdev control!ed his laughter with some effort alyld said :
I am wondering which of these two is my mother.” He again burst
1nto conyulsive l?“[—’htel’- ‘Pomtmg his finger at Vatikaa anq Mother
Sharmi, he continued : ‘I am almost inclined to consider myself
as a freak who has been born of two mothers.” He again laughed.

....or perhaps I have no mother at a]|. T am puzzled. Everybody

Seems to claim me as a son.” He looked at the venera el
and laughed again. ble Mo

‘Don’t be selfish. We want
what you are laughing at,” said the venerable Mot er,
Suppressing his laughter ity , great effort, Sukdey said :

‘I am waiting for you, veneraple Mother, to put fo
i ) I'ward your
claim to be my mother and for Daayi 1o do the same. :

Everyone laughed. Krupa had so far remained silent {rough-
out. He was only cqngjernled With the matters with which his tribe
was connected, particuiarly the Marriage of the tribal women who

to share your enjoymeng, ell us
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did not want to return to the tribal settlement. But he could not
resist Sukdev’s remarks and burst into a peal of laughter.

‘When the laughter subsided, the venerable Mother turned to
the problem before them. ‘Let us be serious now,’ she said,

After a little pause, she continued : ‘Don’t be obstinate,
my son’, she said. ‘Your father’s tradition must be kept alive, and
who can do it better than yourself ? Acharya Gautama looked
upon you as his son; so does Mother Sharmi. It is also due to them
that you should be the Acharya of this ashram.’

‘I don’t want to found a home,’ replied Sukdev respectfully
but firmly. ;

There was a kindly smile on the face of the venerable Mother.
‘My son, young men always wauat to do things in their own way,
but what they ought tci do first is to see that they carry forward
; it f their father.’
the hf;;;}g%ﬁ ?vas her grandson and she also coulc_l not look. with
equanimity at the possible extinction of the Muni’s direct line.

Sukdev was going to reply, but before he could do so, the
venerable Mother continued : ‘You are the only one who can
maintain the tradition of Muni Paraashara and Acharya Gautama,
and carry forward the high tradition of your father.’

Sukdev folded his hands and sought permission of the vene-
X dbl%%?lthg.fag,o Eggiﬁ frankly, my son’, replied the venerable
Mother. “You know very well what we want you to do. Why are

; o3
You T a?ﬁsggﬂgecihg obstinate’, replied Sukdey. ‘T want to forswear
founding a home because I want to place Father’s heritage on a
s ‘fﬁﬁiuﬁw can you carry forward your father’s heritage if you
become an ascetic at your age? asked the venerable Mother.
3 “Venerable Mother, please forgive me 1f_I say what we five
think about the matter,’ said Sukdev, folding his hands in respect.

“You may, my son’, said the _vener.ab]e Mothe‘,r_‘ o

Sukdev, in a low, apologetic voice, said . °Like the Divine
Boar, Father has lifted dharma out of ¢chaos. He has redacted the
-WOI{;:) made it immaculate, organized the Srofriyasby giving them
a hew message. Whomeoever he touches becomes noble and
inspiring. He is the darling of the Gods; he is under the protection
of the God Surya. He can penetrate the hearts of men and light
the sacred fire there. He has many times vanquished the God of
Death by his healing touch. We five have thought of this matter

over and over again.’
K.P-vi—8
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“That is why we want you to carry forward the heritage of
your father,” said the venerable Mother.

“‘We are doing just that,” said Sukdev. When the venerable
Father leaves for the Land of the Ancestors, the Srotriya will lose
his inspiration; he will cease to hearken to the message of the
WorD which the venerable Father lives for :

‘There can be no achievement without self-discipline;
No future without dedication;
No “creation without sacrifice.’

The dead earnestness with which Sukdev spoke created a
deep impression on the others. “‘May I gontinue ?” he asked the
venerable Mother. ]

“Yes, by all means,’ replied the venerable Mother.

. ‘A householder’s life is weighted with a wife and children,
With ashrams and cows, with the favour of the wealthy and the
powerful. In course of time the householder will forswear tapas.
OmY_a.band of ascetics who have given up the world in order to
save ‘l\t?\!'(l:an keep the flangea%f tapas alive.’

1at about you, brahmacharis 2
ome:: four g;ompanyicms of Sukdey. e MaSt-er offtig
We will follow Sukdev in whatever he does,’ replied one of

them. ‘We have taken a led i i
walking gshrams.’ Mo Dl dharma by becoming

‘How 2 asked the venerable Mother.

tion, Father. You are a god to us- ur aspira-
Prdagision $; we are pled

your decision. We place our lives gt your fefl:)t.’ ged to accept
“What a son the Gods have given me ! T can see his S

isgipl e : _
the ﬁz:ie?-ge after age, keeping the flame of dharma alive_> said

ﬁ Everyone looked at the Ma
mlJTclllecis.iw:m.
en he paused and continyed -
the Best of Munis, Paraashara, that
TI'_]f:n he smiled and continueq -
harmi, the firmer becomes my viey p,
Poorna herself. She has no vanity, g
1o be assogiated with her name,’
The master paused and spoke v :
Wwith rare solemnity : « 1
t}.lir araashara ashran Was reduced to aghes by the Wi)éked%?
ahasrarjuna, Acharyd Gautama single handed built up  this

ster, expecting him to give the

‘Tt is the association wyith
glves sanctity to thig opprh.’
‘The more I see of Mother
at she is the Goddess Apna-
he does not like the gsjram




‘““MOTHER SHARMI CANNOT BE DISOBEYED® 203

ashram, facing great danger at every moment. If it has flourished

it was becau_se of"his blessing. If the name of the Acharya is

?;200;?3%%1Wé:-lfd;cll;ls,ashram, it will flourish so long as the sun and
c.

‘Now you are talking sense,’ interrupted Mother Sharmi,
all smiles, and turning to Vatikaa triumphantly, she said : ‘See
that is my son speaking.’ 3

“When I was very young,’ said the Master, ‘I wanted to become
the Acharya of this ashram and had taken a pledge to restore the
Field of Ashes.’

‘Now you are so mature that you cannot keep your pledge,
gan you ?° asked mother Sharmi sarcastically.

‘T must dissharge my debt to my spiritual father,” replied the
Master. ‘Every year I will spend two months here, but I will not
be its Acharya.’ ;

After a pause, the Master continued : ‘I entirely agree with
all of you that Sukdev should found a home; then he could be
installed as the Acharya of this ashram.’ . f

Sukdev felt miserable. His father’s verdict was going to be
against him. :

‘It is Sukdev’s responsibility to be the Acharya of this
ashram. He must therefore have a wife as his sahadharmachari
—his comrade in righteous living. A S{ornya cannot evade founding
a home. What do you say, Sukdev ?” asked the Master.

Sukdey felt completely lost. He had hoped that his fatl]eli
would appreciate his point of view, but he bowed low a:’ldT\ﬁflt
folded hands, said : ‘Father,]}.' xtrll_lll g?ey your commands. ere

2 i ation in his throat. J
¥ f}\l%l:\ikf:tguzegz;tsidcr what we can do about your marriage,’
said };}Ztﬁ?tgféase don’t choose a wife for me,” interjected Sukdeyv

- ‘G ime to think.
pltw‘gj“ghﬁﬁedﬁa‘i} placed her hands over her forehead and
turned to‘thc Master. ‘Aryaputra, please, please, postpone your
decision, I beg of you. I cannot bear the unhappiness of seeing
my only son married to a télbis‘;}vomaﬂ- How would my father,

aabaali, regard 1L &

e ﬂ?ﬁeﬁis‘}bg?ish smilg, the Master remarked : ‘Mother Sharmi
is a tribes-woman too. She has dedicated her life fo Acharya
Gautama as well as to the ashram. It 1s no use postponing the
matter, Jaabaaleyaa. Postponement will only lead to further
m -’

l:‘;m:]%ut, where is the haste 2 asked Vatikaa.

K.P-vi—9
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‘Jaabaaleyaa, many things are at stake. We have to absorb
the fribesmen into our fold; re-build the Gautama ashrain as a
model for other ashrams; preserve the sanctity of the Paraashaira
teerth,” said the Master.

The Master paused for a moment. Then he continued: ‘We
bave also to consider the effect of what we do on the Aryas,
Nagas and tribesmen. I have been given a mandate by the God

Surya :
“Make the whole world Arya,
Pure, noble and united in high aspirations”.’

Vatikaa had a choking sensation in her throat.

The Master continued: ‘Jaabaaleyaa, our lives should be lived
as directed by the Gods, not by us imperfect human beings.’

Then the Master turned to Krupa who was sitting ~ like a
Statue, watching everyone. “Valiant Krupa, will you, as the chief
of the Divine Buffalo tribe, allow the younger sister of Mosa,
Peevaree, to be married to Sukdev ? The other young women of
your tribe, if willing, can be married to the others.’

‘Master, I have thought over the matter and talkeq it over

Wwith the elders of my ftribe. T entirely apree with Mo 2
© Gannot live an isolated life,’ l‘epl);edgKrupa. ther Sharmi.

‘Well, then, we all agree that Sy

Purificatory ritual,’ said the Master
In distress, Sukdev placed his hands o
Sukdev, don’t feel distressed,’ continued the T

appreciate what you have been trying to do. You s toMaSter' s

! eehentage which the God Surya hag given me to buislge]]l_g.[t ;1;

oi e after_ you have had four sons, each one Speci'xi"‘c in
of the sestions of the WORD, Yol villibe fice o ising

Sanyasi if you like and if Peevaree become a

Ot sanyasins who will carry forward the heritage of the ag}{%r&ier

from his face. He almost sobb B o onore his hands
: . §0bbed.

mself was destroyed. All that e had dreamt of - for

other Sharmi was laughip ' t tl :

SS(i]e s\lgretched out her hand ang %w?;]tgdcgﬁ;l{lgc?’s ;;‘;Sﬁﬁlg tm{;ﬁ;;

ulll(’d Isten. Come here,” she sajg and removed the hang, w’hic]l

ev had placed over his face ¢, hide his frustration, ¥

She pulled Sukdev a little tow ‘
5 Sig e ards her. ‘Learn
Properly,” she said with an affectionate Ssm]i(;é, her eyesyggzvgﬁsgs?rr:

Merriment, Twisting his ear again S :
. ) ) Sh &5 MO”
¢annot be disobeyed. ¢ said 1er Sharmi

ver his fage,




CHAPTER 35
ENTER SHAKUNI

FTER the marriage of Sukdev with Peevare

Mother, Vatikaag and the Kashi princessgg féftﬂ%ﬁevglgé?&lﬁ
ashram for Hastinapur. The Master and his disciples resumed
their journeyings.

The Mother had been deeply distressed at the situation
developing in Hastinapur after her sons, Chitrangada and Vighi-
z-gvb%cl:ya, had been taken away by the God of Death, both leaving

In spite of all her efforts to strengthen the House of the Kurus,
calamities, one after another, continued to thwart them. The more
she thought of these difficulties, the greater was her frustration.

To perpetuate the line of the Emperor Shantanu, she had
induced her son, Muni Dvaipaayana (the Master) to beget sons
on the two Kashi princesses, the widows of Vichitrayeerya,
by Niyoga.

She had hoped her worries would end with the birth of sons
to Ambika and Ambaalika.

Dhritaraashtra, Ambika’s son, was sturdy, but being born
plind from birth, neither he nor his heirs gould succeed to the
throne, according to the ancient canons.

With great reluctance, Sabal, the King of Gandhara, gave his
daughter, Gandhari in marriage to the blind Dhritaraashtra.
Before the wedding, Sabal had stipulated that Gandhari’s brother,
Shakuni, should stay at Hastinapur to look after the interests of
the princess and bher children. It was a very humiliating con-
cession, but that was the only way to secure the hand of Gandhari
for Dhritaraashtra.

Pandu was installed King of Hastinapur, and in spite of his
delicate health, ruled the Kurus, for some time with strength and

jgour.
o He had been trained by Grandfather Bheeshma in the art
of statecraft and war, according to the best tradition of his guru,
the mighty Parashu Raama (Rama of the Battle Axe).

In view of the misfortunes that had overtaken the Kuru
Royal House, many tributaries had shaken off its sovereignty.
In a swift military gampaign, however, Pandu reminded them
that the Kurus were all-powarful and recaptured their allegiance.

Pandu was married to Prithaa, the sister of Vasudeva, the
powerful Yadava chief, and the adopted daughter of King Kunti-



206 KRISHNAVATARA—VI

bhoj (hence called Kunti), and also to princess Maadri, sister of
Salya, King of Madra. ;

An unexpected and painful tragedy overshadowed the fortunes
of the Kuru family. Pandu was under a curse; he could not beget
children. Kunti loved children and was horrified to find that she
would have no children of her own,

The venerable Mother and Gangeya, who was now universally
referred to as “‘Bheeshma, the Grandfather,” in despair, turned
to the Master for advice. The Master advised that Kunti and
Maadri should beget children by Niyoga seeking -unity with the
Gods in accordance with the ancient canons,*

Pandu, oppressed by a sense of futility, retired to the Hima-
layas with his wives to spend a secluded life.

Kunti, with the consent of her husband, begot by Niyoga
three sons—Yudhisthira, Bheema and Arjuna, and Maadri. the
twins, Nakula and Sfahadcv. >

When this information reached Vasudeva, the powerful
Yadaya chief and brother of Kunti, he sent presents fo? allhe

Five Brothers, accepting them as the sons of Pandu i
Maadri’s father, the King of Madra. » and so did
hotaraashtra, by Gandhaari, begot several sons, the eldest

of whom was named Duryod
G o yodhana, and the next one, Du-

not succeed, However, he
be installed

thought—and rightly—that if the Five Brothers Wereurus. e

the eldest, Yudhishthira, would be entitled to the thrf(t)crf{?pted,

near the throne. The Minister-in-

ted himself near the throne. The

Shakuni, who had askeq f, : ;
his hantstardiisna o Bheeshmra'inf;:tterwew, stood up, folded
Shakuni was a lean, ta]] man with .
) ] With a receding fi
deep-set eyes. He was dressed in sifj. yyo s i et afggﬂltiagnaﬁg

#Vide Chapter No. 7, Krf.rlmammm, Yol. 1, ‘Magic Flute'
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wrists and arms and a gorgeous necklace. He also wore a small
diadem and a short sword which was suspended from his waist-
pand, both indicating his royal descent.

After Bheeshma had taken his seat on the throne, the cham-
perlain stepped back and stood by the door. Bheeshma looked
at Shakuni; his brilliant eyes flashed in a way which always
commanded awesome respect. By a gesture, he dismissed the
chamaries and invited Shakuni to take his seat on a low throne
near him—another privilege accorded to Shakuni as the son of a
king.

Bheeshma had disliked Shakuni from the time the latter
had come to live in Hastinapur; he was always promoting intri-
gues. Now he was working up some Kuru leaders to persuade
him, Bheeshma, not to accept the Five Brothers as the sons of
pandu. Like Dhritaraashtra, he and his father, King Sabal of
Gandhaara, had hoped that Pandu would die childless and Duryo-
dhana would succeed to the throne of the Kurus. Now that hope
wou(lid be gone if the Five Brothers were accepted as the sons of
Pandu.

‘I hope that King Sabal, your noble father, is in good health,’
said Bheeshma.

Shakuni felt unverved by the extremely formal manner in
which he was being received by Bheeshma. Folding his hands in
respect, he said : ‘My noble father is quite well. T have come to
deliver his message to the Best of Kurus.”

Bheeshma steadily looked at Shakuni and after a pause,
asked : ‘What is the message 7’ ’ )

For a moment Shakuni felt nervous; he re-adjusted his scarf,
gathering self-composure. He did not like to face the old man in
his present mood, but there was 1o help. He decided to go straight
to the point. :

‘My noble father hopes that, now that King Pandu of
glorious memory has gone to the Land of thg Angcestors, Du-
ryodhana, the eldest son of Dhritaraashtra, will be installed as
King.’

gBheeshma was silent for a moment. Then he abruptly asked :
‘Is there anything more 7’ .

‘My noble father has a profound veneration for you, Best
of Kurus, and feels confident that you will do justice to noble
Duryodhana,’ said Shakuni. : X . b4y

“Has your noble father suggested 1n which way justice should
be done—to the Five Brothers as well as to Duryodhana and
his brothers 22 asked Bheeshma.
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to the Best

2 ther has commanded me to convey

f KMy n[ﬁgie gzeneif the Five Brothers are ascepted as the sc}:qs

gf Klllrl;;s Pandu, the noble Duryodhana shall be secure in his

iti ’S sucGessor.’ " u

POS!tﬁ%negsshiaani?d not reply for a while. Then he asked : ‘Do you
i nything more ?° : .

ms}l‘ﬁoﬁﬁn&g f‘nore% Best of Kurus,” replied Sha_kum_

‘Naturally my noble and valiant father will expect a reply
to hl%v?:gi;jzgieplying to his question, Bheeshma asked Shakuni -
‘Have you been secking the aid of some of the Kuru Elders to
oppose the acceptance of the Five Brothers as the sons of King
Pandu? ol . :

Shakuni found it difficult to answer so forthright a question.

did not seek them out for that purpose,’ he replied apologetically.

Perhaps they sought you out of themselves, did they 9°

Shakuni evaded a straight reply. ‘They are all feeling anxious

You met some Srotriyas also,” asserted Bheeshma. The
Statement was like a bolt from the blue. Shakuni had made secret
approaches to some eminent Srotriyas cvidently Bheeshma had
¢ome to know of it. d

L only wanted to un erstand from the learne ya
Whether, ynder the circumstances, Duryodhana Goulddsufgiéﬁytg
the throne, according to the ancient ¢anons,” replied Shakuni.

‘Have you met the WOrShip-worthy Acharya Vibhuti, our
former Puropiz, and Acharya Bharadwaja, the Present pyropit 2°
asked Bheeshma.

‘No, I have not,” replied Shakunj

.. Then you had better discuss the angient ¢anons v
sald Bheeshma. He added as if Speaking to himself: ‘But he would
® a strange Srotriya who would challenge the Obinion of the
Vrd,{wm Sansad of Dharmakshet;a op the interpretatiop, of the
ancient canons, approved by the Master himself.’
Shak‘ hat idc, thett()plgiotn (}f_ the Master, may T knoy ? asked
dni and muttered to himself. « Srotriya :
to challenge the Master et 74T Would i

Bheeshma said as if Ieciting a decree ‘Pandu wag the last
sovereign lord of the Kurus: op his death, his sons are entitled to
the privileges and status which he enoyed when he wag afive.’
. Shakuni’s smile was Ingratiating, ‘Best of Kurus, ng ope in
Aryavarta can challenge the uthority of the Master in the matter

ith them,’
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of the canons. But who knows b
. . etter than the B
(13\2/111;31‘115 g.:ve tc;.b _ethonﬁrdcrid ciln the light of chan gi?lsé :If;c%;?tlg n?east
expligit 77 he aske i : . :
51 P , trying to find a way to mollify the

“Yes, 1 have not sto o2
Bheeshma dryly. ppc{l you from Speakmg, replied
‘Allied as the Gandhaaras are with the Kurus i i

. d firm friend-
ship, my noble father would like the best of S A
his decision,” said Shakuni. B

Then he thought for a while folded his hands and

. > as persu-
ety B ol S e gl iy s e g

< n [~ 1 1
great value to him’. nE,ofiGandhaara, wilsbe of

‘Don’t go round and round the question. Tell i
Does your father want to impose his cl?oice on us ??’ ﬁﬁeglﬁﬁlﬁ
shma, his eyes pinned on Shakuni’s face.

Shakuni was going to disown any such intention, when
Bheeshma, by a gesture, asked him not to interrupt him. ‘Convey
to your noble father,” he said, keeping his rising impatience under
ci‘gntrol, ‘that Bheeshma requires no assistance in exercising the

uru power.’ :

‘No, no, no,” said Shakuni nervously. *My noble father does
not want to interfere in the affairs of the Kurus.’

In a tone of authority, Bheeshma qontinued: ‘Convey to
your noble father that Bheeshma has decided to accept the Five |
Brothers as the sons of the noble King Pandu and they will be
given all the privileges and status that the late King enjoyed during
his lifetime.” Then he added : ‘If attempts are made to interfere
in the affairs of the Kurus, they will be met with all the Kuru’s
strength and the strength of their allies.” There was thunder in his
voice.

The chamberlain approached Bheeshma with folded hands,
waiting to be permitted to ‘Speak- Lord, the boat bringing the
Master is sighted,’ he said. ‘Very shortly, the Master will disem-

ark.’

¢All right. Inform the venerable Mother that T will bring the

Master to her immediately, unless she is too tired to receive
Bheeshma rose from his throne, his brows knit, acknowledging

the salutation of Shakuni by a nod, and went towards the door.
Shakuni’s father had instructed him not to push the matter

so far as to involve himself in an open conflict with the Kurus.

Meekly, therefore, he said : ‘Lord, I go away disappointed.’
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Half-way towards the door, Bheeshma stood, turned round,
and looking at Shakuni, said : ‘1 expect that you will leave for
Gandhaara within three days to convey my message to your noble
father.’

Shakuni realised that it was not a request, but a mandate

and bowed with folded hands to indicate that he would obey
the mandate,

Bheeshma, led by the chamberlain, left the Audience Chamber.



CHAPTER 36
THE MASTER’S MISSION

THE venerable Mother had had high hopes that some day Pandu
would come out of the seclusion which he had imposed upon
himself and resume the responsibilities of a Kuru Emperor. Now
that he was dead, she felt frustrated, broken and crushed.
Hastinapur was developing into a centre of internecine dis-
. sensions. Her expectation of Pandu’s restoring the greatness of
‘Hastinapur as in the days of the Emperor Shantanu, had founder-
od. Hercourage ebbed away : she fell ill, and Grandfather Bheeshma
sent word to the Master to come to Hastinapur immediately, which
the Master did. )
When the Master, accompanied by Bheeshma, came to the
mansion of the Mother, she was lying in her bed, her eyes swollen,
her face red, her skin hot. Assisted by Daavi, she sat up in her
bed and blessed the Master when he touched her feet.
Bheeshma, meticulous about decorum, also touched the feet
of the Mother, By a gesture, she asked them to be seated.
She closed her eyes for a moment and then said: ‘Krishna,
this blow is very seveie.’ She added in a choking voice: ¢ I can’t
bear it. Tears coursed down her cheeks. o
“Krishna. come and sit near me. 1 have been waiting fpr you
all these dayé. The Great God alone knows how long I will live,
but éh;"arﬁélttgxf;ﬁgted_ Then she'murmurcd as if to herself: ‘I
strove faithfully to carry out tI_le w:lshes cf the august Aryapulra,
put 1 have failed, hopelessly failed.” She was shaken by sobs and
: i illow.
burlcrizeivt;a;]f i,%;’g l;}lll}aoa‘:idcd: ‘1 have lived in vain. I could not
1, capable and long-lived sons.’

p;esc{};c;“yslfg rt({lr‘:il:%l to theeshma and asked: ‘Gangeya, have
ing to Dvaipaayana 7’ X _

e E?llfagzeﬁ? tllll.lé;r.t ] have tI;)old him everything’, replied Bheeshma.

< 'What is your view, Dvaipaayana ?° asked the venerable
MOtP?{:}m decision taken by the noble Gangeya is the right
one’. said the Master. ‘He and the Kuru Elders both :}greed that
the wives of noble King Pandu should beget sons by Niyoga. That
itself carries the pledge that the Kuru Elders }hcmselves will
accept the Five Brothers as the sons of Pandu.

“That is true’, said Bheeshma. ‘We are already pledged to
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accept the Five Brothers z11)s ‘the sons of Pandu, and naturally

i i ill te Crown Prince.

Ylld}‘l\l?\sf}}ltg;l?b‘g:lltl l,:iw Kuru Elders ?° asked the venerable Mother._

‘Most of them are for accepting the Five Brothers as the sons

g ’, replied Bheeshma. 4
% P’}gfilw:; ’t(r)lcfl)lxlne that Shakuni met you a little while before I game-
What did he say ?” asked the Master. »

With a little smile of contempt, Bheeshma said: ‘He had
tome to put pressure on me; he did it cleverly. He said that he ll'ad
brought a message from his father, asking us not to accept the Five
Brothers, and even if we did, at any rate to install Duryodhana
as King. He also admitted that he had gonsulted some eminent
Srotriyas to find out whether Duryodhana was entitled to succeed
to the throne.’

‘How did the Srotriyas come to support Duryodhana’s ¢claim 2°
asked the Master. .

‘T think he was trying to deceive me’, replied Bheeshma. ‘All
the Srorriyas of Hastinapur support the view of our former Purohit,
Acharya " Vibhuti, and the present one, Acharya Bharadwaja, that
Yudhishthira’s claim is unassailabje, They have behind them the
0'p1ni011 of the Vidvat Sab/m' of Dharn]akshetra on the interprct&-
tion Of the ancient canons, approved by yourself.’

The Five Brothers are the sons of the last of the K
and it is the birth-right of the cldest ¢
the Master. He paused for a moment
tell Shakuni, noble Gangeya %°

‘I had no patience with that dirty intri > :
iy : . guer,” replie :
1 Lold him that the Five Brothers would regoive 2. tI(}eBI1§je§}11én:s
and status befjtting the sons of the late King Pandu.’ e

_The venerable Mother opened her eyes and, assisted by Daavi
ingm sat up in her bed and said: <y is'Gangeya’s strength which
XCSps the Kurus together. The root cause of all our difficulties
1 Sh:ﬁun}:. He should f})le ‘®moved from Hastinapur: o

. Mother, you are 1ight. Shakuni is at the botions

cha £} - : ' m z

Mischief,” said” Bheeshma. ‘But We cannot shake him gff‘f'ﬂi)[ﬁ‘}?

taraashtra would never reconcj i) ;
2 concile himse]f his bein i
It would also mean a mortal affr o § driven aways

Ont i SaAne 5 2
tl-oul?le yourself about Sh_ﬂkuni, The &215&2%‘;??;%(@%;;29& ﬁﬁgt
not lggrt?frﬁe‘ﬁe';ckﬁ;ﬂ?fﬁi I‘?w,l,d Lontinued Bheeshma, <, would

: & ? Ould be a war in which a ings
would be involved. Duryodhana would bc‘:ﬁp;orted {l‘;y I}l{l}l{:lys!;lggl
and possibly by the lords of K g ?

] 35101) 2 Arush and of Chedi: even M. ura
might join in. The Fivs Brothers are sure to be suppogg:[h by

1¢ Kuru Kings
0 succeed his father,” said
and asked : “What did you
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Kunti’s brother, Vaasudeva, the Yadava chief, her adept
K_mg‘:é(unnbho_], and perhaps by Drupad, the lord ofl)}fgng?ltzggr;
Master.ow would this affect the Kuru ladies, Mother ?* asked the
~ ‘All those whom 1 have met support the Five Broth p
plied the venerable Mother. ‘She pausﬂ:lzl and closed her e;}}:sr.sz’f\t{gr
a few moments, she murmured as if to herself: ‘1 nursed the ambi-
tion that I would strengthen the Kuru power. I did not know that
I was ]z:a,) foolis}}kv.]volznan who lived on dreams.’

A < Don’t talk like that, Mother’, said the Master, ge i
his hand on her feverish brow. ‘You have been a towgernéliysg:ﬁgtlﬁ
to thq noble Gangeya, for your hold on the Kurus rests on their
affection for you.” He paused and continued. ‘I agree with you
that Shakuni would be a danger if Yudhishthira were accepted
as Crown Prince.’

_ The venerable Mother said: ¢ Shakuni is like a tiny worm
which can work its way into a powerful tree and bring it down.
What is the way that you suggest, Krishna ? You are concerned
with Kuru power as much as any of us.

“We are on the brink of a precipice, Mother,> said the Master.
“‘Let us be clear between ourselves as to where I stand. I support
the Kuru power for reasons of my own.’

¢ What are those reasons ? Let us know, ’ said the venerable

“Mother.

The Master looked at the sunshine which was streaming
through the door. © You have asked me for the reasons of my
giving support to the Kuru power. I will tell you, but don’t be
disappointed. I have not up till now disclosed them so clearly
to anyone else. I support the Kuru power because in the noble
Gangeya, brahma-tej is allied 10 kshatra-tej and because T look
forward to a Kuru Chakravarti (Emperor) ruling in Aryavarta,
pledged to dharma, whose moral authority will be irresistible.
1f 1 don’t find such a one among the Kurus, I shall have to seek
him elsewhere’,

He paused and, in a voice full of humility, continued: ‘Despite
my God Surya has given me the power and influence to strengthen
(gif-jfg?{r, which T never anticipated. Ashrams arc multiplying.
Sz.u Y the WORD has been restored: it is studied by numberless

’}? triyas. A new generation of learned Srotriyas has sprung up,
who aceept the standard of life which 1 have upheld. T have in some
measure, helped in spreading righteous living.’

' Where are we to find such a Chakravarti 7 asked *he ve-
nerable Mother and sighed. ‘My son, if he had been alive, might
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have been one, but he is gone.” She wiped the tears from her eyes.
“You don’t reéliss my digfﬁcultics, Krishna,” she added. ‘I am at
the end of my strength.’ . s

‘1 do, ’ replied the Master. ‘But that Is no reason for giving
up the struggle. T have adored you, worshipped you, Mother, not
because T am your son, but because of the wonderful way in which
you have exerted a moral influence over the life of the people of
Hastinapur.’ X

He paused, looked at the door through which sunshine was
streaming and his attitude became humble, ¢ But, hereafter, things
will be different. As I see the future, Hastinapur will be split into
Warring camps. Dharma will be forgotten. Rivalry between men
will lead to bloodshed. And who can say vow who will emerge
as the victor— g god or a demon ?’

‘ Today you are very despairing, Krishna,’ said the venerable
Moth?r. * Generally you look forward to the future with confidence.’

Internal conflict between the Kurus is sure to divide the

WhOIF world,” said the Master.
thgsl{fn;}}ere no other way to prevent it, Dvaipaayana 2 asked

“ I clearly see that, if the fi i i
; power of Hastinapur has to play jt
;’;%mtéle{ejpt;wd}iéngeror will have to become the embodimpenf of
> N4 Kshatra-tej whose moral authority wi
over the world.,’ said the I'\):laster. SR o o
€ Was silent for 4 moment and then continued; ¢ Shakuni

is like the Poison | . :
out nor SWaHowed,l’n the throat of Lord Shiva; it cannot be spat

precipi}ggurarg right when you say that we are op the brink of a
Mot said the venerable Mother in a low voice.
‘Possibly thil‘, letus face misfortunes as they come,’ said the Master
SR gds Will show us a way out of our difficulties’
can T iy inr: 1¢ Mother held up her hand in despair,
unable ¢ \ 1 atmosphere of Intrigues, unable to tak

: to wi ,
r lghtfaous Hviggl’;ople $ confidence, unable to stang effect

¢ sides,
wvely for

.. L Will te]] { ]
Retire t tthyou how you can do it, Mother.,’ replied the Master.
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wars, they will come to you for strength.’

The venerable Mother thought for a while. “Very well, Krishna.
I will do so,” she said with a deep sigh.

‘Suppose neither Hastinapur nor any other power brings
forth a Chakravarti as the protector of dharma. What must be
done ?’ asked the veneratle Mother.

¢ I am not unmindful of the danger, * replied the Master.
“But till I am called away by the Gods, 1 will live for dharma..
And if the Kurus do not bring forth a Chakravarti, the God
Surya will direct my steps to one born to be a

.Sa.rm:—dkarmmgapra, a protector of eternal dharma,

who will root our the wicked and re-establish dharma.
This will happen, I am sure.







GLOSSARY

Adhvaryu—The chief priest
Agni—Fire God
‘Annapurna—The Goddess of food
“Apsara—Celestial damsel

Aryaputra—Honorific designation of a husband by his wife
Ashram—An abode of ascetics; a sylvan school for imparting
learning in scriptures, sacrificial lore and martial sciences

Aswamedha—Horse sacrifice performed by a King when he attains
imperial status

Atirathi—Chariot-warrior of the highest rank

‘Brahmaa—One of the priests who takes part in a ritual
Brahmachari—Celibate

Brahmacharini—Female celibate
‘Brahmacharya—The stage of a student; Celibacy
Brahma muhurta—Eearly hours of morning
Brahma-tej—Spiritual radiance

Brahma vidya—Knowledge of ultimate Reality
Chakravarti—An emperor

Chandrayana vrata—Spiritual Discipline which involves gradual
fasting in accordance with the waning and waxing moon
Danda—A. staff

Darbha—A kind of sacred grass used at religious ceremonies
Darshan—Sight of divine or highly respected persons
Dhanurdhars—The archers

Dharma—Just or righteous act

Dhoti—Long garment worn by men

Dvija—Brahmin 52

Gayatri—Sacred mantra used in daily prayer
Ghatilka—Twenty-four minutes
Gotra—Clan name
Grahasthasramam—The stage of a householder
Guru—Spiritual guide
Homa—Spiritual oblations offered in a fire
Hota—One of the priests in the ritual
Kaupina—Loin cloth

Kshatra-tej—Naliant countenance

Kshatra Dharma—Statesmanship
Kshatriyas—Members of the military caste

Kum-kum—DRed turmeric powder applied to the forehead

Maharathi—A. chariot-warrior of the rank subordinate to an
Atirathi
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Mantra—=Esoteric word ¢ g
tra-vidya—Esoteric science - U :
%?z;:';f‘bam%hu—'BrotherS or cousins on the maternal side
Muni—An ascetic of the highest order o 'f
Niyoga—Appointed task or duty ks : 4 tufts
Pai:cha-kalymzf.——A cow with five auspicious marks and
of white hair " -
Pata—Magic herb
Purohit—Priest : ik
Rajasuya—A. great sacrifice performed by a monarch as a ma
of his undisputed sovereignty
Rakshasas—Demons A ;
Rathi—One who is proficient in chariot-warfare
Rishis—Seers of the Vedic hymns
Rita—The Cosmic Order
Rudraksha—A type of bead

Sadhu-sadhu—wWell done, well done
Sahadharmackari—-Spo uce

Sandhya—The morning and evening prayers of a Brahmana
Sannyasi—One who has renounced the world

: € who has renounced
Satyapraz{um‘Tmth incarnate
S}u‘shya‘Disciple

Shraut SatraﬁTwelve-year session

Srotriya—Qne who adheres to Vedic discipline

Swaya?_?wara—_-'Ihe_ ceremony  of self-choosin &; a gathering of
PIINces in which a princess selects a husband

Tapas—Penance

Tejas—Radiant Countenange

Tirtha—Place of pilgrimage

Trayi vidya—Vedijc study

Ud.gafaﬁ()n[a of the four principal priests at a sacrifice

Vafp_eya——?ptlfr_‘ltual dissipline lasting for 17 days

Platform or pit in which sacrifice i :

Vrata—Religious discIi)pIirle o Eneaoime

Vidvar Sansac.’*—-Confcrence of Scholars

Yajnopavita—Sacreq thread

Yatu w‘dya-—-Sorcery

Yupa—The post to

_ which the sacrificial animal is tied in a ritual
Yuvaraj—Crown pringe












